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Corporate Information (Continued)

Hong Kong H-share Registrar and Transfer Office

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
46th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Share Information
Number of issued shares 1,666,091,366 Shares
(1,261,291,366 A Shares,
and 404,800,000 H Shares)
Board lot (H Shares) 1,000 H Shares

(A Shares) 100 A Shares

Abbreviation of the Company’s share and Stock Codes

A Shares: Weichai Power (#£¢E)77) 000338

H Shares: Weichai Power (#4¢#) 1) 2338

Stock Exchange Listings

A Shares: Shenzhen Stock Exchange

H Shares: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Hong Kong Stock Exchange”)

Investors and Media Relations

The Company: Securities Department
Tel: (86) 536-229 7068
Fax: (86) 536-819 7073

Website: www.weichai.com

Public Relations Consultant: Hill & Knowlton Asia Ltd
Tel: (852) 2894 6321
Fax: (852) 2576 1990

Website: www.hillandknowlton.com
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Financial Summary

Revenue amounted to approximately RMB36,627 million, an increase of

approximately 10.2%.

Net Profit Attributable to the Shareholders of the Parent amounted to

approximately RMB3,502 million, an increase of approximately 8.3%.

Basic Earnings Per Share was approximately RMB2.10, an increase of

approximately 8.2%.

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions on Acceptance of Mainland
Accounting and Auditing Standards and Mainland Audit Firms for Mainland
Incorporated Companies Listed in Hong Kong published by Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in December 2010, Mainland incorporated issuers listed in Hong Kong
shall be allowed to prepare their financial statements using China Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises, and Mainland audit firms approved by the
Ministry of Finance of the People’s Republic of China (“MOF”) and the China
Securities Regulatory Commission (“CSRC”) shall be allowed to service these
issuers to satisfy the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
As such, in the 2010 annual general meeting of the Company held on 18 May
2011, the appointment in Ernst & Young Hua Ming as the auditor of the
Company was considered and approved. At the same time, it was resolved that
with effect from 2011, the Company would only adopt Mainland accounting
standards in its preparation of financial statements and would no longer use
Hong Kong accounting standards at the same time in preparing financial

statements.

(Important notice: This report is published in Chinese and English versions. In

case of inconsistency, the Chinese version shall prevail.)
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Chairman’s Statement

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &
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Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board, | would like to present the audited interim results of the

Company for the six months ended 30 June 2011 (the “Period”).

1. Review of Operations
Entering 2011, the consumer price index of the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC") was on the upsurge and the prices for various raw
materials continued to rise. To stabilize prices and curb the excessive
rise in property prices, the PRC government adopted a series of austerity
measures and continued to implement its pro-active fiscal policies and
robust monetary policies. The Period witnessed 6 times of increase in the
deposit reserve ratio in a row, the increase in the deposit-reserve base
for major financial institutions to 21.5%, and 3 times of increase in the
deposit-lending benchmark interest rate. During the first half of the year,
national economic growth was slowed down but maintained its robust
and steady pace. Gross domestic product reached 20,445.9 billion, a year-
on-year growth of 9.6% which was 1.5 percentage points lower than
the corresponding period of last year, and represented a slower growth
pace than the rate of 10.3% of last year. During the Period, with the
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) T A (AR

slowdown of the pace of the economic growth in the PRC, there were
signs of downturn appeared in the heavy-duty truck market. During the
Period, the aggregate sales of heavy-duty trucks were approximately
543 thousand units, representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.04%. In
particular, the sales figure for the second quarter was approximately 253
thousand units, which represents a year-on-year decrease of 20.1% or
a quarter-on-quarter decrease of 12.8%. The market adjustment was a
result of the impact of the austerity policies adopted by the PRC, as well
as the lag-effect of the excessive growth rate of the heavy-duty truck
market in the last year and the first quarter of this year. Affected by the
downturn of the heavy-duty truck market, the Company’s aggregate sales
of heavy-duty truck engines amounted to approximately 210 thousand
units during the Period, representing a year-on-year decrease of 5.3%.
The Company’s market share in the heavy-duty truck with a gross weight
of above 14 tonnes market reached 38.7%, representing an increase of
0.7 percentage points over the corresponding period of last year. With
the outstanding performance of its new vehicle model, Shaanxi Heavy-
duty Motor Company Limited (BRFEEALFEHR A R]), a subsidiary of
the Company, continued to lead the industry by reporting an aggregate
sales of approximately 63 thousand units of heavy-duty trucks for the first
half of the year, representing an increase of 5.1% over the corresponding
period of last year. Shaanxi Fast Gear Co. Ltd. (BRF AL EwR AR
FE/AR]), a subsidiary of the Company, has maintained its absolutely
leading position in the industry albeit reporting an aggregate sales of
approximately 441 thousand units of gear boxes, representing a year-on-
year decrease of 10.4%.

During the Period, the fixed asset investment in the PRC maintained
a fast growth, with the PRC’s fixed asset investment amounting to
RMB12,456.7 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 25.6%.
Investment in real estate developments amounted to RMB2,625 billion,
representing a year-on-year growth of 32.9%. However, under the impact
of the austerity policies on the real estate market and the robust monetary
policies adopted by the PRC, the rapid growth of the construction
machinery industry was constrained to a certain extent. During the Period,
the aggregate sales in the PRC’s construction machinery market were
approximately 503 thousand units, representing a year-on-year growth of
21.3%. In particular, approximately 95 thousand units of wheel loaders
with a load capacity of 5 tonnes were sold, representing a year-on-year
growth of 13.7%. The Company’s sales of engines for construction
machinery were approximately 85 thousand units, representing a year-
on-year growth of 25.3%, whereas the sales of engines for wheel
loaders with a load capacity of 5 tonnes were approximately 76 thousand
units, representing a year-on-year increase of 22.9%. According to the
information published on the website of China Construction Machinery
Network (F B T 2 #4512 8. 48), the Company’s market share in the
market of wheel loader engines with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and
above) reached 79.2%, representing a year-on-year increase of 6
percentage points.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued) F (A

During the Period, with our technology innovation, the Company
continued to lead the power technology development trend in the PRC.
Since the implementation of the China Ill Emission Standard on heavy-duty
trucks, the Company’s high-power high-speed “Landking” engines, to
which we own intellectual property rights, have been well recognized by
the market for their advantages in areas such as environment protection,
energy saving and reliability. For the first half of 2011, the Company
reported a sales figure of approximately 198 thousand units of 10 — 12L
China Ill engines, maintaining the stable leading position of our heavy-
duty engine products in heavy-duty trucks and wheel loader markets.
Meanwhile, the Company’s self researched and developed “Landking”
WP5 and WP7 engines, to which we own intellectual property rights, were
successfully adopted in excavating machinery and passenger vehicles and
gradually gained recognition from customers. During the first half of the
year, the sales of WP5 and WP7 engines grew by 312.5% as compared
to the same period last year, demonstrating more prominent competitive
advantages of our integrated engine product and the wider prospects of

the development of the Company.

During the Period, the Company adhered to the approach of “Driven by
innovation, and grow organically” for its development, by continuously
enhancing its level of management, accelerating the adjustment of its
model and structure and boosting its scientific development. Firstly, we
strengthened the formation of our internal control system and established
a structured and process-oriented management system, to continually
strengthen the basis of our management. Secondly, we stepped up our
efforts in constructing our information platform, allowing information to
cover every aspect of our business operation to enhance work efficiency
and minimize loopholes in our procedures. Thirdly, we strengthened our
quality management by establishing product quality committees at various
levels and setting up our quality-wage system to boost quality awareness
among all our staff members. Fourthly, we maintained our efforts in
enhancing our on-site management, by establishing an Office for the
Betterment of WOS, with experts being recruited from Japan to provide

betterment training to increase our labour productivity.

During the Period, the Company’s revenue increased by approximately
10.2% over the same period of 2010 to approximately RMB36,627
million. The net profit attributable to shareholders was approximately
RMB3,502 million, representing an increase of approximately 8.3% over
the same period of 2010. The basic earnings per share were RMB2.10,

representing an increase of 8.2% over the same period of 2010.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

II.

I1I.

IV.

Dividend

As considered and approved in the 2010 annual general meeting of the
Company convened on 18 May 2011, it is agreed that based on the total
capital of 1,666,091,366 shares of the Company, cash dividend in the
amount of RMB4.30 (tax inclusive) would be distributed to all shareholders
for every 10 shares held. The proposal was put to implementation on 8
July 2011.

The Board does not recommend profit distribution in respect of this
interim period in 2011. Nor will any transfer from capital reserve be
effected.

Acquisition and Consolidation
During the Period, there was no material acquisition and consolidation.

Outlook and Prospects

Considering the economic development in the first half of the year as a
whole, it can be seen that the overall trend of economic development is
still relatively steady for the time being. However, the economic situations
at home and abroad are still complex with much uncertainty. The
consumer price index is expected to remain at a high level for a number
of months, and high upward pressure exists for prices in general. In the
second half of the year, it is expected that the key tone of the PRC’s
policy would be stabilization with the core of austerity measures being
the balancing of the relationship between maintaining a stable and faster
economic development, adjusting economic structure and managing
the expectation of inflation. In addition, the PRC is expected to maintain
its pro-active fiscal policies and robust monetary policies to ensure the
consistency and stability of the macroeconomic policies, while improving
the monitoring, forecast and alert of the economy as well as enhancing
the pertinence and flexibility of the austerity measures.

At present, the monetary policies of the PRC remain robust. Following
a number of increases in the deposit-reserve ratio, the interest rate
increased in early July. Facing the still stringent inflationary conditions and
a GDP growth rate of 9.6% in the second quarter, the monetary policies
adopted by the central bank is expected not to have major changes.
Taking into account the high eagerness of investments in the local level,
prices are likely to rise too quickly if the monetary policies are relaxed too
soon. At present, despite the slowdown in currency growth, the scale of
the currency quantity is still exemplifying a trend of gradual expansion. It
will take time to alleviate the pressure exerted by the previous excessive
currency supply. To alleviate demand for cash flow for small- and medium-
sized enterprises, it is expected that the second half of the year will
witness a less frequent increase in the deposit-reserve ratio in the PRC.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

According to the data supplied by MOF, in the first half of 2011, the fiscal
income of the nation grew at a high pace, laying a solid foundation for
the pro-active fiscal policies to be adopted for the second half of the year.
At the same time, the report on the debt risks involved in local financing
platforms, which was published by the National Audit Office of the PRC,
demonstrated the better-than-expected debt position of the government,
and to a certain extent provided room for an enlarged deficit budget
for both central and local governments. Accordingly, the second half of
the year will witness the nation maintaining a pro-active fiscal policies to

ensure stability in the PRC’s economic development.

Financially, government'’s investments will continue to have much support.
Under the policy of building 10 million units of affordable housing as
announced by the central government at the beginning of the year, less
than 30% of work had commenced as of May this year. The government
has requested full commencement of construction of affordable housing
in all areas by the end of November this year. As such, the construction of
affordable housing will become a key factor in fostering economic growth
in the second half of the year. In addition, strenuous support in terms
of fiscal policies is also needed by investments in hydraulic construction
projects and investments in emerging industries, which are among the key
focuses highlighted by the Twelfth Five-year Plan of the PRC.

In view of the above, policies will be further reinforced to curb inflation,
expand domestic demand and facilitate civilian constructions in the second
half of the year. The combination of robust monetary policies and pro-
active fiscal policies will be adopted to enhance the effects of the PRC's
austerity measures in stabilizing the economy. In the second half of 2011,
it is expected that steady economic growth will be achieved for the PRC
under the sound and effective implementation of the nation’s austerity

measures.
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

The Company is cautiously optimistic about the development trend of
its related industries. With regard to the heavy-duty trucks market, the
market demand for logistics and transportation vehicles construction-
related heavy-duty trucks will be long boosted by a number of factors,
including the sound fundamentals of the Chinese economy, the
progression of the urbanization process and the development strategy of
the regional economy, as well as the constructions of affordable housing
and hydraulic projects. On the other hand, the appreciation of the RMB
will exert pressure on the export of heavy-duty trucks to a certain extent,
and the rise of prices of raw materials will become the major factor
affecting the growth of the heavy-duty trucks market in the second half of
the year. With regard to the construction machinery market, investment
will maintain its steady growth in the second half of this year due to
several favorable factors, such as the large scale commencement of the
construction of affordable housing, the acceleration of the development
of urbanization and industrialization, the continual expansion of the scale
of private investment and the further implementation of the development
of the western regions of China. The overall demand in the construction
machinery sector continues to look promising.

With the further implementation of the China Il Emission Standard, the
upcoming implementation of the China IV Emission Standard, and the
establishment of plants for manufacturing engines by the suppliers of
heavy duty trucks and construction machinery, we anticipate that there
will be more intense competition in PRC’s engine market in the coming
years. However, leveraging on our advanced technology, large-scale
and high quality of our production, our unparalleled synergy and a loyal
customer base, we will maintain our leading position in the market of
high-power engines and gear boxes. The directors have full confidence in
the prospect of the Company.

The Company will further enhance our research and development effort,
complete the marketing for China IV products in batches ahead of
schedule and continue to perfect product performance, so as to better
satisfy customers’ demand and become technologically ready for the
upcoming China IV phase. Meanwhile, the Company will also further
advance product and market structure adjustments. For the diesel engine
segment, the Company will accelerate the pace of optimization and
localization of Moteurs Baudouin’s engines of above 16L, and develop
a complete series of Weichai industry power products. With our WP5/
WP7 diesel engines, we will keep exploring emerging markets such as
passenger vehicles, non-loader construction machinery and medium
to heavy-duty trucks. For the heavy-vehicle segment, we will expedite
the research and production of our third-generation heavy-duty trucks,
enhance the technological contents of such products, to prepare well
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)

for subsequent growth. For the gear boxes segment, the Company will
leverage upon the joint-venture projects in collaboration with Caterpillar
to step up its efforts in research and development of AMT and gear boxes
for passenger vehicles, with a view to achieving new breakthrough. For
our component segment, we will step up our research and innovation,
get rid of the situation of homogenous competition, and gradually transit
to power chain, making the component segment an important part of our
business.

At the same time, under the principle of “unifying strategy, independent
operation, resources sharing”, we will accelerate the coordinated
development of commercial vehicle segment, power chain segment
and automobile component segment. We will further integrate the
Company’s advantageous resources, fully utilize synergies and improve
our capability against risks. The Company will strive to become an
international enterprise with an orientation on complete vehicles and
complete machines having the core technology for power assembly, so as
to develop into a unique and world-leading equipment manufacturer.

The Company considers that the inevitable industry adjustment provides
an opportunity for the upgrading of its corporate quality. The Company
will take advantage of such rare strategic opportunity to embark upon its
quality check-up, to rationalize its management system, and to enhance
its self-innovation capability, with a view to becoming the fastest-growing
entity in times of upward cycles of the industry and minimizing the
downside of the Company in times of adjustment of the industry.

Appreciation

Last but not least, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere appreciation to all our shareholders, the general public and our
customers for their care and support, as well as all of our staff for their
hard work and dedication in the last six months!
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Directors are pleased to present a management discussion and analysis of

the interim results of operations of the Group for the six months ended 30 June
2011 (the “Period”) as follows:

L.

Industry Analysis

The Company is one of the largest manufacturers of high-speed heavy-
duty diesel engines in the PRC and a leading company in the power chain
market. It is equipped with the most comprehensive supply chain of

engines, gear boxes and axles.

Heavy-duty Vehicle Industry

During the Period, with the slowdown of the pace of the economic
growth in the PRC, signs of downturn appeared in the heavy-duty
truck market. During the Period, the aggregate sales of heavy-
duty trucks were approximately 543 thousand units, representing
a year-on-year decrease of 7.04%. In particular, the sales figure for
the second quarter was approximately 253 thousand units, which
represents a year-on-year decrease of 20.1% or a quarter-on-
quarter decrease of 12.8%. The market adjustment was a result of
the impact of the austerity policies adopted by the PRC, as well as
the lag-effect of the excessive growth rate of the heavy-duty truck

market in the last year and the first quarter of this year.

First, entering 2011, the consumer price index of the PRC was on
the upsurge and the prices for various raw materials continued to
rise. To stabilize prices and curb the excessive growth of property
prices, the PRC government adopted a series of austerity measures
and continued to implement its pro-active fiscal policies and robust
monetary policies. The Period witnessed 6 times of increase in the
deposit reserve ratio in a row, the increase in the deposit-reserve
base for major financial institutions to 21.5%, and 3 times of

increase in the deposit-lending benchmark interest rate.

Second, during the first half of the year, national economic
growth slowed down but maintained its robust and steady pace.
Gross domestic product reached 20,445.9 billion, a year-on-year
growth of 9.6%, which was 1.5 percentage points lower than the
corresponding period of last year, and represented a slower growth

pace than the rate of 10.3% last year.

paran

=

y
=

TE

A3 A A

O

EEMAREAEEXRAF(BE_FT——F R

A=ZTRLEARERAFHREXEACEEE IR

EoMr - FEBWT

(RE Vg
ARFBENAEREEH LB R
REEBZ—  RBARATHHAED
A ABBREENTBM R REE
s -

BERARETE

A B - £FBE P B AR R A R
% BERMSGHERLBH - HEHA
FRERMISHHEENS438H @ @
LETRB7.04% @ HRZZEHEANAR
2538 - AL T20.1% @ RLEE
TFE12.8% > MiHHAEMRERRAE
FALRBRYENER  LREEFNS
FE-—FEERMGBERIERNE
B R FE

— EAZE——F BERHBEE
BIEETEH R SERME
BRBELR  RBEWE -
NHEERRIER - BUTEI
T—RINEBAEFER B8
B TR AR 6 B BURCR AR R &
BRI - REMEE X E
AEREREeE KRB oEHE
B FEEEER21.5% I
SR EPTFERELEFE o

Z: F¥FFBRREBILRE R
WE - BERARFET IR
BRER BRNAEEMLEE
204,459 18 T - ALK
9.6% ' Lkt EFREAEE1.51E
BAOE BEREF10.3%H
RE o



Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Third, the market demand for logistics and transportation vehicles
and construction-related heavy-duty trucks will be long boosted
by a number of factors, including the sound fundamentals of the
Chinese economy, the progression of the urbanization process and
the development strategy of the regional economy, as well as the
constructions of affordable housing and hydraulic projects. On the
other hand, the appreciation of the RMB will exert pressure on
the export of heavy-duty trucks to a certain extent, and the rise of
prices of raw materials will become the major factor affecting the
growth of the heavy-duty trucks market in the second half of the

year.

Construction Machinery

During the Period, the aggregate sales of the PRC’s construction
machinery market were approximately 503 thousand units,
representing a year-on-year growth of 21.3%. In particular,
approximately 95 thousand units of wheel loaders with a load
capacity of 5 tonnes were sold, representing a year-on-year growth
of 13.7%.

During the Period, the fixed asset investment in the PRC maintained
a fast growth, with the PRC’s fixed asset investment amounting to
RMB12,456.7 billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 25.6%.
Investment in real estate developments amounted to RMB2,625
billion, representing a year-on-year growth of 32.9%. However,
under the impact of the austerity policies on the real estate market
and the robust monetary policies adopted by the PRC, the rapid
growth of the construction machinery industry was constrained to a

certain extent.

With regard to the construction machinery market, investment will
maintain its steady growth in the second half of this year due to
several favorable factors, such as the large scale commencement
of the construction of affordable housing, the acceleration of the
development of urbanization and industrialization, the continual
expansion of the scale of private investment and the further
implementation of the development of the western regions of
the PRC. The overall demand in the construction machinery sector

continues to look promising.

i

A+
[TH
&

2.

pa{ll 4

Interim Report 2011 R A= 15

ANazal
b
N
s
>t

i
s
e

5

R| 4% SHE

HRFPESCEERAENAR
o BB ERR R LEE
F B BE A HEE DA R B R R M
EEE®R KINIEZRE -
ERAGSH R ERER KT
BESRHNMSERER: MAR
BEABEGRERDABRK—ERE
N RMEHER R - AR
BTH+FERMBERNER
Bz -

TR

RARRE  FEIERHTISEEE
#5038 6 ' FILLHER21.3% @ &
R OR U T RE A 5 A S B S & 4995
Ba  FAEKERI3.7%

RASHE  BREEEEREFRER
RIER M ERIE124,56718 7T
AL R25.6%  FHMEMRZERE
26,250187C - AIER32.9% 8
XBRFEMEFZIR BRI
FHZE E—ERELRSITIR
HEMITE RN RRIEE -

B TREMT S ZRELERHRR
BRI - WAl - TEEMRERE -
RERERETEEA - 78RR ARM &
BRSE — SHEEFT MR R
THERERRDBRFRIBREE
TRERRITEBREIRVEREES
B o

s,
‘T"s/El



16 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.  #se8) h R HEMR A T

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

II.

The Group’s Business
An analysis of the Group's business segments is set out in Note X. 3 to the
financial statements. The following are the highlights of the operations

conditions of major products of the Group:

1. Sale of Diesel Engines

For use in Heavy-duty Trucks

Affected by the downturn of the heavy-duty truck market, the
Company’s aggregate sales of heavy-duty truck engines amounted
to approximately 210 thousand units in the Period, representing
a year-on-year decrease of approximately 5.3% as compared to
approximately 222 thousand units in the corresponding period
of 2010. The Company’s market share in the heavy-duty truck
with a gross weight of above 14 tonnes market reached 38.7%,
representing an increase of 0.7 percentage points over the

corresponding period of last year.

For use in Construction Machinery

The Group is also the largest supplier of diesel engines to major
manufacturers of construction machinery (mainly wheel loaders)
with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and above) in the PRC. During
the Period, the Group sold approximately 85 thousand units (2010:
approximately 68 thousand units) of construction machinery
engines, representing an increase of approximately 25.3%
compared to that in the corresponding period of 2010. The sales of
engines for wheel loader engines with a load capacity of 5 tonnes
were approximately 76 thousand units, representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 22.9%. According to the information
published on the website of China Construction Machinery Network
(FP B TR2 M= B.48), the Company’s market share in the market
of wheel loader engines with a load capacity of 5 tonnes (and
above) reached 79.2%, representing a year-on-year increase of 6

percentage points.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Sale of Heavy-duty Trucks

With the outstanding performance of its new model of vehicles, the
Group continued to lead the industry by reporting an aggregate
sales of approximately 63 thousand units of heavy-duty trucks for
the Period, representing an increase of approximately 5.1% over the
approximately 60 thousand units of heavy-duty trucks sold in the
corresponding period of last year. Prior to intra-group elimination,
the truck business contributed approximately RMB15,013 million to

the Group's revenue during the Period.

Sale of Heavy-duty Gear Boxes

During the Period, the Group sold approximately 441 thousand
units of heavy-duty gear boxes, representing a decrease of
approximately 10.4% compared to approximately 492 thousand
units sold in the corresponding period of 2010, nevertheless
maintaining its absolutely leading position in the industry. Prior
to intra-group elimination, the gear boxes business contributed
approximately RMB4,743 million to the Group’s revenue during the

Period.

Sale of Engine and Heavy-duty Truck Parts
and Components

Apart from the production and sale of diesel engines for trucks
and construction machinery, heavy-duty trucks and heavy-duty
gear boxes, the Group is also engaged in the production and
sales of engine parts and components and other truck parts and
components such as: spark plugs, axles, chassis, air-conditioner
compressors, etc.. During the Period, the Group’s sales of parts
and components of diesel engines and trucks amounted to
approximately RMB1,558 million, representing an increase of
approximately 22.2% or approximately RMB283 million compared
to RMB1,275 million in the corresponding period of 2010.

Interim Report 2011 R #AsRE 17

HEERFHE

RAHE  BEFTEAHNERETS
x®E  AEEEHEARELN63E
B BT -ZFRAEHML6
EWMERNRBEMRALIERLNS A% - #
BHRITE RUEHESEREARHEE
Al REEBNAHEAEREBE TR
HERAHDARKEI5,013BETT °

HEELNSER

RAERE AEESEHERNSERED
44188 BH-_T-—TFRPED
WH49. 28 A ER S RFMBLL TBL
10.4% - BVEBRFBITENGEE
FHAL o RETSHERMB R R HEA -
BREEBNAPMAEREE TR
BWMANAREA,743E 8T -

HERDHRER FES
B
BRTHEERBERE R TR 25
i BRI RERERFRMEH
REBEEEREENTEE  BH K
B EHABRERSEHRTHERE
o RETEHH - RAEHE  A&EEZ
BT HERRESHHHEERE
FRIEMI1,275B BT RL2838
BELTEHNARYE1,58E& T ' AL
EF#I22.2% -



18 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.  #seB hIRHERA T

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) i PR wt s B A (A
I1I. Financial Review I11. 54 % [a] g
1. The Group’s Results of Operations 1. REBZREXEER
a. Revenue a. ZEEEA

The Group’s revenue increased from approximately
RMB33,224 million in the corresponding period of 2010 to
approximately RMB36,627 million in the Period, representing
an increase of approximately 10.2%. The slower pace of
growth compared to the same period last year was mainly
attributable to the slowdown in the pace of economic growth
in the PRC and the adoption of austerity policies by the
PRC government. In particular, the revenue from principal
businesses rose by approximately 8.4%, from approximately
RMB31,959 million in the corresponding period of 2010
to approximately RMB34,644 million for the Period , which
was mainly attributable to the sales growth of engines for
construction machinery and heavy-duty trucks. During the
Period, the Group sold a total of approximately 85 thousand
units of diesel engines for use in construction machinery,
compared to approximately 68 thousand units in the
corresponding period of 2010, representing an increase of
approximately 25.3%. During the Period, Shaanxi Zhongqi
recorded an aggregate sales of approximately 63 thousand
units of heavy-duty trucks, compared to approximately 60
thousand units in the corresponding period of last year,
representing an increase of 5.1%. Revenue from other
businesses rose by approximately 56.7%, from approximately
RMB1,266 million in the corresponding period of 2010
to approximately RMB1,983 million for the Period, which
was primarily attributable to the 46.3% growth in revenue
generated from the sales of raw materials as compared to the

corresponding period of last year.

Profit from Principal Businesses

During the Period, the Group generated profit from principal
businesses in the amount of approximately RMB7,706
million, representing an increase of approximately 0.9% as
compared to approximately RMB7,641 million recorded in
the corresponding period of 2010. Profit margin of principal
businesses was 22.2%, slightly lower than 23.9% recorded
in the corresponding period of 2010, which was mainly

attributable to the adjustment of product structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

c.  Distribution and selling expenses

Distribution and selling expenses decreased by approximately
0.9% to approximately RMB1,531 million in the Period
from approximately RMB1,545 million in the corresponding
period of 2010. As a percentage of revenue, distribution and
selling expenses decreased from approximately 4.7% in the

corresponding period of 2010 to approximately 4.2% in the

Period.

d. General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses of the Group increased
by approximately 18.4% or approximately RMB222 million
from approximately RMB1,213 million in the corresponding
period of 2010 to approximately RMB1,435 million in the
Period, which was mainly due to the increase in research

and development expenses which were included as part of

general and administrative expenses.

e.  Operating Profit before Finance Expenses

During the Period, the Group’s operating profit increased
by approximately 5.2% to approximately RMB4,845 million
in the Period from approximately RMB4,607 million in
the corresponding period of 2010. During the Period, the
Group's operating margin was approximately 13.2%, which

was similar to the level of approximately 13.9% in the

corresponding period of 2010.

f. Finance Expenses

Finance expenses decreased by approximately 94.9% to
approximately RMB3 million in the Period from approximately
RMB68 million in the corresponding period of 2010. This
decrease was mainly attributable to the dual effect of the

decrease in interest expenses and an increase in interest

income in the Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Income Tax Expenses

The Group's income tax expenses increased by approximately
12.1% from approximately RMB675 million in the
corresponding period of 2010 to approximately RMB757
million in the Period. During the Period, the Group’s average
effective tax rate was approximately 15.6%, compared to

14.9% in the corresponding period of 2010.

Net Profit and Net Profit Margin

The Group's net profit for the Period increased by
approximately 5.7% from approximately RMB3,865 million
in the corresponding period of 2010 to approximately
RMB4,085 million in the period. During the Period, the net
profit margin maintained at 11.2%, basically the same as

11.6% in the corresponding period of 2010.

Liquidity and Cash Flow

During the Period, the Group generated operating cash
flows of RMB-348 million. It was primarily attributable to the
sufficient cash and cash equivalents of the Company for the
time being, which is enough for responding to the reduction
in discount of notes receivable in view of the daily operations
of the Company. As at 30 June 2011, the Group had net cash
(cash and cash equivalents net of interest-bearing debts) of
RMB4,758 million (as at 31 December 2010: the Group had
a net cash (cash and cash equivalents net of interest-bearing
debts) of RMB6,387 million). Based on the calculation above,
the debt to equity ratio is non-applicable as the Group has a

net cash position (as at 31 December 2010: N/A).
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) L B A ()
2. Financial Position 2. BN

Pursuant to the Consultation Conclusions on Acceptance of
Mainland Accounting and Auditing Standards and Mainland
Audit Firms for Mainland Incorporated Companies Listed in
Hong Kong published by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in
December 2010, Mainland incorporated issuers listed in Hong
Kong shall be allowed to prepare their financial statements
using China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises,
and Mainland audit firms approved by MOF and CSRC shall
be allowed to service these issuers to satisfy the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. As such, in
the 2010 annual general meeting of the Company held on
18 May 2011, the appointment in Ernst & Young Hua Ming as
the auditor of the Company was considered and approved.
At the same time, it was resolved that with effect from
2011, the Company would only adopt Mainland accounting
standards in its preparation of financial statements and would
no longer use Hong Kong accounting standards at the same

time in preparing financial statements.

According to the audited consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2010 of the Group prepared
under China Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
and Hong Kong accounting standards respectively, there are
no material differences between the profit and net assets for
the year of the Company determined based on the respective
accounting standards aforementioned. The Company
does not consider that the adoption of China Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises in its preparation of the
financial statements has any material financial impact on the

Group.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Assets and Liabilities

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had total assets of
approximately RMB59,015 million, of which approximately
RMB41,469 million were current assets. As at 30 June 2011,
the Group had cash and cash equivalents of approximately
RMB9,940 million (as at 31 December 2010: RMB11,159
million). On the same date, the Group’s total liabilities
amounted to approximately RMB32,342 million, of which
approximately RMB30,188 million were current liabilities.
The current ratio was approximately 1.37 (as at 31 December
2010: 1.39).

Capital Structure

At 30 June 2011, the Group had total equity of approximately
RMB26,673 million, of which approximately RMB21,077
million was attributable to equity holders of the Company
and the balance was minority equity holders’ interests. The
Group currently does not rely heavily on borrowings. The
borrowings of the Group as at 30 June 2011 amounted
to approximately RMB3,462 million, which included
debenture of approximately RMB1,287 million and bank
borrowings of approximately RMB2,175 million. Other than
approximately RMB77 million and RMB23 million which are
HKD-denominated and EUR-denominated borrowings, other
borrowings are RMB-denominated. The revenue of the Group
is mainly RMB-denominated. The Group does not consider
its foreign exchange risk significant. As a policy, the Group
manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the
return to shareholders through the optimization of the debts
and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains

unchanged from prior years.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Pledge of Assets

As at 30 June 2011, bank deposits and bills receivables of
approximately RMB2,765 million (as at 31 December 2010:
RMB2,618 million) were pledged to banks to secure the
Group'’s bills payables and bills receivables issued by banks.
The pledged bank deposits carry prevailing bank interest
rates. The pledge will be released upon the settlement of the
relevant bank borrowings. The fair value of the bank deposits

at the settlement date approximates the carrying amount.

Certain other assets were also pledged by the Group to
secure the Group's borrowings. Details are set out in Note V.

23 to the financial statements.

Contingencies

On 30 June 2011, the Group provided to certain distributors
and agents guarantee amounting to approximately RMB2,583
million (as at 31 December 2010: approximately RMB1,145

million) to secure their obtaining and use of bank borrowings.

On 30 June 2011, the Group provided guarantee for joint
liabilities in respect of failure of the leasee under finance lease
to settle instalment payments plus interest. Risk exposure in
respect of possible guarantee for joint liabilities amounts to

approximately RMB58 million.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued) BT o B A (A
f.  Commitments f. HEEFIE

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had approximately RMB RZE——FANA=Z+H &

1,404 million capital commitments (as at 31 December 2010: EBBEAENERNEGZHARE

approximately RMB2,193 million), among which contracted 140488 T (R —ZF

capital commitments amounted to approximately RMB1,392 +—A=4+—"H: HARK

million, principally for the capital expenditure in respect of 2,193B &) HREFTAH

acquisition of property, plant and equipment. BRAFNARB1,392BE

T ETERRBYE  EER
REHEARF °

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had approximately RMB455 RZZE——FXA=+H &K
million investment commitments (as at 31 December 2010: EEEEHNREERRHARE
approximately RMB200 million), among which contracted AS5ABT(RZZ—ZF+=
investment commitments amounted to approximately A=+—H: § AR®20087
RMB255 million. Details are set out in Note VIII to the Bor)  HABFTOMREERE
financial statement. WMARB25588B T - F1BH

KRBTSRI N ©

3. Other Financial Information 3. HEKEH

a. Employees a. EEEHR
RZE——F<A=Z+H " &
NEIHERAN3IIBEZEE @ B

As at 30 June 2011, the Company had approximately 39

thousand employees. During the Period, the Company had

paid remuneration of approximately RMB1,766 million. The AEIE  KEBATIK AL A
emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up R¥1,766 B 8L - A5 EHE
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merits, ENFMBRBHFMEESR

qualifications and competence.

Major Investment
The Group did not make any major investment during the

Period.

Major Acquisition and Disposal
The Group did not make any major acquisition or disposal

during the Period.

BRENRE  BERTFLE

NEE -

BEAKRE
RAEE  AEBEWEELE
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Auditors” Report

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

gty

= ik

To the Shareholders of Weichai Power Co., Ltd.:

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Weichai Power Co.,

Ltd. which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 30 June

2011, the consolidated and company income statements, statement of changes

in equity and cash flow statement for the period from January to June 2011 and

notes to the financial statements.

IL.

Management’s Responsibility for the
Financial Statements

The management of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. is responsible for
the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements. Such
responsibility includes: (1) preparation of the financial statements in
accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises
to ensure fair representation; (2) the design, implementation and
maintenance of necessary internal controls so that the financial statements

are free from material misstatement whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the Certified Public
Accountant

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with the
Chinese Auditing Standards issued by the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements of the Chinese Certified Public Accountants and plan and
perform the audit to obtain a reasonable assurance as to whether the

financial statements are free from material misstatement.
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Auditors’ Report (Continued) Fwat A ()
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about BTSSR ERENEF  WEREH
the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures PERRCENMBEBENRTEE - BEN
selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of EARRFEORR M@t - 8245
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether HHREENERENNPERREANE
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, certified wRE R AR o FEEITE R (G o i
public accountants consider the internal control relevant to the entity’s QTR E R HE SRR R E A 4 53R
preparation of financial statements in order to design audit procedures BRG] - LRFHRE R ERT IR
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of BEMEFHABENNE R EERE
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. R B I FERREIEERERR ST
An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting BROBEMEMEL S HETNA B
policies used and the reasonableness of the accounting estimates made ARG EMERRAOEET R -
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and HMEE  BRMERNETFETERTD
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. HEW  RERBAERREMHTER -

III. Opinion =EEER
In our opinion, the financial statements have been prepared in accordance KMRE S PG RREMNBEEKRTE
with Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and present fairly, in HBROCESHEINRERE » A kiR
all material aspects, the consolidated and company financial position as THESHIRMHBRAR2011F6 301
at 30 June 2011 and the consolidated and company results of operations K& 0t R AR BB BRI K20116F1-6
and cash flows of Weichai Power Co., Ltd. for the period from January to AEHEARNEERRNRERE
June 2011.

Ernst & Young Hua Ming TRERAGHMBHAR

Beijing, the People’s Republic of China R R

Chinese Certified Public Accountant: PR e EtAD

Zhang Mingyi KA

Chinese Certified Public Accountant: PR e EtAD

Jiang Weimin BER

29 August 2011 201168 H29H



Consolidated Balance Sheet

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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aHEERMER

201146 H308 (A ER#T)

Note V 30 June 2011 31 December 2010
ASSETS BE (i PIORE P 20105124318
Current assets e & E
Cash and cash equivalents EMES 1 CECYOREYER: Y2 Wyl 11, 158,565,486177
Financial assets held for trading TR EE 2 - 3,672,000.00
Notes receivable JE W ZE 3 (EPEPNEER RPN 11,289,227,182.23
Accounts receivable FE UL BE TX 4 5,985,095,511.29 4,577,505,700.52
Prepayments AN O] 5 718,512,654.70 677,028,827.51
Dividends receivable JE W AR A 6 4,529,218.53 3,040,000.00
Other receivables H fth WK 7 406,054,464.79 221,203,557.34
Inventories 78 8 8,711,821,008.39 8,793,347,227.21
Other current assets HmEh & &= 9 470,355,139.30 361,857,521.95
Total current assets mEBEEASE LA R e N yp Y9 37,085,447,503.53
Non-current assets EREEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AEHESMEE 10 350,158,257.47 489,211,778.85
Long-term receivables & A FE IR 11 28,447,167.43 29,090,809.00
Long-term equity investments RHERERE 12,13 919,228,939.95 1,067,518,190.25
Investment property KWEEEHE 14 248,758,114.03 156,786,592.19
Fixed assets Bl & E 15 i iR el il 7,840,832,156.38
Construction in progress EEIR 16 5,313,348,300.35 3,369,491,364.69
Materials used in construction TIEME 17 18,496,271.62 11,549,685.01
Disposal of fixed assets BlEEESE 2,046,835.61 3,226,332.68
Intangible assets mEE 18 1,100,533,347.88 918,559,035.39
Goodwill GRS 19 538,016,278.33 538,016,278.33
Long-term prepaid expenses REGHER 20 166,456,742.69 168,679,364.28
Deferred tax assets RIEFISHEE 21 733,347,390.45 819,209,766.78
Other non-current assets HEMIEREEE - 19,584,000.00
Total non-current assets EREEESET ([ e el sal s 15,431,755,353.83
Total assets BERE Sl ek PEl e 52,517,202,857.36
The Financial statements have been signed by: BMEBATALESE

Legal Representative:

EEREA ITEGHAIFEEEA:

Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter
b RER

Principal in charge of accounting:

Head of accounting department:

BRTEBEAREA

Ling Yun

et
/éﬁ



30 June 2011
=Ei=P) 20116 H30H

RBRE

EHIE K 1,192,420,171.00
FER R 4,392,958,673.01

JE T BR K : 13,723,797,134.39

T8 R TE 1,379,657,583.07

JFE {F B8 T 357 27 1,103,915,383.03

ERTE 28 2,012,779,328.54

TS 29 53,701,408.33 ¥
'J?EHH%IJ 30 742,520,087.52 ' 72,963,509.34

Interest payable

Dividends payable

Other payables L JE < 3R 31 4,046,518,025.34 3,169,636,229.37
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FERNFEANIERHAEE 32 327,900,000.00 31,990,000.00
Other current liabilities Hitmeask 33 1,211,719,558.31 1,053,832,320.13
Total current liabilities mEBEAET ElUREYRVACLYAY I 26,668,503,259.90
Non-current liabilities FERBEE
Long-term borrowings REIER 34 654,727,273.00 954,727,273.00
Bonds payable EES 35 1,287,086,195.49 1,285,239,261.49
Long-term payables REBFERT R 36 25,869,790.90 36,877,700.00
Special payables BIHEMNRK 37 44,000,000.00 55,090,000.00
Provisions EEtaff 8,367,573.99 8,367,573.99
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTBRAE 21 68,118,914.38 89,944,991.07
Other non-current liabilities HiIERSHAE 38 66,293,270.03 48,324,202.38
Total non-current liabilities EnEAaEssr 2,154,463,017.79 2,478,571,001.93
Total liabilities BEAE 32,342,350,370.33 29,147,074,261.83
The Financial statements have been signed by: WHBHREBAATALES
Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EERERA FEGHIEEEA: FEHEAEA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun

N B RIER b=



30 June 2011

201156H30H

1,666,091,366.00
1,757,849,490.32
1,424,081,328.77
16,231,271,925.46

(2,040,112.13)

| 21,077,253,998.42

Minority interests LER R LRl 4,855,209,600.45

Total shareholders’ equity IR E 5T IR SR W 23,370,128,595.53
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity BEMRRERE N VRCLY LYWL 52,517,202,857.36
The Financial statements have been signed by: MR EREAATALESE

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EEREKA FTEGHIHEEBEA BEfREASTA

Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun

A RER E=
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EARIREES

20114F1-6 H(ARET)

Consolidated Income Statement

January to June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

January to June

January to June

Note V 2011 2010
MizEh 2011%1-6 A 20104 1-6 8
Revenue EERA 43 sl e RS 33,224,406,449.96
Cost of sales [SE 9PN 43 28,732,858,901.32 25,446,098,164.98
Taxes and surcharges EER S KM 44 165,220,642.02 178,174,475.14
Distribution and selling expenses HEER 45 1,531,098,513.51 1,545,121,832.44
General and administrative expenses EEEH 46 1,435,273,927.53 1,212,724,968.26
Finance expenses B % & A 47 3,470,888.64 67,845,303.39
Impairment loss of assets BERERLX 48 99,786,985.50 306,257,728.70
Add: Gain arising from fair value changes m: AREBEEZHKS - -
Investment income & W 49 73,021,921.81 5,312,803.15
Incl:  Share of profit of associates and jointly Hep - HEBErEME &
controlled enterprises BEMIRE W 38,881,921.81 1,758,841.43
Operating profit SEFilbEs 4,732,725,858.75 4,473,496,780.20
Add: Non-operating income e EEINEA 50 142,114,982.98 81,806,502.21
Less: Non-operating expenses W BEITH 51 33,053,588.92 15,741,768.31
Incl:  Loss on disposal of non-current assets Hib  ERBHEERERK 22,193,256.44 1,147,520.32
Total profit T asE 4,841,787,252.81 4,539,561,514.10
Less: Income tax expenses W FTISHER 52 756,570,770.67 674,717,680.69
Net profit ) 4,085,216,482.14 3,864,843,833.41
Net profit attributable to the shareholders FERESARIRERN
of the parent & A 3,501,706,567.71 3,234,588,804.33
Minority interests LHERFEER 583,509,914.43 630,255,029.08
Earnings per share TR 53
Basic earnings per share EARGRK 1.94
Diluted earnings per share wrEgRkiks 1.94
Other comprehensive income H b 456 U 54 (219,843,175.85) 137,766,789.53
Total comprehensive income AW EEE 3,865,373,306.29 4,002,610,622.94
Incl: Hrh o
Total comprehensive income attributable to FEREARIRRER
the shareholders of the parent e W iBEE 3,281,863,391.86 3,372,355,593.86
Total comprehensive income attributable to BEEN DB R
minority owners FEWRETE 583,509,914.43 630,255,029.08
The Financial statements have been signed by: MIEmMERBUATALESE

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EERERA TERMIEREA: BAREBREA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
b RER EE



Capital Splé

reserve reserve

EHOE

earnings

RORAR

3

() 5 .

Ad5,984,645.13 (14,556,610 ii 18514918995,

— 3501,706,567.71 58350991443 4,085,21_6,4%24 .
(1) Other comprehensive income (2) Efiaka 54 - e - - 1251649839 (219843175.85) o QogsImE)
Total comprehensive income GENREE - (23239,67424) - 350170656771 1251649839 328186339186 58350991443  3,865373,306.09
(1) Injection and reduction (Z) RERATHHER
1. njection 1. RERAER - - - - - - 15351925002 153,519.250.02
2. (Others 1 B - (3,109,101.14) - - - (3,109,101.14) 3,109,101.14 -
(V) Profit appropriation and distribution (m) FEAR
1. Distrbution to owners 1. HRRESE Iy - - - (716,419,287.38) - (716,419,287.39) - (716419287.39)
Il Atend of period = FEERHE 1666,091,366.00  1,757,849.490.32  1,424,081328.77 16,231.27192546 (2,040,112.13) 21,077,253.99842  5,595,347,866.04  26,672,601,864.46
The Financial statements have been signed by: BMEBHATALESE
Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EEREZA FEGHIEAEA: BItEASTA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
E R FiER s



Il Movements in current year

Capital Surplus

- feserve reserve

0

05,02430 847388,

*ﬁ i

60453376

) Netpro (-) §HE sl . . 678214543963 o GTRLUSANE 12069588027 799510433190
(1) Other comprehensive income (2) EilsAkE 5 - 387,403829.60 - - (6,830455.91)  380,573,373.69 - 380573373.69
Total comprehensive income GelEes - 387,403829.60 - 6,782,14543963 (6,83045591)  7,162,718,813.32  1,216,958,892.27  8379,677,705.59
(1) Injection and reduction (Z) RREARROER

1. njection 1. BREAER - 82,289.17 - - - 82,2017 54,826,285.92 54,908,575.09

2. Other 1 Ef - (142,19430) - - - (14713 14719437 -
(V) Proft aporopriation and distribution (m) fFAR

1. Appropriation of surplus reserve 1. REE®DE - - 57669261538 (576,692,615.38) - - - -

2. Distribution to owners 2 HREOSE ) - - - (399,861,927.84) - (399,861,927.84)  (324.296,071.02) (724,157 998.86)

3. Others 3. £t - - - (1,210,785.04) - (1,210,785.04) (403,595.02) (1,614,380.06)
(V) Internaltransfer within equity (1) RREshpEE

1. Transfer from capital reserve 1. ERRiEELRE 83304568300 (833,045,683.00) - - - - - -

Il Atend of year . REERYE 1666,091,366.00 199331826570  1,424,081328.77 1344598464513 (14,556,61052) 18,514,918.995.08  4,855,209,600.45 23,370,128,595.53

The Financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EEREA

Tan Xuguang
U

Principal in charge of accounting:
FESHIEEREA:

Cheung Tat Leung, Peter

RIER

MBMEABATALES

Head of accounting department:

SEHIBREA

Ling Yun

et
/§z:



Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

January to June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Interim Report 2011 i EAsR% 33

& PF 8 & e R

20114 1-6 (AR T)

January to June
2011
2011%51-6 8

Note V
B 5 A

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING =9

ACTIVITIES
Cash received from sales of goods
or rendering of services
Refunds of taxes
Other cash received relating to

REEBELR
AEng&

HEMm  RHEK
YRR S

YRR B R E

U B E A B AL R B

23,052,451,891.97
152,886,994.91

55) 587,632,719.00

23,792,971,605.88

18,705,764,568.34

1,509,431,470.84
2,553,448,117.49

55 1,371,911,557.52

24,140,555,714.19

56 (347,584,108.31)

14,021,000.00

5,604,392.73

16,053,982.35

96,029,617.64

131,708,992.72

1,151,615,996.03
440,857,098.00

33,947,070.74

1,626,420,164.77

operating activities BHNE S

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating KEEEIRSRA
activities AN

Cash paid for goods BEEm BEXEB
and services KRS

Cash paid to and on behalf T AB IR
of employees RBIZNNRE

Cash paid for all types of taxes XNHEIERE

Other cash paid relating to AT H th B A 20 2
operating activities FENRE

Subtotal of cash outflows from EEEIR M
operating activities INEt

Net cash flows from operating LE TR E AR
activities REeREFH

Il.  CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING — . REEDELEN
ACTIVITIES REME

Cash received from sale of investments Hﬂl@ KEWIHIRE

Cash received from return on FIRE W= B
investments fﬁ%

Net cash received from disposal REBTEE B
of fixed assets, intangible assets EEMHEMREE
and other long-term assets EWERIREFE

Other cash received relating to LB L At B2 A% &R B
investing activities BFENRS

Subtotal of cash inflows from investing KEEHEETA
activities NEE

Cash paid for acquisition BRETEE  BF
of fixed assets, intangible assets BEMEMREAE
and other long-term assets EXNNRE

Cash paid for acquisition of investments HRELZNHRS

Other cash paid relating to investing S E M B4R & E &)
activities FENRSE

Subtotal of cash outflows from investing KEEHES
activities e NET

Net cash flows from REETHEENES
investing activities EFE

(1,494,711,172.05)

The Financial statements have been signed by:
Legal Representative:
EEREKRA

Tan Xuguang

ENB RER

Principal in charge of accounting:

FTEEHIEERA:

Cheung Tat Leung, Peter

January to June
2010
20104 1-6 A

20,494,735,691.27
194,459,477 .96

180,339,209.11

20,869,534,378.34

14,352,785,066.44

1,183,939,507.31
2,383,303,376.47

460,435,500.37

18,380,463,450.59

2,489,070,927.75

3,600,000.00

25,656,170.33

1,061.44

29,257,231.77

688,373,130.36
237,160,650.00

925,533,780.36

(896,276,548.59)

MEmERBUATALESE
Head of accounting department:
BETREASTA
Ling Yun
E=
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement (Continued)

January to June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

EMBERER ()
20114 1-6 (AR TT)

Note V
MizER

January to June
2011
20115 1-6 A

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES = -~

Cash received from capital contributions

Incl: Cash received by subsidiaries from
capital contributions
of minority owners

Cash received from borrowings
Other cash received relating to

BERHELN

RAERE

U E W B R &

Hep: FRAREK
DEBER
BREWRE
MR e

RS ERKEINRE

W EMEEE LD

93,040,000.00

93,040,000.00
1,057,450,117.07

financing activities BENES 29,444,285.82
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing EEEPHRE
activities MANE 1,179,934,402.89
Cash repayments of borrowings BEEHBINOES 463,249,591.83
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or DERH -~ FEFE
profits and for interest expenses AMEEZNHE® 148,061,389.19
Incl: Cash paid to minority owners Hi o FRRIIMAE
for distribution of dividends DT R
or profits by subsidiaries Re &) ~ F)E 85,605,110.65
Other cash paid relating to financing THEMEEEEH
activities BHNES 5,250,234.65
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing E8FHEE
activities s NEt 616,561,215.67
Net cash flows from BEEHELED
financing activities REemneF5E 563,373,187.22
IV.  EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE RATE 70« [EXREsHHIE S
ON CASH of-% -+ (706,165.89)
V. NET INCREASE/ADECREASE) INCASHAND T - RE&RRLZEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS SFE O d) (1,279,628,259.03)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents o EYRe &
at beginning of period HeEED
BRER 9,172,353,535.75
VI.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END N HIRBRENERESE
OF PERIOD BYersa 56 7,892,725,276.72
The Financial statements have been signed by: MEMERBUATALESE

Legal Representative:

EEREA

Tan Xuguang
EED

Principal in charge of accounting:
IEGHIEREA

Cheung Tat Leung, Peter

RIER

January to June
2010
201041-6 8

88,186,587.04

88,186,587.04
1,335,264,472.65

141,227,680.73

1,564,678,740.42

1,802,788,502.21

187,661,237.73

123,345,873.17

147,830,356.00

2,138,280,095.94

(573,601,355.52)

(9,133,551.84)

1,010,059,471.80

3,869,058,240.98

4,879,117,712.78

Head of accounting department:

SRTRBREA

Ling Yun

N
A=



30 June 2011
20116 H30H

- RBAR
wwEs 5,744,928,874.98
B R E ' 11,015,905,746.40
JE W BR K 942,406,326.24
[ 5RIE 136,280,650.02
5 Rl 60,302,277.34
S0 s 156,698,713.38
wE . 1,665,404,430.09
urrent assets c . 103,261,318.88

Total current assets MBEESST L0 05kl el e el 17,355,922,939.36

Non-current assets SERENEE
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESREE 347,200,000.00 485,600,000.00
Long-term equity investments REIRHERE 3,4 5,117,539,217.19 5,028,415,407.21
Investment property KB EE 593,736,451.01 -
Fixed assets BEBE 1,267,030,349.78 1,846,271,419.16
Construction in progress EEIR 3,296,001,095.05 2,342,624,365.97
Disposal of fixed assets BEEEESHE 217,772.87 1,226,047.63
Intangible assets |y EE 346,535,508.70 400,632,256.64
Goodwill BmE 579,145,043.76 579,145,043.76
Deferred tax assets RIEFISHEE 314,125,510.26 402,468,083.55
Other non-current assets HiIERFHEE 425,151,100.00 19,584,000.00

Total non-current assets IEREEESET (ks e e i 11,105,966,623.92

Total assets BEME Pl el ok 28,461,889,563.28

The Financial statements have been signed by: B REBAATALES

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EEREA ¢ EIBX ITEEHTHAEA GHSEREA

Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
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Dividends payable

RBRE
ANES S
JE SRR AR
FEUHRIR
JFE A<F B T 385
FER &
A5 1.8,

- FERTRRF

Other payables H A FEAT R

Other current liabilities HEf s aE
Total current liabilities mEBAEES
Non-current liabilities ERBAEE

Bonds payable e ES

Deferred tax liabilities RIEFTBRARE

Other non-current liabilities HM3EnReaE
Total non-current liabilities ERBEaBEEET
Total liabilities BEAF
Shareholders’ equity MR i

Share capital fi& 2

Capital reserve BARRNIE

Surplus reserve BHRNTE

Retained earnings

Ao BB

Total Shareholders’ equity PERER AT
Total liabilities & Shareholders' equity BEMRREER AR

30 June 2011
2011¥6H30H

2,346,942,001.78
4,336,816,298.89
42,457,486.33
735,294,448.19
1,781,936,701.70
53,625,000.00
699,238,264.88
2,322,700,357.98
871,000,000.00

13,190,010,559.75

1,287,086,195.49
38,147,100.56
15,195,000.00

1,340,428,296.05

14,530,438,855.80

1,666,091,366.00
1,327,104,601.17
1,424,081,328.77
13,358,096,139.97

17,775,373,435.91

32,305,812,291.71

1,943,587,381.38
760,000,000.00

11,323,878,579.42

1,285,239,261.49
57,740,400.52
15,210,000.00

1,358,189,662.01

12,682,068,241.43

1,666,091,366.00
1,558,974,134.37
1,424,081,328.77
11,130,674,492.71

15,779,821,321.85

28,461,889,563.28

MBMRAATALES

The Financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EEREKA FEGHIEAEA: BEHBAREA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
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Company Income Statement

January to June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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ACIRIN-FS

20114 1-6 (AR T)

January to January to

June 2011 June 2010

20115F1-6 A 20109 1-6 A

Revenue EHEBA (WP Ry RPN M 14,497,867,109.22
Less: Cost of sales W EERAR AELCREELTE VAN 10,061,348,343.16
Taxes and surcharges EEN KK 96,981,503.23 107,213,558.90
Distribution and selling expenses HEZA 722,933,956.19 652,342,836.07
General and administrative expenses EIEER 842,267,351.01 599,073,188.45
Finance expenses %5 E R (10,610,949.05) 48,502,073.25
Impairment loss of assets BEREEX 18,431,158.23 29,159,247.69

Add: Investment income

Incl: Share of profit of associates and

e wERE

Hep : SR R

211,072,542.69

157,233,244.71

jointly controlled enterprises SEEDNER
& W= 38,953,343.18 831,639.56
Operating profit BRI 3,404,297,458.97 3,157,461,106.41
Add: Non-operating income hn s EEEHMIA 48,588,593.77 2,890,346.10
Less: Non-operating expenses o EFEIT 4,955,950.53 11,609,507.86

Incl: Loss on disposal of

non-current assets

Hep: SERBEER
EERX

1,629,298.57

Total profit

Less: Income tax expenses

GIDEREE
B FTSHER

3,447,930,102.21
504,089,167.57

319,185.65

3,148,741,944.65
438,584,775.85

Net profit 3 A 2,943,840,934.64 2,710,157,168.80
Earnings per Share ESRE S 1.77 1.63
Other comprehensive income Hihsz & Uz (231,869,533.20) 155,586,277.50
Total comprehensive income e B 2,711,971,401.44 2,865,743,446.30

MEHmERHATALES

The Financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:

EEREA FTEGHIFEEEA: BRMHBEAREA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
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Share capital Capital reserve

VTN

At beginning of period

~ AEERESER

(231

(Il Profit appropriation and : (E)ﬁfﬂﬁﬁﬁ

e (231

RN

— AHHNRE 1,666,091,366.00  1,558,974,134.37

,869,533.20)

,869,533.20)

Surplus reserve  Retained earnings

BHAR ROWAE

1,424,081,328.77  11,130,674,492.71

2,943,840,934.64

2,943,840,934.64

Total equity
BRRERAT

15,779,821,321.85

2,943,840,934.64
(231,869,533.20)

2,711,971,401.44

distribution
1. Distribution to owners 1. HREHAR (716,419,287.38)  (716,419,287.38)
Il Atend of period = REHMARSBE 1,666,091,366.00  1,327,104,601.17  1,424,081,328.77  13,358,096,139.97  17,775,373,435.91
Share capital Capital reserve Surplus reserve Retained earings Total equity
B BRRE N RHEME e Sk
. Atbeginning of year — AEEBE 833,045,683.00 2,003,577,273.62 847,388,713.39 6,340,302,882.10  10,024,314,552.11
. Movements in current year ZRERFEHLE
() Net profit (—)3HH - - - 5,766,926,153.83 5,766,926,153.83
(I Other comprehensive income (=) E 54 Wi - 388,442,543.75 - - 388,442,543.75
Total comprehensive income GelneE - 388,442,543.75 - 5,766,926,153.83 6,155,368,697.58
() Profit appropriation and (Z)FEHE
distribution
1. Appropriation of surplus 1. RERBHLE
reserve - - 576,692,615.38 (576,692,615.38) -
2. Distribution to owners 2. HERNAR - - - (399,861,927.84) (399,861,927.84)
(V) Internal transfer within equity ~ (70) R ER R HLE
1. Transferred from capital 1. EARHS%
reserve R 833,045,683.00 (833,045,683.00) - - -
Il Atend of year = KEERBE 1,666,091,366.00 1,558,974,134.37 1424,081,32877  11,130,674,49271  15779,821,321.85
The Financial statements have been signed by: WBMEBHATALESE
Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EEREZA FEGHIEATA: BITREATA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
BEF RER =



January to
June 2011
2011%1-6 A

BEA

=B
Iﬁa 7 /)L

SHEMM -~ 12
B EIRIRE 14,491,820,450.74
R -

X

activities . EBAH " EIVADLET XTI  397,138,928.47

REBHRTAA

Subtotal of cash inflows from operating

activities /et 14,808,849,433.27 12,777,174,864.24
Cash paid for goods and services BEEL BEX
BBXNORE (AP ERTEREVAWOIN  O,142,325,735.17
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees TEBITAR
BB TINAN
Re 506,166,132.23 390,914,804.75
Cash paid for all types of taxes YR EIERHE 1,405,779,652.60 1,402,055,362.76
Other cash paid relating to operating S HE b R AR R
activities BAMMIR T 374,297,376.79 316,487,278.74
Subtotal of cash outflows from operating KEEHIE ST
activities NS 13,601,806,532.82 11,251,783,181.42
Net cash flows from operating activities KESEBELEN
ReREFH 7 1,207,042,900.45 1,525,391,682.82
The Financial statements have been signed by: HERMEREAATALES
Legal Representative: Principal in charge of accounting: Head of accounting department:
EEREA FEGHIEEEA: FEIHEAEA
Tan Xuguang Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
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on investments

e’

Net cash received from disposal of fixed

REBPELR

= =—H
Eﬁ; 7 /)L B2

Yo [ 5% & W B B
Re

SR E KUK E

BERE

January to
June 2011
20115%1-6 A

14,021,000.00

28,488,835.72

REEEEE
assets, intangible assets and other long- EmIZEEMEA M
term assets REIEEWER
REFH 624,750.00 83,150.00
Other cash received relating to investing L B E i B9S2
activities EEEANIRE 3,025.25 1,061.44
Subtotal of cash inflows from investing KEZHAER
activities /NEt 43,137,610.97 66,846,288.87
Cash paid for acquisition of fixed assets, BEBRTEE -
intangible assets and other long-term mIZEEME M
assets REEEXH
Re 433,108,487.02 260,313,257.76
Cash paid for acquisition of investments BELNOERS 653,067,100.00 308,212,466.00
Other cash paid relating to investing Y EMEGE
activities EBEENRE 3,780,000.00 -
Subtotal of cash outflows from investing KEEHIHASR
activities NS 1,089,955,587.02 568,525,723.76
Net cash flows from investing activities BEFBDEED
REeEme g5 (1,046,817,976.05) (501,679,434.89)

The Financial statements have been signed by:

Legal Representative:

EERERA *E
Tan Xuguang
B SR RIER

Principal in charge of accounting:

tTEREA:

Cheung Tat Leung, Peter

BBSIMEBATALESE

Head of accounting department:

EHBBEEA -

Ling Yun

e+t
lﬁx



Company Cash Flow Statement (Continued)
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)
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NEBERER ()
201146 H30H (A E¥T)

January to
Note XI June 2011
MY+ — 20115F1-6 A
. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING = EREHEED
ACTIVITIES REME
Cash received from capital contributions R U 4% & W 2
Re
Cash received from borrowings S ECE Rl
Re
Subtotal of cash inflows from financing EBEHHEESRA
activities NG
Cash repayments of borrowings BEERAAZNH
Re
Cash paid for distribution of dividends or DECARA - AR
profits and for interest expenses BRFEZMH
HE 17,187,855.68
Other cash paid relating to financing XN EMEEE
activities EEERENR e
Subtotal of cash outflows from financing EZxFHELRE
activities NEt 17,187,855.68
Net cash flows from financing activities EEEHEEN
REeEnEFHE (17,187,855.68)
V. EFFECT OF CHANGES IN EXCHANGE e EXSHEUREH
RATE ON CASH T (54.45)
V. NET INCREASE IN CASH AND - BReRBEeFED
CASH EQUIVALENTS FAE N 143,037,014.27
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at - HgBRe Rk
beginning of period REEBYHE 4,327,558,525.67
V. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS N BRBERRS
AT END OF PERIOD ZEYeRE 8 4,470,595,539.94
The Financial statements have been signed by: HBMEBATALESE

January to
June 2010
20105 1-6 A

748,263,000.00

11,723,042.86

759,986,042.86

(759,986,042.86)

68.78

263,726,273.85

1,528,977,735.27

1,792,704,009.12

Legal Representative:

EEREA

Principal in charge of accounting:

En = u-l-IﬂEﬁ E\A

Head of accounting department:

SREBAREA

Tan Xuguang
EALE

Cheung Tat Leung, Peter Ling Yun
RER =



42 Weichai Power Co., Ltd. %8 HRHERA T

Notes to Financial Statements

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

L.

Corporate Background

Weichai Power Co., Ltd. (“the Company”) is a joint stock limited company
jointly established by Weifang Diesel Engine Factory (437 %5 ), as
the primary promoter, together with other promoters, upon approval by
People’s Government of Shandong Province with document Lu Zheng
Gu Zi No. [2002] 64 Shandong Province Joint Stock Limited Company
Approval Certificate (& Bt 7[2002]645% IR & B2 10 A R A 71 L &
Z£). It obtained its legal business licence numbered 3700001807810 from
the Administration for Industry and Commerce of Shandong Province on
23 December 2002, with a registered capital of RMB215 million.

In October 2007, Weifang Diesel Engine Factory was converted into
Weichai Group Holdings Limited (#4¢4ZE % 5 B A R A 7)) (hereinafter
referred to as “Weichai Group Holdings”) upon approval by State-owned
Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the People’s
Government of Shandong with document Lu Guo Zi Qi Gai Han [2007]
No. 45 (2E & ek k[2007]455%) titled “Approval Concerning the
Conversion of Weifang Diesel Engine Factory into Weichai Group Holdings
Limited ( (AR M S MM B LIEREBGR AR HE) )

and the Administration for Industry and Commerce of Weifang City.

In March 2004, the Company conducted a public offer in Hong Kong of
overseas listed foreign shares (H Shares) of ordinary shares of RMB1.00
each to global investors, totaling 126.5 million shares among which
11.5 million shares were state-owned shares, pursuant to the approval
document Zheng Jian Guo He Zi (B2 & F) [2003]44 issued by China
Securities Regulatory Commission. Such shares were listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong Kong Stock Exchange”) on
31 March 2004. In April 2004, the registered capital of the Company
increased by RMB115 million pursuant to the public offer of shares to
global investors and consequently the accumulated paid-in registered
capital amounted to RMB330 million. The aforesaid registered capital
has been verified by Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited
(LRIERMAZ AR T EEEAIEFT) with asset verification reports
numbered Lu Zheng Xin Yan Zi (B 1E{£5 %) (2002) No. 3209 and Lu
Zheng Xin Yan Zi (B IE155 F) (2004) No. 3077.

$F 755 % BT AR

201146 H308 (A R#T)

~ AN T FE A D

LB NP ERAR (A THBIAA
Al A D) REILREE ARBTEBR
F[2002]64 5% 1L R & R H B R A ml & E
EHtE - S L MR 1 R X B AR A
AHMBEBALRBREEIHBROEBRA
7 R20029F12823BBMBILERETH
THREERBEM(LEEIAEENR)
FEMSRAS 43700001807810 » sEfE AR A

e —

K #21,500.008 T °

2007108 - KILREARBNBEE & E
EEBTREZE BB EBIK[2007]455
CRAR B SR B R EE AR
ARKHEIU R S#ESI T IATRERER%
B R EREBREE RS EIEREER
RAE - AR EE ] -

200453 H - AR AR BEPEESEEE
BEESHFENFLEHS F[2003]445 #
B REEMRRREE ARBITE
SNETONVERATREEARE1.007TH
LA (HAR) » BITEE12,6508 & (HAF
EAEFERM1,15088) © WHK200443
A318 EEBBERSMERAR(SE
BHRAT]) ETR 5 ° 20045648 AR
A E MR EEAFEITE SN
HEMEAREGTARKE11,5008 T - BE%
MEEMEARENRSEAARE33,000
B LlAMEALLRERMES
REAEHAMEBASAABEERT
(2002) 3209%% &% & IE {5 5 F(2004) 3077
FHREREETURE -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

I. Corporate Background (Continued)

On 30 March 2007, China Securities Regulatory Commission issued
Zheng Jian Fa Hang Zi (% 25317 5) [2007] No. 64 “Notice Concerning
the Approval of the Public Offer of A Shares by Weichai Power Co., Ltd.
and Its Absorption of TAGC by way of Share Swap” to approve the
initial public offering of shares by the Company and its absorption of
Torch Automobile Group Co., Ltd. GlEAESEEERMH ER A A))
(abbreviated as “TAGC"), pursuant to which 190,653,552 new shares
were made available under the public offer to raise funds for absorption
of TAGC by way of share swap. On 23 April 2007, the Company issued
190,653,552 ordinary shares denominated in RMB (A Shares) of RMB1
each by way of share swap, which shares were admitted for trading
on Shenzhen Stock Exchange on 30 April 2007. Total capital upon the
aforesaid capital increase by way of share swap amounted to 520,653,552
shares with a total registered capital of RMB520,653,552, which has been
verified by Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited (/L 5 1F J&
M{E AR EE S 5HEIE 1) with asset verification reports numbered
Lu Zheng Xin Yan Zi (& IF{£& =) (2007) No. 3008. Upon completion of
the absorption of TAGC by way of share swap, the shares of TAGC and its

capacity as a legal person were both cancelled.

In accordance with the resolution of the second extraordinary general
meeting in 2008 and the amended Articles, on 16 December 2008, the
Company transferred 312,392,131 shares of RMB1 each representing
RMB312,392,131 from the capital reserve to registered capital, upon
which the total capital was 833,045,683 shares and total registered
capital was RMB833,045,683. The transfer has been verified by Shandong
Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited (L3R IFJR {5 B IR & T & 516D
= FT) in its verification report Lu Zheng Xin Yan Zi (B 1E{£% F) No.
(2008) 3046.

In accordance with the resolution of the first extraordinary general
meeting in 2010 and the amended Articles, on 6 December 2010, the
Company transferred 833,045,683 shares of RMB1 each representing
RMB833,045,683 from the capital reserve to registered capital, upon
which the total capital was 1,666,091,366 shares. The transfer has been
verified by Shandong Zheng Yuan Hexin Accountants Limited (L 2 IEJ&
FMzERETZENEIEF) in its verification report Lu Zheng Xin Yan
Zi (B IE125F) No. (2011) 3006.

200753 H30H - FEESFEEEEZE
SHATHFEEITT[2007]64 5K AR 1%
EHREBIRNDERARARAZTARE
BmBRRKEFRAEAEREROERA
AIMAAMY  HEARRBERAREBEITR
ZERBRRKEHANEAEEERGE
RAR(MHEIMAE])  ARAETHR
190,653,552 % + A MR AR U & OF 8 X
/B - 20074 8238 AR AKET
190,653,552k BIREEAREITHAR
s @R (ARR) + IWHR2007F4A308 -
BEERINEFRSGHMEMR S - il
% 18 & 1& M) B IR 7N /520,653,552 18 &
& N 48 %8 £ 520,653,552 7T A& IR IE
BRNEEREASTMEBAUBERER
F(2007) 30085 BB M EE TIURE - &
AR U E BN ETEA T - AN ERG &
WNIEEANEBBETIH -

2008 F 12 A 16 B + A& A & 1R % 2008
FERBRERREAGRZNB RE
EROMAT BAEALCEEEIME
ANAR®312,392,131 70 © &K% 1T
DA% A 312,392,131 8 @ # F & B KK
833,045,683f% i E AL R/ARE
833,045,683 7T o L ult ¥ 4% & A4 |1 R IE
BREEREXTSMEBAUBERER
F(2008) 30465 BB REE T UARFE -

2000F 12 A6 8 + AR AR KE2010F
FE-REBEHERRERSGREZANEREE
BHHATE BHBEACEHLZIMER
A ¥ 833,045,683 7T © & I 17T 3 N
f% 7N 833,045,683 i - # ¥ 1% # R A
1,666,091,366 % o L it 8838 & R4 |1 R
FERMEERETSFAMEBEMABIES
7 (2011)230065xMEREE T UR
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

L.

Corporate Background (Continued)

The Company'’s industry: Manufacturing of transportation equipment

The Company’s registered capital: RMB1,666,091,366

The Company’s registered address: 197, Section A, Fu Shou East Street,
High Technology Industry Development Zone, Weifang, Shandong
Province

The scope of operations of the Company covers: Design, development,
production, sale, repair, import and export of diesel engines and auxiliary
products; lease of self-owned properties; sale of steel; and corporate

management services.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are primarily

engaged in the following businesses:
° manufacture and sale of diesel engines and related parts;

° manufacture and sale of automobiles and major automobile

components other than diesel engines;
° manufacture and sale of non-major automobile components; and
o provision of import and export services.
Weichai Group Holdings Limited and Shandong Heavy Industry Group
Co., Ltd., established in the PRC, are the parent company and ultimate

parent company of the Group respectively.

These financial statements were approved by the board of directors of the

Company on 29 August 2011.

B T5  EE (4)
201146 H308 (A R#T)

— ~ ARAE BEAE UL (4

RRARTBITE RPEGREREHE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates

1.

Preparation basis of the financial
statements

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises-Basic
Standard and 38 specific standards issued in February 2006, and
the implementation guidance, interpretations and other relevant
provisions issued subsequently by MOF (collectively referred to as

" Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises”).
The financial statements are presented on a going concern basis.

In preparing these financial statements, all the assets (other than
certain financial instruments) are carried at historical cost. If the
assets are impaired, corresponding provisions for impairment shall

be made according to relevant provisions.

Statement of compliance with Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises

The financial statements present, fairly and fully, the financial
position of the Group and the Company as at 30 June 2011 and
the results of operations and the cash flows for the six months
then ended in accordance with Accounting Standards for Business

Enterprises.

Accounting year

The accounting year of the Group is from 1 January to 31 December
of each calendar year. This accounting period is from 1 January to
30 June.

Functional currency
The functional currency and the currency used in preparing the
financial statements were Renminbi. The amounts in the financial

statements were denominated in Renminbi, unless otherwise stated.

The subsidiaries, jointly controlled enterprises and associates of the
Group may determine their own functional currencies based on the
major economic environment in which they operate the business. In
preparation of financial statements, their functional currencies shall
be translated into RMB.

Interim Report 2011 R AR~ 45
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

5.

Business combination

A business combination is a transaction or event that brings
together two or more separate entities into one reporting
entity. Business combinations are classified into business
combinations involving entities under common control and
business combinations not involving entities under common

control.

Business combinations involving entities under common
control

A business combination involving entities under common control
is a business combination in which all of the combining entities
are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both before
and after the combination, and that control is not transitory. For
a business combination involving entities under common control,
the party that, on the combination date, obtains control of another
entity participating in the combination is the absorbing party, while
that other entity participating in the combination is a party being
absorbed. Combination date is the date on which the absorbing

party effectively obtains control of the party being absorbed.

Assets and liabilities that are obtained by the absorbing party
in a business combination shall be measured at their carrying
amounts at the combination date as recorded by the party being
absorbed. The difference between the carrying amount of the
net assets obtained and the carrying amount of the consideration
paid for the combination (or the aggregate face value of shares
issued as consideration) shall be adjusted to share premium under
capital reserve. If the capital reserve is not sufficient to absorb the

difference, any excess shall be adjusted against retained earnings.

o 75 i o B E (A
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

5.

Business combination (Continued)

Business combinations not involving entities under
common control

A business combination not involving entities under common
control is a business combination in which all of the combining
entities are not ultimately controlled by the same party or parties
both before and after the combination. For a business combination
not involving entities under common control, the party that, on the
acquisition date, obtains control of another entity participating in
the combination is the acquirer, while that other entity participating
in the combination is the acquiree. Acquisition date refers to
the date on which the acquirer effectively obtains control of the

acquiree.

The acquirer shall measure the acquiree’s identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired in the business

combination at their fair values on the acquisition date.

The excess of the sum of the consideration paid (or equities issued)
for business combination and equity interests in the acquiree held
prior to the date of acquisition over the share of the attributable
net identifiable assets of the acquiree, measured at fair value, was
recognized as goodwill, which is subsequently measured at cost
less cumulative impairment loss. In case the fair value of the sum
of the consideration paid (or equities issued) and equity interests
in the acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition is less than the
fair value of the share of the attributable net identifiable assets
of the acquiree, a review of the measurement of the fair values
of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities, the
consideration paid for the combination (or equity issued) and the
equity interests in the acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition is
conducted. If the review indicates that the fair value of the sum of
the consideration paid (or equities issued) and equity interests in the
acquiree held prior to the date of acquisition is indeed less than the
fair value of the share of the attributable net identifiable assets of

the acquiree, the difference is recognized in current profit or loss.
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48  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

6.

Consolidated financial statements

The consolidation scope of consolidated financial statements
is determined on the basis of control, including the financial
statements for the half year ended 30 June 2011 of the Company
and all of its subsidiaries. A subsidiary is an enterprise or entity that is

controlled by the Company.

In preparation of consolidated financial statements, the subsidiaries
use the same accounting period as those of the Company. When
the accounting policies of a subsidiary are different from those of
the Company, the Company shall make adjustments to the financial
statements of the subsidiary based on its own accounting policies.
All intra-group balances, transactions, unrealized gains and losses
resulting from intra-group transactions and dividends are eliminated

on consolidation in full.

Where the amount of loses of a subsidiary attributable to the
minority shareholders exceeds their share of the opening balance
of owner’s equity of the subsidiary, the excess shall be allocated
against minority interests. A change in the minority interests,

without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

For subsidiaries acquired through business combinations not
involving entities under common control, the operating results and
cash flows of the acquiree shall be included in the consolidated
financial statements, from the day on which the Group gains
control, till the Group ceases the control of it. While preparing
the consolidated financial statements, the acquirer shall adjust the
subsidiary’s financial statements, on the basis of the fair values of
the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognized

on the acquisition date.

For subsidiaries acquired through business combinations involving
entities under common control, the operating results and cash
flows of the acquiree shall be included in the consolidated
financial statements from the beginning of the period in which the
combination occurs. While preparing the comparative consolidated
financial statements, adjustments are made to related items in
the financial statements for the prior period as if the reporting
entity established through combination has been existing since the

ultimate controller begins to exercise control.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

7.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises the Group’s cash on hand and deposits that can
be readily withdrawn on demand. Cash equivalents are short-
term, highly liquid investments held by the Group, that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an

insignificant risk of changes in value.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Foreign
currency translation
The Group translates the amount of foreign currency transactions

occurred into its functional currency.

Foreign currency transactions are recorded, on initial recognition, in
the functional currency, by applying to the foreign currency amount
the spot exchange rate prevailing on the transaction dates. At the
balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary items are translated
using the spot exchange rate prevailing on the balance sheet date.
All the resulting exchange differences are taken to profit or loss,
except for those relating to foreign currency borrowings specifically
for construction and acquisition of qualifying assets, which are
capitalized in accordance with the principle of capitalization of
borrowing costs. Non-monetary foreign currency items measured
at historical cost shall still be translated at the spot exchange rate
prevailing on the transaction date, and the amount denominated
in the functional currency is not changed. Non-monetary foreign
currency items measured at fair value are translated at the spot
exchange rate prevailing at the date on which the fair values are
determined. The exchange difference thus resulted are recognized
in profit or loss for the current period or as other comprehensive

income.
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50  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

B N RHBRA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

8.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Foreign
currency translation (Continued)

For foreign operations, the Group translates their functional
currency amounts into RMB in preparing the financial statements as
follows: asset and liability items in the balance sheet are translated
using the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date, and
equity items other than “retained earnings” are translated using
the spot exchange rate at the date of transactions; revenue and
expense items in the income statement are translated using the
average exchange rate for the period during which the transactions
occur. The resulting exchange differences are recognized in other
comprehensive income and presented as a separate component
of equity in the balance sheet. On disposal of a foreign operation,
the component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognized in the income statement.
If the disposal only involves a portion of a particular foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income relating
to that particular foreign operation is recognized in the income

statement on a pro-rata basis.

Foreign currency cash flows and the cash flows of foreign
subsidiaries are translated using the average exchange rate for the
period during which the cash flows occur. The effect of exchange
rate changes on cash is separately presented as an adjustment item

in the cash flow statement.

Financial instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial
asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of

another entity.

Recognition and derecognition
The Group recognizes a financial asset or a financial liability when
it becomes a party to the contractual provisions of a financial

instrument.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116 H30H (AR oT)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates .~ ¥ % & 5 B %K 1 & 51 46 5t
(Continued) (78)
9. Financial instruments (Continued) 9. €WMIA(E)

Recognition and derecognition (Continued)

The Group derecognizes a financial asset (or part of a financial asset,
or part of a group of similar financial assets) when the following

conditions are met:

(1)  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

(2)  the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from
the asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay them in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards

of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

If the underlying obligation of a financial liability has been
discharged or cancelled or has expired, the financial liability is
derecognized. If an existing financial liability is replaced by the
same creditor with a new financial liability that has substantially
different terms, or if the terms of an existing financial liability are
substantially revised, such replacement or revision is accounted for
as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of
a new liability, and the resulting difference is recognized in profit or

loss for the current period.

Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets are recognized and
derecognized using trade date accounting. Regular way purchase
or sale of financial assets refers to that the financial assets are
delivered to or by the Group under the terms of a contract within a
period as specified by law or general practice. The trade date is the

date on which the Group undertakes to buy or sell a financial asset.
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52 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

HRBORHERDE

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

o

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
Financial assets are, on initial recognition, classified into the
following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, held-to-maturity investments, loans and receivables, available-
for-sale financial assets and derivatives designated as effective
hedging instruments. Such classification is determined on initial
recognition. A financial asset is recognized initially at fair value.
In the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
relevant transaction costs are directly charged to the profit and loss
of the current period; transaction costs relating to financial assets of

other categories are included in the amount initially recognized.

The subsequent measurement of a financial asset is determined by

its category:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading and those designated upon initial
recognition as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
A financial asset held for trading is the financial asset that meets
one of the following conditions: the financial asset is acquired
for the purpose of selling it in a short term; the financial asset is
a part of a portfolio of identifiable financial instruments that are
collectively managed, and there is objective evidence indicating
that the enterprise recently manages this portfolio for the purpose
of short-term profits; the financial asset is a derivative, except for
a derivative that is designated as an effective hedging instrument,
or a financial guarantee contract, or a derivative that is linked to
and must be settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument
(without a quoted price from an active market) whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured. For such kind of financial assets, fair
values are adopted for subsequent measurement. All the realized or
unrealized gains or losses on these financial assets are recognized
in profit or loss for the current period. Dividend income or interest
income related to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is

charged to profit or loss for the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets

(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

9.

A financial asset is designated on initial recognition as at fair value

through profit or loss only when it meets one of the following

conditions:

(M

the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistency in the measurement or recognition of relevant
gains or losses that would otherwise arise from measuring

the financial instruments on different bases.

a group of financial instruments is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, and
information about the group is reported on that basis to the
Group’s key management personnel, according to formal
documentation regarding risk management or investment

strategy.

a hybrid instrument that contains one or more embedded
derivatives, except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows of the hybrid instrument;
or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative(s)
shall be prohibited.

a hybrid instrument that contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded and cannot be
separately measured on acquisition or at the subsequent

balance sheet date.

Investments in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market

price in an active market and whose fair values cannot be reliably

measured shall not be designated as financial assets at fair value

through profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

o

Financial instruments (Continued)
Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

Financial assets on initial recognition classified as financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss cannot be reclassified into financial
assets of other categories; financial assets of other categories
cannot be reclassified into financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss, either.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity date
that the Group has the positive intention and ability to hold to
maturity. Such kind of financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses
arising from amortization or impairment and derecognition are

recognized in profit or loss for the current period.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. Such kind of financial assets are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains or losses
arising amortization or impairment are recognized in profit or loss

for the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are those non-derivative financial
assets that are designated as available for sale or are not classified
as any of the aforesaid categories. After initial recognition,
available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. The
premium/discount is amortized using effective interest method and
recognized as interest income or expense. A gain or loss arising
from a change in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset
is recognized as other comprehensive income in capital reserve,
except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses
resulted from monetary financial assets, until the financial asset
is derecognized or determined to be impaired, at which time the
accumulated gain or loss previously recognized is transferred to
profit or loss for the current period. Interests and dividends relating
to an available-for-sale financial asset are recognized in profit or

loss for the current period.

Investments in equity instruments, which do not have quoted
prices in an active market and whose fair values cannot be reliably

measured, are measured at cost.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities are, on initial recognition, classified
into financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, other
financial liabilities or derivatives designated as effective hedging
instruments. Such classification is determined on initial recognition.
For financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, relevant
transaction costs are directly recognized in profit or loss for the
current period, and transaction costs relating to other financial

liabilities are included in the initial recognition amounts.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

o

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

The subsequent measurement of a financial liability is determined

by its category:
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and those designated as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. A financial
liability held for trading is the financial liability that meets one of
the following conditions: the financial liability is assumed for the
purpose of repurchasing it in a short term; the financial liability is
a part of a portfolio of identifiable financial instruments that are
collectively managed, and there is objective evidence indicating
that the enterprise recently manages this portfolio for the purpose
of short-term profits; the financial liability is a derivative, except
for a derivative that is designated as effective hedging instrument,
or a financial guarantee contract, or a derivative that is linked to
and must be settled by delivery of an unquoted equity instrument
(without a quoted price form an active market) whose fair value
cannot be reliably measured. For such kind of financial liabilities, fair
values are adopted for subsequent measurement. All the realized or
unrealized gains or losses on these financial liabilities are recognized

in profit or loss for the current period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)
Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (Continued)

A financial liability is designated on initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss only when it meets one of the following

conditions:

(1)  the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the
inconsistency in the measurement or recognition of relevant
gains or losses that would otherwise arise from measuring

the financial instruments on different bases.

(2) a group of financial instruments is managed and its
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, and
information about the group is reported to the Group's key
management personnel, according to formal documentation

regarding risk management or investment strategy.

(3) a hybrid instrument that contains one or more embedded
derivatives, except where the embedded derivative does not
significantly modify the cash flows of the hybrid instrument;
or it is clear that separation of the embedded derivative(s)
shall be prohibited.

(4)  a hybrid instrument that contains an embedded derivative
that would need to be separately recorded and cannot be
separately measured on acquisition or at the subsequent

balance sheet date.

Financial liabilities on initial recognition classified as financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss cannot be reclassified
into financial liabilities of other categories; financial liabilities of
other categories cannot be reclassified into financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or loss either.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

o

Financial instruments (Continued)

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities
(Continued)

Other financial liabilities

After initial recognition, such kind of financial liabilities are

measured at amortized costs by using the effective interest method.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer
to settle a debt or assume a liability to reimburse the holder for a
loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial
guarantee contracts are measured, on initial recognition, at fair
value. For financial guarantee contracts that are not designated as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, they are, after
initial recognition, subsequently measured at the higher of: the
amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle
the present obligation at the balance sheet date; and the amount
initially recognized less the accumulated amortization determined

according to the principles of revenue recognition.

Fair value of financial instruments

If there is an active market for a financial asset or financial liability,
the quoted price in the active market is used to establish the fair
value of the financial asset or financial liability. If no active market
exists for a financial instrument, its fair value is determined using
valuation techniques. Such techniques include using recent arm’s
length market transactions between knowledgeable and willing
parties, reference to the current fair value of another instrument
that is substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis and

option pricing models.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date the carrying amount
of every financial asset. If there is objective evidence indicating
a financial asset may be impaired, a provision is provided for the
impairment. Objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired is
one or more events that occur after the initial recognition of the
asset and have an impact (which can be reliably estimated) on the

expected future cash flows of the financial asset.

Financial assets carried at amortized cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on a financial
asset has incurred, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to
the present value of expected future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not been incurred) and such reduction is
taken to profit or loss for the current period. The present value of
expected future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e. effective interest rate computed
on initial recognition) and includes the value of any related
collateral. If a financial asset has a variable interest rate, the Group
uses the current effective interest rate(s) stipulated in the contract as

the discount rate to calculate the present value of future cash flows.

For a financial asset that is individually significant, the asset is
individually assessed for impairment, and the amount of impairment
is recognized in profit or loss if there is objective evidence of
impairment. For a financial asset that is not individually significant,
it is included in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment. If no
objective evidence of impairment incurs for an individually assessed
financial asset (whether the financial asset is individually significant
or not individually significant), it is included in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed
for impairment. Assets for which an impairment loss is individually
recognized is not included in a group of financial assets with similar

credit risk characteristics and collectively assessed for impairment.
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B I RHBRA A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

o

Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at amortized cost (Continued)

If, subsequent to the Group's recognition of an impairment loss
on a financial asset carried at amortized cost, there is objective
evidence of a recovery in value of the financial asset and the
recovery can be related to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is
reversed and recognized in profit or loss. However, the reversal shall
not result in a carrying amount of the financial asset that exceeds
what the amortized cost would have been had the impairment loss

not been recognized at the date the impairment is reversed.

Available-for-sale financial assets

If there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale asset is
impaired, the accumulated loss arising from decline in fair value
previously recognized in other comprehensive income is removed
and recognized in profit or loss. The accumulated loss that removed
from other comprehensive income is the difference between the
acquisition cost (net of any principal repayment and amortization)
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on the financial

asset previously recognized in profit or loss.

If, after an impairment loss has been recognized on an available-for-
sale debt instrument, the fair value of the debt instrument increases
in a subsequent period and the increase can be objectively related
to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized,
the impairment loss is reversed with the amount of the reversal
recognized in profit or loss. The impairment loss on an available-for-
sale equity instrument is not reversed through profit or loss, and any
increase of fair value that occurs after the impairment is recognized

directly in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

9.

Financial instruments (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that such an asset is impaired, the
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of
expected future cash flows which are discounted at the current
market yield rate of similar financial assets is recognized as an
impairment loss in profit or loss. Once an impairment loss is

recognized, it is not reversed.

For a long-term equity investment accounted for using the cost
method according to the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises No. 2 — Long-term Equity Investments and which is not
quoted in an active market and for which the fair value cannot be
reliably measured, any impairment is accounted for in accordance

with the above principles.

Transfer of financial assets

If the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the financial asset, the Group derecognizes the
financial asset; if the Group retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the financial asset, the Group does not

derecognize the financial asset.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset, it is accounted for
as follows: (i) if the Group has not retained control, it derecognizes
the financial asset and recognizes any resulting assets or liabilities;
(i) if the Group has retained control, it continues to recognize the
financial asset to the extent of its continuing involvement in the

transferred financial asset and recognizes an associated liability.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)
10. Receivables

)

Receivables which are individually significant and
for which provision for bad debt is recognized
separately

Receivables are individually significant and tested for
impairment individually if according to the Group’s judgment,
the balance of accounts receivables and other receivables due
from an individual customer accounts for more than RMB20
million in the total balance of receivables. When objective
evidence indicates that the receivable has been impaired, bad
debt provision is made based on the shortfall of the present
value of future cash flow as compared to its carrying amount,

and is charged to profit and loss for the current period.

Receivables for which provision for bad debt is
recognized by group

For receivables which have undergone individual assessment
but separate provision for bad debts is not yet made and
those that have not undergone individual assessment,
provision for bad debt is recognized by grouping the
receivables based on their credit risk features. Other than
receivables for which provision for bad debt is recognized
separately, bad debt provision is made according to the
actual loss ratio of the same or similar receivable groups or
receivable groups with similar credit risk features, with due

regard to the current situation.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)
10. Receivables (Continued)

()

Receivables for which provision for bad debt is
recognized by group (Continued)

The Group determines the grouping in terms of credit risks
using age of the accounts receivables and other receivables
and uses aging analysis to make provision for bad debts. The

percentage are as follows:

St 5 R Y
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Age Percentage provided for
FR e FTR L1
Within 1 year 1R 5%
1-2 years 12245 15%
2-3 years 2E3F 30%
3-4 years 3E44F 50%
4-5 years 455 80%
Over 5 years S5 E 100%

If objective evidence shows a recovery in value of the
receivables, the bad debt provision can be reversed and

carried through profit and loss in the current period.

Receivables which are not individually significant but
provision for bad debt is recognized separately

For receivables which are not individually significant but
objective evidence shows that the impairment has occurred,
bad debt provision will be made according to the difference
between the present value of future cash flows and its

carrying amounts and will be carried through profit and loss.

If clear evidence indicates that the receivables are indeed
not recoverable, such as in case of cancellation, bankruptcy
or insolvency of the debtor or its serious cash flow problem,
then it is recognized as a bad debt and written off for bad

debt provision already made.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)
11. Inventories
Inventories include raw materials, work in progress, finished goods,
goods in transit, self made semi-finished goods, spare parts and low

value consumables etc.

Inventories are initially carried at cost. Cost of inventories comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs. The actual
cost of inventories transferred out is assigned by using weighted
average method or specific identification method. Low value

consumables are amortized by using immediate write-off method.
The Groups adopts perpetual inventory system.

At the balance sheet date, inventories are measured at the lower
of cost and net realizable value. If the cost of inventories is higher
than the net realizable value, a provision for decline in value of
inventories is recognized in profit or loss. If factors that previously
resulted in the provision for decline in value of inventories no longer
exist, so that the net realizable value is higher than the carrying
amount, the amount of the write-down is reversed. The reversal
is limited to the amount originally provided for the provision for
the decline in value of inventories. The amount of the reversal is

recognized in profit or loss for the current period.

Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale and relevant taxes. The
provision for decline in value of inventories is made on an individual

basis or a category basis.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

12.

Long-term equity investments

Long-term equity investments include equity investments in
subsidiaries, jointly controlled enterprises and associates, and equity
investments where the Group does not have control, joint control
or significant influence over the investees and which are not quoted
in an active market and the fair values of which cannot be reliably

measured.

A long-term equity investment is recorded at its initial investment
cost on acquisition. For a long-term equity investment acquired
through a business combination, the initial investment cost is
determined as follows: for a business combination involving entities
under common control, the initial investment cost of the long-term
equity investment is the absorbing party’s share of the owner’s
equity of the party being absorbed; for a business combination
involving entities not under common control, the initial investment
cost of the long-term equity investment is the cost of combination
(For a business combination not involving entities under common
control achieved in stages that involves multiple transactions, the
initial investment cost is carried at the aggregate of the carrying
amount of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree and the new investment cost incurred on the acquisition
date.). The cost of combination is the aggregate of the fair values of
the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity securities
issued by the acquirer, in exchange for control of the acquired. For
a long-term equity investment acquired otherwise than through
a business combination, the initial investment cost is determined
as follows: for a long-term equity investment acquired by paying
cash, the initial investment cost is the actual purchase price paid
and those costs, taxes and other necessary expenditures directly
attributable to the acquisition of the long-term equity investment;
for a long-term equity investment acquired by the issue of equity
securities, the initial investment cost is the fair value of the securities
issued; for a long-term equity investment contributed by the Group,
the initial investment cost is the value stipulated in the investment
contract or agreement, except where the value stipulated in the

investment contract or agreement is not fair.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

12.

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

For a long-term equity investment where the Group does not
have joint control or significant influence over the investee, the
investment is not quoted in an active market and its fair value
cannot be reliably measured, the Group uses the cost method. And
for a long-term equity investment where the Company can exercise
control over the investee, the Company uses the cost method in the
Company’s financial statements. Control is the power to govern
the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain

benefits from its operating activities.

Under the cost method, the long-term equity investment is
measured at its initial investment cost. Except for the cash dividend
or profit distribution declared but unpaid that is included in the
price or consideration paid upon acquisition of a long-term equity
investment, the Company recognizes its share of cash dividends or
profit distributions declared by the investee as investment income
in the current period, and considers whether the long-term equity
investment is impaired according to the policies related to asset

impairment.

The equity method is adopted when the Group holds joint control,
or exercises significant influence on the investee. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity,
and exists only when the financial and operational decisions relating
to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing
control. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not

control or joint control with other parties over those policies.

Under the equity method, where the initial investment cost of a
long-term equity investment exceeds the investing entity’s interest
in the fair values of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the
acquisition date, no adjustment is made to the initial investment
cost. Where the initial investment cost is less than the investing
entity’s interest in the fair values of the investee’s identifiable net
assets at the acquisition date, the difference is charged to profit
or loss for the current period, and the cost of the long-term equity

investment is adjusted accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

12.

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

Under the equity method, the Group recognizes its share of the
net profits or losses made by the investee as investment income
or losses, and adjusts the carrying amount of the investment
accordingly. The Group recognizes its share of the investee’s net
profits or losses after making appropriate adjustments to the
investee’s net profits and losses based on the fair value of the
investee’s identifiable assets at the acquisition date, using the
Group’s accounting policies and periods, and eliminating the
portion of the profits or losses arising from internal transactions
with its jointly controlled enterprises and associates, attributable
to the investing entity according to its share ratio (but impairment
losses for assets arising from internal transactions shall be
recognized in full). The carrying amount of the investment is
reduced based on the Group's share of any profit distributions
or cash dividends declared by the investee. The Group’s share of
net losses of the investee is recognized to the extent the carrying
amount of the investment together with any long-term interests
that in substance form part of its net investment in the investee is
reduced to zero, except that the Group has incurred obligations to
assume additional losses. The Group adjusts the carrying amount of
the long-term equity investment for any changes in shareholders’
equity of the investee (other than net profits or losses) and includes

the corresponding adjustments in the shareholders’ equity.

On disposal of a long-term equity investment, the difference
between the proceeds actually received and carrying amount is
recognized in profit or loss for the current period. For a long-term
equity investment accounted for using the equity method, any
changes in the shareholders’ equity of the investee included in the
shareholders’ equity of the Group is transferred to profit or loss for
the current period on a pro-rata basis according to the proportion

disposed of.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

12.

13.

Long-term equity investments (Continued)

For a long-term equity investment in a subsidiary, jointly controlled
enterprises or associate, refer to Iltem 24 under Note Il for the test
for impairment and recognition of provision for impairment. For
other long-term equity investment where the investment is not
quoted in an active market and its fair value cannot be measured
reliably, refer to Item 9 under Note Il for the test for impairment

and recognition of provision for impairment.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation or both. Investment property includes a land use right

that is leased out and a building that is leased out.

An investment property is measured initially at its cost. If the
economic benefits relating to an investment property will probably
flow in and the cost can be reliably measured, subsequent costs
incurred for the property is included in the cost of the investment
property. Otherwise, subsequent costs are recognized in profit or

loss for the period in which they are incurred.

The Group uses the cost model for subsequent measurement of its
investment property. Depreciation or amortization is calculated on

the straight-line basis over its useful life, as follows:
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Project Expected useful life (Year)
HH TR ERSm (F)
Land use rights S (5 A 50 years4E
Housing and buildings FEEREEY 14.5-20 years4F

For an investment property that is subsequently measured using
the cost model, refer to Item 24 under Note Il for the test for

impairment and recognition of provision for impairment.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates  — ~ ¥ % € 5 B 58 1 & 51 14 5T

(Continued) (78
14. Fixed assets 14.

A fixed asset is recognized only when the economic benefits

associated with the asset will probably flow to the Group and the

cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Subsequent expenditure

incurred for a fixed asset that meet the recognition criteria shall

be included in the cost of the fixed asset, and the carrying amount

of the component of the fixed asset that is replaced shall be

derecognized. Otherwise, such expenditure shall be recognized in

profit or loss for the period in which they are incurred.

Fixed assets are initially measured at cost. The cost of a purchased
fixed asset comprises the purchase price, relevant taxes and any
directly attributable expenditure for bringing the asset to working
condition for its intended use. Other than certain equipment of
the parent company, and machinery and equipment of certain
subsidiaries namely MAT AUTOMOTIVE. INC, Shaanxi Fast Gear Co.,
Ltd., Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. and Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd.,
for which double-declining balance method is used for depreciation,
the straight line method is adopted for the depreciation of other

fixed assets.

The estimated useful lives, residual value rates and annual

depreciation rates of fixed assets are presented as follows:

)
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B RES H - A ZERIRITN
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2 LA B F A RIMAT AUTOMOTIVE.
INC - RFEELHFE®RARLR - B
HETRHERBRATIRARELTRF
AEEGHERA TR R EFTER
REERERRE  EMETEER
EHRAERE -

ERETARNTEN ERES R
BERFFEEIRMT -

Estimated Estimated net Annual

useful lives residual depreciation

[tem (years) value rate (%) rate (%)
R EA TR EE FHEX

B SRE| Hw(F) BE=(%) (%)
Houses and buildings BEEREEY 12-35 3-5 2.71-7.92
Machinery and equipment e 22 % 4-12 3-5 7.91-23.75
Vehicles BT A 4-10 3-5 9.50-50.00
Electronic equipment BFEE 3-12 3-5 7.91-47.50
Other equipment E bR 3-10 3-5 9.50-40.00

The Group reviews the useful life and estimated net residual value
of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied at least at

each financial year-end, and make adjustments if necessary.

AEEELREEFEFERT - HEE
BENERSZS  EHFRENTE
TEETTER  LERETTHE



70 Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

B N RHBRAF

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

14.

15.

16.

Fixed assets (Continued)
For the test for impairment and recognition of provision for

impairment related to a fixed asset, refer to Item 24 under Note II.

Construction in progress

The cost of construction in progress is determined according to
the actual expenditure incurred for the construction, including all
necessary construction expenditure incurred during the construction
period, borrowing costs that shall be capitalized before the
construction gets ready for its intended use and other relevant

expenses.

A construction in progress is transferred to fixed asset when the asset

is ready for its intended use.

For the test for impairment and recognition of provision for
impairment related to a construction in progress, refer to Item 24

under Note II.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are interest and other costs incurred by the Group
in connection with the borrowing of the funds. Borrowing costs
include interest, amortization of discounts or premiums related
to borrowings, ancillary costs incurred in connection with the
arrangement of borrowings, and exchange differences arising from

foreign currency borrowings.

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of a qualifying asset are capitalized. The
amounts of other borrowing costs incurred are recognized as an
expense in the period in which they are incurred. Qualifying assets
are assets (fixed assets, investment property and inventories, etc.)
that necessarily take a substantial period of time for acquisition,
construction or production to get ready for their intended use or

sale.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates .~ % & 5 B %K A1 & 51 46 5t
(Continued) (78)
16. Borrowing costs (Continued) 16. fERRER(E&E)

The capitalization of borrowing costs commences only when all of
the following conditions are satisfied:

(1) expenditures for the asset are being incurred;

(2)  borrowing costs are being incurred; and

(3) activities relating to the acquisition, construction or
production of the asset that are necessary to prepare the asset
for its intended use or sale have commenced.

Capitalization of borrowing costs ceases when the qualifying asset
being acquired, constructed or produced becomes ready for its
intended use or sale. Any borrowing costs subsequently incurred are
recognized as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

During the capitalization period, the amount of interest to be
capitalized for each accounting period shall be determined as

follows:

(1)  Where funds are borrowed for a specific purpose, the
amount of interest to be capitalized is the actual interest
expense incurred on that borrowing for the period less any
bank interest earned form depositing the borrowed funds
before being used on the asset or any investment income on
the temporary investment of those funds.

(2)  Where funds are borrowed for a general purpose, the
amount of interest to be capitalized on such borrowings is
determined by applying a weighted average interest rate to
the weighted average of the excess amounts of accumulated
expenditure on the asset over and above the amounts of
specific-purpose borrowings.

Capitalization of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in
which the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying
asset is interrupted by activities other than those necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale, when the interruption
is for a continuous period of more than 3 months. Borrowing costs
incurred during these periods are recognized as an expense for the
current period until the acquisition, construction or production is

resumed.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates  — - & 3 & 5t B 3K M1 & 51 6 51
(Continued) (7))
17. Intangible assets 17. B EE

An intangible asset shall be recognized only when it is probable
that the economic benefit associated with the asset will flow to
the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.
Intangible assets are measured initially at cost. However, intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with a fair value that can
be measured reliably are recognized separately as intangible assets

and measured at the fair value.

The useful life of an intangible asset is determined according to the
period over which it is expected to generate economic benefits for
the Group. An intangible asset is regarded as having an indefinite
useful life when there is no foreseeable limit to the period over
which the asset is expected to generate economic benefits for the

Group.

The useful lives of the intangible assets are as follows:

BVEEEZEREABNLENRR
AREmARNEE - BHEBKAREHA
S BRI TIARER - WA
TTYMERTE - BREAHTEIGHE
WEE ERhrEBEEANSEHAE
B EBERREVEEYIRRA
REEFE -

BREERREEAAEETREE
FRWHREEEMASS  BEARR
HAREETREENRBROER
ERSHTRENETLEE

BEREVEENERSHOT

Useful life
FASZ®

BAH M

Technology know-how

Land use rights 4 Hb {5 FA A

SHEET

Computer software

Land use rights that are acquired by the Group are generally
accounted for as intangible assets. Buildings, such as plants that
are developed and constructed by the Group, and relevant land use
rights and buildings, are accounted for as intangible assets and fixed
assets, respectively. Payments for the land and buildings acquired
are allocated between the land use rights and the buildings; if
they cannot be reasonably allocated, all of the land use rights and

buildings are accounted for as fixed assets.

3.5-10 years
3.5-104F
30-50 years
30-504F
5-6 years
5-6%4F
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

17.

Intangible assets (Continued)

An intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortized using the
straight-line method over its useful life. For an intangible asset
with a finite useful life, the Group reviews the useful life and
amortization method at least at each financial year-end and makes

adjustment if necessary.

The Group classifies the expenditure on an internal research and
development project into expenditure on the research phase
and expenditure on the development phase. Expenditure on the
research phase of an internal research and development project is
recognized in profit or loss for the period in which it is incurred.
Expenditure on the development phase is capitalized when the
Group can demonstrate all of the following: (i) the technical
feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale; (ii) the intention to complete the intangible
asset and use or sell it; (i) how the intangible asset will generate
probable future economic benefits. Among other things, the Group
can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the
intangible asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used
internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset; (iv) the availability
of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
and (v) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable
to the intangible asset during its development. Expenditure on
the development phase that does not meet the above criteria is

recognized in profit or loss for the period in which it is incurred.

For the test for impairment and recognition of provision for
impairment related to an intangible asset, refer to Item 24 under
Note II.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

18.

[

Long-term prepaid expenses
Long-term prepaid expenses are amortized using straight-line

method as follows:

o 5 i R M 5 (48)

201146 H308 (A R#T)
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Amortization period

(years)

BHA(F)

Industrial mould fee TITHEEE 1-5 years
1-5%

Industrial equipment fee THRIEESE 5 years
54

Improvement of fixed assets leased in

Provisions

Except for contingent consideration transferred and contingent
liability assumed in business combinations, the Group recognizes an
obligation related to a contingency as a provision when all of the

following conditions are satisfied:

(1) The obligation is a present obligation of the Group;

(2) Itis probable that an outflow of economic benefits from the

Group will be required to settle the obligation;

(3)  The amount of the obligation can be measured reliably.

A provision is initially measured at the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the related present obligation,
with comprehensive consideration of factors such as the risks,
uncertainty and time value of money relating to a contingency. The
carrying amount of a provision is reviewed at the balance sheet
date. If there is clear evidence that the carrying amount does not
reflect the current best estimate, the carrying amount is adjusted to

the best estimate.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

19.

20.

Provisions (Continued)

A contingent liability recognized in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured
at the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognized in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above; and (ii)
the amount initially recognized less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortization recognized in accordance with the guidance for

revenue recognition.

Revenue
Revenue is recognized only when it is probable that the associated
economic benefits will flow to the Group, its amount can be

measured reliably, and the following conditions are satisfied.

Revenue from the sales of goods

Revenue is recognized when the Group has transferred to the buyer
the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods; the
Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with ownership nor effective control over
the goods sold; and the associated costs incurred or to be incurred
can be measured reliably. The amount of revenue arising from the
sale of goods is determined in accordance with the consideration
received or receivable from the buyer under contract or agreement,
except where the consideration received or receivable under
contract or agreement is not fair. Where the consideration
receivable under contract or agreement is deferred, such that the
arrangement is in substance of a financing nature, the amount of
revenue arising on the sale of goods is measured at the fair value of

the consideration receivable under contract or agreement .
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20. Revenue (Continued) 20. WA (&)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

Revenue from the rendering of services

When the outcome of a transaction involving the rendering of
services can be estimated reliably at the balance sheet date, revenue
associated with the transaction is recognized using the percentage
of completion method, or otherwise, the revenue is recognized to
the extent of costs incurred that are expected to be recoverable.
The outcome of a transaction involving rendering of services can be
estimated reliably when all of the following conditions are satisfied:
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably; it is probable
that the associated economic benefits will flow to the Group; the
stage of completion of the transaction can be measured reliably;
the costs incurred and to be incurred for the transaction can be
measured reliably. The Group determines the stage of completion
of a transaction involving the rendering of services by using the
proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs.
The total service revenue on a transaction involving rendering of
services is determined in accordance with the consideration received
or receivable from the recipient of services under contract or
agreement, except where the consideration received or receivable

under contract or agreement is not fair.

Interest income
It is determined according to the length of time for which the
Group’s cash and cash equivalents is used by others and the

effective interest rate.

Royalty income
It is determined according to period and method of charging as

stipulated in the relevant contract or agreement.

Lease income
Lease income from operating leases is recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term. Contingent rents are charged to profit or

loss in the period in which they actually arise.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

21.

22.

Government grants

Government grant is recognized when the Group can comply with
the conditions attached to it and it can be received. If a government
grant is in the form of a transfer of a monetary asset, it is measured
at the amount received or receivable. If a government grant is in
the form of a transfer of a non-monetary asset, it is measured at
fair value; if fair value is not reliably determinable, it is measured
at a nominal amount. A government grant related to income is
accounted for as follows: (a) if the grant is a compensation for
related expenses or losses to be incurred in subsequent periods, the
grant is recognized as deferred income, and recognized in profit or
loss over the periods in which the related costs are recognized; (b)
if the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses already
incurred, it is recognized immediately in profit or loss for the current
period. A government grant related to an asset shall be recognized
as deferred income, and evenly amortized to profit or loss over
the useful life of the related asset. However, a government grant
measured at a nominal amount is recognized immediately in profit

or loss for the current period.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is
recognized as income or an expense in profit or loss for the current
period, or recognized directly in shareholders’ equity if it arises from
a business combination or relates to a transaction or event which is

recognized directly in shareholders’ equity.

The Group measures a current tax asset or liability arising from
the current and prior period based on the amount of income tax
expected to be paid by the Group or returned by tax authority

calculated by related tax laws.

For temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the
tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts, and
temporary differences between the carrying amounts and the
tax bases of items, the tax bases of which can be determined for
tax purposes, but which have not been recognized as assets and

liabilities, deferred taxes are provided using the liability method.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)
22. Income tax (Continued)
A deferred tax liability is recognized for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

(1) where the taxable temporary differences arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill, or the initial recognition of an
asset or liability in a transaction which contains both of the
following characteristics: (i) the transaction is not a business
combination; and (ii) at the time of the transaction, it affects

neither accounting profit nor taxable profit or deductible loss.

(2)  in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, jointly-controlled enterprises and
associates, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not be reversed in the foreseeable

future.

A deferred tax asset is recognized for deductible temporary
differences, carryforward of unused deductible tax losses and tax
credits, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary differences, and
the carryforward of deductible tax losses and tax credits can be

utilized, except:

(1) where the deductible temporary differences arises from a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, neither the accounting profit nor

taxable profit or deductible loss is affected.

(2)  in respect of the deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly-
controlled enterprises, a deferred tax asset is only recognized
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will be reversed in the foreseeable future and taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary

differences can be utilized in the future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

22.

23.

Income tax (Continued)

At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, according to the
requirements of tax laws. The measurement of deferred tax assets
and deferred tax liabilities reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects at the balance

sheet date, to recover the assets or settle the liabilities.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available in future
periods to allow the deferred tax assets to be utilized. Unrecognized
deferred tax assets are reassessed at the balance sheet date and are
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax

asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity

and the same taxation authority.

Leases
A finance lease is a lease that transfers in substance all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset. An operating lease is a

lease other than a finance lease.

In the case of the lessee of an operating lease

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognized by a lessee
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, and either included
in the cost of the related asset or charged to profit or loss for the
current period. Contingent rents are charged to profit or loss in the

period in which they actually arise.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

23.

24.

Leases (Continued)

In the case of the lessor of an operating lease

Rent income under an operating lease is recognized by a lessor
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, through profit or loss.
Contingent rents are charged to profit or loss in the period in which

they actually arise.

Impairment of assets

The Group determines the impairment of assets, other than the
impairment of inventories, deferred income taxes, financial assets
and long-term equity investments, which are accounted for using
the cost method and have no quoted market prices in active
markets, and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, using

the following methods:

The Group assesses at the balance sheet date whether there is any
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any indication exists
that an asset may be impaired, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the asset and performs test for impairment. Goodwill
arising from a business combination and an intangible asset with an
indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least at each year-
end, irrespective of whether there is any indication that the asset
may be impaired. Intangible assets that have not been ready for

intended use are tested for impairment each year.

The recoverable amount of an asset is the higher of its fair value less
costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flow expected
to be derived from the asset. The Group estimates the recoverable
amount on an individual basis. If it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of the individual asset, the Group determines
the recoverable amount of the asset group to which the asset
belongs. Identification of an asset group is based on whether major
cash inflows generated by the asset group are largely independent

of the cash inflows from other assets or asset groups.

B B5 ¥ R B RE (A8
201146 H308 (A R#T)

= EEA

wt BOSR A at A Wt

(%)

pic -

24.

HE (&)
EREEMELEA
EERENESUAEREHNEE
HRRERERR A BAR XA
S EERRF LS AR HAS -

BEERE
AEBHEKEE BEMEHR - &8
BE  BREANEZENERRET ST
BEREAEAABETENSENE
M REREREINEERE - RN
TIEHETE ¢

AEEREERBERAHBEERSD
FEARELERENTR - FER
BFRY  AEEF/ESETEDS
B OETRENR HEEEA R
TR B 7B RN st PR 38 A TN HESE B SR T
BE EwsLFCREDNSR =D
REFRETRENE - B HAE
A EARENELEE  hEBFE
TTRERIE

A EEBERBEEEN AR EEBERE
REEMRRNFREEERTARKRA
EMEBNRENE ZHRBEEE °
AEBEUEREERSEMRMBI LK
CeE: BUHBEBREENT KOS
BT - NZEEMBNEE
AAEREETEEAN A KD HE -
BEANRE UEEMELNTIE
ReERARBBUINEMEENEE
EANBERABKE



Interim Report 2011 A3k 81

o 75 i 2 B E (A
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates . ~ & % & 5} B 5K 1 & 51 1 5t
(Continued) (%)
24. Impairment of assets (Continued) 24. BEERE(HE)

When the recoverable amount of an asset or asset group is less
than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to the
recoverable amount. The reduction in carrying amount is treated
as impairment loss and recognized in profit or loss for the current
period. A provision for impairment loss of the asset is recognized

accordingly.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the carrying amount of
goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated from the
acquisition date on a reasonable basis, to each of the related asset
groups; if it is impossible to allocate to the related asset groups,
it is allocated to each of the related sets of asset groups. Each of
the related asset groups or sets of asset groups is an asset group
or set of asset group that is able to benefit from the synergies of
the business combination and shall not be larger than a reportable

segment determined by the Group.

In testing an asset group or a set of asset groups to which goodwill
has been allocated for impairment, if there is any indication of
impairment, the Group firstly tests the asset group or set of asset
groups excluding the amount of goodwill allocated for impairment,
i.e., it determines and compares the recoverable amount with
the related carrying amount and recognizes any impairment loss.
After that, the Group tests the asset group or set of asset groups
including goodwill for impairment, whereby the carrying amount
of the related asset group or set of asset groups is compared to
its recoverable amount. If the carrying amount of the asset group
or set of asset groups is higher than its recoverable amount, the
amount of the impairment loss firstly reduces the carrying amount
of the goodwill allocated to the asset group or set of asset groups,
and then reduce the carrying amount of other assets (other than
the goodwill) within the asset group or set of asset groups, pro rata

on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset.

Once the above impairment loss is recognized, it cannot be reversed

in subsequent accounting periods.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

25.

Payroll

Payroll are all forms of consideration given and other relevant
expenditures incurred by the Group in exchange for service
rendered by employees. In the accounting period in which an
employee has rendered service to the Group, the payroll payable is
recognized as a liability. For payroll payable due in more than 1 year
after the balance sheet date, if the discounted value is significant, it is

presented at the present value.

The employees of the Group participate in social insurance, such as
pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance,
etc., and housing funds, which is managed by the local government,
and the relevant expenditure is recognized, when incurred, in the

costs of relevant assets or the profit and loss for the current period.

When the Group terminates the employment relationship with
employees before the end of the employment contracts or provides
compensation as an offer to encourage employees to accept
voluntary redundancy, a provisions recognized for the compensation
arising from termination of employment relationship with
employees, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss for the
current period, when both of the following conditions are satisfied:
(@) The Group has a formal plan for termination of employment
relationship, or has made an offer for voluntary redundancy, which
will be implemented immediately. (b) The Group cannot unilaterally

withdraw from the termination plan or the redundancy offer.

The same principle is applied to the early retirement plan, as it is for
the above-mentioned termination benefits. The Group recognizes
salaries, social insurance premiums, etc., to be paid for the early
retired employees, during the period from the date when the
employees stop rendering service to the normal retirement date, as
payroll payable through profit or loss for the current period, when
the above conditions for the recognition of termination benefit plan

are satisfied.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

26.

27.

Distribution of profit
The annual cash dividend of the Company is recognized as a liability

after being approved in the general meeting.

Debt restructuring
A debt restructuring is an event in which a debtor is in financial
difficulty and a creditor grants a concession to the debtor in

accordance with a mutual agreement or a court judgment.

As a debtor

When a debt is settled by cash in a debt restructuring, the
difference between the carrying amount of the debt and the cash
actually paid is recognized in profit or loss for the current period.
When a debt is satisfied by a transfer of non-cash asset(s) to the
creditor in a debt restructuring, the difference between the carrying
amount of the debt and the fair value of the non-cash asset(s)
transferred is recognized in profit or loss for the current period;
the difference between the fair value of the non-cash asset(s)
transferred and their carrying amount was recognized in profit or
loss for the current period. When a debt is converted into capital in
a debt restructuring, the difference between the carrying amount
of the debt and the fair value of the capital issued to the creditor is
recognized in profit or loss for the current period. When other terms
of the debt is modified, the difference between the carrying amount
of the debt under restructuring and the sum of the fair value of the
debt subsequent to the modification of other terms of the debt and
the provisions recognized in respect of amounts payable, shall be
recoginzed in profit or loss for the current period. When a debt is
satisfied by a combination of the methods mentioned above, the
carrying amount of the debt is reduced by, and in the sequence of,
the cash payment, the fair value of the non-cash asset(s) transferred
and the fair value of the capital issued to the creditor, and then
accounted for in accordance with the requirements related to a
debt restructuring that involves the modification of other terms of a
debt.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)

27.

28.

Debt restructuring (Continued)

As a creditor

When a debt is settled by cash in a debt restructuring, the
difference between the gross carrying amount of the debt
receivable and the cash received is recognized in profit or loss for
the current period. When a debt is satisfied by a transfer of non-
cash asset(s) in a debt restructuring, the difference between the
gross carrying amount of the debt receivable and the fair value
of the non-cash asset(s) received is recognized in profit or loss for
the current period. When a debt is converted into capital in a debt
restructuring, the difference between the gross carrying amount
of the debt and the fair value of the equity interest received is
recognized in profit or loss for the current period. When other
terms of the debt is modified, the difference between the gross
carrying amount of the debt receivable under restructuring and the
fair value of the debt receivable subsequent to the modification of
other terms of the debt, shall be recognized in profit or loss for the
current period. When a debt is satisfied by a combination of the
methods mentioned above, the gross carrying amount of the debt
is reduced by, and in the sequence of, the cash received, the fair
value of the non-cash asset(s) obtained and the fair value of the
equity interest received, and then accounted for in accordance with
the requirements related to a debt restructuring that involves the

modification of other terms of a debt.

If the creditor has provided for impairment loss on the debt
receivable, the above difference is used to reduce the impairment
provision and any excess is recognized in profit or loss for the

current period.

Related parties

If a party has the power to control, jointly control or exercise
significant influence over another party, they are regarded as related
parties. Two or more parties are also regarded as related parties if

they are subject to control or joint control from the same party.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates
(Continued)
29. Segment reporting
The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal
organization structure, managerial requirements and internal
reporting system, identifies reportable segments based on operating

segments and discloses segment information by operating segment.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that meets all

the following conditions:

(1) it engages in business activities from which it may earn

revenues and incur expenses;

(2) its operating results are regularly reviewed by the Company’s
management to make decisions about resources to be

allocated to the segment and assess its performance;

(3) the Group is able to obtain relevant accounting information
such as its financial position, operating results and cash flows

of such segment.

If two or more segments have similar economic characteristics and
meet certain conditions, then they can be aggregated into a single

operating segment.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

II. Significant accounting policies and estimates  — -~ T % & 5 B 5K Al & 51 4 5
(Continued) (%)
30. Significant accounting judgments and 30. E RS H AL 5T

estimates

The preparation of the financial statements requires management
to make judgments and estimates that will affect the reported
amounts of revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date.
However, uncertainty about these estimates could result in
outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgments

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgments which have
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial

statements.

Impairment of goodwill and trademarks

The Group determines whether goodwill and trademarks are
impaired at least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units to which goodwill and
trademarks are allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the
Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount

rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the future accounting

periods, are discussed below.

Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies certain assets as available-for-sale and
recognizes movements of their fair values in shareholders’ equity.
When the fair value declines, management makes assumptions
about the decline in value to determine whether there is an

impairment that shall be recognized in the income statement.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates .~ % & 5 B %K A1 & 51 44 5t
(Continued) (%)
30. Significant accounting judgments and 30. EREETHEMMEE(E)

estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Impairment of non-current assets other than non-financial assets
(other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indication of impairment
for all non-current assets other than financial assets at the balance
sheet date. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually and at other times when such indication
exists. Other non-current assets other than financial assets are
tested for impairment when there are indication that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. Where the carrying amount of
an asset or asset group is higher than its recoverable amount (i.e.
the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and the present value of
the future cash flows expected to be derived from it), it is indicated
that such asset or asset group is impaired. The fair value less costs
to sell is determined with reference to the price in sales agreement
or observable market price in arm’s length transaction, adjusted for
incremental costs that would be directly attributable to the disposal
of the asset or asset group. When calculating the present value
of expected future cash flows from an asset or asset group, the
management shall estimate the expected future cash flows from the
asset or asset group and choose a suitable discount rate in order to

calculate the present value of those future cash flows.

Impairment of goodwiill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an
annual basis. This requires an estimation of the present value of the
future expected cash flows from the asset groups or sets of asset
groups to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the present
value requires the Group to make an estimate of the expected
future cash flows from the asset groups or sets of asset groups and
also choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present

value of those future cash flows.

Bt N E M ()

BB EEZIFREEERE
(B EEIN)
AEEREEARKAYHRESREE
ZHORGERBDEEHHREFEN
REBEERENTR - HERHHTHE
ENEVEE BREFETOHRER
A BEEGFEREFRE - ETT
BAERIE - EfbfREmEEZINI3E
RBEE  EFEFRRAERAS
BRI @E  ETRENR - &
EFEEANREEESRTREE
B AAABEREREEERRNF
BEMEAARRSREBNREFHR
=E RABLETRE - RAEER
ZREBREKNFE 2E0FRS
FHRUEENHEBRERATER
WIS ER  RETEERBRZ
BEREMNEERAMEE - Bt RK
ReRneRER  EEEVEMTZ
HEESBEEANEFHRKRADR
B WEERENTRREERKER
ERENRE -

BERE
AEEELBFEAMBEETRER
B GEBREIETHENEEHRL
EEEABANARRASRENRE
HEITIER - BAKRBRRENREE
TG AEBEFEBEFARAKEE
HREEEMESGELNRERE -
FEEZRENFTREBEARNE R
MEMIBEIE -



88  Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 558 h R HER 2D

B B5 ¥ R B RE (A8
201146 H308 (A R#T)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates  — - & % & 5 B 5K 1 & 51 44 5t
(Continued) (%)

30. Significant accounting judgments and 30. EREFTUET AL (E)

estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused deductible
temporary differences and deductible losses to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and deductible losses can be
utilized. Significant management judgment is required to determine
the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized, based
upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profit together

with future tax planning strategies.

Write-down of inventories to net realizable values

Write-down of inventories to their net realizable values is based on
the saleability of the evaluated inventory and their net realizable
values. Given the management’s judgments and estimates required
for inventory impairment on the basis of clear evidence, purpose
of holding the inventories, effect of subsequent events and other
factors, the difference between the actual outcome and original
estimate will affect the carrying amount of inventories and provision
and reversal of decline in value of inventories during the estimated

revision period.

Impairment of receivable

Impairment of receivable is based on the recoverability of assessed
receivable. Given the management’s judgment and estimate
required for impairment of receivable, the difference between
the actual outcome and original estimate will affect the carrying
amount of receivable and provision and reversal of bad debts of

receivable during the estimated revision period.
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II. Significant accounting policies and estimates = ~ 5 2 & 5t B 3K M1 & 51 1 5t
(Continued) (%)

30. Significant accounting judgments and 30. EREFTYUET AL (E)

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

estimates (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Recognition of estimated liabilities

The Group uses contract terms, existing knowledge and historical
experience, to estimate and recognize the provision for product
quality assurance. On condition that such contingent matters has
formed a present obligation which is probable to give rise to an
outflow of the Group’s economic benefits, the Group recognizes

the best estimate.

Estimated useful lives of fixed assets

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of fixed assets at least
once at the end of the year. Estimated useful lives is determined
by the management based on historical experience of similar
assets and expected technological advancement. Corresponding
adjustment to depreciation expenses for future periods will be made

in case of substantial changes in previous estimates.

EEt N E M ()
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BENHEAERASHETER - 1
RS REREERNYRAEE
JEE St 4% B b 4% A TR RA BT 3B % 1 R SE
B o BIAERMGET B EBAEE
AEERBEARKHREMITEER -



90  Weichai Power Co., Ltd.

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

III. Taxation

1.

HRBORHBERDE
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201146 H308 (A R#T)

= -FiIHE

Major categories of taxes and respective tax 1. FEHRERBE
rates
Value-added tax (VAT) Output VAT is calculated by applying 17% to the taxable income,

KA

Business tax

EEB

City maintenance and construction tax
YT SR AR MR

Education surcharge

#E BN

Corporate income tax

REPTIEH

but the Group may pay it after deducting deductible input VAT
for the current period.

RIETHW AT %t EHIEN - WIRERE B2 s ey E
AR E B IS ER °

It is calculated by applying 5% to the taxable income.
REBUARIS %t & B -

It is levied at 7% or 5% on the actual turnover taxes paid.
REBR BN E MBI H)7 % 55 % st 4 -

It is levied at 3% on the actual turnover taxes paid.
REBFBRERET A3 %4 o

It is levied at 15% or 25% on the taxable profit.

T EFERIRIE N TSR 15%325% T8 °

Tax benefits and official approval

Value-added tax

In accordance with the Notice Concerning Exemption from Value-
added Tax and Consumption Tax applicable to Special-purpose
Military Vehicles ( (R ERFEEMEBILERANEBH A
AN ) issued by MOF and State Administration of Taxation, the
sale of special-purpose military vehicles to army and armed police
by Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, a subsidiary of the

Company, is exempted from value-added tax.

In accordance with the Notice Concerning the Policies on Imposition
and Refund of Value-added Tax applicable to Third-tier Enterprises
(CER=FEEBEV TR IEEAN@A) ) issued by MOF
and State Administration of Taxation, Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor
Company Limited, Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd., Shaanxi Fast Gear
Co., Ltd. and Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. are entitled to tax refund of

value-added tax.

RBEBEER#X
12 E
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ITI. Taxation (Continued) =~ ﬁ}élﬁ
2. Tax benefits and official approval (Continued) T%LI&E,%&%D‘C(%E)
Corporate Income Tax REMEH

The Company was recognized as a hi-tech enterprise on 27
November 2008 and became entitled to a preferential corporate
income tax rate of 15% for the period from 1 January 2008
to 31 December 2010. In 2011, the Company is in the process
of applying for an extension of its recognition as a high-tech
enterprise. The management considers that it is very likely to obtain
such qualification and accordingly the preferential income tax rate

of 15% is still applicable for the period.

On 5 January 2004, State Administration of Taxation of Jiangjin
republished the Yu Guo Shui Han [2003] No. 815 (a1 & X
[2003]815%%) document issued by State Administration of Taxation
of Chongging on 25 December 2003 in the name of Jiang Jin Guo
Shui Fa (2004) No. 1 (T2 EIH4 2 (2004)15%) to approve Weichai
Power Co., Ltd. (Chongging branch) to implement preferential
tax rate of 15% for Western Development for the period from
2003 to 2010. In accordance with the Notice Concerning Issues
on Taxation Policies Relating to the Thorough Implementation of
China’s Strategy of Western Development ( (B /& A& i 7o
DR B BB A B W BUR B B A1) ) promulgated by
MOF and the State Administration of Taxation on 27 July 2011,
the implementation of preferential tax policy for the Western
Development shall proceed during the period from 1 January 2011
to 31 December 2020.

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (B E AL /58 H
BR /A &), Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd (BRPEEZEEHEBER A
7)), Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. ((RFE 4 SIFEHR A7),
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (BRPE% T 45 & %5 B FR & £ 2 7)), Baoji
Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (BEZ A+t AR & F A 7)) and Xi‘an Fast
Auto Drive Co., Ltd. (A% A TR TEEEHEREE QA have
implemented preferential tax policy for the Western Development
and were subject to corporate income tax at a reduced tax rate of
15% in 2010. In accordance with the Notice Concerning Issues
on Taxation Policies Relating to the Thorough Implementation of
China’s Strategy of Western Development ( (B /& A& i 7
AR B A M W BRI BB ) ) promulgated by
MOF and the State Administration of Taxation on 27 July 2011,
the implementation of preferential tax policy for the Western
Development shall proceed during the period from 1 January 2011
to 31 December 2020.

AARR2008F 11 A27 BWRE A
BT - B2008F1A1RAE
201012 A31BEZ15% M ATSH
BEBE - 20011 FAR Al EEHF
EREFEMEXERE  EEERA
RAJ LR ZRE + AN E IR
15% B FTSEEIE o

200451 A58  IEMERME B
LUT 2B R 2 (2004) 158883 T EE
MEXRHEEFH20034F12 A25 8 58 3%
/o [ 80 B B K [20031815 %% | 3¢ 4 #t
HEHREHIBRDERRFEES A
APTASRRFAEEERNE15%
EEHMB2003F E20104F - RIE
BB NBERWELRD2011FT7A
27 BCEARIR AN E B 30 A 79 2 B
BRI W BUR B R B A ) AR E
B20114F1A1B 22020412 A31
A BERNTEBARAETUEERR
ﬁ o

PRAEERTEFRAR - REZRES
BAEBA A @(@i'ﬂ#fﬂLﬁﬁEﬂ
B BREETHERERET QA
EHETHFEREREERAR - A
TETHABEEHEREETATH
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III. Taxation (Continued)

2.

Tax benefits and official approval (Continued)
Corporate Income Tax (Continued)

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited (BRPE & & 5B H
PR A &), Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. (BrAZEEFBHR A
Al), Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (REVE L HERBREETRF),
Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. (B#)ZtHEwmAREE 2 A]) and
Xi‘an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd. (AAZ AT H/AEEFHARIER
7)) were recognized as hi-tech enterprises in 2008. In 2011, these
subsidiaries are in the process of applying for an extension of their
recognition as high-tech enterprises and the management considers

such extension is very likely.

Subsidiaries such as Shanghai He Da Auto Accessory Co., Ltd. (£
B AE S ER AR A F), Zhuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co.,
Ltd. (BRI MBS E B B AR B E 2R F]), Zhuzhou Gear Co.,
Ltd. (kM E54s B BR & (£ 2 7)), Mudanjiang Futong Automotive
Air Conditioner Co., Ltd. (M fHIEBAEZEFHABR R F)) and
Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co., Ltd. (kN AN EATEEGRE
fE£/2 &]) have also been recognized as hi-tech enterprises. In 2011,
these subsidiaries are in the process of applying for an extension
of their recognition as high-tech enterprises. The management
considers that it is very likely to obtain such qualification and
accordingly the preferential income tax rate of 15% is still applicable

for the period.

B B5 ¥ R B RE (A8
201146 H308 (A R#T)

=B ()

2.

HUWEERAL X (E)
PEMEH(E)
BREERABEBRART - REEES
BAEBRARE - REETHFEamARE
AR BEEETHERERELR
A AETHABEHAEREER
Al - BR2008F R T B = Bl
X 2011 FZEFRAAIEERF
ERENEMEERE  BEEERA
RATGEEISZRE ©

EEMEREREBRAF - MR
NEREBEBREERAR - KM
BHRERETA R  HAPIEBAE
ZRARAA - WM EANITEESR
BREFTARETAGIERE ARSI
M 200MFZEFARELR
BERESFEMCERE  BEER
RRIEEFZRTE  WABEEIZ
15% B FTiS B BT K o



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial
statements

1. Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company are

presented as follows:

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &
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a5

Mg ~ & B B 5 ek Y & OF i

1. FRABR

RRABBEZFRAANBERAT

Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary  registration  representative  business capital - Scope of business code
FATEE  Hfis EAE e iftELs SEEE AEHERE
(1) Weichai Power (Weifang) limited liability - Shandong Zhang Quan Trading Industry 89,795,918.00 Sale of diesel engines accessories and 780768589
Spare Part Resources company  IIE KR (S working parts/components and dedicated
(o, Ltd. BREMLT diesel of
REEN (D) EnER FRBEARER /TR
BRAT ZRRBNHE
@ Weichai Power (Weifang) Ol limited liability - Shandong Zhang Quan Sale of ofl products ~10,000,000.00 Processing sale of lubricating oil, sale of basic 780785725
Co., Ltd. company  IIE KR HaHE ofl and additives for lubricating o, anti-
g N (45) he BREFAR icing fluid, cleaning agent, anti-cutting
ERAR fluid and additives
PRUEERL  HRAERARANE
HEMRR - BRH - MARRA A
3 Weichai Power (Weifang) limited liability - Shandong ZhangQuan  Logistic Industry 20,000,000.00 General transportation; storage; delivery; 780782348
Intensive Logistics company  IIE BT Ning basic assembly of maching accessory
Co, Ltd. BREFAA and power; diesel engines and accessory
BR8N (85 £ packaging, logistic assets development,
BRAE logistic consultation, international transport
agency and packaging, and lease and sale
of logistic appliances
LREE BRI BARERDN
ZHBSA%  FARREABRNR
EERE MREAEREEAERE
MRMRSEANEE - HE
@ Weichai Power (Weifang) limited liability - Shandong XuHong Manufacturing 20,000,000.00  Manufacture and sale of grey iron, ductile 78926896 - X
Casting Co., Ltd. company  IIE &R Industry iron casting; manufacture, sale, hot
EEN (R )ER BEREFAT HER treatment and cleansing of casting and
BRAG stamping parts
RE - RESMRE HE B4 BE
h2E HERDER 5B
() Weichai P ower (Weifang) limited liability - Shandong SunShaojun ~ Manufacturing 30,000,000.00 Reconstruction of automobile components 67452682 - 6
Reconstruction Co,, Ltd. company  IE BOE Industry (engine, gear box, generator, Starter,
BXBH(8)BRE ERERAT HiEx diverter)
ERRA MESHENELE (BB FRE.

YRR EPE Ema)



t subsidiaries

- Typeof Place of Legal
R registration  representative

PATER B EARE

Z Manufacturing
- ompany IR © Industry
 BRREAT g

(1) Shandong Synergy Ol limited liability - Shandong ZhangQuan  Manufacturing USD Manufacture and sale of [ubricant oil 68723855-9
Co,, Ltd. company  WIE RE Industry 3,000,000.00  (grease), wholesale of basic oil and additive
WRE B ARERA BREARR gk %7 ol forlubricating ofl, antiicing fluid,
3,000,000.00  cleaning agent, cutting fluid, additives and
fuel o

EEHERDA (k) - BBAERAR
nd - BRA REH - DHE R

A SRR %
8) Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor limited liability -~ Shaanxi TanXuguang  Manufacturing 1,706,330,000.00 Manufacture of automobile (except sedans), 741272070
Company Limited company A& Bl Industry sale and export of automabile components
RAERTEERAF EREAAT b and engines; Import of raw material,

machinery, equipment, apparatus,
instruments, spare parts, components
and technology which are required by the
production and research of the Company
(conducted with relevant license),
commence Sino-foreign joint venture of
the Company and cooperate to develop
"three categories of processing and one
category of compensation business”;
assembling, conversion and after-sale
service of automobile
EERS(MEERN)  RETHARE
BROBE LOXHK KOREE
HRABORNE  BARE E56
B Eoklt ZREREGHEDR
BUBRRS) BRAGETNGEN
B RHEE[ZR-BIEK: R4
£ ok ShEE



Lega Rggistere J
representative capital

BARE  BBEX &

Fang Hongwei ~ Manufacturing 320,000,000.00
o Industry and senic
b and axle compo
raw materials, machin
apparatus, inst
purchase and sale of ¢

REEE
ft BRA0ES
(10)  Shaanxi Jinding Casting limited liability -~ Shaanxi Wei Yongxiang ~ Manufacturing 35,360,000.00 Research, production, manufacture, senvicing 77698602 - 2
Co,, Ltd. company A Bkm Industry and processing of casting products;
RESHEEARAA EREAAT HEx commence "three categories of processing

and one category of compensation

business" of the Company
BEERNNE - £E - 2 REAN

I#% RRAGEN [ZR-H]

iH
(1) Tianjin Tiangua Automotive limited liability ~Tianjin Yuan Hongming -~ Manufacturing 11,760,000.00  Manufacture of household customized vehicle 10426507 -7
Co, ltd. company K2 REH Industry and trailers and tractors, sale of trailers and
REMAHEHARLE  AREMLA HiE% tractors accessories, small-scale farming

equipment, lubricating ol rubber product,
hardware for domestic use and automobile
(except sedans). Operating export of the
Company's product as wel as import and
export of the mechanical equipment and
raw materials of components that are
required by the Company

RANEE BHESE B8 HEE
o MUREE BB BE2ER
Mg - REHE(TRNEE) 88
AEEERNEOERARCEHEN
BHRE SHERBIHMELDE
BE
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IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial P4 ~ & # B % $it & W & OF #i &

statements (Continued) (%)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FREER(E)
Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary  registration representative  business capital - Scope of business code
TAREE  Hft EARR g iftex £26E AERERE
(12 Tianjin Xinming Automotive limited liability Tianjin Zhang Yueliang ~ Trading of automobile  1,000,000.00 Wholesale and retail of automobile (except 741395345
Commercial Co, Ltd. company A2 RS HEBE sedans), farming vehicle and its accessories,
RENHAERE ERERAT steel product, rubber product and
BRAR lubricating oil; complete vehicle repairing,

assembly repairing, complete vehicle
maintenance, minor repairing, emergency
repairing, special item repairing, normal
freight of large and medium-sized truck
(valic until 29 August 2011).
RE(TE)EE)  RRERERM -
Wit 5B8m  BRREETE A
hHERREER BREE Bk
&M BERE ZEEE LR
SE(ARAZ201158729R) -

(13)  Shaanxi Heavy Duty limited liability ~ Shaanxi FangHongwei  Importand export ~ 10,000,000.00  Self-operated agency for import and 78696817 -8
Automotive Import & company R Fig EHA export of various types of goods and
Export Co,, Ltd. BREMLT technology; bidding agency; logistic and
REEXREELD transportation business consultation;
ERAT information consulation of import and

export of automobile complete vehicle and
components, development, results transfer
and consultation service of environmental
and automobile scientific technology,
multi-anguage and multi-profession
translation services (such as English,
German, French, Russian and Spanish)
AEREREBRRREMELD A%
BRE: MiEREEEY 18%E
NEPHELDEERRRRIRAE
HERNRE  ARSRRAARE
B Bi i BESERSEREY

PERE
(14)  Baoding Shangj Tianma limited fiability ~ Hebei Yuan Hongming  Manufacturing 40,000,000.00 Research and development, production, sale 55330965 -7
Co., Ltd. company At YN Industry and servicing of specialty heavy-duty truck;
RERIXSERAA BREfLA gz research and development, production and

sale of heavy truck components; import
and export of specialty heavy-duty truck
and components

EHUERENHE EERERRR B
HASTHENRE LEREE &
VEREREMAMHELORE
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IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial Y ~ & £ B % $it & B & OF % &

statements (Continued) (%)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FREHER(E)
Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary  registration  representative  business capital  Scope of business code
FRAREE  Hft EARE HME ifEx S8 ABRERE
(15 Shaanxi Automobile Yulin limited liability ~ Shaanxi Hao Xiaogian ~ Manufacturing 168,000,000.00 Research and development, sale and after- 56714227 - X
Eastern New Energy company PR MEL Industry sale senvices of new energy heavy truck,
SpecialPurpose Vehide ~~ BREFAT HiEx specialty fruck and automobile components
Co, Lid. (Note 2) HRET  ERERAETHENT
AR A RER ¥ HERERRK
AERRAA(GE)
(16)  Shaanxi Automobile Xinjiang limited liability ~ Xnjiang Hao Xiaogian ~ Manufacturing 194,700,000.00  Research and development, production, sale 57621310 -5
Vehicle Co., Ltd. (Note 2) company i Mgy Industry and senvicing of components of cargo
BANBAEARAT BREMAT g% truck, specialty truck and automobile
(#2) HENE  ERRERAETHENT
B LR BERRE
(17) Shaanxi Automobile Datong limited liability ~ Shanxi Hao Xiaogian ~ Manufacturing 132,650,000.00 Research and development of components 57597361 -2
New Energy Special company WA MES Industry for new energy specialty truck and
Purpose Vehide Co, Lt~ BREFAR HiE% automobile; sales of complete vehicle and
(Note 2) components (excluding passenger vehicles
RAARFERERAE with less than 9 seats)
ERRA(F2) FHEERERAEESHMNGY  HE
BERENH(PRABITRAE)
(18)  Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. limited liability - Shaanxi TanXuguang  Manufacturing 256,790,000.00 Design, development, manufacture and 730431187
BEETRERER company B Elx Industry sale services of automabile companents
=GN ERERAF gz such as gear hores, gears and forging

(except complete vehicle production and
customization of automobile]; expart of
self-manufactured product and technology
of the Company, import and export of
raw materials, apparatus, instruments,
mechanical equipment, components
and technology that are required by the
production of the Company (excluding
commodities limited to companies
designated by the State for operation or
prohibited from exporting); processing of
incoming materials

MEERE AR RRENETIMN
kit FE B HERK(REN
BEEERBERN LR BEER
REMEOER  AEREERFHR
BT BRER BARE TRE
REhtgn 02 B (ERRED AL
ENEFZ L NHBERRD) - EH
MI%H



5 out subsidiaries

- Typeof Place of Legal

registration  representative

Xi'an Fast Auto Drive

PATER B

- company B

- BREEAR

limited liability .Shaanxi

Manufacturing
Industry

134,700,000.00 Design, development, manufacture and sale 750249243

(20 Tan Xuguang ~ Manufacturing
Co,, Ltd. company R b Industry service of power shift transmission system
i g aatt-t) BREAAT HiEE assernbling and components product
BRAR REEDZGER R ERRERNFIR
¥ SERERH
(1) Xi'an Fast Gear Sales limited liability ~ Shaanxi Yan Jianbo Manufacturing 1,000,000.00  Sale of gear, automobile component, 742811785
Co,, Ltd. company R BE4 Industry hardware and electrical appliance,
ERATHERHE EREEAT HiE% construction materials and automabile
ERAA B AEEMA DERE - REMH
HENHE
(22)  Shaanxi Fast Gear Spare limited liability - Shaanxi Li Dakai Import and export 3,000,000.00 Manufacture and sale of automobile 727355005
Parts Import & Export company R YN #H0 components, casting, mechanical and
Co, Ltd. EREFAT electrical products, operating export of
REELRAETHE self-manufactured product and technology
EHOERAA of the Company, import of raw materials,

apparatus, instruments, mechanical
equipments, components and technology
that are required for production
EEREAERIN B0 REER
BertFaEEaRRinLAE
B EERRORBHE  EREHE
W TRHRRENEORE
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IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1.

Type of
subsidiary
FAREE  Hfts

Place of
registration

Legal
representative

EARE
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I~ & OF B B Rk 3 0 A OF S
(%)

FAEER(R)

Registered Organization

capital  Scope of business code

ifEs SeEm ARHERE

Nature of
business

EHHE

(23)  Zhuzhou Gear Co,, Ltd.
(Note 3)
HHEREREAAE
(#3)

(24)  Zhuzhou Wande Forging
(o, Ltd.
KNEERR

BREAAA

(25 Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear
Automotive Transmission
(o, Ltd.
FNEBREDR S
BRAF

company

BRELAT

limited liability
company

ERELAT

Non-{isting
joint stock
company

¥ LR
Raw

limited liability - Hunan
i3

Hunan

il

Hunan

il

Li Guiyang
&1

Pan Xiaodong

RER

Pan Xiaodong

RER

531,314,951.00 Design, manufacture and sale of various types 74591450 - 1
of automabile, engineering machinery,
motorcycle, machine tools transmission
system assembling, gear and axles,
cold and hot processing of machinery,
assembling of mechanical equipments,
sale of automabile (except sedans),
motorcycle and accessories; wholesale and
retail of electrical appliance, machinery,
equipment, hardware, electrical appliance,
general merchandise and metal materials.
Operating export of self-manufactured
products and technology of the Company;
operating import of raw materials,
apparatus, instruments, mechanical
equipments, components and technology
that are required by the production of the
Company; processing of incoming materials
and “three categories of processing and
one category of compensation business”

Rt BiE - HERENE IRER-
BRE BREDZEN ERRY:
BRL BT BRABRE TE
(Fepge) BRERRAHE
SEANREN 18 2% AR
SEMHYERE - BER0E0EE
mRBMALOER  BeAb5EE
FRORHIH 26X B
B SEMRRGOENEE B¢
BNIA [ZR-#] £%

Manufacturing
Industry
RER

5,000,000.00 Design, manufacture and sale of forging, 78087176 -2
various types of automabile, gear and axles
of machine tools

R 2ENE BROBEBRENR
it RENHES

Manufacturing
Industry
REx

50,000,000.00 Research and development, production, sale 78801726 - 1
and export of automobile machinery and
auto transmission, specialty actuators,
automobile electronic and electronically
controlled products other automobile
components

MERRREDRRS HEEHE
RESTERERREMAETHNH
¥OEE EERMOEHE

Manufacturing
Industry
REx
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IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial P4 ~ & £ B % #it & B & OF $i &

statements (Continued) (%)

1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FRRER(E)
Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary ~ registration  representative  business capital  Scope of business code
FRAREE  Hft EAR EhiE iftEs GeEE AEHERE

(26)  Dongfeng Off-road Vehicle ~limited liability ~ Hubei TanXuguang ~ Manufacturing 155,000,000.00 Manufacture and sale of off-road vehicle, 741756163
(o, td. company At Edliy Industry chassis and customized vehicle; technical
RAUBERRAE BREAAA HiEg consultation, technical services, information

services and after-sale services that are
relevant to the operating projects of the
Company

HESRES BRENHEE HE &
ARAESERBRORIAS K
% - EERBA SRR

27) Shiyan Amor Coating limited liability ~ Hubei Long Yugi Manufacturing 2,00,000.00 Coating and processing of automobile 753435607
Technology Co., Ltd. company ik TR Industry components; coating treatment of metal
TEMERARR ERERAF HiEx and non-metals; general machinery
BRAR processing; development of chemical raw
materials

RETHHORENT : SERHFLBR
AR ERRHNT L IRMHR

£
(28)  Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs ~ limited liability Hunan Wang Xinlu Manufacturing 196,000,000.00  Manufacture and sale of spark plugs, 73676822 -3
(o, Ltd, company [ Tk Industry automobile electrical appliance and
EELEAEE EREFAT BiEg components of other vehicles and
BREAAA motorcycle; sale of automabile (except

sedans) and motorcycle; sale of electrical
equipment, construction hardware,
apparatus, instruments and metal
materials, chemical raw materials allowed
under policies; development and sale of
computer software. Operating export of
self-manufactured spark plugs, automobile
electrical appliance and components of
other vehicles and motorcycle; operating
import and export of raw materials,
apparatus, instruments, mechanical
equipments, components and technology
that are required by the production of the
Company, processing of incoming materials
and "three categories of processing and
one category of compensation business”

AR REEERAMAE  BHE
THANEE HERE (P28
B) BAZHE EERE RE)
L% ERERRERATHEEN
B L IRHEE ERINRR
HE - BeRCERENNLE  NE
SERRAMNAE  ERETPHHLO
R BERCREERROREN
B BEER BERE SRARE
ELNER : BEEHNIA [=
R %%



(30)  Zhuzhou Torch Machinery
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
RN E RS
EREALA

limited liability - Hunan
company @
ERELEAA

(1) Zhuzhou Torch Property limited liability - Hunan

Development Co, Ltd. company @
WAERLEREER  AREALA
BfRE

representative

apital
EARE -

Chen Guangyun  Import and export ~30,000,000.00

RKE gho

Wang Xinlu Manufacturing 142,262,500.00
B ki3 Industry

Qg
Wang Xinlu Real estate 13,120,000.00
B3 development

RHERE

Lega Rggistered J

and expor
technology (exclud
technology restricted
operation or prohi
export); processin
anmree cateqories
teqory of compensation business
“of the Company

EENREEBERRRANELNEE

(BFRELALEIRLELONE
mRBEERG)  BEALZHEMN
IR =K-1) %%

Piston pin, internal combustion machine
component, automobile and motorcycle
component; production of moulds and
non-standard equipment; processing and
sale of rubber products; import and export
trading allowed by the national laws and
regulations

EER MRBEHE TERERER
A TRA - EERERE  2HE
il HE BRERER L FOE
HOHES

Development and operation of third class
real estate; general merchandise, needles,
textiles, decoration materials, furniture,
hardware, electrical appliances, chemical,
motorcycle and components, wholesale
and retail of automobile (except sedans);
store leasing

REMEREEE BE i 55
o EHHE KE 18 RE L
I BRERTHN RE (Fald
B) #3%%E  FELA

18430573 -X

18430091 -2



(33)  Zhuzhou Torch Auto
Lighting Co,, Ltd.
KMBAERERE
BREfAT

(34 Mudanjiang Futong
Automotive Air

Conditioner Co., Ltd.

HATRRAEEH
ARAT

Type of Place of
lbsidiary -~ registration
AREE  Hft

bout subsidiaries (Cc

Legal Natu
representative  business

EARK RHHE

rited liability Hunan :
company
| HREHAA

limited liability - Hunan
company
BREMAA

limited liability - Heilongjiang
company  EgL
ERERRA

Manufacturing
Industry

) 4

a%s
(72188 7%
BERREERYE  MEREER:
ERgE

SR

31,000,000.00  Production and sale of automobile,
motorcycle component, electrical
appliance, machinery, instruments,
decorative light and rubber product.
Operating export of self-manufactured
product and technology of the Company;
operating import of raw materials,
apparatus, instruments, mechanical
equipments, components and technology
that are required by the production of the
Company; processing of incoming materials
and "three categories of processing and
one category of compensation business”

g ERSTHN  SEERRET

EHE ZHEREE BE-4E
AEEEEEQRRMNHLOZH &
ERRREERBNREMNY  BEE
% BHRE TRERRGNEDE
B EEERNIN [ZR-F] 25

Wang Xinlu 73677107-8

B

Manufacturing
Industry
Rtz

121,050,000.00  Production, manufacture and sale of 73966596 - 7
automobile air conditioner compresser
and its systems and other automobile
component. Engage in import and
export within the scope stipulated in the
Certificate of Approval for Enterprises with
Foreign Trade Rights; storage

REZAREARAZS HUAERR
fFLE 2 B8 NEHALE
BREEATEENSELOER 2
&

Lizhi Manufacturing
58 Industry
itz



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Interim Report 2011 sk 103

S S ¥R MY AT (A

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 H30H (A E#T)
IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial Y ~ & £ B % $it & B & OF % &
statements (Continued) (%)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FREHER(E)
Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary  registration  representative  business capital  Scope of business code
FREEE  Hftd EARE HME ifEx S8 ABRERE
(35 Xinjiang Machinery limited liability  Xinjiang Wang Xinlu Import and export ~20,000,000.00 - General operating items (except special 22858023-2
Equipment Import & company & Tk #4000 approved items under national laws and
Export Co, Ltd. BREEAR regulations); import and export of goods
MERRRAELD and technology
ERAR —hE2ER (AREREREEREY
BRI - EMERMELAEE
(36)  Shanghai He Da Auto limited liability - Shanghai Han Guohong ~ Manufacturing USD Decorative bars of automobile, glass trough, 607261207
Accessory Co,, Ltd. company £ BEM Industry 4,248200.00 tracking, doorframe and its accessories
DERERERE EREEAT HiEx R OAEMEHE BREE BE FER
BRAR 424820000 ERH
(37)  Weichai Power (Shanghai) limited liability - Shanghai Xu Xinyu Manufacturing 300,000,000.00 Industrialization development, technical 69296887 - 1
Technology Development company  £& BEE Industry development, technical transfer, technical
Co, Ltd. BREAAA Bligg consultation, technical services, technical
BEHN(LR)RERE training, investment consultation,
BRAA corporate management consultation of
transportation equipment, engineering
machinery, new energy, hi-tech technology
and product
REBGRE TRER Fek =H
BiREREXRE KRR &
UEE REUEEREU o R
I RERH CEEREH
(38)  Weichai Power Yangzhou limited liability  Jiangsu Zhang Quan Manufacturing 300,000,000.00 Design, development, manufacture, saleand 69934189 -5
Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. company  TE FR Industry after-sale services of engines and ancillary
EEE AN BREFLA REZ products; import and export of engines
ERAE and ancillary products, sale of automobile,
automobile accessories and lubricating oll
LIRRREERNRT R BE
HE EREBRYE  RDERRER
RUELOEE 58 AERKRE
BHEEE
(39)  Wieichai Power (Chongging) limited liability - Chongging Xu Xinyu Manufacturing 240,000,000.00  Industralization development and 69394899 -5
Western Development company  EE BHE Industry management of general operating
Co,, Ltd ERERAT BiEg items, transportation equipment and hi-
BEHN(ER)RPERE tech technology and product, technical,
ARAE investment and management consultation

service

—REEER  RBERRE 2K
MERMEXRERER &1 &
g EEEORE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) B i R B ST (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116308 (AR T)

IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial P4 ~ & £ B % #it & B & OF $i &

statements (Continued) (%)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FREHER(E)
Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary  registration representative  business capital - Scope of business code
FREEY  HEftt EARK ERHE iftex £26E AERERE
(40)  Chongging Jialing limited fiability - Chongging Xu Xinyu Manufacturing 80,000,000.00 Production and sale of automabile, 78156786-9
Chuanjiang Vehicles ompany  EE BT Indlustry automobile components, motorcycle
manufactuing Co, ltd. ~ ARELAT BiEZ components
EEmER/IIAERE EE HE:NE RERPL BRE
ERAT e
(41) Chongging Light-duty- limited fiability - Chongging Xu Xinyu Manufacturing 300,000,000.00 Development, design and sale of light vehicles 563455471
Automotive Co,, Ltd. ompany  ER BEE Industry (excluding sale of passenger vehicle with
EFETANE BEREALT His 9-seats or below), development, design,
BRAR production, sale of automobile accessories

(excluding production of engines)
A TENRE R NHE(FRIER
UTRAZHE) BRENRE &
iAE - BE(TREDMEE)

(42)  Weichai Power (Beijing) limited liability - Bejing Xu Xinyu Project Investment  300,000,000.00  Project investment, Investment management, 56368805 - 6
International Resource company  HR iR BERE investment consultation; technical
Investment Co,, Ltd. BREMLT development, technical transfer, technical
EEGNER)ERER consultation, technical service; new energy
REFRAT technical training; organize cultural-art

exchange (other than performance); sale of
machinery, electrical appliance, equipment
and automobile accessories; property
management; import and export of goods,
import and export of technology and act as
agent for import and export

ERRE REER REWN KR
EREUE R UEERE UL Y
MERRME AR EGRR
(REBI)  HERRESRE 1
BRMA MEEER  EMELD K
B0 RE#ELO

(43)  Weichai Power (Hong limited fiability Hong Kong, China  Xu Xinyu Service Industry USD  Engaging in cooperation and trading business
Kong) International company  FEEE BHT hEz 26,575,180.00  of product and technology in relation to
Development Co,, Ltd. EREMfAT FU automabile core components (such as

#E5n (7%) 2R 2657518000 engines) and automobile engineering;
¥RERRA external investment and management
business

KERPRENTRLTINRAEIR
TEANER RWAERESER: Y
HRERERRH
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116308 (AR T)
IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial Y ~ & £ B % $it & B & OF % &
statements (Continued) (%)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FREHER(E)
Type of Place of Legal Nature of Registered Organization
subsidiary  registration  representative  business capital  Scope of business code
FREEE  Hftd EARE HME ifEx S8 ABRERE
(44) Siciété International des limited liability France Lin Zhishen Manufacturing Euro Production, sale, research and development
Moteurs Baudouin company  AE g Industry 21,626,000.00  of various types of internal combustion
ERBHERYNERLA  AREMAF Bz BITL  engines, processing of various types of
21,626,000.00  general machinery; generally al financial,
commercial, industrial, moveable or
immovable operations directly or indirectly
related to the above operation or other
similar or relevant operations, which are
directly or indirectly beneficial to the
pursue of goal, expansion or development
of the Company
RERME MO LE BEARE &
BRAERNL: RREMATHER
JEEE LS SRS EL RN
RBBLE9EEEY  ERIARERN
RRARMEXHEE  RARRAZR
Mo mE I¥ PEATIEL
=
(45) DIESEL MARIN MAROC limited liability - Morocco Bresulier Marc ~ Manufacturing MAD  Production and trading of diesel engines
company  E&F Industry 100000000 £EREELXBHE
ERELEAT X itk
1,000,000.00
(46)  WEICHA-BAUDOUIN(S) PTE. limited liability - Singapore Daniel Jousse ~ Service Industry SGD  General agency for import and export
L company  #10% Big 10000 #HOBKE
BREFAR FIRE
100.00
(47)  MAT AUTOMATIVE INC. limited liability United States ~ TanXuguang ~ Import sale USD  Import sale of consumables and automobile
company X6 i EOHE 13125000 components
BREFAR im HER AETHMHEOHE
131,250.00
(48 Weichai Power limited liability - Shandong Dong Ping Manufacturing 100,000,000.00  Design, manufacture and sale of hydraulic 57394501 - X
(Qingzhou) Drive company IR R Industry components, hydraulic system and related
Control Technology BREFLA HiER transmission technology series product

Co., Ltd. (Note 2)
HEHN(EN) BRI
BRAF(H)

as well as providing technical and after-
sale services, operating import and export
of the equipment, components and
technology required by the Company and
the export business of the Company's
product

RELE  REZGRABEERGZS

f

Enfeh  RERRE  WRERN
AERRE  BEALEHAR
ERAREOEDRBRALEERH
HOEH

F
S
2



: ol t subsidiaries (Cc

Effective capital
contribution at the
end of period

HRER EB(%)
89,795,918.00 : .00

() WeichaiPower (Weifang) Ol Co, Ltd. 1000000000 10000 S 000 Y

65 -
HEE N () BRAH i

3) \Weichai Power (Weifang) Intensive Logistics Co., Ltd. 10,400,000.00 52.00 - 52.00 Yes 21,793,796.50
W58 1 ) S NE R BR AR ®

@) Weichai Power (Weifang) Casting Co., Ltd. 20,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
HSEE) N () BRERAF I3

(5) Weichai Power (Weifang) Reconstruction Co., Ltd. 30,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
H5E) N (i) BREARAA z

(6)  Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. (Note 1) 10,000,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
WREHEEBRAF (1) I

(7)  Shandong Synergy Qil Co., Ltd. UsD1,530,000.00 46.00 5.00 51.00 Yes 39,050,731.42
WREERRERAR F711,530,000.00 2

(8)  Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited 870,330,000.00 51.00 - 51.00 Yes 1,269,636,467.74
REENTEERLT T

(9 Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. 310,592,000.00 3.06 94.00 97.06 Yes 21,011,367.35
REZEERERAA =

(10)  Shaanxi Jinding Casting Co., Ltd. 35,360,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes 38,443.17
RELREEFRAT IS

(1) Tianjin Tiangua Automotive Co., Ltd. 6,000,000.00 - 51.00 51.00 Yes (5,231,324.96)
REMAABHERAF T
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IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
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S S ¥R MY AT (A

201146 H308 (A ER#T)

(%)

1. FRABRE)

Mg~ & fF B 25 R H B i

Percentage of shareholding Whether Number of
Effective capital Percentage statements  minority interests
contribution at the of voting are at the end of
end of period  Direct (%) Indirect(%) rights  consolidated current period
R A
KRB RAA HSYRREH
HAERLEE  HE%)  EE%)  LAI(%) ik E3 THBRY
(12)  Tianjin Xinming Automotive Commercial Co., Ltd. 1,000,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
AEFRAEHEERAA =
(13)  Shaanxi Heavy Duty Automotive Import & Export Co., Ltd. 10,000,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
RASASEELOBRAR IS
(14)  Baoding Shangi Tianma Co., Ltd. 20,400,000.00 - 51.00 51.00 Yes 16,006,278.77
RERARSERAH =
(15)  Shaanxi Automobile Yulin Eastern New Energy 85,680,000.00 - 51.00 51.00 Yes 80,506,715.08
Special-Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd. (Note 2) i
BARMRR AR REREERAR(52)
(16)  Shaanxi Automobile Xinjiang Vehicle Co., Ltd. (Note 2) 49,650,000.00 - 56.20 56.20 Yes 38,700,000.00
RAHEABERAR () I
(17)  Shaanxi Automobile Datong New Energy Special-Purpose 33,825,000.00 - 51.00 51.00 Yes 32,499,250.02
Vehicle Co., Ltd. (Note 2) =
RAKRFEREMAEBRAA(F2)
(18)  Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. 130,962,900.00 51.00 - 51.00 Yes 3,555,536,032.48
RELZTHEGERELLT I
(190 Baoji Fast Gear Co., Ltd. 29,265,000.00 2.55 95.00 97.55 Yes 42,794,292.68
ERrTREREREELA =
(200 Xi'an Fast Auto Drive Co., Ltd. 134,700,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes 5,256,774.80
BRETHAEEHERAT IS
(21)  Xi'an Fast Gear Sales Co., Ltd. 1,000,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes 101,175.37
ARzt RERHEARLA R’
(22)  Shaanxi Fast Gear Spare Parts Import & Export Co., Ltd. 3,000,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
REELRAETTPHELAERAT IS
(23)  Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. (Note 3) 368,139,144.86 85.35 - 85.35 Yes 68,980,797.66
wNERERELAR(E3) =



: ol t subsidiaries (Cc

Effective capital
contribution at the
end of period

B%
5,000,000.00

(25 Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear Automotive Transmission 45,000,000.00

- 90.00 90.00 Yes 8,048,642.00

CO., Ltd. ;EEI
B EEEBRABRA A

(26)  Dongfeng Off-road Vehicle Co., Ltd. 93,000,000.00 60.00 - 60.00 Yes 56,835,114.02
FEAEEARAE 3

(27)  Shiyan Amor Coating Technology Co., Ltd. 2,200,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
TETET2ERNERAF =

(28)  Zhuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co., Ltd. 196,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
EENENEEBRER AT 3

(29)  Torch Import & Export Co., Ltd. 30,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
NEEHOEREAL A =

(30)  Zhuzhou Torch Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 142,262,500.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
A CRRREBREELR 3

(31)  Zhuzhou Torch Property Development Co., Ltd. 13,120,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
THAERHEREEREEAT 3

(32)  Zhuzhou Torch Auto Sealing Co., Ltd. 20,420,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
N ENEREZHEREMAT &

(33)  Zhuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co., Ltd. 31,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
EEAERERAEREEAT I3

(34)  Mudanjiang Futong Automotive Air Conditioner Co., Ltd. 72,436,000.00 59.84 - 59.84 Yes 117,537,550.18
HATIERAETHARAR 3
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IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &

o 55 i R M 5 (48
201146 H308 (A ER#T)

(%)

1. FRABRE)

Mg~ & fF B 25 R H B i

Percentage of shareholding Whether Number of
Effective capital Percentage statements  minority interests
contribution at the of voting are at the end of
end of period  Direct (%) Indirect(%) rights  consolidated current period
R A
KRR RAA HSYRREE
HAERLE  HE%)  BE%)  WLAI(%) bk €3 THBRY
(35  Xinjiang Machinery Equipment Import & Export Co., Ltd. 20,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
MBEAREELABRAA =
(36)  Shanghai He Da Auto Accessory Co., Ltd. USD3,186,150.00 75.00 - 75.00 Yes 28,409,063.29
LEERER Nt BRAR %713,186,150.00 =
(37)  Weichai Power (Shanghai) Technology Development 300,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
Co,, Ltd. =
BEPN(EBNBRRERAT
(38)  Weichai Power Yangzhou Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. 240,000,000.00 - 80.00 80.00 Yes 106,991,696.69
HEBNEN S REARL A =
(39)  Weichai Power (Chongging) Western Development 240,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
Co., Ltd. I
REBNER)BPRRERLA
(40)  Chongging Jialing Chuanjiang Vehicles manufacturing 64,000,000.00 - 80.00 80.00 Yes 12,662,881.71
Co., Ltd. =
BEMERIIAELEARLA
(41)  Chongging Light-duty-Automotive Co., Ltd. 153,000,000.00 - 51.00 51.00 Yes 25,133,421.97
BERILNABERAT IS
(42)  Weichai Power (Beijing) International Resource Investment 300,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
Co., Ltd. =
EXBH (tR) BRERRARRAT
(43)  Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development USD26,575,180.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
Co, Ltd. %7126,575,180.00 =
HEBN (F8) ARERARAA
(44)  Siciété International des Moteurs Baudouin EUR021,626,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
ERBR R NERAR Bl721,626,000.00 R’
(45)  DIESEL MARIN MAROC MAD1,000,000.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
i@#1#1,000,000.00 R

109
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) B ik R B T (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116 H30H (AR T)

IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial P4 ~ & # B % $it & W & OF #i &

statements (Continued) (%)
1. Information about subsidiaries (Continued) 1. FRAAER(E)
Percentage of shareholding Whether Number of
Effective capital Percentage  statements  minority interests
contribution at the of voting are at the end of
end of period  Direct (%) Indirect(%) rights  consolidated current period
B A
RAE RA%E DERRER
HRERLE H#(%)  BE%)  HHI(%) YHE THHRY
(46)  WEICHAI-BAUDOUIN(S) PTE. LTD 5GD100.00 - 100.00 100.00 Yes -
A7 I13%%100.00 =
(@7)  MAT AUTOMOTIVE INC. USD131,250.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
%71131,250.00 &
(48)  Weichai Power (Qingzhou) Drive Control Technology Co., 100,000,000.00 100.00 - 100.00 Yes -
Ltd. (Note 2) 3
#EE N (EN) BERGERAR (2)
Note 1: This subsidiary was acquired by subsidiaries comprising the Group by way H1: RTFARM0MFHREBRTRFME
of business combinations not involving entities under common control in BIER—EHI TR ESHFEIS o
2011.
Note 2: These subsidiaries were newly established in 2011. 2 0 EETFRAIR201TFHRMKL ©
Note 3: The Company acquired 3.20% minority interest equity from this H3: ARAR201MFREZFRARIDHK
subsidiary in 2011 and the percentage of shareholding increased to fR3R3.20% M #E - FHREH EFHZE
85.35%. 85.35% o
Changes in registered capital of the subsidiaries from January to FARGFEMER2011F1-6 BEELE
June 2011 are detailed as follows: {ERIEFIEMAT
Increase in Decrease in
31 December the current the current
2010 period period 30 June 2011
2010%F 20114
124318 AEEM KHRD 6A30A

Weichai Power (Chongqing) Western  #£58h /1 (E 5 ) FE %R
Development Co., Ltd. BRAA 200,000,000.00  40,000,000.00 - 240,000,000.00



31 December
2010
201045

Neichai Power (Chongging) BN (EE)EHE

Western Development Co, Ltd ERAT 200,000,00000  40,000,000.00 — 24000000000
2.  Other than the subsidiaries newly established in this period and 2. BAHBEHRIMFAR - ARKE
as described in Items 3 and 4 under Note IV, the scope of the M- 3F4MEHBRSN - A OFI K
consolidated financial statements is in line with that in the previous HEELFFE—H -

year.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

3. Entities newly consolidated in the current

period

B B5 #R R B RE (A8
201146 H308 (A R#T)

(%)
T EHAAGSHEERD

From January to June 2011, subsidiaries newly consolidated are as

follows:

Time of inclusion

3"

E.

Mg~ & fF B 2 R B B i

20114 1-6 8 * IMAGHEBENT

ARWT

Net profit
from date of
purchase/
establishment

as part of Net assets as at  to end of period

Names of subsidiaries newly included as consolidation 30 June 2011 BER
part of consolidation FMASGEE 20114564300 RIBE
FMAGOHEEN T QBB HY B BEE HAREFE
Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. Note 1 8 June 2011 44,110,000.00 11,675.78
LREFHFEFR A A 1 201146A8H
Shaanxi Automobile Yulin Eastern New Energy

Special-Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd. Note 2 24 February 2011 164,299,418.51 (3,700,581.49)
POSEIMER T L RE R AE AR A A F2  20119F2H24H
Shaanxi Automobile Xinjiang Vehicle Co., Ltd. Note 3 10 June 2011 88,350,000.00 -
poassE LB AR A A 3 2011%6H10H
Shaanxi Automobile Datong New Energy

Special-Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd. Note 4 10 June 2011 66,325,000.00 -
PSRRI EERERTEGRAA 4 2011%F6A10H
Weichai Power (Qingzhou) Drive Control

Technology Co., Ltd. Note 5 10 May 2011 111,228,328.72 11,228,328.72
LB (BN BERBER AR 5 2011458 10H

Note 1 :

Note 2:

On 8 June 2011, Weichai Power (Weifang) Casting Co., Ltd., a
subsidiary of the Company, acquired 100% interests in Shandong
Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. under a business combination not
involving entities under common control at a consideration of RMB
44,110,000.00. 8 June 2011 is considered the date of purchase.
Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. is consolidated for this Period.

Shaanxi Automobile Yulin Eastern New Energy Special-Purpose Vehicle
Co., Ltd. was established on 24 February 2011 with a registered
capital of RMB168,000,000. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company
Limited, a subsidiary of the Company, subscribed for registered
capital of RMB85,680,000, representing 51%. Other shareholders
include: Shaangi Yulin Dongfang Group Special-purpose Vehicles
Manufacturing Co., Ltd., representing 36%; Yulin Yuyang District
State-owned Assets Operation Co., Ltd., representing 10%, Shaanxi
Shenmu Xindatong Special-purpose Vehicles Co., Ltd., representing
3%. Shaanxi Automobile Yulin Eastern New Energy Special-purpose
Vehicle Co., Ltd. is consolidated for this Period.

FE1

2

2011F6R8H * RARIFARIMLES
N (CHD)FBBERARBBIER—IE
HITEEAHIME T LRESFER
RAAI00%KIE  RHERAAR
¥44,110,000.007C - BE BT A
201146 A8H « REAM IR ESFE
BRRARMAEGEE -

PORRIMER S e REAAERRA
RIBCM A2011F2 A24H » s E X
AR #168,000,0007T © AR A FA
AP ER REAR A A REAME
AANER®85,680,0007T * 15f%51% °
HEMBRREDAA - BRARMRT EE
SRAEEEERAT - 1HKR36%
BMATREEREEEESERBRA
Al 1EMR10% ¢ BREEFE AT KR E A
BEHRAA  HKR3% o AHBEA
TR 75 5 e R R E AR A A 4R
AGHEE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

IV. Consolidation scope of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
3. Entities newly consolidated in the current
period (Continued)

Note 3 :

Note 4 :

Note 5 *

Shaanxi Automobile Xinjiang Vehicle Co., Ltd. was established on
10 June 2011 with a registered capital of RMB194,700,000. Shaanxi
Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
subscribed for registered capital of RMB99,300,000, representing
51%. Other shareholders include: Henan Juntong Vehicles Co.,
Ltd., representing 16% : Shaanxi Tongli Special-purpose Vehicle
Co., Ltd., representing 15%; Kashi Shaoxun Trading Co., Ltd. and
Urumgi Economic and Technological Development Area Construction
Investment and Development Co., Ltd., each representing 9%. Shaanxi
Automobile Xinjiang Vehicle Co., Ltd. is consolidated for this Period.

Shaanxi Automobile Datong New Energy Special-purpose Vehicle
Co., Ltd. was established on 10 June 2011 with a registered capital
of RMB132,650,000. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited,
a subsidiary of the Company, subscribed for registered capital of
RMB67,650,000, representing 51%. Tangshan Qidong Wumao Group
Co., Ltd., another shareholder, represented 49%. Shaanxi Automobile
Datong New Energy Special-purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd. is consolidated
for this Period.

On 10 May 2011, the Company invested in the establishment of
Weichai Power (Qingzhou) Drive Control Technology Co., Ltd. with a
registered capital of RMB100 million. Weichai Power (Qingzhou) Drive
Control Technology Co., Ltd. is consolidated for this Period.

4. Business combinations involving enterprises
not under common control occurred in the
current period

St 5 R Y

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &

(#)

201146 H308 (A ER#T)

Mg~ & fF B 25 R H B i

(%)

3. AEMFEMAEGHEEN
EX 16 )
235 RO EAEAERA DT R2001

GIE

GIE

F6HA10H - FMEAARE
194,700,0007T ° AR & F 2 &R
ERNAEARAFARBIMERAR
#99,300,0007T ' 1EA%51% ° EAfh
BRESR A MEERERARA
Al 1ER16%  BRERNBZERRESR
REMTAR  ERI15%  BLBHE
BAR D RS B A ES AR 1 5 3
BEERBERBEARART @ D RER
9% o ANEFHGBRITBAERBR A A
MABGHEE -

BROAKBFEEREARERR A AL
M2011F6A10H ' FMERARKE
132,650,0007T ° AR A T2 & B
EAREARARRBAETMERAAR
#67,650,0007T ' 15AR51% ° 5 — %
RABLTERYESEERETR
Al - (hA%49% ° AN HA S BR K R #T AE
RERAREARARMAGHEE -

ARATR20114E5H108 - REK
ST HESH(BMN)ERETERA
Al BMERABARBIERL - A58
HHELEE A (BN EERMEER AT
MAEDHEE -

4, AHBBENER—ZH
TiEEH

Calculation of

Amount of goodwill  goodwill
BEEE BEIFHEFE
Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. IR EFHFEBR A7) - Purchase method
BEE
On 8 June 2011, the Company acquired 100% interests in 201156 A8H - ARNAIWETILE

Shandong Huadong Casting Co., Ltd. at a consideration of
RMB44,110,000.00.

EFEFEEBRAA100%KE 25
B AARA4,110,000.007C °

¥ 1E



s combinations involving
- under common control occurrec
riod (Continued)

1d carrying amounts of identifiable assets and
uadong Casting Co., Ltd. at the acquisition

Cash and cash equivalents EHEE S
Other receivables H i JE R
Prepayments FE T BR X
Inventories wE

Other current assets Hipmeh & E
Fixed assets EEE
Construction in progress ERIR
Intangible assets mEE
Short-term borrowings HHIER
Accounts payable JEfTBR K
Taxes payables ERF B
Other payables HAth FE A 3K
Long-term borrowings REAER
Total &&F

Total consideration SrFMEE

The operating results and cash flows of Shandong Huadong Casting
Co., Ltd. from the acquisition date to the end of the current period

are listed as follows:

8 June 2011
Fair value
2011%¥6H8H
AREE

96,026,592.39
122,611.02
3,051,000.00
6,229,250.33
1,470,801.79
56,501,741.33
494,021,212.98
34,084,050.00
(425,151,100.00)

(126,175,868.22)
22,579,631.35

(92,025,922.97)

(26,624,000.00)

44,110,000.00

44,110,000.00

8 June 2011

Carrying amount

201146 H8A
REEE

96,026,592.39
122,611.02
3,051,000.00
6,229,250.33
1,470,801.79
37,888,883.78
455,652,328.01
16,330,889.37
(425,151,100.00)
(126,175,868.22)
22,579,631.35
(92,025,922.97)
(26,624,000.00)

(30,624,903.15)

WREHBEERARBBERARLE
AERHEEK RN S RE DT L0

™

Revenue

Net profit

Net cash flows from operating activities
Net cash flows from investing activities
Net cash flows from financing activities

FETON
FHA

REETHELNRSREFHE
RETHELNRESREFHE
BEERPELNREREFHE

Period from
8 June to
30 June 2011

201156 H8HE

6H30H # /&

11,675.78
(4,535,343.02)

(26,824,335.70)




acquired all assets and Iiébilities
ou) Co., Ltd., which comprise
'RMB41,000,000.00. The f
ets and liabilities upon & 28

EEEWT :

18 May 2011
Fair value
2011E5818H
AREE
Fixed assets EE & E 48,560,052.45
Intangible assets EEE 28,966,254.34
Current assets MEEE 36,615,974.12
Short-term loans EHIE R (30,000,000.00)
Accounts payable JE 1 BR 3R (29,452,991.00)
Other current liabilities Emrsasi (939,644.28)
Other payables FAth & A5 3R =
Net asset value at settlement REFFEEEE 53,749,645.63
Payment of cash consideration TRREHE (41,000,000.00)
Gain arising from the excess of fair EBEHNA FEENREE
value of identifiable net assets of WAEHEBAIRRFEE
the acquired business over the AR BEEENH Y

consideration paid for business
combination 12,749,645.63

BIAEME ER

18 May 2011

Carrying amount

2011458 18H
IREEE

38,851,575.34
8,294,165.44
38,848,291.04
(80,184,796.69)
(31,025,429.10)
(708,613.98)
(31,151,765.08)

(57,076,573.03)




d\sh
-RMB
-UsD
-PY
- HKD
-EUR

Bank deposits
-RMB
-Usb
- JPY
-HKD
-EUR

Other cash and
cash equivalents
-RMB
-Usb
- JPY
-HKD
-EUR

—ABM

-%7t
—AL
-
-7

RITEH
-AR%
—%7
-8B
-
—Bx

EthEBES

- AR
-£7
—-Ax
-
-R7

 equivalents

Original
currency

R%

1,171,643.57
11,587.25
1,840.66
7,012.30
72.89

7,475,857,604.88
22,081,567.35
1.50

261,288.50
1,683,341.89

2,299,606,789.89
737,224.55

30 June 2011
201156 A30H
Exchange
Rate

EX

1.0000
6.4716
0.0802
0.8316
9.3612

1.0000
6.4716
0.0802
0.8316
9.3612

1.0000
6.4716
0.0802
0.8316
9.3612

RMB
equivalent

TaARK

1,171,643.57
74,988.05
147.62
5831.43
682.34

1,475,857,604.88
142,903,071.26
0.12

217,281.52
15,758,100.10

2,299,606,789.89
4,771,022.40

6,705.24

9,940,373,874.42

644,633.94
13,139.18
7,462.30
72.70

8,616,745,015.64
61,183,290.46
5.00
6,137,618.21
6,697,407.86

2,067,348,778.89
654,000.90

0.8509
8.8065

1.0000
6.6227
0.0813
0.8509
8.8065

1.0000
6.6227
0.0813
0.8509
8.8065

644,633.94
87,016.85
6,349.67
640.23

8,616,745,015.64
405,198,577.73
0.41
5222,499.33

58,980,722.32

2,067,348,778.89
4,331,251.76

11,158,565,486.77



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

1.

Cash and cash equivalents (Continued)

The other cash and cash equivalent of the Group
amounted to RMB2,304,384,517.53 (31 December 2010:
RMB2,071,680,030.65), all of which are used in letter of guarantee
and security monies for special accounts such as bank acceptance

bills, letter of credit and forward settlement of exchange.

As at 30 June 2011, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
RMB130,552,345.93 (31 December 2010: RMB61,413,222.26),

which were deposited overseas.

Interest income earned on current deposits is calculated by using
current deposit interest rate of the bank. The deposit periods for
time deposits vary from three months to one year depending on
the cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest income at

respective time deposit interest rates of the bank.

Financial assets held for trading
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H~ & OF B AR 1 R IH H RE R

(%
.

)

E¥ES(E)
AEBEMEBKESRARK
2,304,384,517.53 7t (20104 12 A
318 : AR 2,071,680,030.65
JC) 2 EB A AR BRI A R 9% 32 SR 1T A
HER FAZ RUEEZFZEFPM
EEFORES °

MN2011F6A30H ' ANEERF
MRBIINEEESAARE
130,552,345.93 7t (2010412 A 31
B : AR#61,413,222.267T) °

RITEBRFFIRBRITERFHRA K
BBHSBA - EMERNERAS
BEAAENFEAE KAKENERES
FRME  WRBEEHRITERF
HAEERGFEWA -

31 December 2010
20104 12H31H

30 June 2011
2011%6H30H

Financial assets designated as at fair
value with changes included in the

profit or loss of the current period

HERNRAEEE
BEEBFAZHERN

Notes receivable

Bank acceptance bills

Commercial acceptance bills

3. EREE
30 June 2011
2011%56830H
RITHR S ESE 15,185,550,801.12
EEARESR 46,538,000.00

15,232,088,801.12

3,672,000.00

31 December 2010
201012 A31H

11,201,259,288.41
87,967,893.82

11,289,227,182.23




_ U

- ivable (Continued)
ne 2011, top 5 notes receivable that were ple

Expi
B

2017007 2011.7.17

2011.7.17  10,000,000.00

Donéfeg G o i aiac a Everbrig
(Commercial Vehicle Company) A S K ERTT

RRAEERAREAEALQR

Dongfeng Motor Co., Ltd 2011.1.17 2011.7.17 10,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank
(Commercial Vehicle Company) B e KER 1T

RRAREERAREAERR]

Dongfeng Motor Co., Ltd 2011.1.17 2011.7.17 10,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank
(Commercial Vehicle Company) B Y K ER 1T

REAEERAFHAELT

Dongfeng Motor Co., Ltd 2011.1.17 2011.7.17 10,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank
(Commercial Vehicle Company) B e KERTT

RESEERATNEBEAF

50,000,000.00



Issuing date

HEHH

Expiry date

A

ongfeng Motor Co., Ltd
(Commercial Vehicle Company)

REAEERATEAELQF

Jinan Mingchi Heavy Duty Vehicle 2010.8.26
Trade Co., Ltd.

EEANERREESHARAA

Xuzhou Chiyuan Automobile Sales 2010.12.3
Co., Ltd.

RMERTEHERR A A

Shanghai Huadong Construction 2010.7.21
Machinery Co., Ltd.
LEERZERWBER AR

2011.2.28

2011.2.26

2011.6.3

2011.1.21

20,000,000.00

12,000,000.00

12,000,000.00

10,703,400.00

74,703,400.00

China Everbright Ba

PEIEARIRTT

China Everbright Bank
AR RERTT

Rural Credit
Cooperatives of
Tongshan County

L= E
S Ve

China Everbright Bank

AR RERTT




ivable (Continued)
ne 2011 and 31 December 2010, the Group

s into accounts receivable due to issuers’ fa

2011 that had

parties are presented as follows:

B EAA

Dongfeng Liuzhou Motor Co., Ltd 2011.3.1 2011.9.1 35,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank

REMMNREFRRE FRIRAT

Dongfeng Liuzhou Motor Co., Ltd 2011.3.1 2011.9.1 35,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank

REMMNREFR QA FRIRAT

Fujian Jingong Machinery Co., Ltd 2011.3.9 2011.9.9 22,000,000.00  Xingye Bank

BEEIERMARAR B2 RTT

Baotou Northern Benz 2011.6.15 2011.12.15 20,000,000.00  China Minsheng Bank
Heavy Truck Company Limited FEEARTT

BRIEFERTEARAA

Baotou Northern Benz 2011.6.15 2011.12.15 20,000,000.00  China Minsheng Bank
Heavy Truck Company Limited hE R ARTT

BHEIEFERTEFROA

132,000,000.00



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

3.

Notes receivable (Continued)
The top 5 notes receivable outstanding as at 31 December 2010

that had been endorsed to other parties are presented as follows:

B
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o~ OF B R 2 BEOH H kR

(%)

FEWEE (&)

M2010F12A318 * AEEEKRE
R BRI B R KRB EKRE &

THERAMAAENT :
Issuer Issuing date Expiry date Amount  Issued by
HEREN HEBH FHA HE  AREA
Dongfeng Liuzhou Motor Co., Ltd 2010.09.29 2011.03.29 50,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank
REMMNTEFRAF B RERTT
Linyi Qingqi Vehicle Manufacturing 2010.10.28 2011.04.28 40,000,000.00  Shanghai Pudong
Co., Ltd Development Bank
BB IR MEEAR AR LFERRERRT
Inner Mongolia Zhongchang Engineering 2010.08.06 2011.02.06 30,000,000.00  China Everbright Bank
Machinery Group Co., Ltd R KERTT

WER &P T2 (EE)

BRAA
Faw Jiefang Qingdao Auto Factory 2010.09.26 2011.03.26
—ARHE B AER
Pang Da Automobile Trade Co., Ltd 2010.07.20 2011.01.20

FERAEKERNHARRAT

As at 30 June 2011, notes receivable amounting to
RMB460,357,616.00 (31 December 2010: RMB546,525,332.00)

was pledged to banks for establishment of bank acceptance bills.

21,995,842.95

20,000,000.00

161,995,842.95

China Everbright Bank
B RERTT
China Minsheng Bank
B R A RTT

20116 A30R « AEEBRIRTT
AHEEMEFRNENZEERARE
460,357,616.007C (2010412 A 31
A : AR#546,525,332.00) °



able
ades with its customers primarily on credit te
 pa ment in advance or cash on delivery for ne
d  generally one month, extending up to

mers. Accounts receivable is non-interest-

oceivable based on invoice dates is

Within 1 year 1FLAA
1 1o 2 years 16EZE2F
2 to 3 years 2FE3F
Over 3 years 3FEME

Less: provision for bad debt

Changes in provision for bad debts are presented as follows:

Opening balance FHE

Provision for the period/year ANERFEHR

Decrease during the period/year: NER R
Reversal $ 0]
Write-off LR

Closing balance B ERE

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

6,097,992,390.96
425,847,353.09
198,833,231.79
109,074,163.39

6,831,747,139.23
846,651,627.94

5,985,095,511.29

31 December 2010
20105%12A31H

4,664,521,056.82
435,704,590.19
165,791,727.57
92,219,978.22

5,358,237,352.80
780,731,652.28

4,577,505,700.52

e R R AR E B BB N T

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

780,731,652.28
69,785,603.88

3,865,628.22

846,651,627.94

31 December 2010
2010%12A31H

528,861,842.18
316,127,208.55

10,474,275.63
53,783,122.82

780,731,652.28




Individually significant items
for which provision for bad

debt is recognized separately

Gross carrying

amount

FRE R 2R

EEHEEE

Rl 579,499,143.60

30 June 2011
201156 A30R
Proportion
(%)
tE Bl
(%)

Provision for
bad debt

396,320,276.90

Percentage
(%)

it
HABI(%)

Items for which provision for bad 244 sHEZ R ER
debt is recognized by group 6,163,394,368.04 388,666,410.45
Not individually significant items ~ BB S FHTEKX
for which provision for bad BEIEHREER
debt is recognized separately B 88,853,627.59 61,664,940.59
6,831,747,139.23 846,651,627.94
31 December 2010
2010%F12A31A8
Gross carrying Proportion Provision for Percentage
amount (%) bad debt (%)
L 1 g
REHRE (%) ER%ER L 1(%)
Individually significant items BEEEEX
for which provision for bad I BIEFRER
debt is recognized separately EHE 569,958,075.74 10.64 385,850,497.03 67.70
Items for which provision for bad &4 4 SHREER KM
debt is recognized by group 4,678,495,928.81 87.31 328,420,031.18 7.02
Not individually significant items ~ EE&FH T E A
for which provision for bad BEREFRER
debt is recognized separately P2 109,783,348.25 2.05 66,461,124.07 60.54
5,358,237,352.80 100.00 780,731,652.28




rich provision for bad debt is recognized by grc

30 June 2011
2011£6A30A
) ‘ Gross carrying ~ Proportion

amount (%) bad debt

Provision for  Percentage

(%)

] R

RAHE (%) BRER

Within 1year 1454/
Tto2years 1226
2103years  2E3E
3todyears  3F4E
4to5years  AFSE
Over5years  SEU

5,921,359,864.85 96.07
120,598,965.90 1.96
35,558,448.94 0.58
19,215,303.70 0.31

287,493,228.14
17,055,981.12
9,554,885.68
9,184,564.52
5,136,134.70
60,241,616.29

6,420,168.36 0.10
60,241,616.29 0.98

6,163,394,368.04 100.00 388,666,410.45

As at 30 June 2011, there was no recovery of significant accounts
receivable for which provision for bad debt has been made or
reversal of bad debt provision for the period (31 December 2010:
Nil).

For the period from January to June 2011, accounts receivable
written off amounted to RMB3,865,628.24. This is related to
various individual accounts receivable which were expected to be
unrecoverable and thus approved to be written off. Such accounts

receivable written off did not arise from related party transactions.

As at 30 June 2011, within the aforesaid balance of accounts
receivable, there was no amount due from shareholders that held
5% or more of the Company’s voting shares (31 December 2010:
Nil). Balance of accounts receivable with other related parties are
set out in Note VI.6.

(%)

4.86
14.15
26.87
47.80
80.00

100.00

RERE (%)

SRER

4,401,223,174.55 94.07

52,488,250.19 1.13

217,551,447 46 494

104,965,951.50 224 15,744,892.73 15.00
99,090,992.92 2.12 29,727,297.88 30.00
12,246,349.32 0.26 6,123,174.66 50.00

8,481,21033 0.18 6,784,968.26 80.00
52,488,250.19 100.00

4,678,495,928 81 100.00

328,420,031.18

R2011FE6A300 - ANEIEE KD 5T
152 45 BR 2 {85 1) JE Ut B A MR ) B 5 B
EHWEEBHNER (20105612 A31
H: &) -

201140 1-6 Az 8 /) EU AR SR L ET A
R #3,865,628.247T © &A% FHIE
WEBT EEWER R IER EE R
SHEER T AR - 2SR A IR
IERYIIERAM S HEE -

M2011F6 4308 » EUERF &
FEAXRRAS%(E5%) LA EFRRE
f& 5 B AR R B AL ) FRIE (2010612 A
318 - &) c REBEEEMARTH
FEUBR FRERTE BT REN - 6 ©
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial Fi~ & 0F b % 38 F IH H i &
statements (Continued) (78)
4. Accounts receivable (Continued) 4. FEWBRFX(E)

As at 30 June 2011, the top 5 accounts receivable are presented as
follows:

201146 A30H © EUERK S AT
AAWTE :

Percentage of
total accounts

Gross carrying receivable
amount Age (%)
Ih R AR R AR EE
B £k 51
IREEAEE iRl (%)
Dongfeng Motor Co., Ltd (Commercial 510,696,139.61 Within 1 year 7.47
Vehicle Company) —F AR
RRAREERAREAEAQR
Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd 292,293,581.40 Within 1 year 4.28
bEEAERNDBRA R —F A
Changsha Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and 191,780,900.00 Within 1 year 2.81
Technology Development Co., Ltd —FLAA
RO E TR ERRHERAA
Baotou Northern Benz Heavy Truck 137,847,056.18 Within 1 year 2.02
Company Limited —FLARN
BRI R ER TEFRAA
Shaanxi Automobile Group Changsha Huantong 93,831,321.85 Within 1 year 1.37
Automobile Manufacturing Co., Ltd —FE PR
prEE A EERDRBAEREGR AR
1,226,448,999.04 17.95

As at 31 December 2010, the top 5 accounts receivable are

R2010F12 8318 » EREZ S5

presented as follows:

AMAZWT :

Percentage of
total accounts

Gross carrying receivable
amount Age (%)
LR AR AR
B L i
SRESRER MRER (%)
Dongfeng Motor Co., Ltd (Commercial 540,126,901.94 Within 1 year 10.08
Vehicle Company) —FLARN
REAEARAGEAERA
(Algeria) EURL GM TRADE 321,474,261.09 Within 1 year 6.00
(P §8 &2 #1)25) EURL GM TRADE —F AR
Beiqi Foton Motor Co., Ltd 293,551,730.75 Within 1 year 5.48
EAREAERNDERAT —F LA
Baotou Northern Benz Heavy Truck 206,455,787.10 Within 1 year 3.85
Company Limited —FLARN
BEAL R ERFE QT
Faw Jiefang Automotive Co., Ltd 139,553,606.65 Within 1 year 2.60
—ARBUIE AR AR —FR
1,501,162,287.53 28.01




ceivable denominated in foreign currenci

30 June 2011
201146A30H
Original Exchange RMB
currency rate equivalent

R E & FRARE R%

Accounts receivable &I B 20

-USD =3 51,261,163.48 (YA WZAWE R I 14,582,132.37 6.6227  96,573,088.05
—|EUR —-Br 15,133,099.67 9.3612 141,663,972.63 7,472,873.28 8.8065  65,809,858.54
-HKD — B 115.20 0.8316 95.80 116.31 0.8509 98.97
- GBP — R 2,916.87 10.4122 30,371.03 3,041.16 10.2182 31,075.18
473,436,185.04 162,414,120.74
5. Prepayments 5. ENRIE
An aging analysis of prepayments is presented as follows: TENREOREDITOT

30 June 2011 31 December 2010

2011%6A30H 201046124318
Proportion Proportion
Amount (%) Amount (%)
€8 Bl (%) | Bl (%)
Within 1 year 1ELR 668,289,646.20 93.02 611,446,423.56 90.31
110 2 years 1826 35,072,499.07 4.88 50,841,668.35 7.51
2 1o 3 years 2E3F 9,302,851.24 1.29 12,524,285.69 1.85

Over 3 years 3FEE 5,847,658.19 0.81 2,216,449.91 0.33

718,512,654.70 100.00 677,028,827.51 100.00

As at 30 June 2011, there was no large-amount prepayments with MR2011F6H308 « EEER —F MU
an age of more than one year (31 December 2010: Nil). ERRBEIEMNFKIE(20105F12 A 31
E H léﬁi\) o




Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

5.

Prepayments (Continued)

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &
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As at 30 June 2011, the top five amounts of prepayments are

5.

(%)

BNREGE)

2011464308 + FERKRIES AT

presented as follows: FH 2R
Reason for being
Balance Age not yet settled

28 Rk AEHEEREER
Superior (Tianjin) Multi-Packaging Container Co., Ltd 58,143,710.16 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
RPBHE(CRE)BEGRAA TR REKTR
Aichelin Heat Treatment Systems (Beijing) Co., Ltd 51,841,666.16 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
B MBREERG (L R)BRAF TR REKR
Sinopec Lubricant Company Jinan Filiale 39,458,900.00 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
HREAMETROBR D REERERED AR TR REKTK
Chengdu Baosteel West Trading Co., Ltd 32,136,780.95 Within 1 year  To settle per contract

Xi'an Business Department
PRERE TR A E 5B RN A A & & 5 TERAR REKNH
Shaanxi Huazhen Sancan Industry and Trading Co., Ltd 31,572,910.01 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
PBRAEE=EIZARAEEAA TR RELHRK
213,153,967.28
Reason for being
Balance Age not yet settled

&8 IRl REHEE
Shaanxi Huazhen Sancan Industry and Trading Co., Ltd 40,183,099.26 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
PRAEERE-ETIEBRETAA TR REHFT
Angang Group International Trade Corporation 36,475,309.80 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
B EEBEREEE S AR TR REHFT
Chengdu Baosteel West Trading Co., Ltd 31,529,545.86 Within 1 year  To settle per contract

Xi'an Business Department

PESE A E 5 AR A R ALK TFEURRA REHRRK
Xi'an Hualong Machine Tool Equipment Co., Ltd. 27,333,670.09 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
ARERBRRIEAR DA TFERRA RELHRK
Shijiazhuang Iron & Steel Co., Ltd 26,149,320.32 Within 1 year  To settle per contract
AREMBEREERA] TFERRA RELHRRK

161,670,945.33

e/



nts (Continued)
" 1, within the aforesaid balance of prep
“due from shareholders that held 5% or mc
) hares (31 December 2010: Nil). The

vith other related parties are set out in

(e

eign currencies are as follows:

30 June 2011 31D ber 2010
2011%6H30H 2010128318

Original Exchange RMB QOriginal Exchange RMB
currency rate equivalent currency rate equivalent
R E= i=PN- R [ = fraARE

Prepayments BRER
-EUR —B 13,668,686.40 9.0966 124,338,533.38 4,369,394.15 9.2566  40,445,806.83
-USD -X7 15,532,273.96 6.4754 100,577,193.14 6,913,337.62 6.5485  45,271,978.66
-JPY -Ar 1,420,000.00 0.0811 (el 59,850,000.00 0.0775 4,639,631.85

255,030,889.94 90,357,417.34




Opening
balance

CEEIIE

1E LA

Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive

| Report 20

Increase Decrease Reason for
during during Closing being not yet Whether
the period the period balance collected impaired

A5 52 o AR D HARE ABEHRE REBLERE

1,489,218.53 1,489,218.53 Declared Not paid

Transportation Co., Ltd BESREHK
REBESENRERDE
Over 1 year
T E
Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd | =020 00010 3,040,000.00 Declared Not paid
RABEFROABRAF BEEEREHK
3,040,000.00 1,489,218.53 4,529,218.53
2010 20104
Increase Decrease Reason for
Opening during during Closing being not yet Whether
balance the year the year balance collected impaired
FNE REHEM RERD FERE AERHRE ZEBERE
Over 1 year
T E
Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Declared Not paid No
Co., Ltd

BREEEF AR D B IR A R 3,040,000.00

- - 3,040,000.00 BEEREMR E

[m}




lysis of other receivables is presented as follov

30 June 2011
2011%6H30H

363,850,786.64
38,869,003.35

2,530,397.38

Over 3 year NN - T 74,859,090.97

480,109,278.34
Less: Provision for bad debts in

B E R TR AR

respect of other receivables 74,054,813.55

406,054,464.79

Changes in provision for bad debts in respect of other receivables

are as follows:

293,595,506.80

72,391,949.46

221,203,557.34

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

Opening balance for the period FAER 72,391,949.46
Charge during the period/year NEFEHR 4,040,211.55
Decrease during the period/year: NEER D
Reversal @] 2,377,347.46
Write-off st =
Closing balance for the period/year Hy S EE R B 74,054,813.55

HA R URARE RO ST

31 December 2010
2010%12A31H

91,559,504.78
17,070,507.91

36,238,063.23

72,391.949.46




30 June 2011
2011%6A30A
Provision for

Ratio (%) bad debts

EAl (%) RRER

Indhidualysgnfint. BEABEATE
iterns for which SHRERES

provision for bad debt is

recognized separately
Items for which provision 4 A sHREHR &R
for bad debt is

recognized by group 469,909,278.34 63,854,813.55
Not individually significant EBESEHFEK(R

items for which EEHREREE

provision for bad debt is

recognized separately 10,200,000.00 : 10,200,000.00

480,109,278.34 74,054,813.55

As at 30 June 2011, there was no other individually significant
receivables for which bad debt provision is recognized separately
(31 December 2010: Nil).

Ratio (%)
SRl
(%)

W)

282,766,717.98 96.31  61,563,160.64 2177

10,828,788.82 369 1082878882 100.00

293,595,506.80 100.00  72,391,949.46 24.66

MN2011%E6H308 EEESES
K P B8 I8 51 B2 42 BR X 45 1 E b JiE R 5Kk
(2010%12A318 : &) -




les (Continued)

whi h provision for bad debt is recognized by g

30 June 2011
2011%6A30H
Gross carrying  Proportion Provision for
amount (%) bad debt  Ratio (%)
sl :
€8 Hh (%) BEER (%) i

Within 1 year 1ELA 363,850,786.64 7143 4,108,797.02 (HER 170,677,023.34 6036 3,029,60351 1.78
1102 years 1826 38,869,003.35 8.27 5,830,350.50 47,882,991.89 16.93 7,182,448.78 15.00
210 3 years 253% 2,530,397.38 0.54 759,119.21 2,115,468 37 0.75 634,640.51 30.00
3104 years 3F4E 13,395,041.45 2.85 6,697,520.73 21,318,004.66 754 2,863,056.85 50.00

4105 years 4E5E 24,025,117.13 511 19,220,093.70 3,578,821.06 1.2 2,863,056.85 80.00
QOver 5 years SENE 27,238,932.39 580  27,23893239 37,194,408.66 1315 37,194,408.66 100.00

469,909,278.34 100.00  63,854,813.55 282,766,717.93 100.00  61,563,160.64 2177

For the period from January to June 2011, there was no other 201140 1-6 A & TR AZ 85 89 H h fE UL
receivables actually written off (2010: Nil). R(20104F « 4&) -

As at 30 June 2011, within the aforesaid balance of other MR2011F6A30H H M+ - &
receivables, there was no amount due from shareholders that FRERRAS% (5% ) A ERRE
held 5% or more of the Company’s voting shares (31 December B fn BB R BB A A R FR (2010412 A
2010: Nil). The balance of other receivables from related parties are 31H : M) - NEBEHEEE R EM

presented in Note VI1.6. FEMGREARE RIS 2 6 ¢
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial Fi~ & 0F b % 38 F IH H i &

statements (Continued) (%)
7. Other receivables (Continued) 7. HiEWR(E)
As at 30 June 2011, the top 5 other receivables are presented as MR2011F6H30H @ HthEKRREHE

follows:

AMAZWOT :

Percentage of

total other

Gross carrying receivables

amount Age (%)

1k LAty FE WK

#BEE Y L B

SR BRER AR R (%)

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 26,675,145.30 Within one year 5.56

Commission of Zhuzhou

KNTMEEEEEEEREZE S —FR

Siciété International des Moteurs Baudouin 25,510,340.93 Within one year 5.31

export tax rebate receivables

Bt & EUE O R B R —FR

Export value-added tax rebate receivables 22,647,899.00 Within one year 472
NG B U O AR IEE T —F R

Zhuzhou Automobile Gear Factory 11,891,537.26 Within one year 2.48
RN 9 B2 5 ¥ R —FR

Shanghai Tongyue Vehicle Leasing Co., Ltd. 10,200,000.00 Two to three years 2.12
EERBMABEHEBRAF ZE=HF

96,924,022.49 20.19

As at 31 December 2010, the top 5 other receivables were as MR2010F12A318 - HthERZ S

follows: FAIARMT

Percentage of

total other

Gross carrying receivables

amount Age (%)

1 H 2 8 WX

HMER LB

IREEREE BRiR (%)

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration 31,279,304.57 Within one year 10.65

Commission of Zhuzhou

WHNTREEEEEEREZES —F R

Shaanxi Wuhai New Power Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. 28,393,365.77 Within one year 9.67
PRASEHERERTEARDF —FR

Shaanxi Automobile export tax rebate receivables 25,020,868.49 Within one year 8.52
PRE TR AR —FR

Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fitting Co., Ltd. 13,596,223.84 Within one year 4.63
RMBRAERHBERRA A —FR

Zhuzhou Automobile Gear Factory 11,665,132.92 Within one year 3.97
RN 7 B2 5 8 R —FR

109,954,895.59 37.44




vables (Continued)

eivables denominated in foreign currencies are prese

Other receivables e
-UsD -%7
-EUR —-B
~HKD B

Inventories

Goods in transit ERWE

Raw materials AR

Finished goods Efm

OEM materials ZRMIHA

Self made semi-finished B 55 &

goods and work EER
in progress

Turmover materials A&

Original
currency

R

4,691,015.08
2,740,085.29

Gross carrying

amount

REGE

30,712,280.74
1,337,344,391.25
6,350,911,877.34
21,261,545.29

1,279,356,020.10
51,533,319.21

9,071,119,433.93

30 June 2011
2011%6A30A
Exchange

rate

30 June 2011
201146 A30A

Provision

HEER

66,503,757.93
261,119,391.90
11,562,673.40

19,684,238.02
428,364.29

359,298,425.54

RMB
equivalent

REARY

30,358,373.19
25,650,486.42

56,008,859.61

Carrying
amount

REEE

30,712,280.74
1,270,840,633.32
6,089,792,485.44
9,698,871.89

1,259,671,782.08
51,104,954.92

8,711,821,008.39

curre

R

2,063,100.00 6.6227 13,663,292.37
4,847,232.78 8.8065 42,687,155.48
85,896,913.39 0.8509 73,089,683.60
129,440,131.45
8. FE&

31 December 2010

2010F12A31H
Gross carrying Carrying
amount Provision amount
REBE LEEE REEE
41,691,744.60 41,691,744.60
931,221,795.39 75,219,247.18 856,002,548.21
7.220,730,576.48  273,700,681.38  6,947,029,895.10
38,468,405.23 659,485.63 37,808,919.60
896,865,900.06 20,491,841.03  876,374,059.03
34,734,741.86 294.681.19 34,440,060.67
9,163,713,163.62  370,365,936.41  8,793,347,227.21




Opening
balance

BN

Charge
during
the period
REFHR

Decrease during the period

Reversal

B

Write-off

Closing
balance

HMARH

Raw materials R 75,219,247.18 1,531,081.48 9,896,632.75 349,937.98 66,503,757.93
Finished goods EXS 273,700,681.38 31,053,771.76 4,578,970.84 39,056,090.40  261,119,391.90
OEM materials ZEMIM 659,485.63  10,986,111.95 82,924.18 11,562,673.40
Self made semi-finished B &L pX g
goods and work FEEm
in progress 20,491,841.03 942,290.18 1,749,893.19 19,684,238.02
Tumnover materials  EE £ 294,681.19 133,683.10 - 428,364.29
370,365,936.41 44,646,938.47 16,308,420.96 39,406,028.38  359,298,425.54
2010 20104
Decrease during the year
RERD
Opening Charge Closing
balance  during the year Reversal Write-off balance
FOH REFHE [ B FRH
Raw materials [RHF 134,111,830.68 8,047,554.58 823,555.43 66,116,582.65 75,219,247.18
Finished goods EXm 177,274,809.60  207,483,618.28 - 111,057,746.50  273,700,681.38
OEM materials ZEmImE 699,134.85 43,274.96 82,924.18 - 659,485.63
Self made semi-finished B &L 5K &
goods and work EEm
in progress 13,437,397.19 7,561,466.76 507,022.92 - 20,491,841.03
Turnover materials ~ E&EH K 843,390.21 - 548,709.02 - 294,681.19
326,366,562.53  223,135,914.58 1,962,211.55  177,174,329.15  370,365,936.41

Provision for decline in value of inventories is determined based on

the excess of cost over realizable value and shall be reversed within

the impaired cost when the factors that give rise to the provision in

prior years are not in effect in current year.

AEBRBRASRAI BB FENE
BRI ERE R - WE ARTRRZ
FEBENFERIERE £RC
ARNFEREEENSEAEM -



ontinued)

ersed as a proportion to the closing bale

he end of year, by categories, are as follows:

January to
June 2011(%)
20115 1-6 A (%)

aw ma = 0.74
Finished goods ERG 0.07
OEM materials ZEEMI MR 0.39 0.22

Self made semi-finished goods and BRER B EREESR
work in progress 0.14 0.06
Turnover materials EE M R - 1.58
9. Other current assets 9. HitRBEE
30 June 2011 31 December 2010
2011%6H30H 201012 H31H
Prepaid expenses HEER 8,586,513.03 4,505,306.72
Deductible value-added tax AT E 461,768,626.27 357,352,215.23
Principal amount of trusted fund REEIH A (5)
management (Note) 27,677,250.00 27,677,250.00
Less: Provision for impairment of S B EIR B RUE
trusted fund management (27,677,250.00) (27,677,250.00)
470,355,139.30 361,857,521.95
Descriptions of other current assets: HitnmB) EEHA -
Note: Trusted fund management =2 RREY
Xinjiang Machinery Equipment Import & Export Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of REBZ FRANBEMEEELOD
the Group, has entrusted Jinxin Trust Investment Co., Ltd. to manage on BRARZASHTEARERN AR
trust fund in the amount of RMB27,677,250.00. As Jinxin Trust came NEl([eFHERLDEXTETAE A
under operating difficulty in 2004, the board of directors of the company R#27,677,250.007T * B 2004%F
made a total of 100% provision for impairment of the investment in 2004 HEABALERE  RRERE
and 2005. As at the date of this report, Jinxin Trust Investment Co., Ltd. TR 20044 « 2005F H 2% & &5 &
was still in the process of change and consolidation. RT100% K REER - BIEARE

B @HERRERONDBRATHE
BIEBEZR -
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
10. Available-for-sale financial assets
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PO 5 S 3 M 5 ()
2011466 A30H (A R#%T)

T~ ﬁgﬁ;ﬁjﬁﬁﬁigﬁ H & &
10, TREESSHEE

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
2011%6A30A 2010%12/31H
Fair value Fair value
Cost change Total
(2% KA NAEEED Rt
Beigi Foton Motor  Jt/AREITER
Co., Ltd (Note) (OGN 194,000,000.00 153,200,000.00 347,200,000.00 194,000,000.00 291,600,000.00  485,600,000.00
Winner Medical Group  BREEEE
Inc. (Note) BRAR(F) 3,264,000.00 (305,742.53) 2,958,257.47 3,264,000.00 347,778 85 3,611,778.85
Total =D 197,264,000.00 152,894,257.47 350,158,257.47 197,264,000.00 291,947,778.85  489,211,778.85
Note: As at 30 June 2011, included in the aforesaid equity instruments are shares 7 MR2011F6H30H @ LiigEmT A
in WINNER MEDICAL GROUP (robust investment) acquired by Torch Import FARRARZFARANEEEAAR
& Export Co., Ltd, a subsidiary of the Company, in 2005 totalling 198,314 & 1T A 7 74 2005 4 B A ) WINNER
shares, which were consolidated on 6 October 2009 into 99,157 shares. MEDICAL GROUP (B2 & ) K =
The market price of the stock was USD4.61 per share or in aggregate 198,314/% + 200910 A6 HITE A
RMB2,958,257.47 as at 30 June 2011; as at 30 June 2011, the Company 99,157 0% - W2011E6 A30H * #%
held 40 million shares in Beiqgi Foton Motor Co., Ltd, which closed at miﬂxﬂﬂ“ﬁ 61T MIAARKE

RMB8.68 per share on 30 June 2011. As at the end of the period, fair
value of RMB347,200,000.00 was recognized.

As at 30 June 2011, available-for-sale financial assets had no
indication of impairment.

11. Long-term receivables

30June 2011
2011%6A30H
Provision for
impairment

Gross
carrying

amount loss

RESE RERER

Consideration for equity Bt %57 Note

transfer FEal 28,447,167.43 -

Note: Long-term receivables represent the consideration for the transfer of part
of the equity in Dalian Hongyuan Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
transferred by MAT, a subsidiary of the Company.

The aging analysis of long-term receivables are as follows:

2,958 257.47 7T ¢ 201146 A 30

C ARBRHFHEILAERRERS
R AT E4,0008 8% - 242011
A30B®UksE(E8. 68T, % » R
HER AR EEAR347,200,000.00

H\ﬁo‘wﬂl
%%T:mf

MN20115E6A300  AIftHESRE
ERERBRETR -

11. REERRR

31 December 2010
2010 12H31H

Gross Provision for
Carrying carrying impairment Carrying
amount amount loss amount
RHEE RE R HEER FEEE
Ry EaEE ) 29,090,809.00 - 29,090,809.00

7 REBERZKAERARZFARMATE
BAEBBREMEIEGRAFNS R

RHIRUGKHBRE DTN T

31 December 2010
201012 A831H

30 June 2011
201146 HB30H

1224
2E34F

1 to 2 years
2 to 3 years

= 29,090,809.00
28,447,167.43 —

28,447,167.43 29,090,809.00




138  Weichai Power Co., Ltd. 5B HIRBER D T

o 75 i o B E (A

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 A30H (A R¥ L)
V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial T~ & 0F % 3% 2 2IH H i1 &2
statements (Continued) (78)

12. HBELERE
MN20115E68308 @ REBSHHBE D
ERENFABRO TR

12. Investments in associates
On 30 June 2011, the Group’s investments in associates are
presented as follows:

Legal
Registered address representative  Business Registered capital
s EAREK 5% HMEX
Associates
BeEbx
(1) Weichai Westport Inc. Weifang, Shandong Ma Yuxian Research, development, production and USD1,854,400.00
LB N TS (4) sale of gas engine and its components
M REBRARDA WRA BT BEk RBEPRRHETRAHR %7T1,854,400.00
HE - EEREE
(2)  Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd. ~ Xi'an, Shaanxi Liang Zheng Chassis, passenger vehicles 114,953,718.00
RABRSEIERNERAE REEALD 2H RERE FE 114,953,718.00
(3)  Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive Xi'an, Shaanxi Hao Xiaogian Distribution, warehousing and 10,000,000.00
Transportation Co., Ltd. transportation of goods
REBESEDRERAT KEAEELS 32 SYkx - B E% 10,000,000.00
(4)  Xian Cummics Engine Co., Ltd. ~ Xi'an, Shaanxi Fang Hongwei Engine and its components UsD2,400,000.00
ARRANEDRERAE RAEZEAEZD T BBHRRATHH %712,400,000.00
(5)  CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Xi'an, Shaanxi Li Yinhui Special vehicles, trailers 50,000,000.00
Vehicles Co., Ltd.
hERAER(BER)ERAE  RAEARSD FlaE ZRE - HE 50,000,000.00
AR AT
(6)  Shaanxi Longmen Shanqi Hancheng, Shaanxi Lei Xiaoxia Sale, repair and after-sale service for 30,000,000.00
Logistics Park Co., Ltd. vehicles
PREEFIBT IR E REAERT £ REHE RIS RERRE 30,000,000.00
BRARA
(7)  Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Shanghai Nie Xinyong Industrial investment and investment 150,000,000.00
Investment Co., Ltd. management
FEEBAEREBRAR  LET B BERE REEE 150,000,000.00
(8)  Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Laizhou, Shandong YU Jianguo Vehicle brakes and other automotive 37,930,000.00
Fitting Co., Ltd. components
FMBRAERMERAA  IWRERMT Ti2H RENEBRRETAERNSE 37,930,000.00
(9)  Dalian Hongyuan Machinery Pulandian, Liaoning Yu Jianguo Hardware tools and automotive UsD132,800,000.00
Manufacturing Co., Ltd. components
NERFEMEEERRT EERLHED T T TAMAESRK %71.132,800,000.00
(10)  Shanzhong Finance Leasing Beijing Dong Ping Finance lease 920,000,000.00
Co., Ltd.
LEREAERRAT Syl BT BEMELH 920,000,000.00
(11)  Shaanxi Fuping Shangi Logistics ~ Fuping County, Shaanxi ~ Yao Qiang Sale of motor vehicles and components 20,000,000.00
Park Co., Ltd.
REETBTDREBRLAR REEETH% kg RENTRAHE 20,000,000.00
(12)  Shaanxi-Wuhai New Power Wuhai, Inner Mongolia ~ Yuan Hongming  Production and sale of natural gas heavy 228,000,000
Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. trucks and special vehicles
RS EHEREME AR EET REH AARERREMENEERHE 228,000,000

BRAF
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial .~ & 0f B % it 3% £ HIH H 1 &

statements (Continued) (%)
12. Investments in associates (Continued) 12. HEBELERE(E)
Revenue Net profit
Closing balance Closing balance Total net assets Amount for Amount
of total assets  of total liabilities Closing balance the period for the period
EEAR AEEE REELT ELON R
HAY BAY HAY rEY rHY
Associates
BElE
(1 Weichai Westport Inc. 163,057,318.90 75,814,491.40 87,242,827.50 310,029,398.70 15,276,422.50
WS B T (35 Bar R Bk
BRAH
v Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd. 662,914,469.10 496,007,118.25 157,994,837.85 96,807,858.71 (14,965,369.14)
REEFHAZRHERAF
3) Shaanxi Tonghui Automotive Transportation Co,, Ltd. 63,243,453.81 33,698,206.32 29,545,247.49 73,125,807.83 2,599,104.37
REAESENTERAR
@) Xian Cummics Engine Co., Ltd. 417,921,952.04 319,937,464.85 97,984,487.19 190,673,412.78 (9,708,791.38)
ARRANEBHRERAT
(5 CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. 398,551,323.87 331,839,592.49 66,711,731.38 517,158,528.32 14,244172.13
RERAER(ER)ERBERAT
(6) Shaanxi Longmen Shanai Logistics Park Co., Ltd. 29,841,024.71 1,520.00 29,839,504.71 - 4901.14
REEFRADTEERA R
) Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Investment Co., Ltd. ~ 1,265,440,264.12 509,151,979.53 756,288,284.59 - 80,708,209.76
TEEBAERARRAT
6 Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fitting Co., Ltd. 76,279,150.76 70,515,221.52 5,763,929.24 35,852,968.59 564,643.88
FMERABEGERATF
9 Dalian Hongyuan Machinery Manufacturing Co,, Ltd. ~ 123,515,586.30 44,960,735.27 78,554,851.03 73,121,177.41 202,978.57
NEEREMEETRAT
(100 Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. 2,841,159,413.11 1,883,850,713.35 957,308,699.76 75,259,488.67 17,112,732.03
WEBERERRAF
(1) Shaanxi Fuping Shangi Logistics Park Co., Ltd. 13,602,797.97 6,179,431.22 7,423,366.75 5,581,880.30 (976,633.25)
REETRANERERAH
(12)  Shaanxi-Wuhai New Power Special Vehicles Co., Ltd.  156,756,036.28 33,443,860.57 123,312,175.71 309,687.61 (5,387,824.29)
RASBMERERAEERAT
13. Long-term equity investments 13. REIBRERE

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 H30H 20104 12H31H

Equity method WA 848,287,394.98 920,976,645.28
Cost method A E 193,173,674.53 268,773,674.53

1,041,461,069.51 1,189,750,319.81
Less: Provision for impairment of long- & @ REIARHEIR &R EEE
term equity investments 122,232,129.56 122,232,129.56

919,228,939.95 1,067,518,190.25
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

|

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
13. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

30 June 2011 2011¥6A30H
Increase/
decrease Percentage Percentage Provision Cash
Investment Opening during Closing  of ownership ofvoting  Provision for madein  dividend for
cost balance the period balance equity power impairment  current period the period
AR
REAAEH EEE KB (H) 3 RiLH RAELH HEEE REEE  AHRLA
Equity method Bt
Weichal Westportnc. AEDNER (AR
EIRERAA BB 496439913 5519463 4755659376
SO I G OGN 4661813742 5148881844 (410343649) 4738538195
Shaanyi Tonghui REREAENRARAR
Automotive
Transportation Co, Ltd. 8,800,000.00 8,267,675.78 4,345,013.90 12,612,689.68
Xian Cummics Engine Co, Ltd. ~ BXEHHZDEERA AT83671600 2369815641 (25000758  21,19808057
CIMC-SHAC (Xian) Special HERAER(BER)ERE
Vehicles Co,, Ltd. BRAH 12,500,000.00 12979,017.83 343971153 16,418,729.36
Shaanii Longmen Shangi Logisics BR S BISMREARAR
Park Co, Ltd. 9,000,00000 9,000,000.00 9,000,000.00
Shanghai Xinian Chuangye ~ HIEEBEIZRERRAT
Investment Co, Ltd. 4585368325 33716883046 (8421649065  252,952,33981 -
Thuzhou Auto Trading Market ~ #NRER 5% 284,499.56 284,499.56 - 284,499.56 284,499.56
Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fitting /&8 SRABAT
(o, Ltd. 8,624,443.00 1,300,647.29 89,906.21 1,390,553.50
Dalian Hongyuen Machinery — KEEBBHIEARAT)
Manufacturing Co, Ltd. 3594346246 32437675.22 (516,855.89)  31,920819.33
Shanzhong Fnence Leasing Co,  IWERERERRAT
Ltd 360,000,00000 36782692516 6,69,21204 37452313720
Shaani Fuping ShangiLogists - BB E TR SRR ARAT
Park Co, Ltd. 3,360,000.00 3,360,000.00 3,360,000.00
Shaanxi-Wuhai New Power Special B}5 2 85t BERE
Vehicles Co,, Ltd. BRAH 31,200,000.00 31,200,000 (151542074 29,684,570.26
Equity method total Eiad 64311401478 920,976,645.28  (72,689,250.30)  848,287,394.98 284,499.56
Cost method .53
Foton Lovol Intemational Heay ~ BRERERETRAHABRAT
Industry Co, Ltd 75,600,00000  (75,600,000.00)
Foton Heavy-duty Machinery  ERELEHENARAT
Co., Ltd. 3863087688 38,630876.88 38,630,876.88 6.14
Huarong Xiangjang Bank ERAIAN
Corporation Limited 20,000,00000 20,000,000.00 20,000,000.00 6.05
China National Machineryand B &R A EEERHARAT
Equipment Hainan Corp., Ltd 879,605.00 879,605.00 879,605.00 0.66 879,605.00
Thuzhou Gear Share Co, Lt # BB R ERA 1,680,000.00 1,680,000.00 1,680,000.00 245 -
Fasten Life Insurance Co, Ltd —~ RAABRBERAT 60,000,000.00  60,000,000.00 60,000,000.00 150 60,000,000.00
New Century Finance Leasing— FTtE £ £ BRERRAT
(o, ltd 61,068,025.00  61,068,025.00 £1,068,025.00 61,068,025.00
Shanghai Tongyue Vehice Leasing -/ SERERRAT
(o, ltd 10,000,000.00 9,351,21842 9,351,21842
YangzhouSukenYinheAuto — BMEEEA FEETARAR
Connecting Rod Co,, Ltd. 1.563,949.23 1,563,949.3 - 1,563,949.23
Cost method total AAE&T 1938224511 26877367453 (75600,000.00)  193,173,674.53 121,947,630.00
Total At 836,936,470.89  1,189,750319.81  (148,289,25030) 1,041,461,069.51 122,232,129.56




ghui Automoive RERERENRERAT
Transportation Co., Ltd.

Investment
cost

510,325.00
90230

Opening
balance

24

decrees
during
the year

KER(R)

Closing o
balance

ER%

Perce

0\

equity

%5131622

2,316,359.56

4196439913

44

Xian Cummics Engine Co,, Lt ERRAAEHRERLT 8677600 298395309 (6,14137653) 2369815641
CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehides Co, R ERTER(BR)ERE

Ltd. BRAT 1250000000 906236355 391665428  12,979,017.83
Shaanki Longmen Shangi Logstcs Park ~ BREEEFSR TR EARAT

(o, L1d. 9,000,000.00 - 900000000  9,0000000
Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Investment ~ HE&BE 2R AR AT

(o, Ltd. 4946083254 4450057065  292,668,259.82  337,168,83047
Thuzhou Auto Trading Market MER S 29000000 28449956 - 28449956
Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fittng Co, M EBRARAT

Ltd. 272469521 181652745 (515880.17)  1,300,647.28
Dalian Hongyuan Machinery REERERLEARAT

Manufacturing Co,, Ltd. 2994101995 2995204869 248562653 3243767522
Shanzhong Fnance Leasing Co, L.~ LWEREMEARAT 360,000,000.00 - JT869506 36782690516
Shaanii Fuping Shangi Logistcs Park Co, KB ETFHITNREAAR A

td. 3,360,000.00 - 336000000 336000000
Shaansi-Wuhai New Power Special Vehices Bt 55514 BSRIE

(o, Ltd. BRLE 31,200,000.00 - 3120000000  31,200,00000
Equity method total ERiad 63111055106 196,118,84165 72485780363  920976,645.28
Cost method .53
Foton LovolIntemational Heawy Industy BB EREEETRIHARAT

(o, ltd 20,000,00000  20,000,00000 5560000000  75,600,000.00
Foton Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. EREVEHRHERAT 3863087688 38,630,876.88 - 3863087688
Huarong Xiangjiang Bank Coporation ~~ EBBIHT

Limited 20,000,000.00 20,000,000.00 - 20,000,000.00
China National Machinery and Equipment B HRE EBRABRAT

Hainan Corp, Ltd 879,605.00 879,605.00 - 879,605.00
Thuzhou Gear Share Co, Lid fHEERHERAT 168000000 1,680,000.00 - 168000000
Eastern Life Insurance Co, Ltd RHASRRARLR 60,000,00000  60,000,000.00 - 60,000000.00
New Century Fnance Leasing Co, Lt Hit 24 BHERRAT 61,068,02500  61,063,025.00 - 61,068,05.00
Shanghai Tongyue Vehicle Leasing Co, Ltd HERE5ERERRAT 1000000000 935121842 - 935121842
Yangzhou Suken Yinhe Auto

Connecting Rod Co., Ltd. FNEERTEERARAT 156394923 15639493 - 15639093
Cost method total ES-Chl 2384611 21317367453 5560000000 26877367453
Total At 844.933,007.17  409,292516.18  780457,803.63 1,189,750,319.81
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i - & ff I % it 3% 1 B IH H 51

statements (Continued) (#)

14. Investment property 14. REMEME
Under the cost model: HAKARNETREZ -
January to June 2011 201151-6 B

Opening Increase during  Decrease during
balance the period the period  Closing balance
HAH A HI EHED ARY
Gross carrying amount  R{E
Houses and buildings BENEEY 168,860,133.83 104,872,099.27 273,732,233.10
Land use right T HbF A 7,606,588.83 = 7,606,588.83
176,466,722.66 104,872,099.27 281,338,821.93
Less: Accumulated W REHITEM
depreciation and ESE 1
amortization
Houses and buildings B EKEEY 19,048,489.31 12,822,434.39 31,870,923.70
Land use rights TR 631,641.16 78,143.04 709,784.20
19,680,130.47 12,900,577.43 32,580,707.90
Net carrying amount IREFE
Houses and buildings EENEZEY 149,811,644.52 241,861,309.40
Land use rights + i A 6,974,947.67 6,896,804.63

Provision for impairment & : HEE%

156,786,592.19

248,758,114.03

Houses and buildings BEEKEEY
Land use rights T A
Carrying amount REEE
Houses and buildings EENMEZEY 149,811,644.52 241,861,309.40
Land use rights + i {F A 6,974,947.67 6,896,804.63

156,786,592.19

248,758,114.03
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
14. Investment property (Continued)

Under the cost model: (Continued)

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &

o 55 i R M 5 (48
201146 A308 (A B#¥T)

o~ OF B R 2 BEOH H kR

(%)

14. REMEME (&)
RARAEXRTRETE : (8)

2010 20105
Increase during Decrease during
Opening balance the year the year Closing balance
EE AR RERD FRE
Gross carrying amount RE
Houses and buildings EEREEY 91,454,709.12 77,405,424.71 - 168,860,133.83
Land use rights - Hb {5 AR A 7,606,588.83 - - 7,606,588.83
99,061,297.95 77,405,424.71 — 176,466,722.66
Less: Accumulated o BEHITE
depreciation and EE £
amortization
Houses and buildings EEREEY 7,787,104.46 11,261,384.85 - 19,048,489.31
Land use rights + {5 R4 475,355.08 156,286.08 = 631,641.16
8,262,459.54 11,417,670.93 - 19,680,130.47
Net carrying amount REEE
Houses and buildings EEREEY 83,667,604.66 149,811,644.52
Land use rights + s R4 7,131,233.75 6,974,947.67
90,798,838.41 156,786,592.19
Less: Provision for impairment & : E{EEHE
Houses and buildings BREREEY - - - -
Land use rights + s R4 - - - _
Carrying amount REEE
Houses and buildings B E KEEY 83,667,604.66 149,811,644.52
Land use rights + {0 A A 7,131,233.75 6,974,947.67
90,798,838.41

During the period from January to June 2011, the amount of
depreciation or amortization was RMB5,074,814.72 (2010:
RMB11,417,670.93), among which accumulated depreciation
transferred to investment property from fixed assets amounted to
RMB7,825,762.71.

156,786,592.19

2001 1-6 AETIRMITENE IS &
B ANER#S5,074,814.7278 (20104 ¢
ANR#11,417,670937T) - HRE T
BESAREERMENZTITES
A ANRET,825,762.717C °
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i - & ff I % it 3% 1 B IH H 5L
statements (Continued) (#)
15. Fixed assets 15. B EEE
January to June 2011 20114 1-6 A

Opening Increase during Decrease during
balance the period the period Closing balance
BAH AHE 0 rHEL BRY
Gross carrying amount
Houses and buildings 3,406,857,603.19 390,155,302.37 114,762,229.83  3,682,250,675.73
Machinery and equipment 7,262,794,564.59 539,321,927.34 125,925,664.18 7,676,190,827.75
Electronic equipment 329,450,532.31 23,831,365.22 19,741,549.26 333,540,348.27
Vehicles 279,221,264.12 27,184,219.88 10,729,600.31 295,675,883.69
Other equipment 849,213,907.60 81,266,667.47 9,783,079.90 920,697,495.17
12,127,537,871.81  1,061,759,482.28 280,942,123.48  12,908,355,230.61
Increase during the period
REEm
Addition during Charge during
the period the period
REHR AL
Less: Accumulated W RHE
depreciation
Houses and buildings FEREY 451,525,744.21 66,020,389.40 2,815,902.98 11,341,553.55 509,020,483.04
Machinery and equipment HER 2,970,136,166.63 414,718,641.88 357,216.26 713,865,875.79 3,311,346,148.98
Electronic equipment R 208,425,525.40 22,067,376.41 12,023,598.76 218,469,303.05
Vehicles EHTE 165,004,059.91 21,062,351.96 53,788.43 7,524,910.01 178,595,290.29
Other equipment Hink 459,030,496.32 71,576,648.14 - 4,702,538.50 531,904,605.96
4,254,121,992.47 601,445,407.79 3,226,907.67 109,458,476.61 4,749,335,831.32
Carrying amount REFE
Houses and buildings FEREY 2,955,331,858.98 3,173,230,192.69
Machinery and equipment  #223% 4,292,658,397.96 4,364,844,678.77
Electronic equipment R 121,025,006.91 115,071,045.22
Vehicles BHIA 114,217,204.21 117,080,593.40
Other equipment Hi ki 390,183,411.28 388,792,889.21

1,873,415,879.34

8,159,019,399.29




Opening Increase during  Decrease during
balance the period the period  Closing balance

LEIE 548 AHED HRE

s and buildings 25 3,178,720.81 640,351.77 2,538,369.04
Machinery and equipment e 2S ) 28,032,511.52 207,888.34 27,824,623.18
Electronic equipment e = = =

Vehicles EHTA 989,030.26 - 989,030.26
Other equipment Hihik 383,460.37 - 383,460.37

32,583,722.96 848,240.11 31,735,482.85

Carrying amount REEE

Houses and buildings RREZEY 2,952,153,138.17 3,170,691,823.65
Machinery and equipment BER 4,264,625,886.44 4,337,020,055.59
Electronic equipment R 121,025,006.91 115,071,045.22
Vehicles FHIA 113,228,173.95 116,091,563.14
Other equipment HiR 389,799,950.91 388,409,428.84

7,840,832,156.38 8,127,283,916.44
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 A30H (A R¥ L)
V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial 7~ & 0F B % it 3% £ B IEH H 51 B
statements (Continued) (%)
15. Fixed assets (Continued) 15. EEEE (&)
2010 20105
Increase during Decrease during
Opening balance the year the year Closing balance
EME AELN ARER D FRE
Gross carrying amount RE
Houses and buildings FEREEY 2,781,677,101.23 637,975,900.69 12,795,398.73  3,406,857,603.19
Machinery and equipment RN e 6,228,180,605.66  1,196,185,617.56 161,571,658.62  7,262,794,564.60
Electronic equipment ETHE 252,884,011.43 81,032,642.31 4,466,121.43 329,450,532.31
Vehicles EipTA 257,368,613.22 40,211,569.97 18,358,919.07 279,221,264.12
Other equipment H A% 764,182,639.43 99,118,118.91 14,086,850.75 849,213,907.59
10,284,292,970.97  2,054,523,849.44 211,278,948.60 12,127,537,871.81
Less: Accumulated W REHE
depreciation
Houses and buildings FEREEY 330,859,662.61 122,369,129.64 1,703,048.04 451,525,744.21
Machinery and equipment W RE 2,223,764,441.28 825,020,020.26 78,648,294.91  2,970,136,166.63
Electronic equipment ETHE 160,585,064.36 51,331,929.19 3,491,468.15 208,425,525.40
Vehicles EHTA 142,134,665.40 35,438,381.40 12,568,986.89 165,004,059.91
Other equipment HioR1E 353,012,612.25  118,544,774.29 12,526,89022  459,030,496.32
3,210,356,445.90  1,152,704,234.78 108,938,688.21  4,254,121,992.47
Net carrying amount REFE
Houses and buildings FEEREN 2,450,817,438.62 2,955,331,858.98
Machinery and equipment RN 4,004,416,164.38 4.292,658,397.97
Electronic equipment BETHE 92,298,947.07 121,025,006.91
Vehicles BHIA 115,233,947.82 114,217,204.21
Other equipment Hink 411,170,027.18 390,183,411.27

7,873,415,879.34
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial 7~ & /f % #t 3% - 2 I H 51
statements (Continued) (%)
15. Fixed assets (Continued) 15. EEEE(E)
2010 (Continued) 20105 (&)
Increase during Decrease during
Opening balance the year the year Closing balance
FNE AREHM KERD ERY
Less: Provision for impairment W OREERE
Houses and buildings FEREEY 3,676,709.75 - 497,988.94 3,178,720.81
Machinery and equipment B 52,988,523.09 - 24,956,011.57 28,032,511.52
Electronic equipment EF%E = = = =
Vehicles EHIA 989,030.26 - - 989,030.26
Other equipment HinR e 383,460.37 - - 383,460.37
58,037,723.47 = 25,454,000.51 32,583,722.96
Carrying amount REEE
Houses and buildings FEREEY 2,447,140,728.87 2,952,153,138.17
Machinery and equipment HREE 3,951,427,641.29 4,264,625,886.45
Electronic equipment ETHE 92,298,947.07 121,025,006.91
Vehicles BHIA 114,244,917.56 113,228,173.95
Office and other equipment WAL EMRE 410,786,566.81 389,799,950.90

7,015,898,801.60 7,840,832,156.38

For the period from January to June 2011, the amount of 20001 F1-6 FEICTEENMESREA
depreciation of fixed assets was RMB601,445,407.79 (2010: A K ¥ 601,445,407.79 7T ( 2010
RMB1,152,704,234.78). For the period from January to June 2011, F A R ¥ 1,152,704,234.78
L) 201 F1-6 ARAEREIRES
ANEEEERBENESERARE
785,330,719.90 7T (20104 : AR

#1,600,034,246.807T) °

the amount of gross carrying amount of fixed assets transferred
from constructions in progress was RMB785,330,719.90 (2010:
RMB1,600,034,246.80).

#2011 F 6 A30H @ A& HIKMH
BRITEZNEEREEY
MBEREEEMEEARTARE
24,338,946.70 70 (2010 F 12 A 31
H: AR#24,937,280.707T) °

As at 30 June 2011, houses and buildings and machinery and
equipment pledged to secure for the Group’s bank loans had an AR ER
aggregate carrying amount of RMB24, 338, 946.70 (31 December
2010: RMB24, 937, 280.70).

MR2011F6 8300  AEEEE K

MEEBETEE(2010612A8318
) o

As at 30 June 2011, the Group did not have material idle fixed assets
(31 December 2010: nil).



Gross carrying
amount

fRERE

4,036,238.65
29,054,757.79
81,649.72

Electronic equipment
Machinery and equipment

Transportation equipment

As at 31 December 2010, fixed assets leased out under operating

lease were as follows:

Gross carrying

Accumulated
depreciation

RIHE

2,022,125.09
8,267,370.28
79,200.23

M2010F12A318 -

Provision for

impairment

AR

TFEEWNT :

Accumulated

Provision for

Carrying
amount

REEE

2,014,113.56
20,787,387.51
2,449.49

KEMHEEE

amount depreciation impairment  Carrying amount

RERE e HEER REEE

Houses and buildings EENMEEY 104,872,099.27 7,410,365.73 - 97,461,733.54
Electronic equipment BTRME 2,456,238.65 1,759,438.65 - 696,800.00
Machinery and equipment 25 3% 20,570,927.66 7,392,578.03 - 13,178,349.63
Transportation equipment EHRE 81,649.72 79,200.23 - 2,449.49

As at 30 June 2011, buildings for which the Group had not
obtained real estate certificates had a carrying amount of
RMB1,596,381,495.69, among which buildings for which the
Group was in the process of applying for real estate certificates had
a carrying amount of RMB1, 574, 160, 009.80.

R2011F6HA308 © AEE®E K
BEEHMERNFEEZEYER
EME A AR 1,596,381,495.69
T B AEBEEEHBREME
BFNEEREMEOEEAARKE
1,574,160,009.807T °
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 2011466 A30H (A R#%T)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i - & ff I % it 3% 1 B IH H 51 &

statements (Continued) (%)
16. Construction in progress 16. ZEIRE
January to June 2011 2011 1-6 A
Transferred to
fived assets
Opening ~ Increase during during Other Closing ~ Source
balance the period the period decrease balance  of funding
FHEA
B8 AN BEdE HibEY HRY  BERR
Expansion of production fine BEBNLEER 631,787,292.32 327,437,923.60 78,230,000.00 - 880,995215.92  internal fund
of Weichai Power B HEAE
Renovation for the casting project EEEE-EER  279,17681176  375,130,647.63 654,307,459.39  internal fund
of Weichai Power Pt HEEE
Huadong technology renovation project 48 1 EH R 12,827,62572  508,206,284.49 2,326,140.09 51870777012 internal fund
of Weichai Power Casting Factory EBRYER BEES
Renovation project for high-power diesel 4B H AR FLLIEERE el R 515940,807.72  internal fund
engines of Weichai Power BRITEER RS
Project T of Weichai Power HEXENTER 184,297,361.74  15077,541.41 33637490315 internal fund
AE&S
Renovation of production line BEBNLER 284,438,742.14 53,499,105.52 18,084,194.65 31985365301 internal fund
of Weichai Power Wik BE&S
Overhaul of technological measures ETHREXE 126,659,912.88 71,628,239.63 32,196,946.71 35048633 17174071947  internal fund
of FAST REEE
Expansion project for the Technological 5 8) 1 B iR % 5087196175 103,519,115.00 1,195,297.60 153,195779.15 internal fund
Development Centre of Weichai Power L ERIER BEEE
Logistics Park of Weichai Power BEBNNHE 94,917,740.11 19,949,034,08 114,866,774.19  internal fund
HE4E
150,000 - tonne casting project in LEFHEIEE 76,265,000.00 7626500000 internal fund
Jinding new factory area BiHER RERE
Renovation of production experiment BLHNEAZ 94,569,511.58 9,906,405.75 28,258,230.72 76,217,68661  internal fund
chamber of Weichai Power Wik BEEE
Phase Il of new base of Shaani Zhonggi~~ BREGFTEI B | (EAPiEa i U ZER AL 226,108.17 66,461,02287 internal fund
BE&S
FAST transmission technology renovation £+ EB % 56,109,870.57 9,847,580.62 4,103,751.04 61,853,709.15 internal fund
project EH HEES
Project for combining three workshops EThERES 50,899,931.90 61,469,158.00 54,062,156.88 58,306,933.02 internal fund
for FAST gear “BEEE HERS
Thuzhou gear technology renovation project M &3 H B R 34,278,450.60 20,569,310.11 33,939,132.82 20,908,627.89  internal fund
HE4E
Sparkplug technology renovation project A EERHER 17,456,471.56 2,418,255.49 101,768.74 1977295831 internal fund
AE&S
Others 2 191,979,415.82 587,614,330.27 344,004,363.96 324655924 43234282289  internal fund
AE&S
Sub-total It 241251871231 2,854,747,004.19 785,330,719.90 3823,153.74  4,478,111,842.86
Less: Provision for impairment of B ERIERE
construction in progress g 3,738,267.94 3,738,267.94
Prepaid project equipment monies BRIERER 831,148,380.13 713,136,093.43
Prepaid land premium Bt 143,064,959.98 125,838,632.00

Total aif 3,382,993,793.48 5.313,348,300.35
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial 7o~ & 0F B % it 3% £ B IH H 51 B
statements (Continued) (%)

16. EETRE(HE)

16. Construction in progress (Continued)

2010 20104
Transferred to
Increase fixed assets
Opening during during Closing  Source
balance the year theyear  Other decrease balance  of funding
AFEA
ENY AEEM BE&E HftE s EX8  EOWR
Expansion of production line BABNEESER 12235218090  539,607,122.08  30,172,010.66 - 631,787,292.32 internalfund
of Weichai Power BEE%
Renovation of production line EUHALELYE 24081913387 8483682005  41,17,211.78 - 28443874214 internal fund
of Weichai Power BEE%
Renovation for the casting project BEEHNERERN  110299,681.29  189,207,04961  20329,919.14 - 27917681176 internalfund
of Weichai Power B BEA%
Project T of Weichai Power WEE TR 3,350,21098  181,408,553.32 461,402.56 - 18429736174 internalfund
REEE
Phase Il of new base of Shaanxi Zhongqi  RETHAM_H  93,399,978.83 47475991333 327552,081.44  86,335554.61  154272,256.11 internalfund
AEES
Renovation project for high-power diesel HXBARINEL R  244,691,026.50  236,128,808.72  332,844,479.47 - 14797535575 internal fund
engines of Weichai Power ERIEER BEES
Overhaul of technological measures ~ ETHHELL 41,662,13536  155532,307.06  67,484,835.66 3,049,693.88  126,659,912.88  internal fund
of FAST BRES
Logistics Park of Weichai Power EEBNIRE - 9491774011 - - 9491774011 internal fund
AEEE
Renovation of production experiment — EXBNEHTHE  75,740,57458  36,422,985.55  17,504,048.55 - 9456951158 internal fund
chamber of Weichai Power EFE%
FAST transmission technology renovation ET#EERAER  101,034,102.69  516,696,019.25  557,007,147.47 4,613,103.90 56,109,870.57 internal fund
project BEES
Zhuzhou gear technology renovation R MES REUER 1732,259.95 5371374190  21,167,551.25 - 34278450.60 internal fund
project BEES
Sparkplug technology renovation project A EERZER 16,606,959.03 3,156,258.67 2,249,326.51 5741963 1745647156 internalfund
AEEE
Baoji FAST technology renovation works  EEZTh iz 27,457,822.31 1359221822 37,725,030.53 - 3,325,010.00  internal fund
I AEEE
Others 2 132,068,286.50  321,570,262.74  144,229,201.78 6,155,422.27  303,253,925.19 internalfund
AEEE
Sub-total gt 1,211,214,352.79  2,901,549,800.61  1,600,034,246.80  100,211,194.29  2,412,518,712.31
Less: Provision for impairment of BoERIERE
construction in progress £ 3,801,467.94 - - 63,200.00 3,738,267.94
Prepaid project equipment monies BRIERER 516,771,715.04 831,148,389.13
Prepaid land premium Bt LR - 143,064,959.98
Total Ait 1,724,184,599.89 3,382,993,793.48




Opening
balance

AR

11,547,462.79
2,222.22

11,549,685.01

Increase

during

the period
A H 3

21,073,165.26

21,073,165.26

Decrease
during

the period
HE A

14,124,356.43
2,222.22

14,126,578.65

Closing
balance

HRE

18,496,271.62

18,496,271.62

20104

Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FHE REE RERD FRE
Special equipment ZHK 558,675.50 39,151,743.49 28,162,956.20 11,547,462.79
H - 2,222.22 - 2,222.22
558,675.50 39,153,965.71 28,162,956.20 11,549,685.01
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial

HRBNROBRAF

statements (Continued)

18. Intangible assets
January to June 2011

Gross carrying amount
Technology know-how
Trademark rights
Licence
Land use rights
Software

L ¥E3)
ARE R
i
T fE R
it

Less: Accumulated amortization J5 : 25t 5

Technology know-how BE R
Trademark rights PR R
Licence Rt
Land use rights T A
Software gL

Net carrying amount REEE
Technology know-how BERM
Trademark rights IS
Licence T
Land use rights T AR
Software gL

Less: Provision for impairment

B OBEEE

Carrying amount
Technology know-how
Trademark rights
Licence
Land use rights
Software

EHEE
EH M
AR ERE
KRt
T e A
gt

Opening
balance

LR

390,826,581.45
226,145,000.00
14,604,332.00
662,130,455.98
71,750,277.98

1,365,456,647.41

321,511,323.74
15,555,996.00
12,376,963.34
67,180,771.56
30,272,557.38

446,897,612.02

69,315,257.71
210,589,004.00
2,227,368.66
594,949,684.42
41,477,720.60

918,559,035.39

69,315,257.71
210,589,004.00
2,227,368.66
594,949,684.42
41,477,720.60

918,559,035.39

PO 5 i 3 I R ()
2011466 A308 (A R#%T)

|

ibggﬁﬁﬁﬁigﬁﬁﬁﬁ

18.

Increase

during

the period
548 i

2,683,397.31

241,776,269.53
12,195,314.98

256,654,981.82

9,435,392.69

730,804.02
12,839,796.29
2,400,125.96

25,406,118.96

BREE
20114 1-6 A

Decrease
during
the period
EHED

54,862,266.30
22,239.32

54,884,505.62

5,607,435.79
2,519.46

5,609,955.25

Closing
balance

BN

393,509,978.76
226,145,000.00
14,604,332.00
849,044,459.21
83,923,353.64

1,567,227,123.61

330,946,716.43
15,555,996.00
13,107,767.36
74,413,132.06
32,670,163.88

466,693,775.73

62,563,262.33
210,589,004.00
1,496,564.64
774,631,327.15
51,253,189.76

1,100,533,347.88

62,563,262.33
210,589,004.00
1,496,564.64
774,631,327.15
51,253,189.76

1,100,533,347.88
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial

911,047,399.78

Less: Provision for impairment

o ORERERE

statements (Continued) (%)
18. Intangible assets (Continued) 18. ML EE (&)
2010 20104
Increase Decrease
Opening during during Closing
balance the year the year balance
FH AN RER D FREY
Gross carrying amount JRB
Technology know-how BB BT 391,699,380.81 1,209,964.22 2,082,763.58  390,826,581.45
Trademark rights P 226,145,000.00 - - 226,145,000.00
Licence FraT i 14,604,332.00 - = 14,604,332.00
Land use rights T3 AR 638,638,631.98 23,491,824.00 - 662,130,455.98
Software Ly 50,167,096.83 21,583,181.15 - 71,750,277.98
1,321,254,441.62 46,284,969.37 2,082,763.58  1,365,456,647.41
Less: Accumulated amortization J& : 25t 5
Technology know-how 2B BT 307,009,630.39 14,534,933.47 33,240.12  321,511,323.74
Trademark rights A2 {5 A A 15,555,996.00 - 15,555,996.00
Licence FrET i 10,915,355.30 1,461,608.04 = 12,376,963.34
Land use rights T AR 53,745,558.35 13,435,213.21 - 67,180,771.56
Software gL 22,980,501.80 7,292,055.58 - 30,272,557.38
410,207,041.84 36,723,810.30 3324012 446,897,612.02
Net carrying amount REEE
Technology know-how BERM 84,689,750.42 69,315,257.71
Trademark rights PR A 210,589,004.00 210,589,004.00
Licence R 3,688,976.70 2,227,368.66
Land use rights TP A 584,893,073.63 594,949,684.42
Software it 27,186,595.03

41,477,720.60

918,559,035.39

911,047,399.78

Carrying amount REE®E
Technology know-how BERM 84,689,750.42 69,315,257.71
Trademark rights R A 210,589,004.00 210,589,004.00
Licence RrETiE 3,688,976.70 2,227,368.66
Land use rights T AR 584,893,073.63 594,949,684.42
Software gts 27,186,595.03

41,477,720.60

918,559,035.39



Iéts (Continued)

ned by the Group had carrying amount of
010: RMB58,277,721.19).

19. Goodwill 19. B8
January to June 2011 20114 1-6 A
Increase Decrease Among which:
Opening during during Closing Provision for
balance the period the period balance impairment
Hep:
LEEIE ARE K KEED HRE HEERE
Merger with Torch BHENE
Automobile Group Co. 538,016,278.33 - 538,016,278.33
2010 20104
Increase Decrease Among which:
Opening during during Closing Provision for
balance the year the year balance impairment
He:
FME REHEI RERD FRY AR
Merger with Torch BORNE
Automobile Group Co. 538,016,278.33 - - 538,016,278.33 -
Closing balance as at 30 June 2011 represented goodwill arising 20116 A30HEARBAEE AE BN
from consolidation of Torch Automobile Group Co. Goodwill is JEEEREE - AREAMALE
tested for impairment based on asset groups formed by the core FREEEERRIEAEEMAMESHE
assets from Torch Automobile Group Co.. As at 30 June 2011, TEERERR - X20119F6 A30
the management considered there was no risk of impairment of A EEERLAHEERERR -

goodwill.



Increase
Opening during Other Closing
balance the period Amortization decrease balance

B A5 BN ¥ Hitwm HARE

‘ 100,026,098.59 9,115,937.74 22,449,221.42 - 86,692,814.91
Indu : 45,543,821.64 17,418,072.34 7,991,192.68 521,300.00 54,449,401.30
Expenditure on fixed assets [&l & & £ 2 Sz | PRS0 8,881,707.63 6,676,625.20 25,314,526.48

al equipment fee L1122

168,679,364.28 35,415,717.71 37,117,039.30 521,300.00 166,456,742.69

2010 20104
Increase
Opening during  Decrease during
balance the year theyear ~ Other decrease  Closing balance
FE REEM RERD H s FRH
Industrial mould fee TEELEE 115,007,434.75 30,098,153.55 45,079,489.71 - 100,026,098.59
Industrial equipment fee Tz E & 49,785,274.12  29,458,367.94  33,699,820.42 - 45543,821.64
Expenditure on fixed EE & ER S
assets 23,238,402.98 19,604,498.68 19,733,457.61 - 23,109,444.05

188,031,111.85 79,161,020.17  98,512,767.74 - 168,679,364.28




assets/liabilities

“deferred tax assets and liabilities are prese

RIEFTSTHEE

mpaimentofasets &AL

Accruals . . . EREA

REBANTZHEED
intra-group transactions of the Group 7|} & 4

Fair value change in available-for-sale At HE L RIEE
financial assets AR EEZS

Deductible losses g |

Others HAh

Offset of profits generated from

Deferred tax liabilities RIEFREHMAE
Adjustment in fair value upon TEAHAREE
business combination FEEES
Fair value change in available-for-sale AT ESMmEE
financial assets AREEZD
Amortization of trademark rights P A A 1

Deductible temporary differences and deductible losses in respect of

unrecognized items of deferred tax assets are as follows:

AENEREER
ATEHEE

Deductible temporary differences

Deductible losses

30 June 2011
2011%¥6H30H

192,872,055.20
439,878,363.69

94,135,723.88

76,435.63

4,050,492.02
2,334,320.03

733,347,390.45

29,971,813.82

22,980,000.56
15,167,100.00

68,118,914.38

527,944,159.01

102,926,573.53

2,983,303.25
1,574,552 .32

819,209,766.78

31,199,645.86

44,744,945.21
14,000,400.00

89,944,991.07

RHERRIEFFSHEEN A KT
HERRAEMNEBRET

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

123,568,168.45
217,891,376.76

341,459,545.21

31 December 2010
2010912 H31H

96,079,472.61
182,721,159.88

278,800,632.49




cognized de

ued)

“assets will

Temporary differences corresponding to items of assets or liabilities

from which such temporary differences arose are as follows:

Impairment of assets
Accruals
Offset of profits generated from intra-
group transactions of the Group
Deductible losses
Other deductible temporary differences
Adjustment in fair value upon
business combination
Adjustment in fair value of
financial assets

Amortization of trademark rights

BERE

BfRREAR
REBRNHFRZELDN
IR 8

AR EE

Hih Al ENER T ER
EAEHAREE
FrE
EMEEAAEBEHE

7 1R 4 5

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

1,266,814.70
6,320,064.37
36,906,709.57
33,497,360.73
72,092,915.73
67,807,511.66

217,891,376.76

46,431,558.58
75,694,101.72

182,721,159.88

Sl RN AENA AR Y
LR EEMT -

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

1,285,816,840.74
2,908,875,090.42

627,571,492.54
24,157,443.41
14,646,393.79

(199,812,092.11)

(153,200,000.00)
(101,114,000.00)

4,406,941,168.79

31 December 2010
2010912 A31H

1,184,784,811.13
3,460,679,340.45

686,177,156.84
19,888,688.33
7,500,708.77

(207,997,639.02)

(295,619,778.85)
(93,336,000.00)

4,762,077,287.65




or impairment of assets
) June 2011

Opening
balance

N e

Provision for bad debt

BEER 853,123,601.74

Decrease during the period

Reversal

&

Provision

iR

73,825,815.44 2,377,347.45

EHAED

Write-off
By

Others
At

3,865,628.24

Closing
balance

ARY

920,706,441.49

Provision for decline RERE
in value of inventories R 370,365,936.41 44,646,938.47 16,308,420.9% 39,406,028.38 359,298,425.54
Provision for impairment of long- & ERHER &
term equity investment HEER 122,232,129.56 122,232,129.56
Provision for impairment of ~ EftRHEE
other current assets HEER 27,677,250.00 27,677,250.00
Provision for impairment of TEERE
fived assets Ef 32,583,722.96 848,240.11 31,735,482.85
Provision for impairment of ERIEAE
construction in progress £l 3,738,267.94 3,738,267.94
1,409,720,908.61 118,472,753.91 18,685,768.41 44,119,89.73 1,465,387,997.38
2010 20104
Increase during the year Decrease during the year
REEM REFD
Opening Closing
balance Provision Others Reversal Write-off balance
CE RER A #p E 4 EXY
Provision for bad debt EHRER 620,421,346.96 284,359,331.74 2,126,045.86 - 53,783,122.82 853,123,601.74
Provision for decline FERE
in value of inventories Ef 326,366,562.53 22313591458 - 1,962,211.55 177,174,329.15 370,365,936.41
Provision for impairmentof ~ EHRERE
long-term equity investment ~ FiE%/E 122,025,102.56 207,027.00 - - - 122,232,129.56
Provision forimpairmentof ~ EftE#EE
other current assets REER 27,677,250.00 - - - - 27,677,250.00
Provision for impairment of TEERE
fixed assets Ef 58,037,723.47 - - - 25,454,000.51 32,583,722.96
Provision for impairment of ERIRHE
construction in progress EE 3,801,467.94 - - - 63,200.00 3,738,267.94
1,158,329,453.46 507,702,273.32 2,126,045.86 1,962,211.55 256,474,652.48  1,409,720,908.61
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(%)
23. EHIER

statements (Continued)
23. Short-term loans

Mortgage loans

B

Pledge loans
Guaranteed loans

S
BB EE

oF TE OE OF
L L

Credit loans

fiip

As at 30 June 2011, the annual interest rate for the above loans
was 0.87%-7.26% (31 December 2010: 0.87%-6.12%).

As at 30 June 2011, the aggregate carrying amount of various
assets that had been used by the Group to obtain bank loans was
RMB47,788,048.25 (31 December 2010: RMB50,387,148.26),
while there was no asset used to secure any loans (31 December
2010: RMB50,964,325.58).

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had no short-term loans which was

due but yet to be repaid.

The short-term loans denominated in foreign currencies are set out
as follows:

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201146 H30H 2010%12A31H

55,000,000.00 48,000,000.00

- 40,447,320.00

99,420,171.00 131,728,681.50
1,038,000,000.00 325,000,000.00
1,192,420,171.00 545,176,001.50

H2011FE6H308 @ L&A EF
R 50.87%-7.26% (2010512 A 31
H :0.87%-6.12%) °

R2011F6A308 + AEEARIKR
BFRITERNSEEAENRAEEE
HEt AR 47,788,048.257(2010
F12A318 : AR#50,387,148.26
L) mARNEMRER(20105F12A4
318 : ARM50,964,325.5870) °

MR20115E6 300 » AREEED 5 H
KRIEBOTHIER -

ASNERR R R EIE AT

31 December 2010

30 June 2011
2011%6A30A

Original RMB

currency Exchange rate equivalent

R% Ex REARY

Shortterm loans 4G EIE

- HKD — B 93,000,000.00 77,338,800.00
-EWR —Bx 2,500,000.00 23,403,000.00
-UsD —%% = =

100,741,800.00

2010%12A318
Original RMB
currency Exchange rate equivalent
R#& Ex faARE
93,000,000.00 0.8509  79,133,700.00
2,500,000.00 8.8065  22,016,250.00
6,150,000.00

6.6227  40,729,605.00

141,879,555.00



RITHEAER

g

aging analysis of notes payable, &

Within 3 months =@AR
3 to 6 months =E=NEA
Total =

As at 30 June 2011, the amount of notes payable falling due in the
next accounting period was RMB4,392,958,673.01.

As at 30 June 2011, notes payable did not include amounts payable
to shareholders that held 5% or more of the Company’s voting
shares (31 December 2010: nil). Please refer to Note VI. 6 for the
balance of notes payable between the Group and other related
parties.

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

4,392,958,673.01

30 June 2011 :
201156 H30H 20105%12A31H

2,108,202,516.51 748,479,054.08
2,284,756,156.50 3,361,250,627.21

4,392,958,673.01 4,109,729,681.29

R20114F6 8308 » BRAT—25t
HEIENENEESEAARE
4,392,958,673.017T °

MR2011F6A308 » KEEF#EF
EENBERRTS%(E5%) AL
FORBEMR M 8 AR 3R B 7 1) FE 1 R AR
(20104F12F318 : £#) - KEHE
H b B 5 RN 2R AR TE R RN
60



0 June 201 1, the aging a

on the invoice date, are presented as follows:

Within 3 months =EAN

3 to 6 months =&XEA

6 to 12 months NE+Z@EA
Over 1 year —F Lk
Total =

As at 30 June 2011, there was no material accounts payable which

aged over one year (31 December 2010: nil).

As at 30 June 2011, amounts payable to shareholders that held
5% or more of the Company’s voting shares included in accounts
payable amounted to RMB112,326.63 (31 December 2010:
RMB286,344.53). Please refer to Note VI. 6 for the balance of

accounts payable between the Group and other related parties.

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

13,723,797,134.39

#2016 4308 - 1 %
ERHMREDIMTT ¢

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201146 H30H 20104%12A31H

12,400,312,982.79 12,436,510,058.57
556,137,659.40 319,641,246.63
385,913,463.41 217,329,228.96
381,433,028.79 164,103,799.84

13,723,797,134.39 13,137,584,334.00

R2011F6A30H @ EARER —F M
ERREENFIE (20105612 A 31
A:&E)-

M201156A308 © AERF#ET
EMEFEEARAS%(B5%) A LR
SRR MR REMMZIEAARE
112,326.6375 (2010512 A31H :
ANE#286,344.537T) - NEHEHE
fih BB 5 EAT BR SRR B R AR X
6 o



e (Continued)

able denominated in foreign currencies are

30 June 2011
201146 A30H
Original Exchange RMB
currency rate equivalent

R Ex HEARW

Accounts payable  FEfTERFR
- UsD =5 3,276,398.60 6.4716  21,203,541.18 3,925,475.97 6.6227  25,997,249.71
-EUR — R 4,526,088.00 9.3612 42,369,614.99 RENELFICIRN 8.8065 40,144,350.20

63,573,156.17 66,141,599.91

26. Advances from customers 26. WA

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 H30H 2010%12A31H

Advances from customers AU FRIA 1,379,657,583.07 1,166,047,586.10

As at 30 June 2011, there was no material advances from MR20115F6H308 « EERE —F L
customers which aged over one year (31 December 2010: nil). KR FETEUWHIB (2010512 A318:
/) o
As at 30 June 2011, advances from customers did not include MR2011F6A308 + KERFPHEF
amounts payable to shareholders that held 5% or more of the EENBAERRAS%(E5%) A E
Company's voting shares (31 December 2010: nil). Please refer to FORBENR 7 89 AR 3R B8 (7 19 T8 UL FR 1B
Note VI. 6 for the balance of advances between the Group and (20105F12A318 : &) - REHH
other related parties. H h BAESE 5 TE UK IB SRR R RS

6 °
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i - & ff I % it 3% 1 B IH H 51 &
statements (Continued) (%)

26. Advances from customers (Continued)

Advances from customers denominated in foreign currencies are set

26. AW RE (&)
PASNAE R FEUR FRIB L0 R -

out as follows:

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
2011%6H30H 20106124318
Original Exchange RMB Original Exchange RMB
currency rate equivalent currency rate equivalent
R E= TeARY R i e AR%
Advances received ~ FAUER X
from customers
- Usb — X 1,241,728.10 6.4716  8,035,967.57 -

6.6227 =

27.

Payroll payable
January — June 2011

Salaries, bonuses, allowances and subsidies T%& « #4 « #3tH

Staff welfare

Social security

Incl: Basic pension insurance
Medical insurance
Contribution to pension fund
Unemployment insurance
Working injury insurance
Maternity insurance

Housing funds

Union running costs

Employee education costs

Severance benefit

Supplementary medical Insurance

Others

i
BIENE
HERBRE
A BARERR
BRRBE

o
3 m
o

Sia

f{@ml—c»m

W osE oM B>
Sa

B =
S

BRET
ARBRRR
Eft

8,035,967.57 =

Opening
balance

LRI

781,549,701.53
10,499,909.55
21,541,078.05
9,297,769.91
1,918,397.59
9,614,180.13
150,598.91
307,051.15
253,080.36
4,316,253.22
86,683,753.34
101,896,606.19
77,619,158.73
1,526,906.30
388,517.27

1,086,021,884.18

27. FEASES T HrEp
2011 1-6 A

Increase

FHEM

1,407,656,229.91
103,061,542.71
154,139,433.74
103,061,542.71
22,716,300.68
13,089,773.65
8,456,541.81
4,310,134.39
2,505,140.50
40,587,586.99
20,648,732.85
23,184,073.22
8,318,219.20
8,412,286.86
106,108.06

1,766,114,213.54

Decrease

FHED

1,408,954,795.75
101,045,163.58
154,568,038.25
105,518,145.10
17,322,461.48
16,751,411.12
8,267,669.20
4,263,228.92
2,445,122.43
35,828,271.79
14,241,864.48
8,506,277.27
17,384,433.77
7,691,869.80

1,748,220,714.69

Closing balance

LIPS

780,251,135.69
12,516,288.68
PARNPRYERT
6,841,167.52
7,312,236.79
5,952,542.66
339,471.52
353,956.62
313,098.43
9,075,568.42
93,090,621.71
116,574,402.14
68,552,944.16
2,247,323.36
494,625.33

1,103,915,383.03
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) B ik R B T (48

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 A30H (A R¥ L)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial 7o~ & 0F B % it 3% £ B IH H 51 B
statements (Continued) (%)

27. Payroll payable (Continued) 27. BB ITHM (&)

2010 20104
Opening
balance Increase Decrease Closing balance
EL REE KERD ERY
Salaries, bonuses, allowances and I% %% 2EH

subsidies il 415,299,930.17  2,370,952,255.50  2,004,702,484.14 781,549,701.53
Staff welfare BIRHE 8,049,645.13  232,731,800.60  230,281,536.18 10,499,909.55
Social security HEeRBE 12,783,706.70  327,676,368.21  318918,996.86  21,541,078.05
Incl: Basic pension insurance Hep - EXABERR 3,376,551.68  201,258,425.92  195,337,207.69 9,297,769.91
Medical insurance EERRE 113,818.57 51,070,812.58 49,266,233.56 1,918,397.59
Contribution to pension fund FeHE 8,988,653.47 41,908,267.43 41,282,740.77 9,614,180.13
Unemployment insurance RERKBE 283,735.03 18,272,476.54 18,405,612.66 150,598.91
Working injury insurance IERRE - 9,591,566.28 9,284,515.13 307,051.15
Maternity insurance YERRE 20,947.95 5,574,819.46 5,342,687.05 253,080.36
Housing funds E=UNE 2,660,673.48 84,293,252.46 82,637,672.72 4,316,253.22
Union running costs IeK%E 66,476,735.18 43,753,508.04 23,546,489.88 86,683,753.34
Employee education costs BIHERE 71,561,364.45 43,015,740.46 17,680,498.72 101,896,606.19
Severance benefit BHETEN 93,943,514.93 1,251,629.80 17,575,986.00 77,619,158.73
Supplementary medical Insurance BREERR 2,128,311.29 16,065,563.80 16,666,968.79 1,526,906.30
Others Hit 378,288.67 215,149.23 204,920.63 388,517.27
673,282,170.00  3,124,955,268.10  2,712,215,553.92  1,086,021,884.18

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had no payroll payable in arrears (31

December 2010: nil).

MR2011F6A30H » KREEEE N
IR Y FE S B T BN (2010512 A
318 @ &) -



29.

30.

Stamp duty

Land use tax

0 {58 FA X

City construction tax BB

Business tax =

Educational surtax A &M
Interest payable

Interests on medium-term notes (Note) A EAZ & | B (5F)
Interest on borrowings B RFLE

Note: The Company registered and issued medium-term notes in August 2009
with the National Association of Financial Market Institutional Investors.
The registered amount was RMB2.7 billion, handling fee rate was 0.3%
and shall be issued in two tranches. The first tranche of RMB1.3 billion was
issued on 24 August 2009 with a maturity period of 5 years. The coupon
rate was 4.95% with interests payable every 12 months.

Dividends payable

R A A 3R A

Dividends payable to shareholders

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

23,113,350.42
1,906,786,693.11

1
1
1

1

2,012,779,328.54

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

53,625,000.00

53,701,408.33

30 June 2011

201

742,520,087.52

8,919,791.31
2,648,842.53
0,622,374.53
9,137,471.50
8,138,788.70
5,385,600.37
8,026,416.07

10,960,425.18
115,571,309.00
8,901,893.78
63,107,850.67

2,272,791,403.71

29. BRI E

31 December 2010
2010%F12A31H

21,450,000.00

76,408.33 1,280,310.28

22,730,310.28

AR AER2009F 8 AR BRITRM
ERGEHEFMBETRHEE - &
MeEER27BEL  FEBXATH
2= DWREIT o 85— RK2009
FHA24BEIT  EWAARE3
B BHFHRASF  ZEAEAR
4.95% * HESERRI12M8A -

30. BNRA

31 December 2010

1$6H30H 2010512 A31H

72,963,509.34




30 June 2011
201146 H30H

SHEIT# 1,901,008,358.10
BN IREEETEEEFRER

487,175,079.93
369,519,459.59

sy Eiikn

Repair and ma ce expenses  {&

S IPEMERSE 283,221,059.76
Land facility fee and land premiums for 7B T2 + R E B % + 5%
construction-in-progress 239,753,665.02 59,480,000.00
Others Hith 765,840,402.94 735,729,431.55
4,046,518,025.34 3,169,636,229.37
As at 30 June 2011, amounts payable to shareholders that held 5% M2011F6H308 » KEFHEPRE
or more of the Company’s voting shares included in other payables NRHELRRAS%(E5%) A ERAR
amounted to RMB14,060,052.50 (31 December 2010:nil). Please T P& A7) B AR BR BB (i ) EL At JE T BB A
refer to Note VI. 6 for the balance of other payables between the K #14,060,052.5070(2010F 12 A
Group and other related parties. 318 « ) o REBEHEth BT H
fhRER FRERFE R MR 60
As at 30 June 2011, other payables in significant amount aging MR2011F6A30H @ BREE—F LA LS
over 1 year are set out as follows: REHMERNFOT :
Reason for not
Amount  being repaid
*HE KREERE
State-owned Assets Supervision and HWHTEREEEEEEHRELZES 30,378,944.81  Conversion fee,
Administration Commission of Zhuzhou not yet due

KR
1) R B A SRR PR




hayables in

OWS:

27,271,877.47

dministration Commissio : - Wi not yet

of Zhuzhou - : BE -
i R B 45 51 2R PR
Among the aforesaid other payables in significant amount aging A ERRECER M1 F M) R ZE H fb JE T
over 1 year, an amount of RMB3,867,475.58 was repaid or carried HBEERABRRBACEERAEEN
forward after the balance sheet date. SR ABARY3,867,475.587T °
Other payables denominated in foreign currencies are set out as ASMNEIZ R B At FES KA T
follows:
30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 H30H 20104128318
Original Exchange RMB Original Exchange RMB
currency rate equivalent currency rate equivalent
R Ex HEARY% JR ¥ Ex  HEARE
Other payables  H i EF R
- Usb — 7T 12,418,371.11 R YA (R Ve SR Rt 11,496,786.07 6.6227 76,139,765.11
—-EUR — BT — 9.3612 — | 1,431,864.77 8.8065 12,609,717.10

80,366,730.48 88,749,482.21
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) P ik R M 5 (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116308 (AR T)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i - & 0f I % $it 3 1 B H H 5E
statements (Continued) (%8)
32. Non-current liabilities due within one year 32. " FREBHERBERS

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 830H 2010412 H31H

Long-term borrowings due —FREHHREAER
within one year 327,900,000.00 31,990,000.00
Long-term borrowings due within one year are presented as —FAR BN RAGREOT
follows:
30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 A30H 2010912 A31H
Guaranteed loans (Note) REBEER(GGE) 17,000,000.00 17,000,000.00
Credit loans ERER 310,900,000.00 14,990,000.00
327,900,000.00 31,990,000.00
Note: Zhuzhou Euro Grace Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd. of the Group i ZK EBE KM EIHESDRMHDAER
provided guarantee with joint liabilities and secured charge for facilities ANRAREBARMKMNERBRET
up to RMB55 million of its parent company Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd.. As at NG| %EL\EE S A5,5008 T RS
30 June 2011, the amount of effective facilities of Zhuzhou Gear Co., Ltd. RHEFECRIMERER &
amounted to RMB17,000,000. The carrying amount of assets pledged to 1201166 A30R » il &5t B R
secure such borrowings amounted to RMB32,306,266.29 (31 December EERFIERRMERE/ARE,700
2010: RMB32,827,853.63). BT o AKE AR ERERE L E R
WEBRAENEEEELTARE
32,306,266.29 7T (2010 % 12 A 31
H: AR¥32,827,853.637T) ¢
As at 30 June 2011, long-term borrowings due but to be repaid are M2011F6H308 » BEEISEREE
presented as follows: W RBABRIIZAT :
Annual
interest Reason of Estimated
Amount  Delinquency period rate (%) Usage delinquency repayment date
BREE BERH FNE(%) BRAR AHAEERE BHERD
Agricultural Bank of China 10,900,000.00  Since 5.28 Technological Debt restructuring  In the progress
(Mudanjiang City branch) 30 April 1999 renovation project f& % E 4 of debt
B R R AT 1999F4H30RES for air conditioner restructuring
HATImXAT compressors BEBEHT
TR
RHWER

10,900,000.00



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
32. Non-current liabilities due within one year
(Continued)
As at 31 December 2010, long-term borrowings due but to be

repaid are presented as follows:

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &

W 5 i R M 5 (48

201146 H308 (A ER#T)

TS0 %R EIEH R
(748)

32. " FARIHMNERDER

(&)
2010128318 @ EEHBERE
ERRBERINREOT ¢

Annual
interest Reason of Estimated
Amount  Delinquency period rate (%) Usage delinquency repayment date
EREE BIRE ERE(%) ERAR AEREERE B ERA
Agricultural Bank of China 14,990,000.00  Since 30 April 1999 5.28 Technological Debt restructuring In the progress of
(Mudanjiang City branch) 19995443004 renovation project B EA debt restructuring
HERERT for air conditioner EBERSD
" ATImYAT

14,990,000.00

The aforesaid long-term borrowings due but to repaid were the
overdue bank loans of a former subsidiary of Torch Automobile
Group Co., Ltd. obtained prior to its acquisition by the Group. The
Group is currently discussing with the relevant banks with respect to
the restructuring of such loans. The amount repaid in current period
was RMB4,090,000.00. As of the date of this report, the discussion
relating to the repayment progress of the outstanding balance was

still in progress.

NEBFBHEREEORAGBKR - A
FEMANEREREMRNDBBRAFZ—
RFRREREBIWEMRAETESE
B A% 15 B PR A A 2 A& ER A i B4R 1T
B3 RNEBB AT EAEEBRITH
BAZEETETEN - NEAHEE
AR #4,090,000.007T @ HEXR
WwEH - BEASBFETEENEND
TEHEAT ©

169
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) B i R B ST (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 H308 (AR¥T)
V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i~ A 0 % 3% 3 2IH H 1 &2
statements (Continued) (%)
32. Non-current liabilities due within one year 32. " FRIHBPNERBES
(Continued) (&)
Breakdown of the long-term borrowings due within one year as at R2011F6H308 '« —FREHNE
30 June 2011 is as follows: HEFRAANAT :
Loan Annual
Drawdown Loan interest
date Due date Currency rate (%) Outstanding amount
EREH B BR&ELR KE FRE(%) BRBE
China CITIC Bank (Xi'an branch) 2009/06/30 2012/6/29 RMB 4.86 300,000,000.00
HERITEL DT AR
China CITIC Bank (Xi'an branch) 2008/12/17 2011/12/16 RMB 5.67 17,000,000.00
HERITEZ DT AR
Agricultural Bank of China 1994/05/01 1999/04/30 RMB 5.28 10,900,000.00
(Mudanjiang City branch) AR

FEERRITHATIHXIT

Breakdown of the long-term borrowings due within one year as at

M2010F12A31H » —FRNEEH

31 December 2010 is as follows: RHAE RO T ¢
Loan Annual
Drawdown Loan interest
date Due date Currency rate (%) Outstanding amount
fEREHBAE FBRALEA wE FFIE(%) B EREE
China CITIC Bank (Xi‘an branch) 2008/12/17 2011/12/16 RMB 5.67 17,000,000.00
FERITEZ ST AR
Agricultural Bank of China 1994/05/01 1999/04/30 RMB 5.28 14,990,000.00
(Mudanjiang City branch) AR

PEEFRRITHEMTIH T

As at 30 June 2011, the aggregate carrying amount of various assets
used by the Group to obtain the above bank loans amounted to
RMB32,306,266.29 (31 December 2010: RMB32,827,853.63).

M2011F6H308 » XEEBMRIE
N ESRITEFNSEEEREHEEHR
s AR #32,306,266.297C (20104
12HA31H : AR #%¥32,827,853.63

JL) °
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) FRHS i R M 5 (48

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116308 (AR T)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial o~ & 0F B % it 3% £ B IH H 51 B
statements (Continued) (%)

33. Other current liabilities 33. Htb R B EE

30 June 2011

31 December 2010

201156 H30H 2010412 H31H
Expected after-sales expenses (Note) B =88 () 1,182,592,711.03 1,017,267,171.87
Others Hih 29,126,847.28 36,565,148.26
1,211,719,558.31 1,053,832,320.13
Note:  The Group's expected after-sales expenses were recognized according 7 AEEBEFZ=EEAREBEL FER

BLEBNEGN=-ZREANHRE=S
HANE EERBETE °

to the historical after-sale expenses incurred for the units of product
effectively sold and the number of product sold which are still within the
after-sale period.

34. Long-term borrowings 34. REIERK

30 June 2011
20116 H30H

Credit loans

= RER

654,727,273.00

As at 30 June 2011, top 5 long-term borrowings are presented as

31 December 2010
201012 A831H

954,727,273.00

MN20115E6A300  £EATAZHNE

follows: HfERaT
Loan Annual
Drawdown Loan interest
date Due date Currency rate (%) Outstanding amount
BRB®HA ERKLER  BE FHE(%) ERRERE
China CITIC Bank (Xi‘an branch) 2009/11/26 2012/09/24 RMB 5.27 100,000,000.00
RERITAL ST AR
China CITIC Bank (Xi‘an branch) 2009/07/28 2012/07/27 RMB 5.04 100,000,000.00
PERITAL ST AR
Bank of Beijing (Xi'an branch) 2009/11/16 2012/11/15 RMB 4.86 100,000,000.00
ERIRITAELZ DT AR
Bank of China (Shaanxi branch) 2009/09/17 2012/09/16 RMB 4.86 100,000,000.00
HEISRTTEREEE D 1T AR
China Merchants Bank 2010/01/13 2013/01/12 RMB 5.49 100,000,000.00
(Xi'an branch) AR

BRERITARDTT

500,000,000.00
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
34. Long-term borrowings (Continued)

35.

As at 31 December 2010, top 5 long-term borrowings are

presented as follows:

B B5 R B R (A8

201146 H308 (A R#T)

T~ S0P % R 2 IE H sE R
(78)

34. REER(R)

M2010F12A31H » @B\ AEH
REEZOT

Loan Annual
Drawdown Loan interest
date Due date Currency rate (%) Outstanding amount
fERB®mAE ERKLER  BE FEFZE(%) & R ERER
China CITIC Bank (Xi‘an branch) 2009/06/30 2012/06/29 RMB 4.86 300,000,000.00
RERITAZ DT AR
China CITIC Bank (Xi‘an branch) 2009/11/26 2012/09/24 RMB 4.86 100,000,000.00
PERITEL DT AR
China CITIC Bank (Xi‘an branch) 2009/07/28 2012/07/27 RMB 4.86 100,000,000.00
PERITEL DT AR
Bank of Beijing (Xi'an branch) 2009/11/16 2012/11/15 RMB 4.86 100,000,000.00
ERRITAL DT AR
Bank of China (Shaanxi branch) 2009/09/17 2012/09/16 RMB 4.86 100,000,000.00
EIERITIRPEE 1T AR

As at 30 June 2011, the Group had no long-term borrowings

denominated in foreign currencies (31 December 2010: nil).

Bonds payable

35.

700,000,000.00

R2011F6 A30H » ANEBEE SN
BT EEER(2010F12 A 31
B :)o

B EZ

31 December 2010
201012 A31H

Medium-term note FEIE

1,285,239,261.49

The Company registered at the National Association of Financial
Market Institutional Investors in August 2009 for issuing medium-
term notes in a registered amount of 2.7 billion to be issued in
two tranches. The handling fee was 0.3%. The first tranche, in an
aggregate amount of RMB1.3 billion, was issued on 24 August
20009. Its maturity period was 5 years, with a coupon rate of 4.95%.

Interest was payable every 12 months.

RAFIR2009F 8 AEH FRITM ™
BRSEHeFMBETPHARE - &
fefER27ET  FEBXATH
2= DMIRELT o E—XK2009
F8A24H T @A ARK13
B EHFPRASE  ZEFMEA
4.95% - TESEERS12MEA -



Interest
Outstanding payable at Accrued EE Interest
balance at period- interest in paid in payable at
Facevalue  Issuingdate  Bond period period-end beginning  current period  current period period-end |8 p—

BE  3FEM  R5ER BREE  BIAGAE  AEEMAE  AgEeHe  mranRe

Medium-termnote ~ FREIZE  FERIOUOOANOL) 2009-8-24 Syears 1,287,086,195.49  21,450,000.00  32,175,000.00 53,625,000.00

As at 31 December 2010, bonds payable are listed as follows: 2010128318 » B ES%HE
FIREATS
Interest
Outstanding payable at Accrued Interest Interest
balance at period- interest in paid in payable at
Facevalue  Issuingdate  Bond period period-end beginning  current period  current period period-end

HE  ETEE REER HRBE BUEGHE  AHEHAME  AHEMNE  HREMHE

Medium-term note R 2 & 1,300,000,000.00 2009-8-24 Syears® 1,285239,261.49  21,450,000.00  42,900,000.00  42,900,000.00  21,450,000.00

36. Long-term payables 36. RHAEMRR

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201146 H30H 201012 A831H

Mudanjiang Finance Bureau HAITMHMBE 16,000,000.00 16,000,000.00
Interest subsidy for the project of FEOEACVCRYELHEK

producing 600,000 CVC series TH B BE B

compressors annually 11,080,000.00
Government grants for national debt Bl {EI8 B B

projects 5,500,000.00 5,500,000.00
Others Hi 4,369,790.90 4,297,700.00

25,869,790.90 36,877,700.00




liquid fund grant

B IR B R T A

VIEN =

At period-
beginning
LiEAE

At period-end
HAE

Decrease

AHRD

Increase

548

provincial finance office Bh 2 23,000,000.00 23,000,000.00
Special funds of national HEREES —
debt-establishment of key ~ BEEERE
industry revitalization and LA BeE
technological renovation HHER
projects 21,000,000.00 21,000,000.00
Land premium subsidy T iES
B 11,090,000.00 11,090,000.00
55,090,000.00 11,090,000.00 44,000,000.00
31 December 2010 201012 A31H
At year-
beginning Increase Decrease At year-end
FHE REZM RERD FRE
Interest subsidy for B BBEEN
liquid fund granted by MEELER
provincial finance office Bh 2 23,000,000.00 - - 23,000,000.00
Special funds of national BEEEES -
debt-establishment of key ~ BEEERE
industry revitalization and AT ehE
technological renovation HHER
projects 21,000,000.00 - - 21,000,000.00
Land premium subsidy Tt ESE
8K 1,090,000.00 10,000,000.00 - 11,090,000.00
45,090,000.00 10,000,000.00 - 55,090,000.00




In particular, deferred income is prese

 follows:

Amounts granted—subsidy for research
and development

Special Fund for Promoting the
Development of Leading Industries
in Economic and Technology
Development District, Xi'an

Land premium subsidy

Interest subsidy for the project of
producing 600,000 CVC series
compressors annually

Government incentive

Technological renovation and financial
special funds

Funding for pilot enterprise project
of remanufacturing of automobile

components

OB — T B

ARBHAERETEEXRER
HHRE®

43 RS M BL X
FEEGOE A CVC R B 4E#
TE B BB

BT 22D
BB MMBRERES

METHBRERNR
TtXRHEEES

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

50,633,008.74
15,660,261.29

66,293,270.03

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

11,090,000.00

11,080,000.00
4,654,759.54

15,195,000.00

8,613,249.20

50,633,008.74

Hep o JEEWREMT

48,324,202.38

31 December 2010
20104%12A31H

6,908,611.50

700,000.00

4,655,036.14

15,210,000.00

8,613,249.20

36,086,896.84




y —June 2011

Restcted ;

At period-beginning

LRI

No. of shares
it

Percentage

2]
(%)

Increase/(decrease) of shares in current period

Transferred from
capital reserve

AReEH

AR () B

Others
-4

Sub-total
N Eﬂ-

At period-end

BAR

No. of shares

RE

Percentage

i
()

State-owned legal person shares i 373,224,594.00 240 373,224,594.00 240 B8
Other domestic shares i EER 118,520,000.00 7.1 118,520,000.00 mm
Incl: Domestic non-state-owned legal A ERsEER
person shares EABR 71,160,000.00 47 71,160,000.00 47
Domestic natural person shares BRARKA
Bk 47,360,000.00 47,360,000.00
Overseas shares EONER 78,440,000.00 78,440,000.00
Including: Overseas legal person HBINEA
shares R 78,440,000.00 78,440,000.00
Overseas natural person FERA
shares #R = -
570,184,594.00 570,184,594.00
i, Non-estricted shares = ERERHRH
RMB ordinary Shares ABRERR 691,106,772.00 691,106,772.00
Domestic isted foreign shares BRLTEER = >
Overseas listed foreign shares B0 ETESNERR 404,800,000.00 404,800,000.00
1,095,906,772.00 1,095,906,772.00
jii. — Total no. of shares = hheg 1,666,091,366.00 1,666,091,366.00
2010 2010%F
At period-beginning Increase(decrease) of shares in current period At period-end
LR TR RE 5y
Transferred from
No. of shares Percentage capital reserve Others Sub-total No. of shares Percentage
& il NEdEE At it & $5l
(%) (%)
i, Resticted shares - BREGHRR 2402493700 291 - (24,224,937.00) (24,224,937.00) - -
State-owned legal person shares ABEARR 162,320,000.00 19.48 186,612,297.00 24,292,297.00 210,904,594.00 373,224,594.00 240
Other domestic shares 2 RERR 108,480,000.00 13.02 59,260,000.00 (49,220,000.00) 10,040,000.00 118,520,000.00 m
Incl: Domestic non-state-owned legal A BRFEEEA
person shares B 84,800,000.00 10.18 35,580,000.00 49,220,000.00) (13,640,000.00) 71,160,000.00 421
Domestic natural person shares BRERA
BR 23,680,000.00 284 23,680,000.00 - 23,680,000.00 47,360,000.00 284
Overseas shares Bk 54,800,000.00 6.58 39,220,000.00 (15,580,000.00) 23,640,000.00 78,440,000.00 4an
Including: Overseas legal person AR EREA
shares B 54,800,000.00 6.58 39,220,000.00 (15,580,000.00) 23,640,000.00 78,440,000.00 47
Overseas natural person BIERA
shares Bk - - - - - - -
349,824,937.00 4199 285,092,297.00 (64,732,640.00) 220,359,657.00 570,184,594.00 3422
i, Nonestricted shares - BREEARH
RMB ordinary Shares ARBLEER 280,820,746.00 371 345,553,386.00 64,732,640.00 410,286,026.00 691,106,772.00 4148
Domestic ised foreign shares BRLmRNER - - - - - - -
Overseas listed foreign shares EON ETRNER 202,400,000.00 2430 202,400,000.00 - 202,400,000.00 404,800,000.00 2430
483,220,746.00 58.01 547,953,386.00 64,732,640.00 612,686,026.00 1,095,906,772.00 65.78
fii.  Total no. of shares = Rheg 833,045,683.00 100.00 833,045,683.00 - 833,045,683.00 1,666,091,366.00 100.00




At period-

beginning Increase Decrease At period-end

LEIE 25342 40 TR HRE

1,219,789,901.43 - 1,219,789,901.43

773,528,364.27 235,468,775.38 538,059,588.89

1,993,318,265.70 235,468,775.38  1,757,849,490.32

2010 2010%F
At year-
beginning Increase Decrease At year-end
FE AREELZN RER D FRE
Share premium fRA = (B 2,053,320,891.88 - 833,045,683.00 1,220,275,208.88
Other capital reserves HiBARRTE
(Note) (5) 386,984,132.42 387,929,184.05 1,870,259.65 773,043,056.82

2,440,305,024.30 387,929,184.05 834,915,942.65 1,993,318,265.70

Note:  Capital reserve — increase or decrease in other capital reserves in the B BARE-HMEARREAERE
current period are primarily attributable to the changes in fair value HIrERAHEECREEAAER
of available-for-sale financial assets and changes in other interests in 2y e nHMmEmZEMmE -

associates.



At period-

beginning
LiEAE

1,424,081,328.77

Increase Decrease At period-end

548 TR HRE

- 1,424,081,328.77

At year-
beginning Increase Decrease At year-end
FENH REEM RERF D> FRE
Statutory surplus reserve EERBADIE 847,388,713.39 576,692,615.38 - 1,424,081,328.77

According to the provisions of Company Law and the articles of
association, the Group appropriated statutory surplus reserve at
10% of the net profit. Where the accumulated amount of the
statutory surplus reserves reaches 50% or more of the Company’s

registered capital, additional appropriation is not needed.

After the appropriation of statutory surplus reserve, the Group
may appropriate discretionary surplus reserve. When approved,
the discretionary surplus reserve can be used to cover accumulated

losses in prior years or increase the share capital.

REBEAREFMAARERMNEE A
NEVEFFEOHI10%RIVEE A%
AHEE - ATERBAHEIAEAER
B FEfM & AR50% LA EEY - AT ANE IR
HY ©

AEEERBEZEREHBATERE - 7
REOEBARSBAES - EHt/E F8
BMRABEATARBHNTFEES
IR MR o



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial

statements (Continued)

42.

43.

Retained earnings

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &

B 5 i 3 M R (48)
201146 H308 (A ER#T)

T~ ?@ﬁtﬁﬁﬁﬁ?@igﬁ EEX:
42, % HEAM

2010
20104

January-June 2011

2011%1-68

Retained earnings at period- ANEF YR DB FE
beginning of current year
Net profit attributable to NS NG b bE

shareholders of parent company

13,445,984,645.13 7,641,604,533.76

3,501,706,567.71 6,782,145,439.63

576,692,615.38

716,419,287.38 399,861,927.84
- 1,210,785.04

Less: Appropriation of surplus B REBRARATE FV,41
reserves
Ordinary share cash dividends JE A 3 3 AR 3R < AR A
payable
Others HAtb
Retained earnings at period/ B/ FRRDEFE

year-end

16, 231,271,925.46 13,445,984,645.13

On 18 May 2011, the profit distribution scheme 2010 was reviewed
and approved in the 2010 annual general meeting of the Company.
Based on the 1,666,091,366 shares, representing the total share
capital of the Company, all shareholders were entitled to cash
dividend of RMB4.3 (incl. tax) for every 10 shares held. The total
dividend distributed amounted to RMB716,419,287.38. As at
the date of approval for issuance of these financial statements,

distribution of the dividend had been completed.

Revenue and cost of sales

The revenue is listed as follows:

M2011FE5 8188 » ARQ 72010
FREBFREERBB2010F
EFEIREFERE  AARABRKRAE
1,666,091,366 1% A E & + [ 2 58
BREZGI0ORIKER S AR AR
43T (EH)  HRBERFNARE
716,419,287.38 7T ° Lk N B 7%
RBEREHE  ZERMNB BT
%o

43. EEWAREAE

EEWATIRAT -

January-June 2011
2011%1-6 B

January-June 2010
20105 1-6 A

FERBERA
Hfth EAFHA

Revenue from principal operations

Other revenue

34,644,218,458.53
1,983,195,336.93

31,958,729,970.78
1,265,676,479.18

36,627,413,795.46

33,224,406,449.96

S



s is listed as follows:

January-June 2011

201151-68

ipal operations £ 4 A 26,938,105,646.70
TSR A 1,794,753,254.62

28,732,858,901.32

P

Information related to principal operations is listed by sector as FEEBHOTEEERT ¢

follows:

January-June 2011 January-June 2010
20115 1-6 A 2010%1-6 4
Revenue Revenue Cost
A KA WA AR
Manufacturing of RBER DM
transportation equipment Bl 34,438,902,925.43 L R R 31,738,698,065.85  24,119,268,150.68
Others Hih 205,315,533.10 189,651,688.24 220,031,904.93 198,869,478.13
SRR Rl I SRRl 31,958,729,970.78  24,318,137,628.81
Information related to principal operations is listed by regions as FEEBHSHERESLOT ¢
follows:
January-June 2011 January-June 2010
20115 1-6 8 2010 1-6 A
Revenue Revenue Cost
A A L'ON B
Domestic A SRR R ER AT L s 30,900,094,961.16  23,383,350,990.18
Overseas BN 994,883,770.06 865,869,134.22 1,058,635,009.62 934,786,638.63

SR LR R IR Ll 31,958,729,970.78  24,318,137,628.81
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial i - & ff I % it 3% 1 B IH H 51 &

statements (Continued) (&)

43. Revenue and cost of sales (Continued) 43. BE W AN KA (&)
Information related to principal operations is listed by product type as FTRERNSEREEMOT :
follows:

January-June 2011 January-June 2010
2011%1-64 2010%1-6 3
Revenue Revenue Cost

L ON A LN N

Complete vehicles and key BEREET

components s LRIV WL Iy R W LRI CRELR VAN 25,639,579,665.31  19,175,550,537.60
Non-automobile engines FAEREDH ERIEIANE RV X: X VLRERN  2,835,736,06845  2,199,258,770.80
Other automobile components  H /7 E T &+ 3,839,537,272.29  2,997,940,464.72 |EERLYANERIEE:S 2,748,313,649.23
Others it 412,033,903.60 349,813,771.68 225,810,921.21 195,014,671.18

LR DAL R T R R R A 31,958,729,970.78  24,318,137,628.81

For the period from January to June 2011, revenue from the top 5 2001 F1-6 HRTARE P E XA

customers is presented as follows: U

Proportion of

total revenue

Amount (%)
T L ON:A]
k] (%)
Beiqi Foton Motor Co., Ltd
bAEBEAERDERAF 4,300,261,010.32
Faw Jiefang Automotive Co., Ltd
—URBUTERR QA 2,195,495,490.08
Dongfeng Motor Co., Ltd (Commercial Vehicle Company)
REAEERAAMBEAA 1,315,200,279.79
Baotou Northern Benz Heavy Truck Company Limited
BELFERRERBRAA 1,314,070,546.00
Pang Da Automobile Trade Co., Ltd
BERAIEEERNBRAR 991,985,159.92

10,117,012,486.11




I st of sales (Continu

riod from January to June 2010, revenue from

ted as follows:

Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd

3,674,880,389.84

11.06

EERTERD AR AR
Faw Jiefang Trade Co., Ltd 2,024,716,321.44 6.09
—URBTEBR AR
Baotou Northern Benz Heavy Truck Company Limited 1,299,132,211.10 3.91
BRI HFERTEBR AR
Saic-lveco Hongyan Commercial Vehicle Co., Ltd 914,262,788.40 2.75
EREKERAEEAERRAR
Anhui Hualing Heavy-Duty Automotive Co., Ltd 803,190,516.24 2.42
ZHEEBANTHEBRAT

8,716,182,227.02 26.23

Revenue is listed as follows:

Revenue from principal operations FEEBBA
Sales of goods and others $HE o R H At
Other revenue HAth ZE U
Sales of materials SHE MR
Sales of power HEFN
Lease of fixed assets AR EE & E
Provision of non-industrial labour REIETEST
Others Hith

BEWATIRAOT

January-June 2011

201151-6 B

34,644,218,458.53

1,553,098,871.86
25,342,514.36
31,094,803.30
867,662.83
372,791,484.58

1,983,195,336.93

36,627,413,795.46

January-June 2010
20104 1-6 A

31,958,729,970.78

1,061,781,028.23
25,447,979.65
30,423,339.01
550,000.00
147,474,132.29

1,265,676,479.18

33,224,406,449.96




45.

January-June 2011
2011%1-68

Refer to Note lll-Taxes for tax rates.

6,874,027.87
97,324,404.13
58,628,845.84
2,393,364.18

165,220,642.02

Distribution and selling expenses

Staff costs

After-sales and product return fee
Freight and packing fee
Marketing fee

Travel fee

Office expenses

Lease fee

Fixed assets depreciation

Others

BIMA
—RREMRREEA
BEBROER
miBFEAE R

E

WAER

HeEs
EEEESE

Hh

178,174,475.14

AHARE2AME=  BR -

45. SHEEHRH

January-June 2011
201151-6 B

98,392,862.40
794,174,237.31
416,034,544.90
96,251,170.02
29,382,169.81
15,490,402.80
9,631,251.80
6,751,765.08
64,990,109.39

1,531,098,513.51

January-June 2010
20104 1-6 A

68,746,622.30
823,131,058.61
361,715,410.77
82,702,909.41
27,932,117.26
10,014,055.09
11,447,262.50
3,118,471.45
156,313,925.05

1,545,121,832.44




47.

48.

1 o il .
administrative expe

Office expenses . )

8 TRA

S B
WAR

ERBELFEER

January-June 2011
201151-6 B

579,091,048.91

169,400,991.35
149,035,236.27
106,982,572.49
93,113,605.93
73,651,784.41
20,701,832.07
19,596,041.83
18,581,589.71
16,127,983.54
15,239,812.22
11,497,115.06
10,279,020.71
9,913,242.97
142,062,050.06

1,435,273,927.53

47. MK ER

January-June 2011

2011%1-6 8

83,795,598.79

81,686,678.53

(1,999,750.77)
3,361,719.15

3,470,888.64

Fixed assets depreciation BEEEENE
Taxes e

Travel fee ERE

Lease fee RE®

Fuels and materials expenses BAR R MR B
Promotion fee EEEER
Repair fee (35
Transportation fee ERE
Heating expense g B
Vehicle usage fee BEFEAE
Others Eth
Finance expenses

Interest expenses e

Less: Interest income R MBI
Exchange gains or losses B
Handling fees and others FEERHAM
Impairment loss of assets

Bad debt loss ZREK

Loss due to decline in value of inventories 17 & ¥k {8 18 &

48. EERMERX

January-June 2011
201151-6 B

71,448,467.99
28,338,517.51

99,786,985.50

84,722,722.92
61,600,155.47
17,299,810.44
21,663,499.03
6,427,731.52
7,573,272.77
20,858,278.56
8,288,652.23
10,011,044.89
7,741,715.47
168,718,463.82

1,212,724,968.26

January-June 2010
2010%F1-6 A

110,256,697.92
51,676,409.56
(346,194.18)

9,611,209.21

67,845,303.39

January-June 2010
2010%F1-6 A

159,419,388.75
146,838,339.95

306,257,728.70




RAEZE N RRERE

HeRARERE

o4 . .

cl: investment income fro Hep o B
investments in associates -

Investment income from disposal of BETRAAEANEE RS
subsidiaries

Investment income from disposal of BEEEMRPREREELND

other long-term equity investments BE W=
Investment income gained during the ~ AR HEL B EE S M
period in which the Company held BE/MEE RS

available-for-sale financial assets, etc.

The top five investees with highest aggregate profit in long-term

equity investment income under the equity method are presented as

January-June 2011
2011%1-68

38,881,921.81

38,881,921.81 1,758,841.43

(46,038.28)

28,540,000.00 =
5,600,000.00 3,600,000.00
73,021,921.81 5,312,803.15

e

74

v

m

ERENRPBRERE RS

BN EEESRRNAIARRESEMN

follows: T

January-June 2011

2011%1-6 B

Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Investment Co., Ltd. LEBBAIXRERBRAR 30,013,042.53

Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. ILEmEREERAA 6,696,212.04
Weichai Westport Inc. HELCED PR OISR ) ¥ e R B Bk

BERAFE 5,592,194.63

CIMC-SHAC (Xi'an) Special Vehicles Co., Ltd. PERAER(AR)EREFRAA 3,439,711.53

Shaanxi Tonghui Automobile Transportation Co., Ltd ~ FBRFEBIE/AE YR AR A7)

1,034,232.43

46,775,393.16




50.

me (Continued)

PERBRAER(E
HESCEY N R O
BERAT

al Vehicles Co., Ltd.

REBREBEEBRAT

Shaanxi Tonghui Autom

Shaanxi Eurostar Auto Co., Ltd

PRETBE TERER QA
PRAEREF A5 TE R D AR A A

(101,126.43)

8,735,402.11

As at 30 June 2011, the Group was not subject to significant

restrictions in remitting its investment income.

Non-operating income

B 1 B
FRBEERENSF
Hep: BEEERENG
&

Government grants
Gain on disposal of non-current assets

incl: gain on disposal of fixed assets

gain on disposal of intangible assets BYEERER
Profit from debt restructuring BB ELAFE
Gain arising from the excess of XK EEE N
fair value of identifiable net assets REEWE P ER
related to the acquired business over AHREFEELANEBE
consideration of business combination & A4 By 2%
Others HAth,

MR2011FE6A30H » KEBHKREW

miERIYEE ARG

50. &EIMPKA

January-June 2011

201151-6 B

57,143,986.04
33,788,436.38
17,120,485.92
16,352,492.75

12,749,645.63
38,432,914.93

142,114,982.98

January-June 2010

2010 1-6 A

36,776,334.64
2,469,701.15
2,469,701.15

21,379,795.28

21,180,671.14

81,806,502.21




51.

Non-operating expenses

Loss on disposal of non-current assets
Incl: loss on disposal of fixed assets

Loss from debt restructuring

Donation expenditure

Others

FRBEERERK
Hep - AREERERRK
BB EHEER
HIMERE
HAth

January-June 2011
2011%1-68

54,291,470.13
1,826,565.91
1,025,950.00

57,143,986.04

51. EEI X

January-June 2011

201151-6 B

22,193,256.44
19,307,595.17

95,803.00
4,454,786.26
6,309,743.22

33,053,588.92

36.776.334.64

January-June 2010
201041-6 8

1,147,520.32
1,147,520.32
348,164.00
12,014,866.79
2,231,217.20

15,741,768.31
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V. Notes to key items of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)
52. Income tax expenses

HRBNROBRAT

RS i 25 BT 5 E (48
201146 H308 (A R#T)

Current tax expenses

Deferred tax expenses

EHAEHRER
BEMEHER

The relationship between income tax expenses and the total profit is

listed as follows:

Total profit

Tax at statutory tax rate

Effect of different tax rates applicable

to some subsidiaries
Adjustments to current tax of
previous periods
Profits and losses attributable to
associates
Income not subject to tax
Expenses not deductible for tax
Tax incentives on eligible
expenditures
Utilization of prior year deductible
losses
Unrecognized deductible losses
Effect of unrecognized deductible

temporary difference

MR

BOREM R ENHRIA
LT REEA TR X
VRE
AR IR E IS
B R
BERB SRR

Rk
BB ARA
AN E A
BT A R B mES
MR
AR FE AT EINE R

REERBWAIEINERE
AERWAENERHEER

By 486
V2

Note:t

Tax expense at the Group's effective

rate

BAREERBMRAENMER
M

Note: The income tax of the Group is calculated based on the estimated taxable
income gained in the PRC and applicable tax rate. Tax arising from
the taxable income in other regions is calculated at applicable tax rate
according to existing laws, interpretations and practices of the country in

which the Group operates.

(%)

4~ A OF B R I H kR

52. FTB &R

January-June 2011

2011%1-68

671,687,526.65
84,883,244.02

756,570,770.67

January-June 2010
2010%F1-6 A

814,887,788.59
(140,170,107.90)

674,717,680.69

PG T E A 27 B AR SR O B R 51 R 40

™

January-June 2011
201151-6 B

4,841,787,252.81

1,208,180,823.25

(475,251,277.38)

(5,893,165.38)
(910,450.00)
27,922,262.77

(16,450,138.61)

(6,559,629.96)
16,207,086.66

756,570,770.67

4,199,785.49

5,125,473.83

January-June 2010
20104 1-6 A

4,539,561,514.10

1,156,140,061.87

(470,464,120.84)

2,337,182.96

(124,745.93)

(4,690,740.54)

12,609,856.36

(22,307,963.04)

(9,311,229.36)
11,041,369.41

(511,990.20)

674,717,680.69

AEEMEHRZETRERARGSHOMG
AAEMTMERERERRER - R
A E A b [ JE 4R 2 FT S RO TR IR IR AR
SEREMERRORITER - RE
RNEMEG - RBERREE



g e net p

areholders of the Con

standing ordinary shares.

Earnings Wam
Net profit of the current year FERARREEBRRERN
attributable to ordinary B EFAHE

shareholders of the Company

Shares it
Weighted average number of the  ZK/A &3 1T SNE BAYHY
ordinary shares outstanding of nEEEE(GE)
the Company (Note)

EPS (RMB/share) SRk (TR

The Company holds no potential shares that are dilutive.

Note: With the approval by the Company’s 12th meeting of the second session of
the Board on 23 August 2010, the first extraordinary general meeting, the
first general meeting of A Shares shareholders and first general meeting of
H Shares shareholders held on 26 October 2010, the Company proposed
to transfer from capital reserve 10 ordinary shares for every 10 shares held
by shareholders based on the total share capital of 833,045,683 shares on
the record date namely 30 June 2010. Upon completion of the transfer,
the total share capital of the Company was 1,666,091,366 shares.

January-June 2011 ; J-June 20
201151-6 B

3,501,706,567.71 3,234,588,804.33

1,666,091,366 1,666,091,366

2.10 1.94

ARRERBILEER

7o

LANE20106F8A23A -+ =
WEEE - 2010F10A268F—
BRREAE F—RARBESE
ME-AHBRBREEFZBB - M
2010F6 A0 AEXEAMBARA
833,045,683 AR - LWEARTE
SAEZERRFIORBEIOR TR
B RREILEHEARERAZER
1,666,091,366/% °



January-June 2011
2011%1-6 8

irvalueof AIEHESMEEAABME
ncial assets BB ELMBX (139,053,521.38)
W AR ESREEAREE

EYELNFEHYE

“ts of changes

N\

financial a (20,923,380.34)

(118,130,141.04) (32,711,122.29)

Share of investee’s other EREREZENERRE BN

comprehensive income under HiRa Wam P =R

equity method CRrE=Et (114,229,533.20) 187,206,277.50
Exchange differences on foreign BIMREINEITE Z 5

currency translation 12,516,498.39 (16,728,365.68)

(219,843,175.85) 137,766,789.53
55. Notes to items in cash flow statement 55. Re@REXREAFTE
Other cash received relating to operating activities amounted to KR Em gL EFBEENEREER
RMB587,632,719.00, primarily comprising trade monies received AR #¥587,632,719.00T - T2 X
from other companies, government subsidies etc. W B E A B AR SR - BUT 8 BEUL
N

Other cash paid relating to operating activities amounted to TRMEMELEEHEEANERES
RMB1,371,911,577.52, primarily comprising advertising expenses, BHARMN,371,911,577.527L + £
business trip expenses, after-sale expenses etc. ERINNESE ZRE - =08

%o



statemen

of asse

Depreciation of _
and investment properti

Amortization of intangible
assets

Amortization of long-term
prepaid expenses

Gains from disposal of fixed
assets, intangible assets and
other long-term assets

Finance expenses

Investment income

Decrease/(increase) in deferred
tax assets

(Increase)/decrease in

deferred tax liabilities

B EE#H

RHGEEREE

REBTEE EBREEM
H it = HE B WO e

8% & A

BB W

BELEMBHEENRD
(3% hn)

EEEHAadEnGgm
B

Decrease/(increase) in FERRED,(350)
inventories

(Decrease)/increase in e ERERNORD),
operating receivables #Ehn

Increase/(decrease) in e M ETIE B A i,
operating payables CRLA)

Others EHAh

Net cash flow from operating RESEBEA IR S

activities

mEFE

(1)

January-June 2011

2011%1-6 8

4,085,216,482.14

99,786,985.50

614,345,985.22

25,406,118.96

37,117,039.30

(11,595,179.94)

85,464,822.77

(VENPARPARAD!

85,862,376.33

(979,132.31)

76,450,452.79

(7,815,032,065.23)

2,504,830,574.65
(61,436,646.68)

(347,584,108.31)

306,257,728.70

569,445,623.45

17,878,560.70

45,252,293.10

(1,322,180.83)

96,438,109.20

(5,312,803.15)

(140,098,114.94)

(71,992.96)

(108,767,444.90)

(13,373,994,288.96)

11,347,212,271.75
(128,690,666.82)

2,489,070,927.75




ent to cash flow
related to acquisitions of subsidiarie

S units

January-June 2011
201151-6 B

Consideration for acquisitions
of subsidiaries and other B
business units 85,110,000.00

Cash and cash equivalents paid ~ EUf5 72 &) K H & 2 B A7 S 1

for acquisitions of subsidiaries RIESMIRESEEY

and other business units 30,000,000.00
Less: Amount of cash and cash & : VS F AR R E M & ¥ B
equivalents in subsidiaries HENREMRSEEY
and other business units
acquired 96,276,505.83
Net amount of cash paid for WMEFARREMEEBEM TR
acquisitions of subsidiaries and KR & F 7
other business units (66,276,505.83)
Net assets in subsidiaries and WEFREREME EEGH
other business units acquired FEE 44,110,000.00
Current assets mENVEE 143,516,229.65
Non-current assets FERBEE 662,133,311.10
Current liabilities M EE (681,165,895.12)
Non-current liabilities FEREEaE (26,624,000.00)
(3) Cash and cash equivalents (3) REeRBEEEY
30 June 2011 31 December 2010
20115 6H30H 2010F12A31H
Cash B
Incl: Cash on hand Hep: EFRE 1,253,293.01 738,640.69
Bank deposit on demand AR AR T8
RITEH 7,634,736,063.88 9,155,846,815.43
Other cash and cash AT BERE A XY
equivalents on demand HthEH¥ES 256,735,919.83 15,768,079.63

Closing balance of cash and B/ FRAeRACEEMHE
cash equivalents 7,892,725,276.72 9,172,353,535.75




representative

EARE 3 i3

#5m ' production operating activities of
EVE corporates under the Group
RERH WMRE
BEER
e
REVER/ BRERERNE
TEEELEED
2. Subsidiaries 2. FARFH
Details of subsidiaries are set out in Note IV. FRAFRMEM -
3. Associates 3. BeEhE

Details of associates are set out in Note V. 12. BErEHRWER 12
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VI. Related party relationships and transactions

HRBORHBERDE

o 75 i o B E (A

201146 H308 (A R#T)

N ~ Bl B s B A Je He 52 5 (%)

(Continued)
4. Particulars of other related parties which 4, HEAEBBREETEARIW
entered into material transactions with the BHRAEE A 1B R
Group
Related party relationships Referred to as
RS ER IGE:
Weifong Weichai Deutz Diesel Engine Co., Ltd. Common control by parent Weichai Deutz
HEDT S B RSB PR 2 A [ — & A a2 il S R

Chongging Weichai Diesel Engine Works

=l Sl T

Shandong Weichai Import and Export Co., Ltd.

RS DB R A R

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.

HSRERB N BR AR

Yangzhou Yaxing Coach Co., Ltd.
HINEERERGERAT

Fujian Longgong Machinery Company Limited

BEL(EZ)MMEBERR QA

Shanghai Longgong Machinery Company Limited

BET(LB)BMEERRQA

Chutian Engineering Machinery Company Limited

R R TR A IR A 7

Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd.

L TAZ AR AR 1 B IR A )

Shaanxi Automotive Group Co., Ltd.

R A EEEBREERR

Shaanxi Huazhen Sancan Industry and Trading Co., Ltd.

BEE=—ELZEERETA A

Beijing Shaanzhonggi Vehicle Sale Centre

IERRETTEHER L

Shaanxi Tongli Special Purpose Vehicle Co., Ltd.

BREE I ERTEEREERT]

Shaanxi Lantong Transmission Axle Co., Ltd.

REERESHHERAT

Baoji Huashan Engineering Vehicles Co., Ltd.

BHE L TIREWMEREMELRT

Shaanxi Automobile Group Wenzhou Yunding

Automobile Co., Ltd.

pren TR EIRMNETEAEBRAR]

Shaanxi Automobile Group Changsha Huantong
Automobile Manufacturing Co., Ltd.

prEnTEEERDRBAIBRERRAT

Shaanxi Automobile Group Yan‘an Special Purpose

Vehicles Co., Ltd.
PREESEEBELEAEHR AT

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive Transmission Co., Ltd.

REE LT EEHEE AR AT

Common control by parent
RA—SaaEs
Common control by parent

A— &2 mEH

Common control by parent

A — &2 &R

Common control by parent

[/ — & A a2l

Same key management personnel

F—FAREREAE

Same key management personnel

F—FAEEREAR

Same ultimate controller

[ — S AR A

Same ultimate controller

Al — & A& A

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B REIRFA—HREEASR

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAR

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

HFRAIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

HFRAEIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAS

Same key management personnel
as subsidiaries

B RAIRFA—HREEAS

Chongging Weichai
i3
Weichai Import and
Export
ML O
Weichai Heavy-duty
Machinery
WS E
Yangzhou Yaxing
HBMNEE
Longgong (Fujian)
EL(ERZ)
Longgong (Shanghai)
BEI(LE)
Chutian Engineering
IR R
Shantui Engineering
TR
Shaanxi Automotive
IRt

Huazhen Sancan
ER-E

Shaanzhong Sale Centre

PRE 4 E L

Tongli Special Purpose
BOHER

Lantong Transmission

EREDH

Baoji Vehicle

BHEH

Wenzhou Yunding
BINETE

Changsha Huantong
RARB

Yan'an Special Purpose

R ERE

Shaanxi Fast Gear
Automotive

PROEEE
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

VI. Related party relationships and transactions
(Continued)

5. Major transactions between the Group and its
related parties

Bt g%ﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁfiﬂ’ﬂiiﬁ

(1) Transaction of goods and services with related (1) BAEAERNEERS
parties
Purchase of goods from related parties B R e B R
January-June 2011 January-June 2010
20114 1-6 A 20104 1-6 A
Amount Percentage Amount  Percentage
o] Lt il k- tE 451
(%) (%)
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
BOEEE 915,805,549.16 Sk 894,335,522.83 43.25
CIMC-SHAC
FESR 374,212,270.26 14.20 188,738,875.64 9.13
Tongli Special Purpose
BHEA 345,859,009.14 (Sl 242,048,231.99 11.71
Westport New Energy
FaE R 271,227,362.64 10.29 81,265,256.42 3.93
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
HELE B 203,684,593.39 Akl 210,151,883.41 10.17
Huazhen Sancan
ER-E 200,313,405.72 LA 236,300,131.41 11.43
Xian Cummics
% BRAA AT 89,284,895.81 3.39 1,422,145.30 0.07
Lantong Transmission
ERESH 71,342,278.05 2.71 57,636,214.50 2.79
Weichai Deutz
S R 42,602,069.29 1.62 67,121,170.55 3.25
Yan'an Special Purpose
L HRE 38,109,336.57 1.45 - -
Changsha Huantong
EAIRB 36,315,958.79 1.38 18,831,604.88 0.91
Tonghui Transportation
FEEYR 34,655,180.22 1.32 36,928,610.54 1.79
Luyuan Automotive Fitting
BOR)RED 2,894,511.06 0.1 135,182.64 0.01
Dalian Hongyuan
REBIR 5,386,887.78 11,849,415.40 0.57
Eurostar Auto
BR&F )8 2,147,350.43 3,403,418.80 0.16
Weichai Group Holdings
e R AR 1,279,457.98 4,935,661.70 0.24
Chongging Weichai
EE L 174,607.80 150,888.08 0.01
Shaanzhong Sale Centre
PREHEH O - 12,090,818.89 0.58
2,635,294,724.09 ([elereler - 2,067,345,032.98 100.00




Continued)

transactions between t
parties (Continued)
ction of goods and services with

from related parties

Weichai Group Holdings
SRR

Shaanxi Automotive
oAt

Chongging Weichai
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
7 )

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
Mo B

Sale of goods to related parties

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
POEEE)

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
oL E

Longgong (Shanghai)
EI(LE)

Longgong (Fujian)
EBI(R&)

Huazhen Sancan

ER-E

Westport New Energy
B IR

Chutian Engineering
e R

Changsha Huantong
RORB

Shantui Engineering

Ly TH2

January-June 2011
201141-6 A
Amount Percentage

&8 £ Bl
(%)

119,794,600.77 46.60

30,401,612.78 11.83

85,814,133.53 33.38

20,355,750.02 7.92

708,028.26 0.28

257,074,125.36 100.00

January-June 2011
201141-6 R
Amount Percentage

T )
(%)

627,455,259.28 25.17

337,969,284.87 13.56

269,854,914.53 10.82

199,336,752.14 8.00

153,574,280.50 6.16

145,285,917.30

120,915,311.39

119,767,733.39

116,340,704.69

110,515,829.46 48.44
35,355,372.87 15.50
57,207,819.76 25.08
21,665,463.60 9.50

3,371,244.54 1.48

228,115,730.23 100.00

B BB 77 35 & B am
January-June 2010
20105 1-6 A
Amount  Percentage
i L1
(%)

624,227,986.48 29.63

264,353,999.81 12.55

229,176,923.08 10.88

240,117,948.72 11.40

162,247,469.44 7.70
30,547,410.65 1.45
60,297,025.66 2.86
99,555,640.29 4.73

126,086,516.22 5.99
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

VI. Related party relationships and transactions 7~ ~ B i 5 Bl & e H A2 55 (48)

(Continued)
5. Major transactions between the Group and its 5. AEEHEBEBINEER
related parties (Continued) 2(8)
(1) Transaction of goods and services with related (1) BB IrTmmilEBERS
parties (Continued) (&
Sale of goods to related parties (Continued) Al EEE T s R (48 )
January-June 2011 January-June 2010
20114F1-6 R 20104 1-6 A
Amount Percentage Amount  Percentage
ok L 6 EF sdt]!
(%) (%)
Weichai Import and Export
ML O 91,587,739.35 3.67 73,632,147.43 3.50
Tongli Special Purpose
HOEA 89,691,522.88 3.60 26,224,921.57 1.24
Weichai Deutz
WS B HOR 66,909,115.37 2.68 39,473,030.89 1.87
Chongging Weichai
BE AL 49,688,247.78 1.99 25,683,581.90 1.22
Baoji Vehicle
EHER 33,930,700.96 55,808,265.42 2.65
Wuhai New Power
58 R 29,672,760.26 - -
Wenzhou Yunding
BINETE 15,833,935.18 25,308,612.00 1.20
Tonghui Transportation
EE YR 12,015,133.80 9,509,748.42 0.45
Eurostar Auto
BRETRE IR E 9,680,476.29 4,523,515.46 0.21
Yangzhou Yaxing
HINE 2 1,061,692.31 - -
Weichai Group Holdings
S 1 R 983,874.51 519,301.06 0.02
Xian Cummics
FaZ R AR T 613,169.49 1,063,431.60 0.05
Fuping Logistics Park
=2 inE 482,564.10 - -
Lantong Transmission
ERESH 239,683.29 404,727.12 0.02
Shaanxi Automotive
pRAEE 134,977.07 262,651.18 0.01
CIMC-SHAC
FESFR 34,500.00 -
Shaanzhong Sale Centre
BREHEF O 7,414,317.07 0.35
Yan'an Special Purpose
ELERAE (8,974.36) - -
2,493,016,776.37 2,106,473,671.47 100.00




tions between the G
arties (Continued)
on of goods and services with relate

o related parties

January-June 2011
2011%F1-6 A
Amount Percentage

k| ]
(%)

Weichai Deutz

LB AOR 28,467,718.82 12,118,612.41 20.65

Chongging Weichai

) 9,117,602.44 4,144,008.83 7.06

Shaanxi Automotive

Bk 5 £ B 8,807,327.86 7,477,951.32 12.74

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery

S E 6,190,398.15 29,985,230.96 51.08

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive

POEEE 3,095,507.95 : 3,260,548.61 5.55

Weichai Import and Export

HESGER D 729,830.00 : 650,762.00 1.11

Xian Cummics

7% AR AT 1,063,431.60 1.81
56,408,385.22 58,700,545.73 100.00

During the year, the prices for the Group’s sale of goods and REE - AEEMBAKSHEE

rendering of services to related parties were determined with AR RREHLEBERL2ETS

reference to market rates. BIERE ©



BEYR
Xian Cummics
a2 RER AT
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
HESC B

Westport New Energy
BT IR

Huazhen Sancan

BBR-E

Shaanxi Automotive

UIRESL!

Leasing of assets from related parties

Weichai Group Holdings
SR IR

Shaanxi Automotive
AL

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
POEEE)

Chongging Weichai

BE L

January-June 2011

201151-6 B

5,020,880.40

4,051,840.68

2,044,629.63

1,337,400.71

1,217,645.82

65,250.00

13,737,647.24

2,619,0

4,051,840.68

2,115,134.10

1,383,517.98

864,687.06

41,760.00

11,075,993.10

BRI AHEE

January-June 2011

201151-6 B

21,420,000.00

8,113,674.78

5,869,208.60

1,999,998.00

37,402,881.38

January-June 2010

2010 1-6 A

21,420,000.00

13,819,979.40

5,886,434.59

1,999,998.00

43,126,411.99




or s between the G

parties (Continued)
assets with related parties

January-June 2011
20114E1-6H
Amount Percentage

&8 £ 4
(%)

Shaanxi
Automotive

BRE(EED BEETEEE 361,125.32 100.00

(4) Co-investment Commitment with related parties (4) BERAE T HEIREAGE
Details are set out in Note VIII. Investment commitment. FRMFEN  REEAFE -
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VI. Related party relationships and transactions 7 ~ B W )5 B /& S 32 5 (%)
(Continued)
6. Amounts due from/to related parties 6. Bt R EWE RIS

31 December 2010
2010412 A31H

30 June 2011
201196 H30H

Gross carrying

Provision for

Gross carrying

Provision for

amount bad debt amount bad debt

FREIEREE RERER AREAER EIRERE
Accounts receivable
P W ER K
Chutian Engineering
L 2 123,929,859.00  (6,196,492.95) 51,573,045.00  (2,578,652.25)
Changsha Huantong
EAIRE 93,831,321.85 (4,689,748.14) 79,373,781.58 (3,613,294.15)
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
LB 88,607,198.37  (4,430,359.92) 32,634,600.59  (1,631,730.03)
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
POEEE) 75,964,738.60  (3,798,236.93) 10,031.58 (501.58)
Wuhai New Power
SEHER 37,492,929.51  (1,655,396.48) = =
Weichai Deutz
WS BHOR 31,466,705.90  (1,573,335.30) 328,576.36 (16,428.82)
Weichai Import and Export
LR O 29,804,914.10  (1,363,575.72) 9,515,815.04 (459,478.05)
Eurostar Auto
BRETHS)TE RS ehlEn) . 27,187,717.07  (4,306,319.29)
Baoji Vehicle
BHER 17,433,653.00 (UALEPAEE . 19,222,523.64 (961,126.20)
Longgong (Fujian)
REEI(EZ) 16,617,178.96 (830,858.95) 3,798.96 (189.95)
Longgong (Shanghai)
EIL(EE) 15,489,994.61 (774,499.73) 20,423.31 (1,021.17)
Westport New Energy
BRI 1,133,429.80 (56,671.49) 1,432,009.80 (71,600.49)
Tongli Special Purpose
BHER 897,775.25 (51,458.37) 2,361,594.80 (118,079.74)
Shaanxi Automotive
Dt 862,999.08 (862,999.08) 862,999.08 (43,149.95)
Shantui Engineering
TR 163,536.50 (8,176.83) 36,661,970.86  (1,833,098.55)
Lantong Transmission
i [E 5Bl 22,457.35 (1,122.87) - -

560,906,408.95

(32,974,616.01)

261,188,887.67

(15,634,670.22)




30 June 2011
201146 H30H
Gross carrying Provision for
amount bad debt
ARMEIEREE RRER

Other receiva
H 1t P& LK
Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
BOEEE) 62,070,577.29  (3,103,528.86) - =
Weichai Group Holdings
SR R 740,499.54 (37,024.98) - =
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
Wuhai New Power
SEHER

Luyuan Automotive Fitting
BRI

924.67 (46.23)

28,393,365.77 (1,419,668.29)

13,596,223.84 (4,078,867.15)

62,811,076.83 (3,140,553.84) 41,990,514.28 (5,498,581.67)

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201146 H30H 2010F12A31H

Notes receivable
A ES

Baoji Vehicle
EHER 28,000,000.00 11,200,000.00
Weichai Import and Export
S O 16,000,000.00 -
Weichai Group Holdings
WS PERY 787,616.00 -
Longgong (Shanghai)
BEL(LE#E)

Chutian Engineering
e R

Shantui Engineering
e T A2
Changsha Huantong
RARB

60,000,000.00

23,219,500.00

13,710,000.00

10,800,000.00

44,787,616.00 118,929,500.00




Xian Cummics
7% BE AR A
Weichai Deutz

58 HOR

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery
HLEE

Tonghui Transportation

B E Y

Weichai Group Holdings
iy

Shaanxi Automotive

b E

Dividends receivable

& W AR R

Eurostar Auto
BT R A=

Tonghui Transportation
BEDR

No bad debt provision was recognized for the aforesaid notes
receivable, prepayments and dividends receivable from related

parties.

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

31,572,910.01
7,068,964.19
4,382,099.17
3,623,546.30
2,626,987.89

1,287,729.09

50,562,236.65

3,040,000.00

1,489,218.53

4,529,218.53

197,887.82

69,135.00

40,450,122.08

3,040,000.00

3,040,000.00

LR T KRR  BAKBERE
Yo RSN B R TR AT PRI AR A o



Accounts Payable

e A4 BR K

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive

D E)
CIMC-SHAC
hEEFR

Tongli Special Purpose
BOEA

Lantong Transmission
EREDH
Westport New Energy
B B
Huazhen Sancan
EHRoE

Yan'an Special Purpose
EZERE
Eurostar Auto
BRET 45 78
Weichai Deutz

WS BHOR
Changsha Huantong
RARB

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery

SR E

Weichai Group Holdings
WS PERY

Wenzhou Yunding
AMETR

Shaanxi Automotive
PR

Baoji Vehicle

BHEW

Tonghui Transportation
BEDR

Xian Cummics

7% BRI A

30 June 2011
2011%¥6H30H

107,121,675.00

107,121,675.00

286,952,699.71

63,009,066.21

57,451,161.34

39,404,529.24

35,686,455.37

30,414,007.48

7,114,014.99

4,621,333.13

3,124,423.69

2,124,746.71

1,352,420.94

1,233,177.06

401,536.93

347,546.83

43,400.00

12,667.75

533,293,187.38

712,000,000.00

223,268,980.49

10,000,873.00

66,903,088.41

22,563,185.02

45,009,125.58

31,451,513.50

2,541,817.20

7,283,341.93

30.00

5,139,274.93

5,938.92

286,344.53

100,000.00

6,436,245.56

6,743,923.76

427,733,682.83




uazhen Sancan
BEBR-E
Yangzhou Yaxing
N2

Wenzhou Yunding
BINETE

Yan'an Special Purpose
EZEME

Shantui Engineering
TR
CIMC-SHAC

mESR

Westport New Energy
BT R R

Wuhai New Power
S8R
Changsha Huantong
RARE

Lantong Transmission

EREgwn

30 June 2011
20116 HA30H

6,111,555.00

4,380,950.00

2,334,046.84

640,874.90

400,000.00

249,278.06

240,000.00

125,400.00

5,000.00

2,201.60

14,489,306.40

5,420,410.00

755,955.90

84.00

2,201.60

7,972.10

6,186,623.60




e from/to

priq
Westport New Energy

B RTRER

Shaanxi Fast Gear Automotive
BOEEE)

Huazhen Sancan

EHR-E

Tongli Special Purpose
BIHEM

Changsha Huantong
RORE

Yan'an Special Purpose
EZEAE

CIMC-SHAC

HESER

Wenzhou Yunding

BINETE

Tonghui Transportation
BEDR

Chutian Engineering

R

Amounts due from/to related parties were interest free and
unsecured. Of which the terms of repayment for amounts of
trading nature will follow the requirement of terms of trading, while

amounts of non-trading nature have no fixed terms of repayment.

30 June 2011
20116 A30H

50,497,384.70

19,300,000.00

2,904,927.51

1,800,000.00

930,000.00

600,000.00

300,000.00

200,000.00

80,000.00

12,515.19

76,624,827.40

R Ui K% A e e

26,666.64

54,600.00

220,000.00

200,000.00

260,000.00

12,515.19

500,000.00

51,482,533.17

HIEHREFE

A Hh o EHERNERNE
WESGFMRTE  FBEHEREET

B o



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

VII. Contingencies

1.

Exposure to Confirmation Risks

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, a subsidiary of
the Company, entered into a tri-party cooperation agreement
with distributors and endorsing bank. Distributors will deposit
guarantee money of not lower than 30% to the bank and
apply for establishment of bank acceptance bill according to the
amount of credit facility provided by the bank. Shaanxi Heavy-
duty Motor Company Limited assumes security obligation in
favour of the distributors for the difference between amount of
notes and guarantee money. As at 30 June 2011, open position
of outstanding acceptance bill was RMB2,582,660,000.00 (31
December 2010: RMB 1,144,880,000.00).

Finance lease business

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited, a subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a cooperation agreement with each of
Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd. and CBD Leasing Co., Ltd.
("finance lease companies”). It is agreed by and between the two
parties that the finance lease companies shall provide finance
lease service to Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited or
its distributors. Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Company Limited shall
provide joint liability guarantee in respect of the leasee’s failure to
pay the instalment payments and interests under the finance lease.
As at 30 June 2011, risk exposure of possible joint liabilities was
RMB 57,980,314.20.

VIII. Commitments
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B 5 i 3 M R (48)
201146 A308 (A R¥T)

+£ -8
1.

I\~ &

Capital commitments B AR Eqh
Contracted, but not provided for BENEREE

Authorized by the Board,

EREFSHEEREL

but not contracted

1,391,618,844.88

1,403,553,144.88

A IH

REZHORRE
RAARZFARBIRAERREFR
NAEQHEE  AERIT=FFE
=HeERR SEEREBTEA
TER30%HRES - RIBERTH
THO—EEREE  BFERIZRIT
EHIER - JREBEAFEFR A A
RIEEERHERcFHERESZ
MR ZRAERBFEMS - #1E2011
F6H308 Ik - HAREIH Y E R
WA %8 A A R #2,582,660,000.00
7L (2010F 12 A31 8 : ARK
1,144,880,000.007T) °

AMEREER
RARZFARIRAEETEHGRA
ASRIRLEREHEERAQA
FemBAEARAR(IRMERER
AIDEIEERE  EHATHER
EARAREERTEERARNE
KHEEREREAERY - RAER
MBEARAR ARMERE/AR T K
X HHBMEARES AR R EIR
HEBREBEERME - H1E20115F6A30
B AgemESETREARKO A
ANR#57,980,314.207T °

30 June 2011
2011%¥6H30H

31 December 2010
201012 A831H

2,192,914,803.83

11,934,300.00 -

2,192,914,803.83
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

VIII. Commitments (Continued)

IX.

PR 5 i 3 M R (48)
201146 A308 (A E¥T)

I\~ AR IH ()

30 June 2011

Investment commitment

Authorized by the Board but not

contracted

— Shandong Heavy Industry Finance Co.,

Ltd.

Contracted, but not provided for
- Xi'an FC Intelligence Transmission Co.,

Ltd.

REAGH

EWESEIE

B AREL
—IIRETEEH
BHERAR

BEELEREE
—ARERERE
BHARIA

201146 H30H
Note 1
1
200,000,000.00
Note 2
52

255,000,000.00

455,000,000.00

Note 1: The resolution approving the establishment of Shandong Heavy Industry Finance
Co., Ltd. by the co-investment of the Company and its related parties was
considered and approved by the Board of the Company on 18 November 2010.
The shareholding structure and proportion of capital contribution of Shandong

Heavy Industry Finance Co., Ltd. are as follows:

31 December 2010
201012 A31H

200,000,000.00

200,000,000.00

1 R2010F 11 B18AARRIESTEF & kit
HETARREEH H HRAKRERLIURET
SEVBAERARMNER  IWRETIEEH
BERARBRELERHELHDOT ¢

Contribution Percentage
Name of Shareholder BRRER HESHE Frik LBl
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. LWRETEBEARDA 350,000,000.00 35%
Weichai Power Co., Ltd. HEHNRGBRDF 200,000,000.00 20%
Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd. HEERROERAT 200,000,000.00 20%
Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd. I TRREWR D ER AR 200,000,000.00 20%
China Jingu International Trust Co., Ltd. TEEREREEERAETAT 50,000,000.00 5%
Total At 1,000,000,000.00 100%

It had not been implemented as at 30 June 2011.

Note 2: The resolution approving the establishment of Xi‘an FC Intelligence Transmission
Co., Ltd. by the co-investment of the Group and its related parties was
considered and approved by the Board of the Group on 8 April 2011. The
shareholding structure and proportion of capital contribution of Xi'an FC

Intelligence Transmission Co., Ltd. are as follows:

It had not been implemented as at 30 June 2011.

ZEEHZE2011F6A30A HAEN °

2 R2011F4AA8EASEEESRALMMET
ANEE BN ARRERTALERE &
EHERAANER  AXERTHEEDHE
RARREEERLELAOT

ZEEHZE2011F6A30A HAEN °

Contribution Percentage
Name of Shareholder BRRER HESHE 4t L 1
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. REZLHERERATAR 255,000,000.00 51%
Shaanxi Fast Auto Drive Group Company PP AL ABEEEE 20,000,000.00 4%
Carterpillar China Investment Co., Ltd. FERSH(PEIREERAA 225,000,000.00 45%
Total A&t 500,000,000.00 100%

Events after the balance sheet date

On 28 July 2011, the Company issued the first tranche of medium-
term debentures for the year 2011 of unit face value of RMB100 in an
aggregate principal amount of RMB1,400 million. The maturity period is
five years and the interest rate is 5.65% per annum, on a fixed-interest-
rate basis. The proceeds have been transferred to the Company’s account

in full on 29 July 2011.

°

EEAFKARFHE

ARANFR2011E7H28HEIT 72011658
—HiREEE  AAEEBTHEAAR

#1007T

ERAAREI4ET

(CEa !

RASE  ZEEFRAE565% @ :F8H
XNAEMBXETHE HEEZSER2011
F7A29B 2 BEEARRGFERF o
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) BEHS R R Bk (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 H30H (A RE%T)
X. Other significant events T~ A B I
1. Leases 1. HE
For investment properties and operating lease-out of fixed assets, BREGERHERKEHLIEETEE

refer to Notes V.14 and 15.

As the lessee

28 MR ~ 145115 o

EAEFE A

Minimum lease payments
REAENSRE
30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156H30H 2010412 A318

Within 1 year (including 1 year) 1FAR(E1F) 32,489,073.21 30,307,530.91
1-2 years (including 2 years) 1FE2F(525) 19,044,579.69 15,687,851.06
2-3 years (including 3 years) 2FEEIF(E3F) 14,434,074.17 14,309,310.39
Over 3 years 3FLE 95,126,369.06 94,266,276.82
161,094,096.13 154,570,969.18
2. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value 2. U AEEFENEEN
afE
January-June 2011 20115 1-6 A

At period-

beginning

B8

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at fairvalue A4 BEHE
through profit or loss for BEEEHA

the period ok ey 3,672,000.00
Available-for-sale AHHESREE
financial assets 489,211,778.85

492,883,778.85

Profit and loss
from changes Accumulated Impairment
in fair value fair value recognized
in the current charged in the current
period to equity period At period-end
FHAREE SRR KR
2HRE RS AAEE WA E HRE

- (139,053,521.38) 350,158,257.47

- (139,053,521.38) 350,158,257.47
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)
2. Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

(Continued)

5 i R M 5 (48)
201146 H308 (A R#T)

-~ oAt F B R O (4

2.

UARBENEGEEN
£ 1% (%)

2010 20104
Profit and loss
from changes Accumulated Impairment
in fair value fair value recognized
At year- in the current charged in the current
beginning year to equity year At year-end
RERREE T AELR A REGHRE
EIE 2BB5 ZSHAAEE HE ERE
Financial assets CREE
Financial assets at fairvalue ~ AL BEHE
through profit or loss HEZFHA
for the period EHERNERAE - 3,672,000.00 - - 3,672,000.00
Available-for-sale EHESHEE
financial assets 385,996,731.05 - 103,215,047.80 - 489,211,778.85
385,996,731.05 3,672,000.00  103,215,047.80 - 492,883,778.85
3. Segment reporting 3. oWBHRE

Operating segments

The Group organizes and manages its operating business in

accordance with the nature of business and provision of products

and services. Each operating segment of the Group is one operating

group, providing products and services with risks and rewards

different from those of other operating segments.

The details of operating segments are as follows:

(@  manufacturing and sale of diesel engines and related parts

("Diesel engines”);

(b)  manufacturing and sale of automobiles and major automobile

components other than diesel engines (“Automobiles and

other major automobile components”);

(0 manufacturing and sale of non-major automobile

components (“Non-major automobile components”);

(d)  provision of import and export services (“Import & export

services”).

L= Eb
AEENRERHREZFOMEE A
KPR e 2 mn M AR 75 0 AR A1 S
g AEENSELE DR —EE
BEE - ?%ﬁi\ﬁﬁu”uT\ﬂ REMEED
BRI BSTRNEMEEDE
E’Ui&@ﬂ\ﬁ’ﬂ%ﬁ:%ﬂﬂ&% °
AT 8 & &0 B AE B e BLeE -
(@) HENMHER
H(M5empg]) -

ik YL

(b) HEMHEEABERFEARET
(T eELR®) ([TER
HaFZREEZTEMH])

(0 HENHEFIBRETIHMN
(TFEEBEREFTEML)

(d) REFEEDBARB([E
%1

H A R



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

3.

Segment reporting (Continued)

Operating segments (Continued)

Management monitors the results of operating segments separately
for the purpose of making decisions about resources allocation
and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated
based on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of adjusted
total profits. The adjusted total profits are measured consistently
with the Group's total profits, except that interest income, finance
expenses, dividend income, gains from changes in fair value of
financial instruments as well as head office and corporate expenses

are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude equity investments at fair value through
profit or loss for the current period, derivative instruments,
dividends receivable, available-for-sale financial assets, long-
term equity investments, goodwill, deferred tax assets and other
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets are

managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude derivative instruments, borrowings, tax
payable, deferred tax liabilities and other unallocated head office
and corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group

basis.

Inter-segment transfers are transacted with reference to the prices

used in the transactions carried out with third parties.
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porting (Continue
segments (Continued)

e 2077

s T

Segment Revenue: ABRA :

Sale to extemal customers NERPHE
Inter-seqment sale APAEE

Total ait

Adjustment: HE:

Elimination of inter-segment sale BB PHEE
Revenue WA

Segment Results pEEE

Adjustment: HE:

Elimination of inter-segment results BRI DEEE
Interest Income HEWA

Dividend income and unallocated income R S A ok AR
Corporate and other unallocated expenses 2 &Mk 2B
Finance expenses g

Profit before tax iR

Diesel engines

31

14,358,660,329.72

2,841,848,644.02

17,200,508,973.74

3,557,715,439.49

Automobiles
and other major Non-major
automobile automobile Import & export
components components services
REREM EE
IEREREN REFH £HORH

21,362,011,309.30 817,809,427.24 8893272920  36,627,413,795.46
367,574.62 104,256,491.89 2,946,472,710.53

21,362,378,883.92 922,065919.13 8893272920 39,573,886,505.99

(2.946,472,710.53)

36,627,413,795.46

1,358,122,519.36 99,491,574.45 (10,387,423.16)  5,004,942,110.14

(341,767,284.58)
81,686,678.53
215,136,904.81
(33,053,588.92)
(85,157,567.17)

4,841,787,252.81
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) BEHS R R Bk (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 H30H (A RE%T)
X. Other significant events (Continued) + - H A EEEREIE (4)
3. Segment reporting (Continued) 3. ﬁ"Bﬁ%’(ﬁ)
Operating segments (Continued) rmEDE (&)
30 June 2077 201146 H30H
Automobiles
and other major Non-major
automobile automobile Import & export
Diesel engines components components services
REREH iz
£y ITRESHA REZHH 0 R
30 June 2011 2011565308
Segment assets HHEE 23,687,367,234.35  23,709,351,228.44 1,395,060,480.38 558,954,373.72  49,350,733,316.89
Adjustment: FE:
Elimination of inter-segment receivables 157 S BB (1,410,301,893.68)
Corporate and other unallocated assets A EREMANEEE 11,074,520,811.58
Total assets 2EE 59,014,952,234.79
Segment liabllities HHEE 13490,180,378.23  14,140,356,268.63 609,774,701.92 3713983452 28,227,451,183.30
Adjustment: FE
Elimination of inter-segment payables EENUMERTE (1,410,301,893.68)
Corporate and other unallocated liabiliies A REM KPR E B 5,475,201,080.71
Total liabilities zag 32,342,350,370.33
Other segment information: HppHEn
Share of profit and loss from: EETHARAERES:
Associates N 38,953,343.18 (296,892.10) - 225470.73 38,881,921.81
Impairment loss of inventories FERERE (452,336.29) (26,522,070.60) (1,364,110.62) = (28,338,517.51)
Impairment loss of accounts receivable  FEUUER 2R E to BB 3
and other receivables BEEER (20,883,080.82) (46,183,868.76) (2,944,270.59) (1,437,47.82) (71,448,467.99)
Depreciation and amortization TERES (259,223,08589)  (394,083,629.62) (17,885,910.60) (6,284612.53)  (677,477,38.64)
Gain/{loss) from disposal of fxed assets BT AEEERNE/(1B%) 9,792,447.74 (5,559,273.46) (6,377,419.67) (30,331.9) (2,17457131)
Product warranty fees ERREER (589,526,80637)  (155,322,486.75) - - (744,849,293.12)
Investment in associates RELERTHRE 675,032,071.96 139,659,451.81 - 33311,372.83 848,002,896.60
Capital expenditure EARY (221342534869) (139465243030 (135,674,842.16) (1312,002.71)  (3,745,064,713.88)




component

AEREf

i

Segment Revenu AEBEA y ;
Sale to external customers NEREHE 13,442,869 411.43 19,048,596,514.86 637,725,534.37 9521498930  33,224,406,449.96
Inter-seqment sale AHEHE 2,846,366,321.28 33907350 105,691,627.90 - 2952397,02268
Total At 16,289,235,732.71 19,048,935,588.36 743.417,162.27 95,214989.30  36,176,803,472.64
Adjustment: FE:

Elimination of inter-segment sale BRI PREHE (2,952,397,022.68)
Revenue WA 33,224,406,449.96
Segment Results nigE 3,319,045,798.28 1,422,195,519.94 79,732,316.85 7,180,068.77 4,828,153,703.84
Adjustment HE-

Elimination of inter-segment results BErUmEE (292,124,423.40)
Interest Income FlElA 51,275,577.78
Dividend income and unallocated income REMARADRUE 87,119,305.36
Corporate and other unallocated expenses A EREHAPEER (15,741,768.31)
Finance expenses IR A (119,120,881.17)
Profit before tax R 4,539,561,514.10




Automobiles

adohermajor
automobile ato il
Diesel engines components component
AEREM 3FE%
L . e AERa
 Seqment asse SUEE 991084442149 20, o 126 @6 MJEBSOE
Adustment: FE - - M
Elimination of inter-segment receivables KB SR ERGE (1,835,734,094.77)
Corporate and other unallocated assets PEREMRA AR 12,584,698,876.25
Total assets BZE 52,517,202,857.36
Segment liabllities PHEE 1200547547749 13,636,341,497.44 514,503,033.19 4133521376 26,257,655,221.88
Adjustment: HE:
Flimination of inter-segment payables A SRERE (1,835,734,094.77)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities PERHUANTEE 4.725,153,134.72
Total liabilities BEE 29,147,074,261.83
Other segment information: HtAREH
Share of profit from: B THIARAE -

Associates BENE (831,639.56) (299.478.43) - (627,723.44) (1,758,841.43)
Provision for impairment of inventories FEREEE (4,230,870.33) (142,569,786.28) (37,683.33) - (146,838,339.94)
Impairment loss/{reversal) of accounts receivable JE4UE 583k £t B

and other receivables SHOREFE/(BE) (8713745900 (120,781,711.66) (5,056,842.68) 513291068 (159419,388.76)
Depreciation and amortization mERES (272,457,345.58) (342,735,417.44) (17,304,583.26) (79,130.97) (632,576,477.25)
Gainf{loss) from disposal of fixed assets BT EERENE/(B%) 1323,568.26 98,670.43 (100,057.86) - 1,322,180.83
Product warranty fees ERREER (500,951,630.55) (73,095,479.07) (13,743,520.82) - (587,790,630.44)
Ivestment i associates REERANRE 44,500,570.65 96,289,772.67 - 32,396,299.63 173,186,642.95

Capital expenditure BRER (402,246,058.33) (768,549,517.46) (22,188,739.56) (10,384.62)  (1,192,994,699.97)




n about products and services

nal transactions

January-June 2011
2011%1-6 8

Seim ik 14,358,660,329.72
5 N Hfth F &
 RETHE 21,362,011,309.30

#5%?%%&1# 817,809,427.24 637,725,534.37
Import & export services O AR 88,932,729.20 95,214,989.30

Non-major automobile components

36,627,413,795.46 33,224,406,449.96

Geographic information HhEEAZ 5

Revenue from external transactions N2 H U A

January-June 2011 January-June 2010
2011%1-68 2010%F1-6 A

Mainland China =N 17 ULyl e 31,818,386,306.82
Other countries and regions H b B R At [@ 149,261,246.21 140,343,663.96

34,644,218,458.53 31,958,729,970.78

Revenue from external transactions is attributable to the areas HINZZWABRBREFEFTERS -

where customers are located.



30 June 2011
2011%6H30H

15,081,067,783.45
49,594,063.57

15,130,661,847.02

=

MBEERBRNZEEMERSE - sy

Non-current assets are attributable to the areas where the assets ' E=

are located, excluding financial assets and deferred tax assets. TEECHEENELEMSBSHEE -
Information about major customers FEEFFE

Revenue of RMB4,300,261,010.32 (January to June 2010: EEBRA(EENRAZED K
RMB3,674,880,389.84) (which is 10% or more of the Group's total BEARAEBKRAI0%) AR
revenue) was derived from sales by Diesel engines segment and 4,300,261,010.32 7t ( 2010 F 1-6
Automobiles and other major automobile components segment to H :3,674,880,389.8470) 7k B A 4
a single customer, including sales to a group of entities which are MBS EHMTEREMEERETS
known to be under common control by that customer. HOHFERE—BEATP(BEEAT

RZEPEHITHOMEIR)NKA -



al financial instruments, othe

_ comprise borrowings, bonds payable, cu

d term deposits, etc. The main purpose of the

o raise funds for the Group’s operations.

ther financial assets and liabilities such as

d notes receivable, accounts payable and

rise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are

credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk.

Financial instruments by category

The carrying amounts of each category of financial instruments as

=

BE -

AEENERTAEHNIZARKRE

ERRR - RBERETIZEE

SRMIANE

BEABRANSRERTANKE

at the balance sheet date are presented as follows: EBEWNT :
30 June 2011 20114#6AH30H
Financial assets TRBE

Loans and Available-for-sale
receivables financial assets Total
ERNERFE AHHESHEE &t
Cash and cash equivalents EBEe 9,940,373,874.42 - 9,940,373,874.42
Notes receivable eSS 15,232,088,801.12 - 15,232,088,801.12
Accounts receivable JE U BR 70 5,985,095,511.29 - 5,985,095,511.29
Other receivables H o R 406,054,464.79 - 406,054,464.79
Available-for-sale financial assets AHESRERE - 350,158,257.47 350,158,257.47

Total

ast

31,563,612,651.62

350,158,257.47

31,913,770,909.09




Other financial
liabilities

HtemaE

1,192,420,171.00
654,727,273.00
13,723,797,134.39

owings
Accounts payable

AR

Notes payable e 2 4 4,392,958,673.01 B
Other payables H o FE 3R 4,046,518,025.34
Bonds payable R EH 1,287,086,195.49
Non-current liabilities due within one year —FREBPNIERHEE 327,900,000.00
Interest payable FERFE 53,701,408.33
Dividends payable JRE A s 742,520,087.52

26,421,628,968.08

317 December 2010 2010F12H31H
Financial assets TREE

Financial assets Loans and Available-for-sale

held for trading receivables financial assets Total

RHUEHEE ERAERTE AHEEeREE At

Cash and cash equivalents E%E2 - 11,158,565,486.77 - 11,158,565,486.77
Financial assets held for trading X SU & EEE 3,672,000.00 - - 3,672,000.00
Notes receivable EREE - 11,289,227,182.23 - 11,289,227,182.23
Accounts receivable R R SR - 4577,505,700.52 - 4,577,505,700.52
Other receivables H KR - 221,203,557.34 - 221,203,557.34
Available-for-sale financial assets  A[#tHESFEE - - 489,211,778.85 489,211,778.85
Total A 3,672,000.00  27,246,501,926.86 489,211,778.85  27,739,385,705.71
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) B ik R B T (48
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116 H30H (AR T)
X. Other significant events (Continued) Sl F: it B B IH
4. Financial instruments and their risks (Continued) @I A }Sﬁ E [Z B Ilfi (48)
Financial instruments by category (Continued) ST ESFE(E)
31 December 2010 (Continued) 2010128318 (&)
Financial liabilities SR AE

Other financial

liabilities

Hithema R

Short-term borrowings BHER 545,176,001.50
Long-term borrowings A E 3K 954,727,273.00
Accounts payable JE 1~ BR 3R 13,137,584,334.00
Notes payable ERT & 4,109,729,681.29
Other payables HibfERT =X 3,169,636,229.37
Bonds payable FE & H 1,285,239,261.49

Non-current liabilities due within one year

_QEW 'JHEE’];E/ML@JEEE%

31,990,000.00

Interest payable TS 22,730,310.28
Dividends payable JE - A% A 72,963,509.34

23,329,776,600.27
Credit risk B lE

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss on one party of a financial
instrument due to the failure of another party to meet its

obligations.

The Group trades only with recognized and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to trade
on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In
addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis to
ensure that the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant. For
transactions that are not denominated in the functional currency of
the relevant operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms
without the specific approval of the Department of Credit Control

in the Group.

EREE  RESBTAN—T 6
BITEB  ERB A BEEPBERX
BB o

REEEHLRAN  FERINE
ZHETRS c RBRAEBEHBUER
FHMEERKKAEATRETRS
WEPHEITEREZ - B/ NEE
YW AR TR IT R BT - AR
RAEETHEBREAZERRR - ¥
RARFAEELE BT RAMNE
HENRS - RIEREEEREHE
FIRrRI L& - BRAIREETIREER
R GG -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

4.

Financial instruments and their risks (Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which comprise
cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial assets, other
receivables and certain derivative instruments, arises from default of
the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying
amounts of these instruments. The Group is also exposed to credit
risk through the granting of financial guarantees, further details of

which are disclosed in Note VII.

The Group trades with its customers primarily on credit terms, and
generally requires payment in advance or cash on delivery for new
customers. Credit period is generally one month, extending up
to six months for major customers. Customers with good trading
record could be granted a longer credit period. Since the Group
trades only with recognized and creditworthy third parties, there
is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are
managed by customer/counterparty, by geographical region and by
industry sector. There are no significant concentrations of credit risk
within the Group as the customer bases of the Group’s accounts
receivable are widely dispersed in different sectors and industries.
The Group’s maximum possible credit risk equals to the carrying
amounts of accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheet.
As at 30 June 2011, the Group has no significant concentrations of
credit risk as 17.94% (31 December 2010: 28.01%) of the Group's

accounts receivable were receivables due from the top 5 customers.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from accounts receivable and other receivables are
disclosed in Notes V.4 and 7.

The main considerations for the impairment of loans receivable
include whether any payments of principal or interest are overdue
or whether there are any liquidity problems of borrowers, credit
rating downgrades, or infringement of the original terms of the
contract by the borrowers. The Group addresses loan impairment
assessment in two areas: individually assessed impairment and

collectively assessed impairment.
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s the risk that an enterprise may encounte
eeting obligations associated with financial liabilitie

ance between continuity and flexibility of
ns and debts to manage its liquidity risk.

ance between continuity

and flexibility of fundlng through thé Qse of bank borrowings,

bonds and other interest-bearing borrowings. As at 30 June 2011,
84.67% (31 December 2010: 90.24%) of the Group's borrowings
would mature in less than one year.

The table below summarizes the maturity profile of financial assets
and liabilities based on the undiscounted contractual cash flows:

30 June 2011

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents
Notes receivable
Accounts receivable

Other receivables

Current

0

EksEe 4,618,192,560.82
BRER 250,000.00
JEUER K 3,032,378,923.79
HA YR 480,109,278.34

8,130,930,762.95

1-3 months

123188

1,371,440,504.83
6,614,489,379.37
3,799,368,215.44

11,785,298,099.64

3 months to 1 year

MEARLEEIE

3,950,740,808.77
8,617,349,421.75

12,568,090,230.52

AEEHE
MEMSBERESBRETFRIN
REMENFEHEE TN TE -
R2011E6H30H © NEMS4.67%
(2010512 A31H : 90.24% ) &
HEIETB1ERTIE o

TEBMETEREENSRBEERR
WENERESREMENT R
DT

20116 H30H
1-5 years Over 5 years Total
1L EBSE SELE ]

9,940,373,874.42
15,232,088,801.12
6,831,747,139.23
480,109,278.34

32,484,319,093.11



s REEN
‘Bonds payable EffEH

Non-current liabilties due —FR3| B
within one year FRPaE

Interest payable ERFIS

Dividends payable JET AR

Current

L

8 13,723,797,134.39

4,046,518,025.34

53,701,408.33
742,520,087.52

18,566,536,655.58

1-3 months
123f8A

230,606,419.52
8,588,031.82

2,044,666,046.35
64,350,000.00

4,029,855.00

2,352,240,352.69

3 months to 1 year
MEANLEE

1,006,947,542.03
25,764,095.46

2,348,292,626.66

339,471,963.90

3,720,476,228.05

1-5 years
1ELB5E

665,955,876.26

1,439,425,000.00

2,105,380,876.26

Over 5 years
SERE

5616,776.11

5616,776.11

Total

CH
1,237,553,961.55
705,924,779.65
13,723,797,134.39
4,392,958,673.01
4,046,518,025.34
1,503,775,000.00

343,501,818.90
53,701,408.33
742,520,087.52

26,750,250,888.69

31 December 2010 2010F12HA31H
Financial assets TRMEE

Current 1-3 months 3months to 1 year 1-5 years QOver 5 years Total
k3 123 A EANERIF 15N EESE SENE At
Cash and cash equivalents SERe 9,086,885,456.12 - 2,071,680,030.65 - - 11,158,565,486.77
Notes receivable EhER - 2,849,584,878.56 8,439,642,303.67 - - 11,289,227,182.23
Accounts receivable A 2,703,059,994.59 2,655,177,358.21 - - - 5,358,237,352.80
Other receivables iR 293,595,506.80 - - - - 293,595,506.80
12,083,540,957.51 5,504,762,236.77  10,511,322,334.32 - - 28,099,625,528.60
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

4.

5 i R M 5 (48)
201146308 (A R#T)

- At I ()

i R SN : — o
Financial instruments and their risks (Continued) 4, EWMITEAERER(E)
Liquidity risk (Continued) TR E (&)
31 December 2010 (Continued) 2010F 12831 H (#&)
Financial liabilities TREE
Current 1-3 months 3 months to 1 year 1-5 years Over 5 years Total
B 1Z23f8A EARER1E 15N EESE SELE At
Short-term borrowings REER - 153,334,571.13 401,845,785.82 - - 555,180,356.95
Long-term borrowings RHEHK - 11,656,356.82 34,969,070.46 988,362,059.27 5,714,529.64 1,040,702,016.19
Accounts payable ERERR 13,137,584,334.00 - - - - 13,137,584,334.00
Notes payable FES - 144650029690  2,663,189,384.39 4,109,729,681.29
Other payables Hip R 3,169,636,229.37 - - - - 3,169,636,29.37
Bonds payable [Ef S - - 64,350,000.00 1,471,600,000.00 = 1,535,950,000.00
Non-current liabilities due —EREHNIER
within one year HAE - 438,843.00 33,266,916.67 - - 33,705,759.67
Interest payable ERFE 22,730,310.28 - = = = 22,730,310.28
Dividends payable FERTRR 72,963,509.34 - - - - 72,963,509.34
16,402,914,382.99 161197006785  3,197,621,157.34  2,459,962,059.27 571452964 23,678,182,197.09

As at 30 June 2011, other secured obligations in respect of the

Group's commitments to external parties are detailed in Note VII.

Market Risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a
financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market prices.
It mainly includes interest rate risk, currency risk and other price

risk, such as equity price risk.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market
interest rates. The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s financial

instruments with a floating interest rate.

MN20115E6 300 @ AREB S IMNEIE
HMREETHSEF R FELE -

™5 & k2

miEEAR  RESHIANAABE
SIARKREREFANISERESHMH
ERBEER - iSRRI ZEEHN
T - HIME [ B A0 K (B AR R
s TAREBEREAR -

I 2

MEER RESHRIANAAEE
SHORMR DR E R T H ) KB F i %
ERB R o A5 B IR A T 5 A
KB @R T 2 A B AT B F
RrEMERITARR -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

4.

Financial instruments and their risks (Continued)
Market Risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The table below is a sensitivity analysis of interest rate risk. It reflects
the effects on the net profit (through the impact on floating rate
financial assets and liabilities) and equity, when there are reasonable
and potential changes in interest rates, under the presumption that

other variables remain unchanged.

Interim Report 2011 i EAsRE 225

T 7 2% BT G (48
201196 H305 (A ER#T)

1= ﬁﬁ%i%%

%Fﬂlﬂ& Hl‘fﬁ(%ﬁ)
mizE kg (&)
FIEE e ()
TERAFERROGREST - RE
TEEMESTENERET @ FXH
£EIE - TJRER BB - A EHIFAE
(BRI EeHEENBED
HEVNRREREENTE o

Benchmark Net profit Equity
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) (decrease)
HEE R E RERER
i, GRd) i, GRd) i,/ CRd)
January-June 2011 2011%1-6A
RMB AR 5 (854,428.00) (854,428.00)
RMB AR (5) 854,428.00 854,428.00
January-June 2010 2010F1-6 A
RMB AR 5 (1,195,374.00) (1,195,374.00)
RMB AR (5) 1,195,374.00 1,195,374.00
Currency risk SME 7] iz

Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows
of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group'’s exposure to currency risk mainly relates
to its operating activities (when revenue and expenses are settled in
a foreign currency that is different from the functional currency of

the Group) and its net investments in overseas subsidiaries.

SMNERE  REEBIANAAEE

ORI 2R E F HME [E KB F)ifi 3%
R E R R o 7N 5 [ T [ B S E B

HRRTIEEASENLLLH(E

U 57 A [B) 0 7 &2 8] R BR AR 2 B By S

BREER) RERRINFRANFR

BEEM -
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

HRBORHBERDE

o 75 i o B E (A

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 201146 H30H (AR ¥T)
X. Other significant events (Continued) + ~ oAty B BRI (4
4. Financial instruments and their risks (Continued) 4. WIT A }Si J—H‘ﬁ (#8)
Market Risk (Continued) miZ Rk (&)
Currency risk (Continued) SMNE R iz (4B)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity analysis to a

reasonably possible change in exchange rates, with all other

variables held constant, of the net profit (due to changes in the fair

value of monetary assets and liabilities) and equity. The currency risk

of the Group does not involve owner’s interest other than retained

earnings.

TRBIMNERROGURMEDH - RBR

TEEMEE

SEHMBRT UT

Fr5l| G EEFE R 3 A= A 18 - AJ AL & &)
T BEFAE (AR EBEEEM

ERMHERENIA

B Emft)fﬂﬂxi

EREEANTE  AEESNERR
B RREFREIN A & o

Exchange rate Net profit Equity
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease) (decrease)*
E=x R F REREE
#h, Ofd) #im, Of) #n, O d)
January-June 2011 2011%1-6 B
If RMB weakens against USD ARBHEIRE 5% 3,482,103.34 5,688,447.55
If RMB strengthens against USD A R ¥ £ T AHE 5% (3,482,103.34) (5,688,447.55)
If RMB weakens against EUR ARBHBTRE 5% 1,060,093.47 6,817,964.29
If RMB strengthens against EUR A RSB T AE 5% (1,060,093.47) (6,817,964.29)
If RMB weakens against HKD ARBHBEERE 5% (3,940,779.65) 8,626,098.63
If RMB strengthens against HKD A R U ¥ 8 FHE 5% 3,940,779.65 (8,626,098.63)
January-December 2010 20109 1-12 18
If RMB weakens against USD ARBHETRE 5% 3,876,367.46 5,820,756.00
If RMB strengthens against USD ARBEHETHE 5% (3,876,367.46) (5,820,756.00)
If RMB weakens against EUR ARBERTEE 5% 2,420,171.77 7,264,925.47
If RMB strengthens against EUR AREEBITHE 5% (2,420,171.77) (7,264,925.47)
If RMB weakens against HKD ANEREEH B E 5% 156,506.58 8,617,654.74
If RMB strengthens against HKD ARBEBEAE 5% (156,506.58) (8,617,654.74)

* Excluding retained earnings.

* TRERENE



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

4,

Financial instruments and their risks (Continued)
Market Risk (Continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity securities
decrease as a result of changes in the levels of share indices and
the value of individual securities. The Group was exposed to equity
price risk arising from individual equity investments classified as
equity investments held for trading and available-for-sale equity
investments (Notes V.2,10) as at 30 June 2011. The Group held
listed equity investments that are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and NASDAQ and are valued at quoted market prices at

the balance sheet date.

The market share indices for the following stock exchanges, at the
close of business of the nearest trading day to the balance sheet
date, and their respective highest and lowest points during the year

were as follows:

30 June

2011

20114
6H830H

Shanghai — A Share Index
NASDAQ Composite Index

B —AREH
XEMETER
RAER

Interim Report 2011 e 227

PO 5 i R M R (4)
201146 A308 (A E¥T)

1= ﬁﬂﬂi%%ﬁ(%ﬁ)

SRITARHERER(E
miZER (&)
B TAKREEERR
EmTAKREERRAR  RiE#ERE
BEHAABEERKREIEEKTEFME
RBEHFEEHZCMBEENRR - B
20116 A30H + AEBEBRES
BATHHESRTAREMAHEE
T ALEMER 2 10)8E
PlERTAREMEENER AR
BEERRARZT - AEBFBEEN LT
EmTAKREE EEMERMRTER
MEHRXZHET  WEEEBBERX
HUATISRE = o

UTEFRGHAN  EREBEOIEER
BERENR S AMNKRBRNTIZRE
B8O URFEAES A& KE

2,752.18

2,773.52

BRI AR T
January to
June 2011 2010
Highest/ 31 December Highest/
Lowest 2010 Lowest
20114
1-6 A 20104 20104
=/ &K 12831H &m/ &E
3,067/2,611 2,940 3,443/2,478
2,873/2,617 2,652.87 2,671/2,094
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

HRBNROBRAT

S5 ik 3 B Rk (A

201146308 (A R#T)

4. Financial instruments and their risks (Continued)

Market Risk (Continued)
Equity price risk (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the Group’s
net profit and equity to every 5% change in the fair values of the

equity investments, with all other variables held constant (based on
their carrying amounts at the balance sheet date). For the purpose
of this analysis, for the available-for-sale equity investments the
effect is deemed to be on the changes in fair values of available-for-
sale equity investments and no account is given to factors such as

impairment which might affect the income statement.

Carrying value

January-June 2011

Equity investments

Shanghai —
equity investments

US — Available-for-sale equity

Available-for-sale

of equity

investments

EETERSE

REEE
2011%1-6 8
ERETAEKRE

B - s
Iﬂ&ﬁ

347,200,000.00

ik ﬁ%i%%lﬁ(%ﬁ)

TRITAERAE@RE(E)
mi’ﬁﬂﬁﬁ/\(?\‘\E)
fgﬁfiIﬁ&}ﬁ/ﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁ(%)

2 ZIK%E’\J/%N/FQ%DHQ%%EJ‘#
BETARENAABENETS%H
EH(NEERBERANEAEER
ARSI - RABRES M
FoHRAHLERSTARE &
FERAREAHREERETARE
AREBEEEHNTE  MAEZEAE
FEMNBROBESAE -

Increase in Increase in
net profit
3 F

¥ hn

equity*
RS
120 *

14,756,000.00

investments Iﬂ&ﬁ 2,958,257.47 125,725.94
Total &t 350,158,257.47 14,881,725.94
Carrying value
of equity Increase in Increase in
investments net profit equity*
EBRITARE 3R H RERRERE
IREEE & 3 0 *
2010 20104
Equity investments T ERE
Shanghai — Available-for-sale FE-AHHERER
equity investments TEEE 485,600,000.00 - 20,638,000.00
US - Available-for-sale equity EE - HE SRR
investments TEE 3,611,778.85 - 153,500.60

489,211,778.85

- 20,791,500.60

* Excluding retained earnings.

+ TRmBEgE -



Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

X. Other significant events (Continued)

4.

Financial instruments and their risks (Continued)
Fair value

Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged,
or a liability settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties in an
arm’s length transaction. The following methods and assumptions

were used to estimate the fair values.

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, notes receivable,
accounts receivable, notes payable, accounts payable and short-
term borrowings etc. approximate their carrying amounts due to
the short term maturities of these instruments. The fair value of
long-term borrowings approximates its carrying amount due to the
similarity between the contracted interest rate and market interest
rate for long-term borrowings. The fair value of bonds payable is
RMB1,296,230,000.

The fair values of listed financial instruments are determined based

on the quoted market prices.

The Group uses the following hierarchy for fair value measurement:

Level 1: fair values measured based on quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities available on the
measurement date; Level 2: fair values measured by adjusting
quoted prices of similar assets or liabilities from active markets
available on the measurement date or quoted prices of identical
or similar assets or liabilities from non-active markets; Level 3:
fair values measured based on inputs used by market participants
in the valuation of assets or liabilities when there is no available

comparable market prices of identical or similar assets.

Interim Report 2011 i EAsRE 229

BT e 2 B (A
201196 H305 (A ER#T)

- At I (5)

4.

TRMITAERHERARE)
AR (EE

DA EE REEDFRSF - BE
BRORSES BREETAERAR
E£EBBEOSE AT ATER
AR AR EE -

ERES  BUREER BUER B
NRE EBNEX  BEHERS
BFESBR N - A BEERE(E
ERE  RAEREGRMEERS
MERE 2ABEEREEET
HE EBNEFAALEESARE
1,296,230,0007T °

FAMERIA  UHSRERER
REE-

AEBRAODL BEETRED A
TR :

F-ERRLEAEFEARESEAR
BEXABAETRTS LREHN - U
ZRERKEREAAEE: F_/8
RRCEENEAGESELUEES
BEEREDS EWRE  HARK
BUEEXABAEIFEEDS LR
ER - ARMRE REKIE M0 B R
EAREE: FZEAREEELE
GHRARKBUEEANLTER5ER
B NEMRRTISE2EENEES
BEEERMERN2BRKERTE



Level 1 Level 2
E—EBR BE-ERX

350,158,257.47 350,158,257.47

31 December 2010 20104125318

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—BR B=BIR E=ZER =h

Available-for-sale financial assets #] fit it & & B & &
Equity instruments BT A 489,211,778.85 = - 489,211,778.85

Available-for-sale financial assets are detailed in Note V.10. AR EEMEEFAMNER - 10-



customers a ;

e payment in advance c

rhe credit period of acco
nding up to six months for

interest-bearing.

oice date, PRl

ollows:

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 H30H 2010412 A31H

Within 1 year 15 AR 991,997,975.70 674,136,012.54
1-2 years 1226 1,360.90 1,360.90
2-3 years 2E3%F - 48,000.00
Over 3 years 3FE 3,518,650.03 3,518,650.03
995,517,986.63 677,704,023.47
Less: Provision for bad debt for B R FUBBR A
accounts receivable 53,111,660.39 37,230,516.39
942,406,326.24 640,473,507.08
Changes in provision for bad debt for accounts receivable are FERERIZREFENE ST

presented as follows:

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 H30H 201012 A31H

Opening balance ] FE R 37,230,516.39 13,326,540.03
Provision for the period/year KEFEHR 15,881,144.00 23,903,976.36
Reduction during the period/year NHR R - -

Reversal LA - -

Closing balance B FRE 53,111,660.39 37,230,516.39




receivable (Continued)

30 June 2011

20116 H30H
Proportion

Gross carrying Provision for of
amount Proportion bad debt  provision

8 Ee 1 RIRERE  FHRLEA

(%) (%)

Individually significant items EEIE £ %88 A
for which provision for BIRGHRERAER
bad debt is recognized
separately
[tems for which provision £ A FHRIZRER
for bad debt is recognized
by group 995,517,986.63 53,111,660.39
Not individually significant ~ 85 IE & %8k & A/E
items for which provision — BIAFHRERERE
for bad debt is recognized

separately

995,517,986.63 53,111,660.39




Gross carrying

amount

&8

for which provision forbad 3 BB 1R _

debt is recognized separately % o -
[tems for which provision for — 3Z4H& T2 EEREXEE

bad debt is recognized

Proportion

228

by group 677,572,023.47 99.98 37,098,516.39 5.48
Not individually significant BESEHITEKX
items for which provision BEEIEER
for bad debt is recognized A
separately 132,000.00 0.02 132,000.00 100.00
677,704,023.47 100.00 37,230,516.39




ivable (Continued

12011, there was no individually significant

/hich provision for bad debt was recognize
r 2010: Nil).

cognized by group as follows:

30 June 2011
201146 A30H
Proportion
Gross carrying Provision for of
amount Proportion bad debt  provision
&8 L]l BMIREME  FHREEA
(%) )

Within 1 year 991,997,975.70 99.65 49,595,188.65 5.00

1-2 years 1824 1,360.90 - 204.14 15.00
2-3 years 2% 3%F - - - 30.00
3-4 years 3FEAF - - - 50.00
4-5 years 4B5%F 11,912.07 9,529.64 80.00

Over 5 years S 3,506,737.96 . 3,506,737.96 100.00

995,517,986.63 53,111,660.39 5.34




Gross carrying

amount

1225 _ : :
2-3 years 2E34 48,000.00
3-4 years 3E4F 11,912.07
4-5 years 4EB5F =
Over 5 years S5FEME 3,374,737.96

Proportion

228

0.01 14,400.00 3000

= 5,956.04 50.00
= = 80.00
0.50 3,374,737.96 100.00

677,572,023.47

100.00 37,098,516.39

As at 30 June 2011, there was no accounts receivable from
shareholders that held 5% or more of the voting shares of the
Company (31 December 2010: Nil).

M2011F6A308  REEFHEETRE
JEWHFEBARNRS%(E5%) A LR
SRAERR 17 B AR R B AL A AR Z (20104
128318 - &) -



Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.
Al RERNERA A

Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd.
PREgERIEFRA A

Baotou Northern Benz Heavy Truck Company Limited
BEILFERREERAA

Weichai Heavy-duty Machinery Co., Ltd.
HRBERBRMDARAA

Hunan Automobile Manufacturing Co., Ltd.

MEAEBERRAR

168,970,062.72

158,321,479.91

137,847,056.18

68,739,320.47

46,036,568.62

579,914,487.90

Within 1 year
1R
Within 1 year
1R
Within 1 year
185 AN
Within 1 year
1 AR
Within 1 year
1 AN

16.97

15.90

13.85

6.90

4.62

38.95



otou Northern Benz Heavy Truck Company
BEILFERREERAA
Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.
Al RERNER QA
Changsha Zoomlion Heavy Industry Science and Technology
Development Co., Ltd. Chassis Branch Company
EAPBMEIMBRERBRNERAFELD QT
Shantui Engineering Machinery Co., Ltd.
L T2 MR D AR A F)
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd.
PRAEATERBR DA

87,539,102.31

55,588,935.00

36,624,477.94

184,694,284.66

477,858,463.91

1F AR
Within 1 year
1R

Within 1 year
TE AR
Within 1 year
TE AR
Within 1 year
TE AR

1252

8.20

5.40

27.25

70.50



3 years

Less: Provision for bad debt for other

R B R R B

receivables

Closing balance

H,/FRE

30June 2011
2011568308
Provision for
bad debt
EEE

Gross

carrying amount  Proportion

&8 thl

()

Items for which provision for bad
debt s recognized by group

AR RRRER

387,814,582.62 100.00 37,173,963.48

387,814,582.62 100.00 37,173,963.48

As at 30 June 2011, there was no individually significant other
receivables for which provision for bad debt was recognized
separately (31 December 2010: Nil).

Proportion of
provision
ittt fl

(%)

30 June 2011

201156 H30H

322,767,596.09
3,894,569.31
14,552,825.65
46,599,591.57

387,814,582.62 191,322,662.63

37,173,963.48 34,623,949.25

350,640,619.14

156,698,713.38

31 December 2010

20105128318
Gross Provision  Proportion of
carrying amount  Proportion for bad debt provision
2] il BEER SR
(%) (%)
191,322,662.63 100.00 34,623,949.25 18.10
191,322,662.63 100.00 34,623,949.25 18.10

M2011F6H30H  EBELES
KAl 58 TH A2 558 B 25 4 0 L R IR
(20104128318 : &) -



30June 2011
2011568308
Provision for Proportion of -
carrying amount  Proportion bad debt WS carrying amount
&8 4] SRERE  ERA X
(% (4

322,767,596.09 8.3 3,439,290.39 126,284,295.60
: - 3,894,569.31 1.00 584,185.40 17,528,169.08 9.16 629, !
23 years 153F 14,552,825.65 375 4,365,841.70 888,323.00 046 266,496.90 30.00
3-4 years 3B4E 30,288,360.26 181 15,144,180.13 3253538437 1701 16,267,692.19 50.00
45 years 4558 13,353,857.23 345 10,683,085.78 35074851 018 280,598.81 80.00
Over 5 years SENE 2,9571,314.08 0.76 2,957,374.08 13,735,742.07 118 13,735,742.07 100.00

Total aif 387,814,582.62 37,173,963.48 | 191,322,662.63 100.00 34,623,949.25 18.10

As at 30 June 2011, the top 5 other receivables are presented as R2011F6H308 » HibERZKEE
follows: AIRAZBAT :

Percentage of

total other
Amount  Age receivables
1 E ftt B UK
&8 KRR BER LB
(%)
Weichai Power (Weifang) Casting Co., Ltd. 276,927,945.42  Within 1 year 43.19
LB N (D) EBRBR AT 1F AR
Xinjiang Machinery Equipment Import & Export Co., Ltd. 16,630,657.03  3-4 years 2.59
MERAREEEDAERAA 3E4F
Zhuzhou Torch Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 14,000,000.00  2-3years 2.18
HROMAR M E A BLE B IR BAE R A 2E3F
Zhuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co., Ltd. 7,500,000.00  Within 1 year 1.17
MR EREREABREME DA 1F AR
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International Development
Co., Ltd. 2,977,827.48  Within 1 year 0.46
HRE N (FB)ERERBRAF 1E AR

318,036,429.93 49.59
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) P 5 i R BT 5E ()
30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan) 20116 H30H (AR T)
XI. Notes to key items of the parent financial +— B/ " EEBEHREEH &+
statements (Continued) B (A)
2. Other receivables (Continued) 2. HiEW(E)
As at 31 December 2010, the top 5 other receivables are presented M20106F12A318 @ £t AE
as follows: BRIABAT

Percentage of

total other
Amount  Age receivables
i B At BB LUK
*H  RR IR LB
(%)
Weichai Power (Weifang) Casting Co., Ltd. 96,941,668.09  Within 1 year 50.67
LB ) (D ) SR BR A F 1F AR
Xinjiang Machinery Equipment Import & Export Co., Ltd. 16,560,657.03  3-4 years 8.66
MBEmREELOERAA 3EAF
Zhuzhou Torch Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 14,000,000.00 1-2 years 7.32
RN A E R EE R R B E A A 1824
Laizhou Luyuan Automotive Fitting Co., Ltd. 13,596,223.84  3-4 years 7.1
HMBRAEBRAR 3E4F
Hangzhou Hongyuan Machinery Manufacturing Co., Ltd. 9,203,387.08  Over 5 years 4.81
TUNDB IR AR A =] S5 E
150,301,936.04 78.57

As at 30 June 2011, there was no other receivables from

shareholders that held 5% or more in the voting shares of the

Company (31 December 2010: Nil).

M2011F6F308 @ KIRFESEEPE

JEW B AR RA5%

E5%) A ER

IRFER D B IR R B L B RIA (20104

128318 : &) -

Investment in associates 3. BHBELERSE
Registered Legal Nature of Registered
Type of enterprise address representative business capital
tEFR = i it EARE EBHE HEMEA
Weichai Westport Inc. Weifang City, Sun Shaojun Manufacturing US$1,854,400.00
HELLE) TS (M ) FTEETR Shandong Province %A E b 2%71.1,854,400.00
EEEABRANA IR & M
Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Shanghai Nie Xinyong Project investment 150,000,000.00
Investment Co., Ltd. abishi BB BHRHEE
FEEBAIEKREARAA
Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co., Ltd.  Beijing Dong Ping Finance leasing 920,000,000.00
LEmEHRERRAR bR BT MELE



ot otal liabilities
closing balance  closing balance

REAENAE ARARERR

75,814,491.40 87,242,827.50 ( ,276,422.50

202,968,284.59

on’Finance Leasing LEREREER g
Co, Ltd 2811941311 188385071335 95730869976 7529048867 111273203

4. Long-term equity investments 4. RUPRERE

30 June 2011 31 December 2010
201156 H30H 2010912 H31H

Cost method FRARE 4,762,955,427.13 4,598,555,427.13
Equity method A 487,770,502.16 563,046,692.18

5,250,725,929.29 5,161,602,119.31
Less: Provision for impairment of o REIRER B R EEE
long-term equity investments 133,186,712.10 133,186,712.10

5,117,539,217.19 5,028,415,407.21




equity investments (Contin
e 2011, the breakdown of long-term equity Invest 16

od was as follows:

Increase/ Provision for
reduction impairment Cash
Opening incurrent Closing ~ Percentageof ~ Percentageof  Provision for in current dividend in
Investment cost balance period balane  shareholding voting rights impairment period  current period

& e RERfSE EEL LY 4 HR% BRES  mkRRH AEER ARLAA

Weichai Power (Wefang) Spre Pat Resources 487845 kaEE
(o, td. BRAA 101,410,23834  101,410,238.34 101,410,238.34 100.00 117,808,284.05

Weichai Power (Wefang) Of o, Ltd. LB 7 (8 BRERAT 10,706,159.11 10,706,159.11 10,706,159.11 100.00 6,232,07468
Weichai Power (Weflang) Casting Co, Ltd. 587 (85) 888827 20,000,000.00 20,000,000.00 20,000,000.00 100.00 -
Thuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co, L. I 2 I 185,98405824  185,984,058.24 185,984,058.24 10000 -
Thuzhou Torch Machinery Manufactring Co, Ltd.— FFMBAERHEERBERRT IEILIELRIRENRE LA 13089899314 10000 -
Thuzhou Torch Auto ightng Co, Lid. GUETSEREE AT 1336318085 233631805 2336318085 10000 S
Thuzhou Torch Auto Seling Co, L. A ERBE HER
BN 1591786759 15917,867.59 15,917,867.59 100.00 -

TorchImport & xprt Co, L KEEHDAREEAT BIBGAB  BIT30549 B354 10000 =
MAT AUTOMOTIVE, INC. MAT AUTOMOTIVE, INC. 183051228 183,025,122.28 183,05,122.28 100.00 -
Weichai Power (Wefang) Reconstruction Co, Ltd. %487 (#45) BRE AT 30,000,000.00 30,000,000.00 30,000,000.00 100.00 13,878,840.78
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) nternationel Development 43077 (%75 ) BB & &

(o, td. BRAR 17854495652 178,544,956.52 178,544,956.52 100.00
WeichaiPower (Shanghal) Technology L8 LE)HRER

Development Co, Lid. BRAF 300,000,000.00 300,000,000.00 300,000,000.00 100.00
WeichaiPower (Chongging) Westem #49)(ER)EDLE

Development Co, Lid. BRAF 24000000000 200,00000000 40,000,000 240,000,000 100.00
WelchaiPower (Befjng) Intemnatonal Ba(RERER

Resource nvestment Co, Ltd. RERF 300,000,000.00 300,000,000.00 300,000,000.00 100.00
Yijiang Equipment Imports and Exports HEREELNERAT

Co., Ltd. 10000 12118687.10
Weichai Power (Qingzhou) Drive Control 7 (EH) B

Technology Co., Ltd. BB 100,000,000.00 100,000,000.00 100,000,000.00 100.00

185382363105 171382363105 140,000,000  1,853,823,631.05 12,118,687.10 137,979,199.51
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XI. Notes to key items of the parent financial
statements (Continued)
4. Long-term equity investments (Continued)

As at 30 June 2011, the breakdown of long-term equity Investments

T B4 E R B R IE H G
B (&)
4. REBRERE(E)

MR20115E6 8308 @+ FRAE K B #
(nﬁ)

under cost method was as follows: (Continued)

RER@WT :

Increase/ Provision for
reduction impairment (ash
Opening in current Closing ~ Percentageof ~ Percentage of Provision for in current dividend in
Investment cost balance period balance  shareholding  votingrights impairment period  current period
K3tk
RENALE #ag KR B58 R FARHLA HEER REER  AERAMA
185382363105  1713823,631.05  140,000,000.00  1,853,823,631.05 12,118,687.10 13797919951
Thuzhou Torch Property Development Co,, L. HEAERHERRER
EffAR 1359230167 13592,301.67 - 135930167
Zhuzhou Gear o, Lid filEsERRLLT 3782 3BAIBA 10000000000 23347821
Shanghai He Da Auto Accessory o, L. HERERRERAT NI4T 1634690 - BB
Dongfeng Off10ad Vefice Co, L. RBAHAEERA T541572831 1541572837 - A58
Mudanjang Futong Automotive A Condiioner Co,  #ATEEREZEERAT
1td. 95,882,087.38  95,882,087.38 95,882,087.38
Weicha Power (Wefang) ntensve Logitics o, Ltd.  #48177(%55) &80k
BRAF 10,400,00000 10,400,000.00 10,400,000.00
Shaanxi Heawy-duty-Motor Co,, Ltd. HRENREERAT 972,116,00085  972,116,00085 972,116,000.85
Shaanii Fast Gear Co, Lid. REELEERERAT 1,082,558,680.59 1,082,558,680.59 1,082,558,680.59
Shaani Hande A o, Li. NEEEEEERLT 1450738803 1450735803 1450735803
Shandong Snergy O Co, Lid IREERRERLD 942691800 942691800 942631800
Baoji Fast Gear Co, L1d. ERETGERERNA 10,986,48327  10986,483.27 10,986,483.27 255
FOTON Lovol Heavy ndustres o, L. BREREFEIRNGERAT - 7560000000 (75,600000.00) - =
Thuzhou Gear Share Co,, Lid. HNESRAERAT 168000000 1,680,000.00 - 168000000 25
Eastern Life Insurance Co, Lid. REAERBERA 60,000,000.00  60,000,000.00 - 60,000,000.00 750 60,000,000.00
New CenturyFnnce Leasing Co, Lid. ftRsERgER0T 6106802500 6106802500 - 6108802500 12 610680500
Foton Heawy-duty Machinery Co,,Ltd. ERELAHRNERLT 3000000000 3000000000 - 3000000000 466 =
Cost method total pEya) 4762955427.13 459855542713 16440000000 476295542713 133,186,712.10 137,979,199.51

As at 30 June 2011, the breakdown of long-term equity Investments

under equity method was as follows:

M2011F6H308 -
BRI

e dile

Increase/ Provision for
reduction impairment Cash
Investment Opening in current Closing ~ Percentage of  Percentage of  Provision for in current dividend in
cost balance period balance  shareholding  votingrights  impairment period  current period
AR
RERALE g ¥ LT3 | RREB  RUERA AEER REER  REREdA
Fquity method E&it
Weichai Westport Inc. EEINES (45 R
BRERAA 3B,093,01309 4196439913 559219403 47,556,593.16 40.00
PR N RO S - N 45,853,683.25 337, 168,83047  (84,21649007)  252,952340.40 B3
Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co, Ltd. LEHERERRAA 180,000000.00 18391346258  3,348,106.02  187,261,568.60 1957
Equity method total EaEAH 258,946,69.34  563,046,692.18  (75,256,190.02)  487,770,502.16
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30 June 2011 (Expressed in Renminbi Yuan)

XI. Notes to key items of the parent financial
statements (Continued)

4. Long-term equity investments (Continued)
As at 31 December 2010, the breakdown of long-term equity

PR 5 i 3 M R (4)
201146 A308 (A E¥T)

T B4 R M ORI H AR

B (#)

4., RHEBRERE(E)
M2010512 8318 © RAERER

|

Investments under cost method was as follows: B EBRANT -
Increase/ Provision for
reduction impairment (ash
Opening in current Closing ~ Percentageof  Percentageof  Provision for incurrent dividend in
Investment cost balance period balance  shareholding  voting rights impaiment period  current period
i
REARAE  BDE RBN WA BRMN RARMR MERR MEME  AERAEH
WeichaiPower (Wefang) Spare PartResources 481710435 B R BAR A7
(o, ltd. 10141023834 10141023834 - 10141023834 10000 10000 - - -
WeichaiPower (Wefang) 0 o, Lid. 97 (45)heERAT 1070615911 10,706,159.11 - 1070615911 10000 10000 - - -
Weichai Power (Wefang) Casting Co, Lid. B8 BRERAA 2000000000 2000000000 - 2000000000 100.00 10000 - - -
Thuzhou Torch Sparkplugs Co, Lid. RARA T EEREEAT 19598405824 165,98405824  20,00000000  185,984,058.24 10000 10000 - - 1599780
Thuzhou Torch Machinery Manufacuring e ERERERRERRT
(o, Ltd. 130898.993.14  130.898993.14 - 13089899314 100.00 10000 - - -
Thuzhou Torch Auto Lighting Co,, Ltd. Al 2336318085 2330318085 - 133318085 10000 10000 - - -
Thuzhou Torch Auto Sealing Co,, Lid.
I 1591786759 1591786759 - 1591786759 10000 10000 - - -
Torch Import & Export Co, Lt AERENERERLA BIBOAR 1829577610 (148ITLTNY BIT304%8 10000 10000 - - -
MAT AUTOMOTIVE, INC. MAT AUTOMOTWE INC. 183,005,12228 183,005,128 - 18305128 10000 10000 - - -
Weichai Power (Weifang) Reconstruction g
(o, Ltd. 3000000000 30,000,00000 - 3000000000 10000 10000 - - -
Weichai Power (Hong Kong) International
Development Co,, Ltd. 11854495650 9347096800 8507398852 178,544,956, 100.00 10000 - - -
Weichai Power (Shanghai) Technology
Development Co,, Ltd. 30000000000 200,000,000.00 100,000,000.00 300,000,000 10000 10000 - - -
Weichai Power (Chongaing) Western
Development Co, Ltd 20000000000 20000000000 - 20000000000 10000 10000 - - -
Weichal Power (Befing) International Resource
Investment Co,, Ltd. 300,000,000.00 - 30000000000 300,000,000.00 10000 10000 - - -
Xinjiang Equipment Imports
and Exports Co,, Ltd. - - - - 10000 10000 12,118,687.10 - -
Thuzhou Torch Property Development
(o, Ltd. 1359230167 13592,30167 - 1359230167 966 95,66 - -
Thuzhou Gear Co, Ltd. BBUIBA IRBAIBL 20000000000 3234782 8215 8215 - - 5B
Shanghal He Da Auto Accessory Co,, Ltd. 3,16346971 39,163,461 - 3916346971 7500 7500 - - 17393666
Dongfeng Off-road Vehicle Co., Ltd. 1541572837 1541572837 - T5457837 6000 6000 - - -
Mudanjiang Futong Automotive Air Conditioner %2
(o, Ltd. 08208738 95,882,087.38 - 958208738 598 5984 - - AB919%
Weichai Power (Weifang) Reconstruction
(o, Ltd. 1040000000 10,400,000.00 - 1040000000 5200 500 - - -
Shaanii Heavy-duty-Motor Co., Ltd. 97211600085 972,116,00085 - 972,116,00085 5100 5100 - - 154,29,7454
Shaanii Fast Gear Co, Ltd 108255868059 1,082,558,680.59 - 1,082,558,680.59 5100 5100 - - 16990462186
Shaanii Hande Axle Co,, Ltd. 1450735803 1450735803 - IA50T3%803 306 306 - - 8138078
Shandong Synergy Ol Co., Ltd. 942691800 942691800 - 94691800 4600 4600 - -
Baoj Fast Gear Co, Ltd. 1098648327 10,986,837 - 10%64832 15 15 - - -
FOTON Lovol Heavy Industries Co, Ltd., 7560000000 2000000000 (55,600,00000)  75,600,000.00 625 625 - - -
Thuzhou Gear Share Co, Ltd. 168000000 1,680,000 - 168000000 25 25 - - -
Easten Life Insurance Co,, Ltd 6000000000 6000000000 - 6000000000 750 750 6000000000 - -
New Century Finance Leasing o, Ltd. 610080500 61,068025.00 - 6100802500 12 122 6100802500 - -
Foton Heavy-duty Machinery Co, Ltd. 3000000000 3000000000 - 3000000000 46 466 - -
Cost method total AAEas 463855540713 3.986,854,15973 55610126740 4598555421.13 133,186,712.10 - 3177966489
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XI. Notes to key items of the parent financial +— #:/2 & BB B #HFHEHH 5

statements (Continued) B(E)
4. Long-term equity investments (Continued) 4. REBRERE(E)
As at 31 December 2010, the breakdown of long-term equity R2010F 12318 » #ERARHK
Investments under equity method was as follows: BRI -
Increase/ Provision for
reduction impairment Cash
Opening in current Closing ~ Percentage of  Percentage of  Provision for in current dividend in
Investment cost balance period balance  shareholding  votingrights  impairment period  current period
Afirk
RERALE EEIE AR BRE BRUH  RRERA REER HEER  KEREAA
Equity method i
Weichal Westportnc. XD NER (R AR
39RERAA BBIG  BA5A263 1868897650 4196439913 4000 4000 - - -
Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye vestment Co, td.  HEBBEEREERAT (585368305 4450057065 29266825982  337,168,83047 B3 B3 - - -
Shanzhong Finance Leasing Co,, Ltd. LERERERRAR 180,000,000.00 - 18391346258 18391346258 1957 1957 = = =
Equity method total Eaiait 158.946,69.34  67,775993.28  495,270,698.90  563,046,692.18 - - -
5. Revenue and costs 5. EEWAREKAE
Revenue Cost of sales
=ELION EES RN
January-June 2011 January-June 2010 January-June 2011 January-June 2010
2011%1-64 2010%1-6 A 2011%1-6 8 20105 1-6 7
Principal operations E3-2 35
Sale of goods and others fniHE I 14,067,157,069.49 13,816,505,589.62 9,310,976,664.51 9,458,946,072.26
Hity
Other operations B %% 1,155,410,860.15 681,361,519.60 1,048,363,329.24 602,402,270.90
15,222,567,929.64 14,497,867,109.22 10,359,339,993.75 10,061,348,343.16
Information on principal operations by sectors was as follows: FEEBHSTEREELT ¢
Revenue Cost of sales
=L ON EES RN
January-June 2011 January-June 2010 January-June 2011 January-June 2010
2011%1-64 2010%1-6 A 2011%E1-6 8 20105 1-6 A
Manufacturing of RBERRE
transportation equipment  BiE 14,067,157,069.49 13,816,505,589.62 9,310,976,664.51 9,458,946,072.26

14,067,157,069.49 13,816,505,589.62 9,310,976,664.51 9,458,946,072.26




Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd.

Faw Jiefang Qingdao Auto Factory

Anhui Hualing Heavy-Duty
Automobile Co., Ltd.

Baotou Northern Benz Heavy-Duty
Truck Co., Ltd. Penglai Branch

osts (Continued)

m the top 5 customers from January to June

Shaanxi Heavy-du Mofr Co,, Ltd.

FERSEERA
JE AR R B R B R A A
— R E S S E R
RUEEER SEERAT

BREIEABHTEHARRAER

AN

all

Revenue from the top 5 customers from January to June 2010 is

=8

2,951,967,220.49
2,381,420,131.62
1,170,741,761.00

535,102,504.27

588,728,208.55

7,627,959,825.93

Proportion of total

revenue
& R A LE B
(%)

19.07
15.38
7.56

3.46

3.80

49.27

2010F 1-6 AR ABRBRFHEZERA

presented as follows: m
Proportion of total
Amount revenue
&8 fh& WA LB
(%)
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. BRFEER /RE AR A A 2,846,366,321.28 20.60
Beigi Foton Motor Co., Ltd. EARHABRNER ARG 2,758,699,212.29 19.97
Faw Jiefang Qingdao Auto Factory —AEENE B RER 2,024,716,321.44 14.66
Anhui Hualing Heavy-Duty THEZERAEFRAF
Automobile Co., Ltd. 803,190,516.24 5.81
Saic-lveco Hongyan Commerecial EARGENAERBEEAR AR
Vehicle Co., Ltd. 732,443,660.63 5.30
9,165,416,031.88 66.34




January-June 2011
2011%1-6 A

NEZEMRBERE

(EVAVEREERY
)R H R AR A
od - 38,953,343.18
cl: Income from investme

associates - 38,953,343.18 831,639.56

Investment loss from disposal of BRETFARELAMNKERL
subsidiaries (46,038.30)
Investment income from disposal of Bz & E 4 K ERR 45 &
other long-term equity investments A HY IR & U 25 28,540,000.00 -
Investment income from holding BEAHILESREERM
available-for-sale financial assets mEMEEKE 5,600,000.00 3,600,000.00
211,072,542.69 157,233,244.71
ltems of long-term equity investments income under the cost RAERENRARERE R BN
method are presented as follows: /O
January-June 2011
2011%1-6 B
Weichai Power (Weifang) Spare Part Resources Co., Ltd. #4<& H ) ERERER A A 117,868,284.05
Weichai Power (Weifang) Reconstruction Co., Ltd. B ) () BRIERQ A 13,878,840.78
Weichai Power (Weifang) Oil Co., Ltd. HELLE) N (YT ) R AR AR 6,232,074.68
137,979,199.51
January-June 2010
2010%F1-6 A
Shaanxi Heavy-duty Motor Co., Ltd. PrPgE RS E AR A A 76,560,562.00
Shaanxi Fast Gear Co., Ltd. Qb SA L MNG 73,031,762.30
Shaanxi Hande Axle Co., Ltd. PRPg R EEBE AR A A 3,255,319.15

152,847,643.45




t income (Continued
ng-term equity investments income under

d as follows:

ngye Investment Co., Ltd.

5 CHEST) 3 BE IR
BHBRERNTF

January-June 2011
2011%1-6 B

30,013,042.53
3,348,106.02

5,592,194.63

38,953,343.18

January-June 2010

20104 1-6 A

Shanghai Xinlian Chuangye Investment Co., Ltd. FEEHAIEREBRAA (1,234,111.63)
HELEE) 1 TS (D) #TEEIR

Weichai Westport Inc. BEIMER A 2,065,751.19

831,639. 56

As at 30 June 2011, the remittance of the Company’s investment 201156 H308 « RAFHEE W=

income was subject to no significant restriction. HE (3] 25 % &5 KR i -



O O
investment properties

Amortization of intangible assets

intangible assets and
other long-term assets

Finance expenses

Investment income

Decrease/(increase) in deferred tax
assets

Increase/(decrease) in deferred tax
liabilities

Decrease/(increase) in inventories

(Increase)/decrease in operating
receivables

(Decrease)/increase in operating
payables

Others

eIl

(Gain)/loss on disposal of fixed assets,

VAR
| LA

| m AR

REBREEE B
EEMEMRHEE
(e ) Bk

M%EM

RE W

ELEPEHEEN

md (4 m)

EL% SHAEN
g,/ ()

FEHER D, (M)

et rEIER B
(g, m

rEMRNIER N
CRA) /18

Hitp

Net cash flow from operating

activities

ABELENRE
B¥H

ey
E
A

January-June 2011

2011%1-6 B

2,943,840,934.64

18,431,158.23

173,831,643.84

3,257,125.68

(2,905,765.56)
34,021,879.55
(211,072,542.69)

88,342,573.29

1,166,700.04
131,339,799.39

(2,518,128,921.69)

1,248,384,614.77
(703,466,299.04)

1,207,042,900.45

9,159,247.69
175,822,911.40

3,602,490.87

(1,181,899.14)
48,485,668.95
157,233,244.71

(43,154,052.18)

1,155,839.08
694,950,417.19

(4,760,416,640.96)

3,341,345,643.46
(517,301,867.63)

1,525,391,682.82




ol

e Livalents

30 June 2011
201146 H30H

91,445.54
TER 4,470,504,094.40

4,470,595,539.94

XII. Comparative Amounts T2 R R
Some comparative amounts have been restated to conform to the ETHURBECSKLBEL  UWFAEKFEE

presentation requirements for the current year. ZH|FEK o



Amount from
January to June 2011

2011 5E1-6 B &£ %

d amo

O

3 oring to certain stand n state

policies

assets, including  ERBIEER B A - 4
uch assets BEREEROHEES ;
ent  HAHHERMBATE(RER
LEEBTYRE - FEER
ARFT R —EEETHEK
8 2 MRS BIERSN)

40,135,179.94

54,291,470.13

Profit and loss from debt restructuring B EHEIBS (95,803.00)
Non-operating income and expenses other than B bl =18 2 SR E i & ZE S0

the above items A FISZ H 43,270,546.70

137,601,393.77

Tax effect BIRETE -2 34 (21,607,807.83)

Effect on minority interests DHAT H A £ (10,167,492.09)

105,826,093.85

The Group recognized extraordinary profit and loss items in accordance
with the provisions in Explanatory Announcement on Information
Disclosure for Companies Offering their Securities to the Public No. 1 —
Extraordinary Items (CSRC Announcement [2008] No.43).

REMMEIECEEIBETEE NEREKB(AD
FHITE LM N Al s BB EFEENEET
WA F B )(FEERNE[2008]43
)R E T




Weighted
average RONA Basic EPS

hn#E 19
FEEWRSER EXERKE
(%) (RMB)
(AR¥T)

Net profit attributable the ompany’s BRA T EEE
ordinary shareholders s 3R B AR
Net profit attributable to the Company's ~ R IER F BB EBRL

ordinary shareholders after extraordinary /A ] 3% i % % 57 0 )% A1

profit and loss

January-June 2010 20105 1-6 8
Weighted
average RONA Basic EPS
IniEFE
FEERAEE EABRKE
(%) (RMB)
(AR®T)
Net profit attributable to the Company's FEBRAREBER
ordinary shareholders Js B #9F AR 24.19 1.94
Net profit attributable to the Company’s MBI EEEEERBER
ordinary shareholders after extraordinary A i M P R A%
profit and loss 23.96 1.92

The Company holds no potential ordinary shares that are dilutive.

The Group presents RONA and EPS in accordance with Compilation Rules
No.9 for Information Disclosure by Companies Offering Securities to the
Public — Calculation and Disclosure of Return on Net Assets and Earnings
per Share (Revised in 2010) of the CSRC.

A E %A E S R NE R e 5 &R
KR BEEEG(LHRTEFN L AL
AR RE 9N — FEE W an FHEK
Yo iyt B R K FE)(20105FERT ) IFTE



Other Information

Directors” and Supervisors’ Interests in Shares

and Underlying Shares

As at 30 June 2011, the interests and short position (if any) of the directors,
the chief executives and the supervisors in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed

Companies (“Model Code”), were as follows:

Interim Report 2011 # HisR &

oA &R

Al])RED A
B(WBIWT :

3 MR R By S A B B AR
A BE 2

R-T——4£AA=1H EE BRE
RESRARARAEREE(EERESRY
{6

BAB

25 R E R IEXVERR IR - 18

B RESFT  BEERBEEFESFRIPE
&R E AR

5 5151 55352

RIAGENE MRS  RE L

Number of

TMAREFETEFRZNEESTA([FZLEST
EARRREBAYR AR NG

Percentage
of the issued
share capital

Capacity “A" shares held of the Company
HEARE BT
g7 FiEAREE RAEBD
Name of Director
BEEpA
Tan Xuguang Beneficial owner 13,760,000 0.83%
R EmBEAA (Note 1)
(HHEE1)
Xu Xinyu Beneficial owner 3,200,000 0.19%
wEHE BB A (Note 1)
(HHEE1)
Sun Shaojun Beneficial owner 3,200,000 0.19%
RLE EmBEAA (Note 1)
(HHEE1)
Zhang Quan Beneficial owner 3,200,000 0.19%
3R R EmBEAA (Note 1)
(HHEE1)
Liu Huisheng Beneficial owner 1,920,000 0.12%
Gy BB A (Note 1)
(HHEE1)
Yeung Sai Hong (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation 58,659,248 3.52%
B EE3) MXEEEFEAR (Note 2)
(Mt3E2)
Li San Yim (Note 4) Held by spouse and controlled corporation 58,850,237 3.53%
PR (MEE4) MEBRIEERE (Note 1)
(HHEE1)
Julius G. Kiss (Note 5) Held by controlled corporation 34,400,000 2.06%
Julius G. Kiss(ZLFIETG. 5 HT) (MizF5) @BREEEEE (Note 2)
(Mt3E2)
Name of Supervisor
EEnR
Ding Yingdong Beneficial owner 1,120,000 0.07%
TR EmEAA (Note 1)

(KizE1)
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Other Information (Continued)

Directors” and Supervisors’ Interests in Shares
and Underlying Shares (Continued)

Notes:

1. These were previously domestic shares of the Company. The domestic shares were
ordinary shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi-denominated par value of
RMB1.00 each, which were subscribed for and paid up in Renminbi or credited as fully
paid up. These shares became “A” shares of the Company upon the “A” share listing of
the Company on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2007.

2. These were previously foreign shares of the Company. The foreign shares were ordinary
shares issued by the Company, with a Renminbi denominated par value of RMB1.00 each,
which were subscribed for and paid up in a currency other than Renminbi. These shares
became “A" shares of the Company upon the “A” share listing of the Company on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange in 2007.

3. Yeung Sai Hong, a non-executive director of the Company, was directly and indirectly
interested in the issued share capital of Peterson Holdings Company Limited (“Peterson”),
which in turn held 58,659,248 shares in the Company.

4. Li San Yim, a non-executive director of the Company, and his spouse, Ni Yinying, were
interested in 69.16% and 30.84%, respectively, in the registered capital of Fujian Longyan
Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited (“Fujian Longgong”), which in turn
held 58,850,237 shares in the Company, and therefore Li San Yim was deemed to be
interested in these shares of the Company.

5. Julius G. Kiss, a non-executive director of the Company, was indirectly interested in the
entire issued share capital of IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. (“IVM"),
which in turn held 34,400,000 shares in the Company.

6. Al the shareholding interests listed in the above table are “long” position.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2011, none of the directors, the chief
executives nor the supervisors had an interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations that was recorded in the register required to be kept pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company pursuant to
the Model Code.

HoAt E R ()

R %ﬁA Jie A7 B AH B Jie A
A RE #it (4

M &E

1. ZEBRDZARBARRARER - REBRRARE]

??E’]jtiéﬁﬁ NARKIE  SREAEBARE1.00

CAARBBERBRIARINAER - ZFK

{ REBZLFRARBARERRA ETEKR
KRR ZAR e

2. ZEBRMDZARBARAINER - INEBRBA R
TEEBRE  UARKIIE  SREEBEARE1.00
T MARBUIMEERERER - ZEBRHR
—ERLERARDARERRA LT RKSAA
Al Z AR ©

3. RARERITE RSN EE REEREENER
ARAR([FBFHDERTRAE R - MBHAFE
58,659,248k AN A A1 AR 1D ©

4. ARABERITESTHARERBREZESFIHES
ERELEIREEWM(EE)ERAR([BEREIFE
AR A #69.16% [230.84% HE2s » (@ A 8E T Al
£58,850,237RARARIKRG « At + THAWRA
HEHZEARRNRRMD O ER ©

5. AN QFFERITE EJuliusG. Kiss (S FIHTG. &
Hy ) R # % A IVM Technical Consultants Wien
Gesellschaftm.b.H.([IVM]) 2 Z B #1TRA - M
IVMAI#5 534,400,000 AR AR ©

6. EXRMIINMAREERGRER -

B EXHBEEN  R-E——FRA=1+H"
BEES SREBASREFIWENHEA
RAR B SEAERBRBEEORD - BEE Rk
BrPHRERBEESFRPEKRIEIS2GAFE
%%EH%ZE%E@%E’HEAD KA HIRBREST A
BRAARBWERIAR -

\\



State-owned legal person shares
Shares held by other domestic entities
Including: - Shares held by domestic
non-state-owned legal persons
Shares held by domestic natural
persons
Shares held by other foreign entities
Including: Shares held by overseas legal
persons
Shares held by overseas natural
persons
Non-restricted circulating shares
RMB ordinary shares
Domestic listed foreign shares
Overseas lsted foreign shares

Qthers

Total number of shares

BXHE

AR
SERERR
20 BRERERA

5
RRERARR

NERK
A RIEABR

BERARR

ERERERS
ARBEER
BAREHHER
B9 ETINER
At

oS

Before the movement

ARBDH ESey

Transfer

373,224,594

118,520,000

71,160,000

47,360,000

78,440,000

78,440,000

1,095,906,772

691,106,772

404,800,000

1,666,091,366

711%

427%

2.84%

411%

471%

65.78%

41.48%

24.30%

100.00%

373,224,59%

118,520,000
71,160,000
47,360,000
78,440,000

78,440,000

1,095,906,772

691,106,772

404,800,000

1,666,091,366

7.11%
421%

2.84%

411%
471%

65.78%

4148%

2430%

100.00%
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Other Information (Continued)

B I RHBRAF

Details of Changes in Share Capital and A< %5 B A 5 B B 3R 5 B 1% Ot

Substantial Shareholders” Shareholdings (%)
(Continued)
2. Time over which shares are restricted from listing 2. EREKEROT LT R S B
for trade Ei
Additional shares
that can be listed
and traded upon
expiry of the
Time restricted period Description
PR &5 58 o 7 18
i B ALTRZROGHE =t B
30 April 2013 570,184,594 Pursuant to and subject to the undertaking of Weichai Group Holdings

—FE—=FWA=+H

Limited, none of the 124,236,640 shares of the Company held by

it shall be listed on any stock exchange, transferred in any ways or
managed by other persons or repurchased by the Company within 36
months commencing from 30 April 2010; the 15,961,860 additional
shares of the Company acquired by it are subject to a lock-up period
commencing from 16 August 2010 to 30 April 2013, during which no
such shares shall be listed on any stock exchange or transferred in any
ways or managed by other persons or repurchased by the Company.
Upon the share issuing by conversion of capital reserve in the interim
period of 2010, the restricted circulating shares of the Company held
by it amounted to 280,397,000 shares.

IR ST IR & B B R A7) B AR (R S 52 R RS R TR

IR EATEHH124,236,6400 AR AIIH E2010F4 A30H #
=TAREAATEBABLARHEREIER HHAEMEMR T
BRI ETMATEZERS T SHERAREE - HATIEE
#915,961,860 AR RIXM E2010F8 A 16 HEREHETE @ $HF
HZE2013F4HA30R 1L - REHETEHME  T2RBEFRHESR
HERSGEUNEMEMFRERREAMAETEZSERD - b
CHARAEME - 2010FFHERAABSEEBR A RERE
ZRARFEERRRINERE BRI /280,397,000 °



Other Information (Continued)

Details of Changes in Share Capital and

Substantial Shareholders” Shareholdings

(Continued)

2. Time over which shares are restricted from listing
for trade (Continued)

Additional shares
that can be listed
and traded upon

expiry of the

Time restricted period Description
PR HA M 48
B ALTREROHE =t B
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HoAth BB (A5
I 7 5 ) v = I R A
(#)

2. EREKREROATLDTRZH
& (&)

Pursuant to and subject to the undertakings of each of Weifang

Investment Company, Peterson Holdings Company Limited, Fujian

Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited,

IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H., Shandong
Enterprise Trust Operation Company Limited and Guangxi Liugong
Group Limited, the lock-up period for the 30,898,480, 26,320,000,
24,080,000, 12,900,000, 11,500,000 and 7,184,880 shares of

the Company subject to lock-up terms held by the above parties

respectively shall be extended for another three years since the

expiration on 30 April 2010, which means no such shares shall be

listed on any stock exchange or transferred in any ways or managed

by other persons or repurchased by the Company within 36 months

commencing from the expiration of lock-up period on 30 April 2010.

Upon the share issuing by conversion of capital reserve in the interim

period of 2010, the restricted circulating shares of the Company
held by such six companies amounted to 61,796,960, 52,640,000,
48,160,000, 25,800,000, 23,000,000 and 14,369,760 shares,

respectively.

BIEATTIRERR] « BHFERERAF - BEES TEK

W (RE) ARAR - BHFIVMEMEAELRBRAR
IWREGETELLEROERAT - EAWIEEEGRAA
BBy AR BN R A2 G P ARIR - B RSB AR A
30,898,480f% * 26,320,000f% * 24,080,000 * 12,900,000
% ~ 11,500,0008% - 7,184,880 AR &5 M 1H H2010%F4 A
B30RREERERBEE=4 - 18201054 A30HREH R 2 A
BETRNMEARTERBESFR S ZGHERZ S HAHAMERT
AERAETMABTEZERS - B TEHARAFREE - 2010
FHREBERANBSEERAARERE LA ASRAFFER
NAMBREERERHN 5 R A61,796,9600% + 52,640,000 -
48,160,0008% + 25,800,0008% + 23,000,0008% + 14,369,760

A% o



ares are restricted fro
2d)

- that can be list
and traded upon
iry of the

B  ArhRSROME 59

Pursuant to and subject to the undertaking of Zhuzhou State-owned
Assets Investment Holdings Company Limited, the lock-up period for
the 8,330,437 shares of the Company subject to lock-up terms held
by it shall be extended for another three years since the expiration

on 30 April 2010, which means no such shares shall be listed on any
stock exchange or transferred in any ways or repurchased by the
Company within 36 months commencing from the expiration of lock-
up period on 30 April 2010. Upon the share issuing by conversion of
capital reserve in the interim period of 2010, the restricted circulating

shares of the Company held by it amounted to 16,660,874 shares.

REENTEAEEEREEREE AR DA BB R R X%
A HFTRR - HBFEMNARES,330,437RBREGHRG A
201054 A30R 2| BIERBETE=F - BIE2010F4A30HR
EfmzZABR=TREARN  T2RBEHFXIEZRBERFHHK
LAE A BT 7 5% - b P2 AARRFEE - 2010FFBEARR
HBEEERAHRERE  ZARFEARRNEREEERD
£16,660,8748% °



ALEHRZROS

Pursuant to and subject to the undertakings of the 24 natural person
shareholders (including Tan Xuguang), no shares of the Company held
by them shall be listed on any stock exchange or transferred in any
ways or managed by other persons or repurchased by the Company
within 36 months commencing from 30 April 2010. Upon the share
issuing by conversion of capital reserve in the interim period of 2010,
the aggregate restricted circulating shares of the Company held by the
24 natural person promoter shareholders amounted to 47,360,000

shares.

RIEENE S E24% 8 A ARRE H BB HGHE 0 2 5% SFGE TR
R EMFENARRNRMDKEE2010F4 8308 =1/<1EA
NTERBELFR I ZFERZHAHMEM T X ERKET
MAEEZERD b P EHARAFEE - 2010F R HERLDTE
SHEIERAFTREME 40 EBARANERARRZELARANE
PR e F AR 10 #£5147,360,0008% ©
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Other Information (Continued)

Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as
at 30 June 2011)

HoAt E R ()

= 22 B SF AR D (O
EANH=Z1TH)

Total number of

shareholders

shareholders of H shares

The number of shareholders is 187,740 among which
187,467 are shareholders of A shares and 273 are

IR IR BB

H#£187,740F - EFARRR

187,467F © HIRRRH273F

Shareholdings of the top ten shareholders AM0BERRERIER

Approximate Number of Number of

percentage of  Total number restricted  shares pledged
Name of shareholder Type of shareholder shares held  of shares held shares held or frozen

58
BRERSF ERARE
RR & REEE T4 45 % B 1 FRE™ R BE HRDBE
HKSCC Nominees Limited Foreign shareholder 24.16% 402,595,596 0 unknown
BEPREERBARRLAA INERE AH
Weichai Group Holdings Limited State-owned legal person 16.83% 280,397,000 280,397,000 0
RSB AR QA BEEA
Weifang Investment Company State-owned legal person 3.71% 61,796,960 61,796,960 0
MR E R E BAEZEA
Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery ~ Domestic non-state-owned 3.53% 58,850,237 48,160,000 0
(Group) Company Limited legal person
BREEIEEM(EE)BRAF BRERBZEA
Peterson Holdings Company Limited Overseas legal person 3.52% 58,659,248 52,640,000 0
TIERBERA A BINEAN
Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group ~ Domestic non-state-owned 3.14% 52,242,674 0 0
Co., Ltd legal person

RITRIFREREFRARA BREBEZEA



percentage o

shares held of.sha

iR Lt Bl BRAR

B FIVMEMT ARG ORBRAR  BINEA
Shandong Enterprise Trust Operation Domestic non-state-owned 1.70% 28,400,000 23,000,000 0
Company Limited legal person

LURECERELERAERAT  HAFEEEA

Agricultural Bank of China Others 1.58% 26,357,890 0 0
—HBROKEREEEFREES

FEBRERT-FBRORRREE  Hfi
BHEREAS

Zhuzhou State-owned Assets State-owned legal person 1.00% 16,660,874 16,660,874 14,400,000
Investment Holdings
Company Limited

HWNTEEEEREEREEERAT BHAEA
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Other Information (Continued)

Shareholdings of the Substantial Shareholders (as

at 30 June 2011) (Continued)

Shareholdings of the top ten non-restricted

shareholders

JBe A K BB A D (Y % ——

FEANH=1H)(H)

Number of the
non-restricted

BI10B R ERARREFERER

Name of shareholder shares held Types of shares
BFHERERSE
(e ROBE RGEE
HKSCC Nominees Limited 402,595,596 Overseas listed foreign shares
ERBRREAREBEABRA TN i INE AR
Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group Co., Ltd 52,242,674 RMB ordinary shares
AT EIFRELEGR QG AR E AR
Agricultural Bank of China — REZ LR EREAFEFREES 26,357,890 RMB ordinary shares
FEEBERIT-AHRONERZLELFRELS AR EEBR
Agricultural Bank of China — EFiBT MEERZAELSREES 16,261,007 RMB ordinary shares
REEBEXRIT-AHERUEERZUEFRELS AR EBRK
Bank of China ~AKEZEEBTFNEES 12,275,151 RMB ordinary shares
RERTT - AREEREESRELES AR EBRK
Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery (Group) Company Limited 10,690,237 RMB ordinary shares
BEESIE#EM(SE)ERAA AR LB
Bank of China — &7 EXE 100X SR AR IEHEBFREE S 9,816,204 RMB ordinary shares
FERIT-SHERAFTI00XSHERAMNIEHIZSFREES AR EBRK
IVM Technical Consultants Wien Gesellschaft m.b.H. 8,600,000 RMB ordinary shares
B FIVM BT 54 S 4t A B TR 2 A AR EBERK
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China — i} %25 10035 2L 7,266,762 RMB ordinary shares
BHRREES AR EER
B TRIRTT - BBAF 100EHEFRELS
Peterson Holdings Company Limited 6,019,248 RMB ordinary shares

BHFERBERRA

AR EBR



g the aforemen »
China — EF'*Z'/
Bank of China — FRE3 % /UME
managed by the same fund manager,
‘Capital Fund Management Co. L_id

SHRA-RETEA-FBALESERERAT .

2. Save as the aforementioned, the Company does not know
whether there is any connected relationship among the other
top ten shareholders and the other top ten non-restricted
shareholders, or whether any of them are acting in concert.

2. BRERERAIN - RRABRAEAMA +RBRREEAMA T+
FEREGHRRZHSEFERBER  bRANERS
BR—BITBA -
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B I RHBRAF

Other Information (Continued)

Substantial Shareholders

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the Company pursuant
to Section 336 of the SFO (including interests filed with the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange) shows that as at 30 June 2011, the following persons (other than the

directors, the chief executives and the supervisors) had the following interests
and the short position (if any) in the shares and underlying shares of the

HoAt &R (44

FEEBR

)

ARBRBEEHLHERIIE3BHEFENE
ZRRBM(BIE R T B A RRNNE)
BL RZE——FA=1+H - TIAL(E
E RREBABREERINERRRRD R
HERN T ER TS RER (E) ¢

Company:
Percentage of Percentage of
share capital share capital Percentage of
Long/Short Number of comprising Number of comprising total issued
Name Capacity position A shares only A shares H shares only H shares share capital
EARBRA EHRRA HERTRA
A% 5t #R/ %R AR#E Bk HIR® B Bt BYEIL
Weichai Group Holdings Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner Long 280,397,000 22.23% - - 16.83%
HFREREEER A (M) EREAA HE
Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., Ltd. Held by controlled corporation Long 280,397,000 22.23% - - 16.83%
(Note 1)
LWRETSEFRAR (1) AREEEEA HE
State-owned Assets Supervision Held by controlled corporation Long 280,397,000 22.23% - - 16.83%
and Administration Commission
of Shandong Province
("Shandong SASAC") (Note 1)
LWREBREEEEEERZES AREEEREA HE
(MURBEZ ) (K1)
Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Beneficial owner Long 68,800,000 5.45% - - 4.13%
Group Co., Ltd (Note 2)
RITEIFRASERR AR (M32) ERBEEAA HE
Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Held by controlled corporation Long 68,800,000 5.45% - - 4.13%
Management Company (Note 2)
RITEIFTIRAEE A (F2) BXEERRA HE
Fujian Longyan Construction Machinery Beneficial owner Long 68,800,000 5.45% - - 4.13%
(Group) Company Limited
(“Fujian Longgong”) (Note 3)
BREEIEEN(ZE)BERAF ERERA HE
([E@ET ) (KE3)
Li San Yim (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation Long 68,800,000 5.45% - - 4.13%
and spouse
FHA(ME3) BXEEEREBEE HE
Ni Yinying (Note 3) Held by controlled corporation Long 68,800,000 5.45% - - 4.13%
and spouse
{RERE (W H3) BXEEEREBEE HE
Lazard Asset Management LLC Investment manager Long - - 62,425,757 15.42% 3.75%
REgR HE
Lone Pine Capital LLC Investment manager Long - - 37,600,000 9.29% 2.26%
REKE e
JPMorgan Chase & Co. Beneficial owner Long - - 5,147,650 1.27% 0.31%
EREEA HE
Investment manager Long - - 13,022,000 3.22% 0.78%
REgR HE
Custodian Corporation/approved Long - - 18,002,207 4.45% 1.08%
lending agent
REA-ED/BAEBDREA HeE
36,171,857 8.94% 2.17%
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Other Information (Continued) HoAth R} (48)
Percentage of Percentage of
share capital share capital Percentage of
Long/Short Number of comprising Number of comprising total issued
Name Capacity position Ashares only A shares H shares only H shares share capital
EARBRA EHER R A EERTRA
28 & BR/ %R AR#E B HER A BA BYELL
Beneficial owner Short - - 4,215,650 1.04% 0.25%
BRBERA KR
The Capital Group Companies, Inc. Investment manager Long - - 32,372,600 8.00% 1.94%
REKR HE
Morgan Stanley Held by controlled corporation Long - - 25,099,108 6.20% 1.51%
AR EEERE 8
Short - - 22,138,071 5.47% 1.33%
KR
Lazard Emerging Markets Equity Portfolio Beneficial owner Long - - 24,972,500 6.17% 1.50%
ERBEEA HE
Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft Beneficial owner Long - - 4,516,983 1.12% 0.27%
EnEAA HE
Investment manager Long - - 5,488,000 1.35% 0.33%
REGE e
Holder of secured interests in shares Long - - 12,102,061 2.99% 0.73%
HRODFBHREERENA e
Custodian Corporation/approved Long - - 793,000 0.19% 0.05%
lending agent
REA—EE/HOEREHAEA HE
22,900,044 5.65% 1.38%
Beneficial owner Short - - 6,705,279 1.66% 0.40%
BRBBA KA
Holder of secured interests in shares Short - - 11,159,461 2.75% 0.67%
HRHFHREERNA KB
17,864,740 4.41% 1.07%
Notes: BIFE
1. State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of Shandong Province 1. LWREREEEEBERZEG([LRBREZ DR
(“Shandong SASAC”) held the entire capital of Shandong Heavy Industry Group Co., BLUREIREERDANEIHRA, BEFAME
Ltd, which held the entire capital of Weichai Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as R EBE AR A B (BT A M 508 # 8 ) 1) 2 3B
Weifang Diesel Engine Works). N
2. Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Management Company was interested in approximately 2. YA RETEARBEA R MARESEE
33.73% of the registered capital of Shenzhen Chuangxin Investment Group Co., Ltd. BRAR MR LI33.73% s o

3. The registered capital of Fujian Longgong was held as to 69.16% by Li San Yim, a non- 3. ARAERITEETHARTFAZEBREERD

executive director of the Company, and as to 30.84% by Ni Yinying, spouse of Li San Yim, RIEAEEE I MR AE69.16% & 30.84% &
and therefore Ni Yinying was deemed to be interested in these shares of the Company. o FRIREEE RRZERR ARG P HE#E
%o

Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified of any other B EXHEEN  R-_ZT——FA=ZF+HAR
relevant interests or short position in the issued share capital of the Company as 7] W £ & 72 AR 7 B BT A A AT E b
at 30 June 2011. HEERRER -
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Other Information (Continued)

Emolument Policy
The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on

the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group'’s operating results,

individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Arrangements to Purchase Shares or Debentures
At no time during the Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any

other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed Securities
of the Company
During the Period, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,

sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company'’s articles of
association or the laws of the PRC, which would oblige the Company to offer

new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

Major Customers and Suppliers
The aggregate sales during the Period attributable to the Group's five largest

customers were less than 30% of the Group's total sales.

The aggregate purchases during the Period attributable to the Group’s five

largest suppliers were less than 30% of the Group's total purchases.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Period did a director, a supervisor,
an associate of a director or a shareholder of the Company, which to the
knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s share capital,

have an interest in any of the Group's five largest suppliers or customers.

it I B SR
AEBERENFHBRRBARAFMEE S ([H
MEZEERERENERE - EERTFENE
7] e

ARREEOFMAFHEAREEEARRE
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ARAMATER KB AT IABES
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FHEE P AL ER
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Other Information (Continued)

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) comprises three
independent non-executive directors of the Company. The chairman of the
Audit Committee is Mr. Koo Fook Sun, Louis, an independent non-executive
director. Mr. Koo is an experienced investment banker with appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, for the purpose of
such appointment. Throughout the Period, the Audit Committee discharged its
responsibilities, reviewed and discussed the financial results and internal control
system of the Company. In accordance with the requirements of Appendix 16
to the Listing Rules, the Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated

financial statements for the Period.

Compliance with Code on Corporate Governance
Practices in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

Throughout the Period, other than the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer being performed by Mr. Tan Xuguang (“Mr. Tan"), the
Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Code on Corporate

Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules.

Mr. Tan is in charge of the overall management of the Company. The Company
considers that the combination of the roles of the Chairman and the Chief
Executive Officer can promote the efficient formulation and implementation
of the Company’s strategies which will enable the Group to grasp business
opportunities efficiently and promptly. The Company considers that through the
supervision of its Board and its independent non-executive directors, there is

adequate balance of power and authority in place.

Compliance with the Model Code

During the Period, the Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by directors on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
directors, the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the

required standard set out in the Model Code for the Period under review.
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Publication of the Interim Report on the
Websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and
the Company

The 2011 Interim Report will be despatched to the shareholders as well as made
available on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkex.com.hk and

the Company’s website at www.weichai.com.
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WEICHAI POWER CO.,.LTD.

#h 4t DR M T R AERAT265%
= =5 : +86-536-8197777 (#a#%)
ZES =1 1 +86-536-8231074

2l & 1 261001

PR 7% #h 42 : 800 860 3066

EFERH . weichai@weichai.com

4 3k . http://www.weichai.com
Address : 26 Minsheng East Street, Weifang, Shandong Province
Tel 1 +86-536-8197777 (Gen)

Fax 1 +86-536-8231074

P.C. 1 261001

Service hotline : 800 860 3066

E-mail : weichai@weichai.com

Website : http://www.weichai.com
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